

ATCO Gas

(A Division of ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd.)

2011-2012 General Rate Application Phase I

December 5, 2011

The Alberta Utilities Commission

Decision 2011-450: ATCO Gas (a Division of ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd.) 2011-2012 General Rate Application Phase I Application No. 1606822 Proceeding ID No. 969

December 5, 2011

Published by

The Alberta Utilities Commission Fifth Avenue Place, Fourth Floor, 425 First Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta T2P 3L8

Telephone: 403-592-8845

Fax: 403-592-4406

Web site: www.auc.ab.ca

Contents

1	Intr	oductio	n	1
	1.1	Legisla	ative authority	3
2	Rac	korann	d	4
_		0	lural motions	
	2.1	2.1.1	Calgary motion on AG information request responses	
		2.1.2	Calgary motion on AG's application update	
		2.1.3	AG motion to strike portions of Calgary evidence	
		2.1.4	UCA motion to suspend proceeding in light of the Australia acquisition	
3	Role	e of Con	nmission counsel	9
4	Rate	e base		16
	4.1		ppening rate base	
	4.2		l additions expenditure forecast	
	4.3		ess cases	
		4.3.1	Urban mains replacements (Business Case 1)	
		4.3.2	Meter relocation and replacement program (MRRP) (Business Case 2)	
		4.3.3	Plastic mains replacements (Business Case 4)	
		4.3.4	Line heater reliability (Business Case 5)	
		4.3.5	Low use AMR (Business Case 7)	
	4.4		oution	
		4.4.1	Distribution extensions	
		4.4.2	Distribution improvements	
			4.4.2.1 High pressure relocations	
		4.4.3	Purchase of non-SCADA meters from ATCO Pipelines	
		4.4.4	Other distribution improvements	
		4.4.5	Distribution services	
		4.4.6	Meters, regulators and installations	
	4.5		and structures	
	•••	4.5.1	Land and structures – used or required to be used	
		4.5.2	Airdrie operating centre	
		4.5.3	North Edmonton operating centre and North Yard service centre	
		4.5.4	Irma agency office	
		4.5.5	Okotoks operating centre	
		4.5.6	Drayton Valley operating centre	
	4.6		able equipment	
	7.0	4.6.1	Purchase of compressed natural gas (CNG) trailers	70 70
		4.6.2	Other moveable equipment	
	4.7		nation technology	
	4. /	4.7.1	Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX or HRMS)	
		4.7.2	Sum total talent management system (TMS)	
		4.7.3		
	10		Other IT projectsee of capital expenditures	
	4.8	DaiailC	e of capital expenditules	<i>9</i> 2
5			ıcture	
	5.1		on equity and equity ratio	
		5.1.1	Prior preferred share issues	93

	5.2	Preferre	ed share financing forecast	96
		5.2.1	Prior debt issue	101
		5.2.2	Debt forecast financing requirements	102
6	One	ratina a	nd maintenance expense	104
U	6.1		ing and maintenance expense general	
	6.2		ne equivalents forecast	
	6.3		onal analysis of O&M	
	0.3	6.3.1	Gas management function – Account 625	
		6.3.2	Transmission function – Account 663	
		6.3.3	General function	
		6.3.4	Distribution function	
		6.3.5	Distribution supervision – Account 670	
		6.3.6	Remove & reset meters – Account 673	
		6.3.7	Service on customer premises – Account 674	
		6.3.8	Mains and services – Account 675	
		6.3.9	Measuring and regulating – Account 677	
			Metering and other – Accounts 678 and 679	
			Sales and transportation promotion function	
			Blue Flame Kitchen	
			Customer relations and communications	
			Demand side management (DSM) programs	
		6.3.15	Customer accounting function	
			6.3.15.1 Supervision – Account 710	
			6.3.15.2 Impact of AMR on meter reading and bill delivery – Account 712	144
			6.3.15.3 Customer billing and accounting expenses – Account 713	149
			6.3.15.4 Credit and collection – Account 714 and Account 718 – uncollected	
			accounts	150
	6.4	Admini	istration and general function	150
		6.4.1	Administrative expense – Account 721	152
		6.4.2	Administrative labour	152
		6.4.3	Variable pay program	154
		6.4.4	Administrative expense – office rent – Account 721	158
		6.4.5	ATCO corporate aircraft and office costs – Account 721	161
			6.4.5.1 ATCO corporate office costs – Account 721	
			6.4.5.2 Aircraft costs	
		6.4.6	Administrative expense – mass media advertising – Account 721 and other	
		07.170	supplies – Account 721	
		6.4.7	IT and CC&B governance costs	
		6.4.8	IT expenses – Volumes	
		0.1.0	6.4.8.1 ATCO I-Tek (included in Account 721)	
		6.4.9	Legal and consulting – special services – Account 722	
			Reserve for injuries and damages (RID) – Account 724 – late payment	
			Employee benefits – Account 725	
			± •	
			Other administrative and general expenses – Account 728	
			Bank and short-term financing charges – Account 728	
	6 5		Hearing costs – Account 728	
	6.5	тогиі а	HU SOUH OXIVI AHOCAHOH	190
7	Den	reciation	n	181

	7.1	Depreciation rate changes – overview	182
	7.2	Average service life	186
		7.2.1 47300 – services	
		7.2.2 47400 – regulator & meter installations	
		7.2.3 47500 – mains	
		7.2.4 48400 – transportation equipment	
		7.2.5 Other depreciation accounts	
		7.2.6 New depreciation accounts	198
	7.3	Contract life depreciation for custom service	199
	7.4	Net salvage rate changes	200
	7.5	Depreciation reserve deficiency	202
	7.6	Production abandonment costs	
	7.7	Methodology change to amortize leasehold improvements	208
8	Inco	me taxes	209
9		ty revenue	
	9.1	Customer growth	
	9.2	Throughput forecast and normalization calculation	
	9.3	Other revenue	211
10		-time adjustments and deferral accounts	
		One-time adjustments	
		Existing and proposed deferral accounts	
		Carrying charges	
		New deferral accounts	
		Impact of IFRS	
		ATCO Pipelines/NGTL integration rate impacts Calgary lease costs	
11	Ord	er	218
Apr	oendi	x 1 – Proceeding participants	219
		x 2 – Oral hearing – registered appearances	
		x 3 – Summary of Commission directions	
App	pendi	x 4 – Rulings on motions during the proceeding	233
App	pendi	x 5 – AG's responses to Commission directions	234
List	t of ta	bles	
Tab	ole 1.	Base rate revenue requirement	1
Tab	ole 2.	Revised forecast revenue requirement	2
Tab	ole 3.	Opening rate base	17
Tah	ole 4.	Comparison of forecast and actual capital expenditures	17

Table 5.	Capital expenditures	19
Table 6.	UMR 2003-2010 actual and forecast expenditures, pipe installed and leaks	27
Table 7.	MRRP actual and forecast costs	32
Table 8.	MRRP above ground entry risk analysis	33
Table 9.	MRRP actual and forecast relocations and replacements	35
Table 10.	PE/PVC installed from 1966 to 1977	36
Table 11.	Plastic pipe replaced from 2002 to 2010	37
Table 12.	AMR expenditures - Table 2.1.1.4(c)	42
Table 13.	Distribution actual and forecast expenditures	46
Table 14.	Distribution improvements	47
Table 15.	Distribution improvements	52
Table 16.	Moveable equipment expenditures (in part)	71
Table 17.	IT capital summary	74
Table 18.	TMS capital estimate	80
Table 19.	Various smaller IT project forecasts	88
Table 20.	Comparable preferred share rates	94
Table 21.	Application forecast preferred share rates	96
Table 22.	Updated preferred share rates	96
Table 23.	Capital structure ratios	97
Table 24.	Long-term debt	101
Table 25.	Application forecast debenture rates	102
Table 26.	Debt rates	102
Table 27.	ATCO Gas functional forecast	104
Table 28.	Comparison of actual expenses to forecasts	108
Table 29.	ATCO Gas functional history and forecast	109
Table 30.	Labour inflation	110
Table 31.	Gas management function	111

Table 32.	Transmission function	112
Table 33.	General function	112
Table 34.	Distribution function	113
Table 35.	Metering and Other	120
Table 36.	Primary areas of sales and transportation promotion function	121
Table 37.	DSM forecast	128
Table 38.	Customer accounting function	143
Table 39.	Customer billing and accounting	149
Table 40.	Customer and service growth	149
Table 41.	Administration and general function	151
Table 42.	Administrative expense	152
Table 43.	I-Tek forecast placeholder costs for 2011 and 2012	167
Table 44.	Depreciation and amortization expense	182
Table 45.	Proposed depreciation rate changes	183
Table 46.	Proposed geothermal and solar asset depreciation rates	184
Table 47.	UCA proposed depreciation rate adjustments	186
Table 48.	Depreciation rates for balance of asset accounts	197
Table 49.	Proposed new depreciation accounts	198
Table 50.	Proposed net salvage rate changes (Table 5.4.1)	200
Table 51.	UCA proposed net salvage adjustments	201
Table 52.	Total average customers and growth	209
Table 53.	Total annual throughput	210
Table 54.	Other revenue forecast	211
Table 55.	One-time adjustments	213
Table 56.	Deferral accounts and carrying costs	215

Calgary, Alberta

ATCO Gas 2010-2012 General Rate Application Phase I Decision 2011-450 Application No. 1606822 Proceeding ID No. 969

1 Introduction

- 1. ATCO Gas (AG or the company), a division of ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd, (AGPL), filed a 2011-2012 General Rate Application (GRA) Phase I (the application) with the Alberta Utilities Commission (the AUC or the Commission) on December 3, 2010. AG requested approval of its forecast revenue requirements for the 2011 and 2012 test years (the test years) that would form the basis for rates to be paid by customers receiving gas distribution services. AG's most recent GRA was for the 2008 and 2009 test years and was approved in Decision 2008-113.¹
- 2. AG indicated its expectation that the approved 2012 revenue requirement would form the basis for the "going in" rates for performance-based regulation (PBR) effective January 1, 2013.
- 3. AG provides regulated natural gas distribution services through AG North (AGN) and AG South (AGS) in two service areas in Alberta. AGN serves customers living in, and north of, the City of Red Deer; AGS serves customers living south of the City of Red Deer. Separate rates, based on a combined revenue requirement are approved by the Commission for each of AGN and AGS. Issues with respect to rate design and revenue requirement allocation between AGN and AGS will be determined in a GRA Phase II proceeding.
- 4. In the application, AG summarized its forecast revenue requirements for the test years as follows:

Table 1. Base rate revenue requirement²

	2011	2012
	\$0	00s
Base rate revenue requirement	621,904	658,061
Less revenue on existing rates	<u>560,436</u>	<u>571,285</u>
Revenue shortfall	61,468	86,776
Less 2010 approved pension recovery	27,500	27,500
Less 2011 shortfall		33,968
Remaining shortfall	<u>33,968</u>	<u>25,308</u>

, , , , ,

Decision 2008-113: ATCO Gas, 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase I, Application No. 1553052, Proceeding ID. 11, November 13, 2008.

Exhibit 3, Table 1, page 1.0-9.

5. During the course of the proceeding AG submitted updates and corrections to its initial forecasts. The following is a summary of AG's revisions to its forecast revenue requirements for the test years.³

forecast	revenue	requirement
	forecast	forecast revenue

	2011	2012
	\$(000s
Base rate revenue requirement	603,244	641,745
Less revenue on existing rates	<u>561,426</u>	<u>571,952</u>
Revenue Shortfall	41,818	69,793
Revenue shortfall as initially filed (Table 1 above)	61,468	86,776
Financing rates update	(398)	(1,002)
Lower rent revenue	110	433
Pension contribution adjustment	(11)	(20)
Customer information system (CIS) royalties - Income Taxes	37	33
Rate base and depreciation adjustments	(192)	(199)
Corrections to meter costs capitalized	0	163
Operating and maintenance (O&M) and capital update	(2,132)	(619)
Revenue update	(1,100)	(1,100)
Depreciation update	(793)	(884)
Variable pay plan (VPP) update	(531)	(531)
Capitalized pension - removal of immediate collection4	(14,640)	(<u>13,257</u>)
Updated revenue shortfall	<u>41,818</u>	<u>69,793</u>

- 6. On December 7, 2010, the Commission issued a notice of application, which was distributed electronically to parties on the Commission's gas and pipelines mailing list and posted on the Commission's website. An alert of notice of application was published in four major Alberta newspapers on December 13, 2010. Any party who wanted to intervene in the proceeding was required to submit a statement of intent to participate (SIP) to the Commission by December 29, 2010. Parties that filed SIPs are listed in Appendix 1.
- 7. On January 11, 2011, the Commission established a schedule for the proceeding. Subsequent to receipt of submissions from parties participating in the proceeding and in keeping with AUC Bulletin 2010-16,⁵ on January 21, 2011 the Commission revised the process schedule.⁶ On March 25, 2011, the Commission suspended the process schedule pending a ruling on a motion by The City of Calgary (Calgary)⁷ to provide full and adequate responses to a number of information requests. The Commission issued its initial ruling⁸ and re-started the process on April 1, 2011, with the schedule revised for submissions of intervener evidence and information requests.
- 8. An oral public hearing was convened on May 24, 2011, in Edmonton before Commission Member Moin A. Yahya (Panel Chair), Bill Lyttle and Kay Holgate. The hearing adjourned on June 2, 2011. Written argument was filed by parties on June 27, 2011.

⁴ Transcript, Volume 4, page 614.

³ Exhibit 174.02.

⁵ Bulletin 2010-16, Performance Standards for Processing Rate-Related Applications, April 26, 2010.

⁶ Exhibit 63.01.

⁷ Exhibit 99.01.

⁸ Exhibit 102.01.

- 9. On July 14, 2011, the Commission received a request from the Office of the Utilities Consumer Advocate (UCA) (UCA request) to suspend reply argument which was due on July 18, 2011. The UCA referenced a conditional agreement announced by the ATCO Group on July 7, 2011, for Canadian Utilities Limited to acquire Western Australia Gas Networks (WAGN). Canadian Utilities Limited is the holding company for ATCO Gas, ATCO Pipelines and ATCO Electric Ltd. By letter dated July 15, 2011, the Commission suspended the date for filing reply argument in order to seek comment from parties on the UCA request.
- 10. On August 12, 2011, the Commission ruled on this issue and reply argument was rescheduled for August 18, 2011. The Commission considers that the record closed for this proceeding on August 18, 2011.

1.1 Legislative authority

- 11. The application is governed by the *Gas Utilities Act*, RSA 2000 c. G-5, the *Public Utilities Act*, RSA 2000 c. P-45, and the *Alberta Utilities Commission Act*, SA 2007 c. A-37.2 and the respective regulations promulgated thereunder. The Commission has the authority to set just and reasonable rates, under subsection 36(a) of the *Gas Utilities Act* and fix proper and adequate rates and methods of depreciation, amortization or depletion in respect of the property of an owner of a gas utility, under subsection 36(b) of the *Gas Utilities Act*. In fixing just and reasonable rates, the Commission shall determine a rate base for the property of the owner of a gas utility used or required to be used to provide service to the public within Alberta and, on determining a rate base, fix a fair return on the rate base, in accordance with Section 37 of the *Gas Utilities Act*. Also, Section 40 of the *Gas Utilities Act* provides that, in fixing just and reasonable rates, the Commission may consider certain revenues and costs of an owner of a gas utility.
- 12. Section 44(3) of the *Gas Utilities Act* states that the burden of proof lies with the owner of a gas utility to show that increases, changes or alterations to rates are just and reasonable.
- 13. The *Public Utilities Act* has similar provisions to the aforementioned provisions contained in the *Gas Utilities Act*.9
- 14. The *Alberta Utilities Commission Act* grants the Commission general powers to deal with applications, and related proceedings, brought before it.
- 15. In Decision 2008-113¹⁰ the Commission described the legislative framework regarding rate setting for utilities as follows:

The legislative intent is straightforward. The utility company must apply to the Commission for any changes in rates and demonstrate to the Commission that the rates it proposes are just and reasonable and not unjustly discriminatory. This type of regulatory scheme is not the norm in Canada's market economy. It is adopted by legislators where essential or important services, such as the natural gas distribution services in this case, are provided to customers by monopoly suppliers. In normal competitive markets, it is the operation of competitive market forces that establishes and maintains a balance between competing companies and the customers they seek to serve. Where, as here,

_

See sections 89, 90, 91 and 103(3) of the *Public Utilities Act*.

Decision 2008-113: ATCO Gas, 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase I, Application No. 1553052, Proceeding ID. 11, November 13, 2008, page 2.

there is no competitive market, the legislature has stepped in to provide a regulatory scheme designed to establish and maintain a balance between monopoly companies and their customers. It has done so by establishing the Commission as an expert independent quasi-judicial tribunal whose duty it is to establish a balance between customers and monopoly companies that it is assumed by legislators would not be possible but for regulation. In order to achieve the balance envisioned by the legislators, the Commission must consider both the interests of the regulated companies and their customers and make its decisions in accordance with its governing legislation while conducting itself in accordance with the principles of natural justice and procedural fairness.

16. In reaching the determinations contained within this decision, the Commission has considered all relevant materials comprising the record of this proceeding, including the evidence and argument provided by each party. Accordingly, references in this decision to specific parts of the record are intended to assist the reader in understanding the Commission's reasoning relating to a particular matter and should not be taken as an indication that the Commission did not consider all relevant portions of the record with respect to that matter.

2 Background

- 17. AG last filed a GRA Phase I for its 2008 and 2009 test years, which led to Decision 2008-113.¹¹ The first compliance filing led to Decision 2009-109.¹² A second compliance filing led to Decision 2010-025, where the revenue requirements for 2008 and 2009 were approved subject to certain placeholders and deferral accounts.¹³
- 18. AG did not submit a general rate application to determine a revenue requirement for 2010. AG's rates for 2008-2009 were the subject of a negotiated settlement agreement, which the Commission approved in Decision 2010-291. In that decision the Commission noted that the 2009 final revenue requirement would serve as the basis for 2010 rates which were to be adjusted as the result of filing an updated cost of service study. Rates for January 1, 2008 to September 30, 2010 were approved as final in Decision 2010-466 with the exception of Carbon Riders G, H and I, Transmission Rider T and Rider P which remained in effect on an interim basis. The 2008 to 2010 rates were also subject to deferral accounts that would finalize all outstanding placeholders and the removal of the Carbon assets from utility service. The 2011 interim rates effective January 1, 2011 were approved for AG in Decision 2010-573. In
- 19. The application deals with the test years 2011 and 2012. The application identifies certain revenue requirement placeholders that are the subject of other proceedings. AG has requested approval of the volumes for customer care and billing (CC&B) services provided by

4 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

1

Decision 2008-113: ATCO Gas, 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase I, Application No. 1553052, Proceeding ID. 11, November 13, 2008.

Decision 2009-109: ATCO Gas, 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase I Compliance Filing, Application No. 1603068, Proceeding ID. 154, July 28, 2009.

Decision 2010-025: ATCO Gas, 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase I Second Compliance Filing, Application No. 1605412, Proceeding ID. 294, January 13, 2010.

Decision 2010-291: ATCO Gas, 2008-2009 General Rate Application – Phase II, Negotiated Settlement, Application No. 1604944, Proceeding ID. 184, June 25, 2010.

Decision 2010-466: ATCO Gas, 2008, 2009 and 2010 Final Rates, Application No. 1606375, Proceeding ID. 731, September 29, 2010.

Decision 2010-573: ATCO Gas, 2011 Interim Rates, Application No. 1606548, Proceeding ID. 832, December 14, 2010.

ATCO I-Tek Business Services Ltd. (ITBS) and for information technology (IT) services, and specified expenses, provided by ATCO I-Tek Inc¹⁷ (I-Tek). The pricing of these services for 2010 and for the 2011 and 2012 test years will be determined in the ATCO Utilities' 2010 Evergreen proceeding.¹⁸ Accordingly, placeholders were used in the application for the portion of revenue requirement related to these services.

- 20. In the pension common matters decision, Commission Direction 6 directed the ATCO Utilities to prepare a 2011 Pension Common Matters application by December 15, 2010 (Proceeding ID No. 999). Therefore, the pension funding in the 2011-2012 GRA is considered to be a placeholder.¹⁹
- 21. In Decision 2009-216,²⁰ the 2009 generic cost of capital proceeding, the Commission established a generic return on equity (ROE) for 2009 and 2010 of 9.0 per cent. The Commission also determined the ROE for 2011 would be 9.0 per cent on an interim basis.²¹
- 22. The Commission determined in its ruling dated August 12, 2011 that the impact associated with conditional agreement announced by the ATCO Group on July 7, 2011 for Canadian Utilities Limited to acquire Western Australia Gas Networks (WAGN) could potentially impact the allocation of corporate costs to AG, and established a placeholder in respect of the 2012 allocation of corporate costs to AG.

2.1 Procedural motions

23. During the course of this proceeding a number of motions were filed. The motions are briefly described below. The details of the motions are outlined in the Commission's rulings which are attached as Appendix 4.

2.1.1 Calgary motion on AG information request responses

- 24. On March 25, 2011, Calgary filed a motion requesting the Commission to compel AG to provide full and adequate responses to a number of information requests.²²
- 25. On March 29, 2011 AG provided additional information on the impugned information requests.²³
- 26. On April 1, 2011 the Commission issued its initial ruling on this motion.²⁴ Having reviewed the information responses provided by AG on March 29, 2011 the Commission found that AG had provided full and adequate responses to certain information requests but that AG had not provided a sufficient response to CAL-AG-7(c). ATCO Gas was directed to provide the

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 5

Exhibit 3, pages 4.2-32 and 4.2-36. ATCO I-Tek Business Services Ltd. and ATCO I-Tek Inc. are non-regulated affiliates of AG, which provide CC&B and IT services, respectively, to AG.

ATCO Utilities 2010 Evergreen Proceeding, Application No. 1605338, Proceeding ID No. 240, (ATCO Gas, ATCO Pipelines and ATCO Electric Ltd. (the ATCO Utilities), Application with Respect to CC&B and IT Services Beyond 2009).

Exhibit 3, AG application, 4.2-45, paragraph 124.

Decision 2009-216: 2009 Generic Cost of Capital, Application No. 1578571, Proceeding ID. 85, November 12, 2009.

Decision 2009-216, paragraph 75.

²² Exhibit 98.02.

²³ Exhibit 100.01, page 1.

Exhibit 102.01.

following information for all assets listed in Exhibit 97.02 with an assessed value in excess of \$250,000:

- the year of acquisition
- the original cost
- the operational purpose of the facility
- 27. AG responded on April 4, 2011,²⁵ that it could not fulfill the Commission's direction within the timeframe of the schedule. AG further stated that providing the requested information on the 500 pieces of property would take an average of two hours per property and could not be provided in five days time. AG proposed changing the dollar threshold to \$1 million dollars for the requested information and stated that this would result in a more achievable figure of seven buildings and eight land items.
- 28. Calgary responded on April 6, 2011, stating that the Commission had struck a proper balance in its direction to AG and that the information should be provided without delay.²⁶
- 29. By letter dated April 6, 2011, the Commission indicated that it was prepared to consider these latter submissions before issuing its final ruling on this matter. AG was directed to provide the requested information on the seven buildings and eight land items no later than April 11, 2011. Further, in the interest of fully understanding the parties' positions, the Commission permitted an expedited response from AG and a final reply by Calgary before the Commission issued its final ruling.
- 30. AG responded by letter dated April 7, 2011, and Calgary replied by letter dated April 8, 2010.
- 31. On April 8, 2011 the Commission provided its final ruling on the Calgary motion.²⁷ AG was directed to respond by April 15, 2011 with the year of acquisition, the original cost, and the operational purpose of the facility for each of the properties with an assessed value greater than \$250,000, as listed in the "ATCO Gas Site Summary" Tab 3, Exhibit 97.02.²⁸
- 32. AG provided the additional information on April 15, 2011.

2.1.2 Calgary motion on AG's application update

- 33. On April 21, 2011 AG filed with the Commission an application update (application update) rectifying omissions, providing corrections and incorporating new information. This information included a business case for the implementation of a talent management system (TMS business case).²⁹
- 34. By letter dated April 27, 2011, Calgary requested that the Commission reject the application update filing, or delay the start of the hearing to a later date in 2011 to permit full, fair and complete testing of the application update.³⁰ Calgary submitted that Section 27 of

²⁶ Exhibit 105.01.

²⁵ Exhibit 104.01.

²⁷ Exhibit 113. 01.

²⁸ Ibid. A detailed table of each property subject to the Commission's final ruling was provided in this exhibit.

²⁹ Exhibit 118.01.

³⁰ Exhibit 130.01.

AUC Rule 001: *Rules of Practice* (Rule 001) requires a party to seek leave from the Commission prior to filing a document after the time set out for the filing of that document. AG did not seek leave for its late filing nor did it receive the Commission's leave. Calgary also stated that its ability to retain an expert to test the materials and the applied for amounts with respect to the TMS business case was compromised as the oral hearing was scheduled to begin on May 24, 2011. Calgary submitted that there was no reason why AG could not have filed the TMS business case with its GRA application in December 2010.

35. The Commission ruled on Calgary's letter on April 29, 2011,³¹ finding Section 27 of Rule 001 is not intended to apply to an omission and corrections update filing of the nature under review unless the Commission has previously established a timeline for such a filing. The Commission continued:

...that updates are necessary to ensure that the Commission and interested parties have the most up to date and best information available to assess the application and complete the record of a proceeding. Although updated information would usually take the form of omissions and corrections, there is no reason why the applicant can not also elect to amend its application to seek approval of new cost items provided it could not have reasonably included that information with its original application. The ability to file updated information must be balanced with a requirement to provide parties with sufficient opportunity to review and test the new evidence.³²

36. The Commission accepted the application update including the TMS business case but indicated that "it is incumbent on ATCO in future filings of this nature to clearly explain why evidence relating to new expenditures could not have been filed with the original application."³³ The Commission also permitted information requests on the application update and the filing of supplemental evidence by interveners.

2.1.3 AG motion to strike portions of Calgary evidence

- 37. During the course of the oral hearing, on May 29, 2011, ATCO filed a motion³⁴ requesting that the Commission strike portions of Calgary's addendum to its evidence filed on May 27, 2011.³⁵ Specifically, the motion requested that portions of the Calgary addendum to its evidence relating to the Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX) be struck because they were outside of the permitted scope of the Commission's ruling dated April 29, 2011.³⁶ AG stated that the April 21, 2011 update was limited to the TMS business case and that the Calgary evidence specifically addressed the HRX system, which had been included in the original application and had been previously addressed in Calgary's evidence.
- 38. In its May 31, 2011 ruling,³⁷ the Commission found that an objective reading of the April 29, 2011 ruling confined the scope of Calgary's supplemental evidence to the TMS system. The Commission granted AG's motion to strike portions of Calgary's addendum to its evidence.

³² Commission ruling dated April 29, 2011, Exhibit 135.01, paragraph 15.

35 Calgary's addendum to its evidence related to AG's application update filed on April 21, 2011.

³¹ Exhibit 135.01.

Commission ruling dated April 29, 2011, Exhibit 135.01, paragraph 17.

³⁴ Exhibit 176.02.

³⁶ Ibid., paragraph 29.

Exhibit 187.01.

- 39. On June 1, 2011 Calgary brought a motion requesting that the Commission review and vary its ruling of May 31, 2011, and allow the dis-allowed evidence back onto the record of this proceeding. Calgary considered that the Commission, in the course of providing its ruling, had failed to consider the entirety of the record of the proceeding.³⁸ Calgary argued that by the Commission failing to consider the totality of the record, there was an error in fact or law.
- 40. The Commission requested oral comments from other parties present at the hearing and heard from AG, which opposed the motion, and the Consumers' Coalition of Alberta (CCA), which supported the motion. Calgary was provided an opportunity to respond. In an oral ruling the Commission denied the motion.³⁹ The Commission noted that "interlocutory R&Vs are generally only to be done in extreme circumstances."40 Nevertheless the Commission reviewed the Calgary submissions and the submissions of the parties and concluded that an objective reading of its May 31, 2011 ruling would confine the evidence to that which had not been disallowed.

2.1.4 UCA motion to suspend proceeding in light of the Australia acquisition

- 41. On July 14, 2011, the Commission received a request from the UCA to suspend reply argument which was due on July 18, 2011. The UCA referenced a conditional agreement announced by the ATCO Group on July 7, 2011 for Canadian Utilities Limited to acquire Western Australia Gas Networks (WAGN).
- 42. The UCA suggested that should the acquisition close as anticipated in the third quarter of 2011, that there could be a material impact on the allocation of Head Office costs to AG at least in 2012. The UCA stated:

Accordingly, the new acquisition appears to be similar to ATCO Gas. If this is true, and the Head Office costs are allocated to the new entity in the same manner, the estimated result would be a reduction in the allocation of Head Office costs to ATCO Gas by \$1.4 million per year.41

- 43. The UCA expressed concern about customers paying for business development costs included within the head office function and any costs of AG staff seconded to business development activities. The UCA also suggested that there was the potential for increased vacancies or reduced full-time employees (FTEs) from the current AG forecast. The UCA argued that given the magnitude of the transaction, an expectation that such impacts are real and material is reasonable.
- 44. The UCA requested that the Commission create a process schedule including information requests, responses and, potentially, intervener evidence and an oral hearing, to explore the impact to the allocation of head office and business development costs as a result of the conditional agreement to acquire WAGN. In the alternative, the UCA requested the Commission to commence separate processes that could lead to the creation of placeholders for costs related to the acquisition and to examine the impact of the acquisition.

Ibid., lines 8-9.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1388, lines 1-9.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1416, lines 2-23.

UCA request dated July 14, 2011, page 2.

45. In its August 12, 2011 ruling on the UCA motion the Commission recognized that AG could not have disclosed the conditional agreement to acquire WAGN prior to the public announcement on July 7, 2011. The Commission considered that material events relevant to the proceeding which occur prior to the closing of the record, and in some cases prior to the release of a decision, which were not known to all parties during the course of the evidentiary portion of the proceeding may provide a sufficient basis to re-open the evidentiary portion of the proceeding. In Decision 2008-113 the Commission stated the following with respect to receiving the most up-to-date information during a proceeding:

Given the reality that the Commission expects to receive the most up-to-date information during a proceeding and that AG and other utilities bring evidence of increasing costs during a proceeding as it becomes available, the Commission agrees with CG's submission that prospectivity effectively starts from the close of the proceeding, rather than at the time of the application.⁴²

- 46. The Commission agreed with the UCA that the impact of the WAGN acquisition is a material event that could significantly impact the allocation of head-office costs to AG as well as the other ATCO utilities.
- 47. The Commission considered that the next corporate cost allocation methodology proceeding is the proceeding best suited to consider the impacts of the WAGN acquisition. In the circumstances, however, the Commission considered that the September 30, 2012 date for the filing of the next ATCO Utilities application should be advanced to April 2, 2012. At that time the impacts of the WAGN transaction on corporate costs and the allocation of those costs would be better understood and 2011 audited financial information would be available.
- 48. The ATCO Utilities should include within the application a request to set the corporate allocation methodology for 2012 for all ATCO utilities that have not otherwise had their revenue requirement with respect to 2012 corporate allocations previously finalized. Following the Commission's decision on the ATCO Utilities application, AG would apply to the Commission to finalize the 2012 corporate allocation placeholder to be included in the final 2012 revenue requirement.
- 49. With respect to the UCA's concerns about business development costs included within the head office function, costs of AG staff seconded to business development activities and the potential for increased vacancies or reduced FTEs from the current AG forecast, the Commission stated that it was not prepared to enter into further process.

3 Role of Commission counsel

50. In addition to the various procedural motions filed during the proceeding referred to in the previous section of this decision, counsel for Calgary made oral submissions to the Commission during the hearing on May 31, 2011 with respect to the role of Commission counsel in questioning witnesses. Upon review of the prior day's transcript, Calgary expressed concerns

⁴² Decision 2008-113, page 16.

with the nature and content of certain questions put to AG witnesses. Calgary expressed further concerns with the role of Commission counsel in questioning witnesses in general.⁴³

- 51. In argument dated June 27, 2011, Calgary expanded on its concerns with respect to:
 - the tone and content of certain statements made by Commission counsel in its cross examination of the ATCO witness panel;
 - the role that counsel played in the Commission's decision to grant the ATCO motion to strike portions of the Calgary Evidence on Human Capital Management Systems; and
 - the appropriateness of Commission counsel in developing the evidentiary record of the Proceeding in light of the *Dunsmuir*⁴⁴ decision and the fact the proceedings are highly contested.⁴⁵
- 52. Calgary submitted that it was inappropriate for Commission counsel to provide the Commission with advice on an AG motion to strike a portion of the Calgary evidence when Commission counsel was at the same time conducting oral examination of AG witnesses. Calgary submitted that these activities may be in conflict with each other. Calgary submitted that academic commentary⁴⁶ had suggested that tribunal counsel should not provide "advice to a tribunal with differing functions and powers (for example functions containing investigation/regulatory powers and adjudicative powers), and in such circumstances the dual role of counsel raises a reasonable apprehension of bias."⁴⁷ Calgary submitted that oral examination by tribunal counsel is akin to an investigative role, in contrast to a role of giving legal advice on adjudicative matters such as ruling on a motion.
- 53. Calgary submitted that after the *Dunsmuir* decision:

...one of the few limitations on the Commission's powers, apart from jurisdictional limitations, is the completeness of the evidentiary record on which the tribunal makes its decisions. In this light, it is Calgary's respectful submission that the Commission must be careful not to fashion the record of proceedings before it through inappropriate questions posed by Commission counsel. To do otherwise will raise questions as to whether counsel is engaging in roles which are "in fact and in appearance, consistent with principles of fairness and natural justice." ⁴⁸ (footnote omitted)

- 54. Calgary stated that it was not raising a claim of tribunal bias.⁴⁹ However Calgary submitted that certain testimony given in response to Commission counsel's questioning should be given little or no weight. Calgary indicated that Commission counsel should limit their questions when examining parties in utility proceedings, to the following general matters:
 - clarification of the party's or the witnesses' evidence

Calgary argument, page 8.

Transcript, Volume 6, pages 1072-1076, pages 1082-1085.

⁴⁴ Dunsmuir v. New Brunswick, [2008] S.C.J. No.9, 2008 SCC.

⁴⁵ Calgary argument, page 6.

⁴⁶ Tribunal Counsel, Graham Steele, 11 Can. J. Admin. L. & Prac. 57.

⁴⁷ Ibid., page 74.

⁴⁸ Ibid., page 14.

- acknowledgement by the witness of relevant factual matters, provided that the
 questions are not for the purposes of assessing the credibility of the witness or the
 party
- Counsel should also refrain from asking or posing questions that could be used by a party or the Commission to assess the credibility or weight to be given to the evidence; in contested proceedings, this role should be left to opposing parties to do so. Calgary cites the case of *Omineca Enterprises Ltd. v. British Columbia* (*Minister of Forests*) (1992), 72 B.C.L.R. (2d) 247 (B.C.S.C.) (the Omineca Decision) in support of this position.
- Lastly, counsel should refrain from posing leading or open ended questions to witnesses on their evidence.⁵⁰
- 55. Calgary recommended the Commission undertake a consultative and comprehensive process, involving all stakeholders, to review the role that Commission counsel should play in proceedings before the Commission.⁵¹
- 56. In reply argument, the CCA stated that it "cannot oppose the conclusions and recommendations of Calgary." The CCA noted that the detailed role of Commission counsel is not specified in any document but Section 45 of Rule 001 of the AUC *Rules of Practice* offers further guidance on the role of Commission counsel. Section 45 extends participation of Commission counsel to cross-examination but it is dependant on the circumstances as to when it is necessary or appropriate. The CCA submitted:

that Commission counsel should only cross examine a witness where in the "opinion" of the Commission it is "appropriate" or "necessary" as the circumstances warrant the same.⁵³

- 57. Neither the UCA nor C3 took a position on the matters raised by Calgary.
- 58. AG commented in its August 8, 2011 reply argument:

First, ATCO Gas notes that Commission counsel's questioning is designed to explore the positions being advanced by parties, their knowledge base and the reasons supporting such positions. Stated differently, Commission counsel's role is to complete the record in order to assist the Commission Panel Members in the disposition of the application.⁵⁴

59. AG submitted "that there is no factual basis to suggest that there was a lack of "neutrality" in relation to the Commission counsel's statements and lines of examination in the subject proceeding." 55 Counsel for AG noted at the hearing:

But with respect, Commission counsel has, in my experience, come at this job of completing the record in a conscientious and thorough way. I haven't always liked it. I have objected when I thought it went too far.⁵⁶

⁵¹ Ibid., pages 16 and 17.

⁵⁰ Ibid., page 16.

⁵² CCA reply argument, page 21.

⁵³ Ibid., page 20.

AG reply argument, page 134 and 135.

⁵⁵ Ibid., page 137.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1101, lines 1-11.

60. With respect to Calgary's submissions that Commission counsel should not be asking questions that might allow a witness to bolster earlier testimony to opposing counsel, AG submitted:

Indeed, Commissioners themselves would be vulnerable to the same criticisms about lack of neutrality or bias if they asked questions after all cross-examination was complete which allow witnesses to shore-up their earlier testimony. The objective is to understand clearly the positions of all parties. The key factor is that the same approach is taken in a fair and balanced manner with all parties. That was done in this case.⁵⁷

- 61. AG stated that it did not perceive any basis for an allegation of unfairness. AG submitted that in this proceeding Commission counsel struck a balance with respect to its questions of the AG panels and of the intervener panels.⁵⁸ Furthermore, AG submitted that it "cannot be said that the Commission counsel's examination created an unfair advantage to any one particular panel through lines of questions that allowed for an 'opportunity to rehabilitate'."⁵⁹
- 62. AG stated that there is no legal basis to expunge or discount the weight of the subject evidence from the record at the reply argument stage of the proceeding. Further, Calgary's request to expunge or discount the weight of evidence on the basis of lack of neutrality is in effect a claim of bias and should have been raised in a timely manner. 60 Counsel for Calgary did not object at the time the cross-examination took place. 61
- 63. AG did not agree with Calgary's recommendation for a generic proceeding to review Commission counsel's role in AUC proceedings.⁶²

Commission findings

64. The Commission recently commented on its role and the nature of proceedings before it in Decision 2011-436.⁶³ In that decision the Commission also commented on its duty to use its' expertise to test an application, including testing through questioning by Commission members and Commission counsel to ensure that it has the information necessary to determine the public interest. In Decision 2011-436 the Commission stated:

2.1 The Commission's role

73. The Commission is an independent, quasi-judicial agency of the province of Alberta. As a quasi-judicial body, the Commission is similar in many ways to a court when it holds hearings and makes decisions on applications. Like a court, the Commission bases its decision on the evidence before it and allows interested parties to cross-examine the applicants' witnesses to test that evidence. Other similarities with judicial process include the power to compel witnesses to attend its hearings, and the obligation to provide a written decision with reasons. However, the Commission is not a

⁵⁷ Ibid., page 135.

⁵⁸ Ibid., page 137.

⁵⁹ Ibid., page 137.

AG reply argument, pages 137 and 138.

⁶¹ Ibid., page 139.

⁶² Ibid., page 140.

Decision 2011-436: AltaLink Management Ltd. and EPCOR Distribution & Transmission Inc., Heartland Transmission Project, Application No.1606609, Proceeding ID No. 457, November 1, 2011.

court. It has no inherent powers. Its powers are set out in legislation. It is sometimes referred to as an expert tribunal because it deals frequently with specialized subject matter required to balance the public interest considerations it must address. Unlike a court proceeding, the Commission's proceedings are not matters between two or more competing parties to determine who wins and loses. In other words, the Commission's proceedings are not in the nature of a *lis inter partes* (a dispute between parties).

- 74. The Commission's proceedings are conducted to determine an outcome that meets the public interest mandate set out in the legislation. In the vast majority of its proceedings, the Commission is not limited to considering only the evidence presented to it by the applicant and by parties that may be directly and adversely affected. Indeed, it is the Commission's role to test the application to determine whether approval of that application would be in the public interest....
- 75. In performing its duty to test the application, the Commission not only actively tests the evidence by asking questions of the applicant and the parties but also by asking questions of any expert witnesses called by the applicant or the parties. In some cases, the Commission calls independent witnesses to address issues that the Commission considers important and wants to make sure are addressed in the record of the proceeding....
- 76. The Commission's objective is to determine whether the application as filed is in the public interest and, if not, what changes could be ordered by the Commission to most effectively balance the various public interest factors it must consider using its own expertise to consider the evidence it has before it....
- 95. In summary, it is the Commission's duty to use its expertise to test the application placed before it to ensure that it has the information necessary to make a public interest determination and that all parties to the proceeding have the same information as the Commission before them so that they can explain how their private interests can best be balanced in the public interest determination. The Commission asks questions of the applicant and parties to the proceeding, including oral examination by its counsel and the Commission members and may call witnesses that it considers necessary for the proceeding so that it has the information necessary to determine the public interest.⁶⁴
- 65. The Commission directly considered the role of counsel in questioning at an oral hearing in response to submissions made by Calgary in Decision 2011-076. In that decision the Commission stated:
 - 63. The Commission disagrees with the Calgary suggestion that the fact that parties were represented by counsel somehow changes the nature of the questions that may be appropriate to be asked by Commission counsel. Taken to an extreme, the Calgary position would prohibit Commission information requests, Commission counsel questions and Commission panel questions other than on procedural matters where parties adverse in interest are represented by counsel. The Commission has a public interest mandate and the statutory obligation to fix just and reasonable rates²² for the utilities under its jurisdiction. In fulfilling this obligation, the Commission, acting through its staff and the assigned panel, must be able to probe into the evidence filed before it in

Decision 2011-436, page 14, paragraphs 73-76 and page 18, paragraph 95.

Decision 2011-076: The City of Calgary, Decision on Preliminary Question, Review and Variance of Decision 2010-511 ATCO Utilities 2003-2007 Benchmarking and ATCO I-Tek Placeholders True-Up Cost Awards, Application No. 1606905, Proceeding ID No. 1029, March 2, 2011.

order for the Commission panel to determine the merits and the weight to accord such evidence, subject always to the rules of procedural fairness. The Commission can not simply rely on counsel for the parties to act in the public interest or to test the evidence sufficiently to satisfy the Commission's statutory obligations when they do not bear the same statutory obligations, have completely different objectives in participating in the proceeding and where each has a stake in the outcome. One commentator has remarked on this issue as follows:

The work of most tribunals cannot be adequately accomplished by means of an adversarial system of evidence-gathering.

Most tribunals have a "public interest" element that is not adequately covered off by the material put forward by the participants. Our civil justice system is based on an assumption that issue identification, evidence-gathering and argument can be left in the safekeeping of the parties. Our criminal justice system is based on a similar assumption, with the parties being the Crown and the defense. Administrative justice is different. There is the "public interest."

To cover off the "public interest" angle, tribunals have to become inquisitorial (some more than others). And inquisitorial tribunals need more legal advice tha[n] more passive decision-makers.

Another aspect of this same point is that an adversarial system relies for its fact-finding on having two more or less equal and competent counsel. The tribunal system can rely even less than the civil or criminal systems on the participants having counsel. ^{23 66}

- 66. The Commission finds that Calgary's submissions in this proceeding regarding the role of Commission counsel in oral hearings are similar to those raised by Calgary and addressed in Decision 2011-076, including Calgary's reliance on the Omineca Decision. The Commission considers that Calgary's submissions with respect to the role of Commission counsel at oral hearings were satisfactorily addressed in Decision 2011-076 and need not be further referenced here.
- 67. As noted in Decision 2011-436 and Decision 2011-076, the Commission is required by statute to ensure that the public interest is served. In a general rate application, the public interest is served by determining a revenue requirement for the utility that is both fair to the utility and to its customers, resulting in just and reasonable rates for the test period. The determination of just and reasonable rates is not a question of siding with one party or another on each cost or revenue item and then tallying up the pluses and minuses. As noted in Decision 2011-436, a proceeding before the Commission is not a *lis inter partes*. In order to carry out its public interest obligation to determine just and reasonable rates, the Commission must be able to fully test, clarify and probe the evidence submitted by the parties. This includes confirming the Commission's understanding of a party's position and its implications, testing the credibility of witnesses and clarifying earlier testimony where necessary in the public interest. The Commission carries out these functions through various mechanisms including issuing information requests, giving

14 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

²² Section 36 Gas Utilities Act and Section 121(2) Electric Utilities Act.

²³ G. Steele, "Tribunal Counsel" (1998) 11 Can. J. Admin. L. Prac. 57 at page 62.

⁶⁶ Ibid., pages 13 and 14.

directions to the parties on materials to be filed, and through questioning by Commission counsel and Commission members at an oral hearing. It is the obligation of the Commission to test an application before it to ascertain the public interest, regardless of whether or not other parties have intervened in the application. On occasion, the Commission will also engage an independent expert to provide additional evidence on a particular matter. It is only after a thorough vetting of the evidence that the Commission will be in a position to assess the merits and the weight to accord the evidence and to make a determination in the public interest.

- 68. Section 68 of the *Alberta Utilities Commission Act* authorizes the Commission to employ persons necessary for the transaction of its business and to engage experts and persons having "special technical or other knowledge" to assist the Commission in carrying out its powers, duties and functions. The Commission therefore, in addition to reliance upon the specialized expertise of its members, may retain the professional skills necessary to assist it in carrying out its public interest responsibilities. If the proceedings before the Commission were intended by the legislature to be conducted on a *lis inter partes* basis, like those before a court, it would not be necessary for the Commission to have a specialized expertise in utility matters nor would it be necessary for the Legislature to provide the Commission with the express power to retain specialized personnel. The Commission would rely solely on the parties to complete the record upon which it would make a decision.
- 69. Calgary also raised the issue of a potential conflict between Commission counsel's responsibilities to conduct questioning of witness panels as part of the Commission's investigation/regulatory function and the responsibility to provide advice to the Commission on adjudicative matters such as ruling on a motion.
- The Commission considers that a separation of these functions may be required where a 70. tribunal is charged with both the responsibility to investigate a party who has allegedly committed a regulatory offense and a prosecutorial responsibility which could result in an adjudication which imposes financial penalties or which may impact the personal rights, privileges or liberties of the party under investigation. The article by Graham Steele referred to by the Commission in Decision 2011-076 and also referenced by Calgary, 67 refers to examples of tribunals such as those which oversee gaming, licensing and professional organizations, where an overlap of investigative/regulatory and adjudicative functions may give rise to a reasonable apprehension of bias.⁶⁸ The Commission has recognized that special procedural fairness and natural justice requirements may be required in such situations. For example, in Bulletin 2010-17⁶⁹ dated April 23, 2010, the Commission outlined the process for the adjudication by the Commission of proceedings brought before it for alleged contraventions of various laws by the Market Surveillance Administrator (MSA). The bulletin recognizes the separation of the investigation function carried out by the MSA and adjudication function carried out by the Commission. As noted in paragraph 65 of the bulletin:

However, the nature of a rate proceeding or a facility proceeding is quite different from that of an administrative penalty proceeding.

⁶⁷ Calgary argument, page 7.

⁶⁸ G. Steele, "Tribunal Counsel" (1998) 11 Can. J. Admin. L. Prac. 57 at page 74.

Bulletin 2010-17, Consultation on Market Surveillance Administrator (MSA) Proceedings Before the Alberta Utilities Commission (AUC or Commission), April 23, 2010.

- 71. In a rate regulation proceeding, such as the current proceeding, no such separation of the investigatory and adjudicative function is required. While the Commission must investigate the evidence in performing its statutory obligations to fix just and reasonable rates the Commission is not acting in a prosecutorial capacity. The Commission must be able to rely on the various tools available to it, including questioning by Commission counsel, in order to complete the record from a public interest perspective, prior to making a determination of just and reasonable rates. The Commission is also entitled to rely on the expertise of Commission counsel with respect to legal and procedural matters that may arise during the course of a rate proceeding.
- 72. With respect to the nature, fairness, and neutrality of the questions asked by Commission counsel in the present proceeding, the Commission has reviewed the transcript and the submissions of the parties. The Commission finds the questioning conducted by each of the Commission counsel at the oral hearing to have been professional, impartial, directed at testing, clarifying or completing the evidentiary record and procedurally fair. The Commission finds no evidence of procedural unfairness or a breach of natural justice.
- 73. The Commission does not consider that a stakeholder consultative process on the role of Commission counsel as suggested by Calgary is required. The services of Commission counsel are determined by the Commission and are directed in a manner best suited to assist the Commission in carrying out its public interest responsibilities as the circumstances of each proceeding may warrant.
- 74. The Commission further observes that there is no reason for the Commission to engage in its fact findings through counsel. One of the Commission's expert staff could as easily engage in asking the witness panels questions. It is out of extreme respect for procedural fairness to all parties that the Commission has a member of the law society of Alberta engage in such questioning. A member of the law society is bound by certain rules of conduct, and the Commission is satisfied that its counsel conducted themselves appropriately in this proceeding.
- 75. It would be an expectation that counsel for all parties do the same. Using terms such as "softballs and lipstick," perhaps uttered in the heat of the moment, cannot become the norm in Commission proceedings. More importantly, however, it is standard practice that if a party objects to a line of questioning, that they make their objection known immediately. This would require the objecting party to be present in the room at the time. The reason for this requirement is that the transcript is tone deaf. The content and tone of the questions is what determines the appropriateness of the questions. None of the other parties, who were present in the room, objected to Commission counsel's questions, because there was nothing wrong with the questions.

4 Rate base

76. This section will discuss the additions to rate base from 2008-2010 and the forecast capital costs for a number of projects and programs that are planned by AG for the test years.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1074.

4.1 2011 opening rate base

77. In its April 21, 2011 submissions⁷¹ AG updated its 2010 closing property, plant and equipment (PP&E) balances to \$1,410.4 million. Table 3 below is a comparison of AG's actual rate base from 2008 to 2010.⁷² The change in net rate base was related to capital additions and retirements, changes in depreciation and other factors. In this section the Commission will examine capital additions to the opening rate base.

Table 3. Opening rate base

	2008 actual	2009 actual	2010 actual
Rate base (\$ million)	1,261.2	1,327.9	1,410.4
Per cent Increase over prior year		5.3%	6.2%

78. A comparison of forecast and actual capital expenditures for 2008 to 2010 is shown in the table below.

Table 4. Comparison of forecast and actual capital expenditures

	2008	2009	2010			
	(\$ millions)					
Forecast capital expenditures	256.7	273.4	214.0 ⁷³			
Actual capital expenditures	252.4	192.4	197.0			

79. In Tab 8.1.1 of the application AG provided a comparison of its 2008 actual capital expenditures to the approved forecast in the 2008-2009 GRA. The total actual expenditures of \$252.4 million were \$4.3 million or 1.7 per cent less than forecast. AG spent \$13.6 million below forecast in the distribution service category (30.4 per cent less than forecast), which AG explained was the result of the start of the economic downturn, and over-spent \$8.6 million in the computer software and equipment category (94.5 per cent greater than forecast). AG explained that the latter was mainly due to proceeding with the new human resources system, Oracle HRX, which had not been included in the GRA forecast due to significant uncertainty regarding the timing, scope and cost to develop the system. AG underspent its land and structures 2008 approved forecast by \$797,000.

80. In Tab 8.2.1 of the application AG provided a comparison of its 2009 actual capital expenditures to the approved forecast in the 2008-2009 GRA. The total actual expenditures of \$192.4 million were \$81.0 million or 29.5 per cent less than forecast. AG under-spent in all major categories, which it explained was a result of the continuing economic downturn and decisions to delay the construction of new operating centres, and the delay of the meter relocation and replacement project (MRRP). The exception was in the computer software and equipment category, where AG over-spent by \$12.3 million (293 per cent greater than forecast). AG explained that the latter was mainly due to proceeding with the new human resources system, Oracle HRX, which had not been included in the GRA forecast and higher than expected

Exhibit 84.01, page 1, paragraph 1.

⁷² 2008-2009 from Exhibit 84.01.

Response to CCA-AG-02.

development costs for the work management system. AG underspent its land and structures 2009 approved forecast by \$4,832,000.

- 81. As there was not an approved forecast for 2010, AG did not provide an analysis of the differences between the 2010 forecast and 2010 actual expenditures. However, AG provided a capital assets continuity schedule for 2010 as part of its May 16, 2011 application update. Schedule 4.2 provided a summary and reasons for the variance between 2010 and 2009 actual capital additions:
 - Services were higher in 2010 due to increased customer growth.
 - Meters, Regulators and Installations were higher in 2010 due to increased customer growth as well as an increase in larger commercial projects.
 - Software Development was lower in 2010 due mainly to costs related to 2009
 projects including Work Management, Oracle HRXellence, the Non-Gas Sales
 Information System (NGSIS), and the Service Initiation and Billing System (SIBS)
 replacement.
 - Improvements and MRRP were higher in 2010 due to increased improvement work.
 - Land and Structures were lower in 2010 as the majority of the work related to the North Edmonton Operating Centre took place in 2009.
 - General Moveable Equipment was higher in 2010 due to the timing of the equipment purchases for 2009.
 - Communication and Lab Equipment was higher in 2010 due to the commencement of the Mobile Radio Replacement project.
- 82. In its application AG identified only one major capital project which was initiated in 2010, the low use automatic meter reading (AMR) project.⁷⁵
- 83. The Commission will review the prudence of some of the 2008 to 2010 capital expenditures in the other sections of this report. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to update its 2011 opening rate base in accordance with the findings in other sections of this decision. The 2011 opening property, plant, and equipment accounts are approved subject to the Commission's directions relating to specific assets addressed in subsequent sections of this decision.

4.2 Capital additions expenditure forecast

84. AG capital expenditures are classified into nine functional categories. AG submitted the following table in its application and in UCA-AG-62(a) summarizing the capital expenditures for the north and south service territories. In its January 21, 2011 submissions, AG provided information regarding high pressure relocations as a result of work undertaken by ATCO Pipelines. Business cases for the high pressure related work in downtown Edmonton, North East Edmonton, and southeast Calgary were provided in support of additional forecast costs. The forecast additional cost of the three projects was \$0.8 million in 2011 and \$2.7 million in 2012.

18 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

⁷⁴ Exhibit 160.01, UCA-AG-62(b), Attachment 2, Schedule 4.1 and 4.2.

⁷⁵ Ibid., Section 2.1-3, paragraph 6.

⁷⁶ Exhibit 70.01, Business cases: Downtown Edmonton, North East Edmonton and South East Calgary.

⁷⁷ Ibid.

In the April 21, 2011 update⁷⁸ AG filed a new business case for it's a proposed human resource program, Talent Mangement System (TMS). The forecast cost of TMS is \$2 million in 2011.

Table 5. Capital expenditures

Table 2.1	.1 ATCO Gas	s (Total) - Hi	storic and F	orecast Exper	nditures	
	(\$ millions)					
	Actual 2008	Actual 2009	Actual 2010	Forecast 2010	Forecast 2011	Forecast 2011
Distribution						
Distribution extensions	53.3	35.5	36.3	44.8	47.6	47.0
Distribution improvements	80.7	66.0	72.8	73.6	146.4	164.0
Distribution services	31.2	27.4	32.2	33.1	36.4	37.0
Meters, regulators and installations	23.3	16.2	23.0	25.8	44.8	63.2
Subtotal distribution	188.5	145.1	164.3	177.3	275.2	311.2
Land and structures	23.5	22.8	10.4	10.6	15.3	13.2
Moveable equipment	22.6	6.2	12.1	14.7	19.3	21.6
Communication equipment	-0.1	1.1	1.6	2.0	7.4	1.7
Information technology	17.7	16.5	8.2	10.0	9.0	6.9
Demand side management total expenditures	0.2	0.7	0.0	0.0	1.5	3.0
Total expenditures	252.4	192.4	196.6	214.6	327.7	357.6
High pressure relocations – Jan. 21, 2011 update					0.8	2.7
TMS – April 21, 2011 update					2.0	
Updated total					330.5	360.3

85. AG provided a further breakdown of each functional category in Table 1 above in UCA-AG-62(a) Attachment 1.

CCA broad brush reduction submission

- 86. This section will consider the proposal by the CCA to apply a broad brush reduction to AG's capital expenditure forecasts in the test years of 8.6 per cent.⁷⁹
- 87. The CCA expressed concern with the magnitude of the increase from 2010 actual capital expenditures to forecast 2011 and 2012 expenditures. The CCA noted that AG over-forecast 2010 capital expenditures in every category for a total of \$17.0 million or 8.6 per cent. 80
- 88. AG disagreed with any reduction to its capital additions forecasts and indicated that there was no basis to apply a broad brush reduction to the test year forecasts as advocated by the CCA, stating:

⁷⁹ CCA argument, paragraph 10, page 6.

Exhibit 118.01, Attachment 1.

⁸⁰ CCA argument, paragraph 9, page 5, (214-197)/197.

The decisions of the regulator must be based on the evidence before it, they cannot be arbitrary. ...Although ATCO Gas views that no adjustments should be made to it revenue requirement forecast, in the event that the Commission disagrees, the adjustments made must be based on a reasoned, factual determination that is not inconsistent with decisions the regulator has made for other utilities, where relevant.⁸¹

- 89. In its reply argument AG also pointed out that it did not agree with the CCA's calculation of an 8.6 per cent differential between the 2010 forecast and actual capital expenditures. AG recalculated the differential as 7.9 per cent using 2010 data as the denominator. AG believed all CCA's calculations required the same correction.
- 90. AG noted that the CCA recommended reductions to individual capital forecasts which AG argued was double counting when combined with the broad brush reductions recommended. AG argued that the CCA had ignored all of the places where AG had spent more than it forecast in 2010 in its recommendations which made the effect of double counting even more significant.

Commission findings

91. The CCA has proposed a reduction in forecast capital expenditures of 8.6 per cent based on 2010 forecast versus actual expenditures. The Commission acknowledges that a broad brush reduction approach may be appropriate in situations where capital expenditures are primarily driven by inflation and system growth, and there has been a demonstrated trend of overforecasting. The Commission does not accept the CCA proposal in the circumstances of this proceeding for the following reasons. The 2010 forecast was not approved by the Commission therefore it was not fully tested. A broad brush approach reduction requires greater support than a single non-test year analysis can provide, and typically should be supported by a trend. Further, major capital projects are fact specific and require justification through individual business cases. Accordingly, the Commission will consider the capital additions projects individually to determine whether the forecast costs are reasonable.

4.3 Business cases

- 92. The Commission notes that AG provided a total of 20 business cases in the application for various capital projects. This section will examine individually fifteen of these business cases. Business Cases 8 and 9 related to land and structures are examined in the Section 4.5.1; Business Case 11 Energy Education program expansion is examined with related operating costs in Section 6.3.14, Business Case 12 Single Source Communities Emergency Gas Supply is examined in moveable equipment and and Business Cases 14 to 20 related to computer equipment will be examined in the sections on those topics.
- 93. Business Case 3 TransCanada Turbines HP [high pressure] Lateral Relocation, Business Case 6 Viking Mainlines to Red Deer 1 HP Pipeline Replacement, Business Case 10 Grande Prairie Operating Center and Business Case 13 Mobile Radio Replacement were not opposed by interveners. The Commission has reviewed these business cases and has determined that the cost/benefit analysis and discussion therein is sufficient. The Commission therefore approves the forecast costs associated with these programs for inclusion in revenue requirement. The remaining business cases outlined below are discussed in subsequent sections of this decision:

AG reply argument, paragraph 17, page 10.

- Business Case 1 Urban Mains Replacement (UMR) is discussed in Section 4.3.1
- Business Case 2 Above Ground Entry Meter Relocation and Replacement is discussed in Section 4.3.2
- Business Case 4 Plastic Pipe Replacement is discussed in Section .4.3.3
- Business Case 5 Line Heater Reliability is discussed in Section 4.3.4
- Business Case 7 Low Use AMR Project is discussed in Section 4.3.5
- Business Case 8 Okotoks Operating Center is discussed in Section 4.5.5
- Business Case 9 Drayton Valley Operating Center is discussed in Section 4.5.6
- Business Case 11 Energy Education Program Expansion is discussed in Section 6.3.14
- Business Case 12 Single Source Communities is discussed in Section 4.6.1
- Business Case 14 Oracle HRX is discussed in Section 4.7.1
- Business Case 15 Instrument Record System Upgrade, is discussed in Section 4.7.3
- Business Case 16 Oracle E-Business Suite R12 and 10g Upgrade, is discussed in Section 4.7.3
- Business Case 17 Oracle Version 10G to 11 Upgrade Mid Sized Applications, is discussed in Section 4.7.3
- Business Case 18 Workstation Operating System Upgrade, is discussed in Section 4.7.3
- Business Case 19 Work Management System Enhancements is discussed in Section 4.7.3 and
- Business Case 20 PDA Replacement Project is discussed in Section 4.7.3

4.3.1 Urban mains replacements (Business Case 1)

- 94. AG has applied for approval of a capital program of \$50.2 million in 2011 and \$62.3 million in 2012 for the replacement of urban steel mains. The company has traditionally based its urban main replacement activities on the company's demerit point system which applies points to potentially negative attributes to existing mains including pipe material, operating pressure, installation date, soil, type of coating, coating condition, cathodic protection performance, below ground leak history and service entry location. Those areas with higher risk points are further examined for two and 10-year leak histories. Finally, areas of greatest concern are subjected to an engineering evaluation to consider the condition and risk of these assets in greater detail.
- 95. AG indicated that it would be stepping up its UMR program by adopting a new proactive⁸² approach to target complete replacement of all existing steel mains and services within the next 100 years. In attempting to meet this objective AG indicated that it intended to replace approximately 90 kilometres (km) of urban mains in each of the test years.⁸³ AG noted in its business case that "increasingly vintage of pipe is used to identify areas of higher risk."⁸⁴

UMR Business Case, page 2, paragraph 2; Transcript, Volume 5, page 992, line 15.

AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 51, page 13.

UMR Business Case, page 3, paragraph 6.

96. The application and business case indicated the purpose of the program:

Should even a small percentage of this pipe vintage [at least 50 years old] develop an unacceptable level of leaks, the safety risk would be unacceptable and ATCO Gas could easily become overwhelmed with work to address the situation. 85

97. AG submitted that it would continue to use the same methodology it had used in the past to identify and prioritize urban mains to be replaced. However, it will take into account the aging nature of the urban mains infrastructure. Mr. Dixon, Senior Vice-President and Chief Engineer for AG explained the difference between what AG had historically done to determine UMR projects from what it was proposing to do in the test years and thereafter in the following terms:

```
13 A. MR. DIXON: I'll give it a try here,
```

- 14 Mr. McNulty. So the demerit point system and the engineering
- 15 assessments have not changed one iota. In the past, that's
- 16 what we applied, and our leak frequency, as I mentioned
- 17 before, has been pretty stable and our rate of replacement
- 18 has been pretty stable. And we could continue in that mode
- 19 going forward, and we fully expect that the demerit point
- 20 system and engineering assessments would identify more and
- 21 more pipe to do, as we're getting this wall of aging pipe
- 22 coming towards us.
- The trouble with the demerit point system is
- 24 it relies on last year's leak survey information. So it's
- 25 kind of one year behind. And that's fine if everything is

00991

1 stable. You're on top of the right areas. But when you've

- 2 got a huge amount of vintage pipe coming at us, what's going
- 3 to happen is we're going to be trying to catch up all the
- 4 time. It's going to be identifying leaks. We'll up our
- 5 mains replacement program, but it's never going to be quite
- 6 enough.

7 So what we're doing in this application is

- 8 we've got a good eye on that vintage pipe, and we know it's
- 9 coming. We're stepping up, as Mr. Hahn said, stepping up our
- 10 mains replacement. Going to apply the same demerit and
- 11 engineering assessment. Now, it may be where we were
- 12 replacing -- or doing engineering assessments when the
- 13 demerit point was, you know, 65, we may be doing it at 60
- 14 now. But it's -- it's more proactive, and it's in the now,
- 15 rather than waiting for a delayed reaction of a year for
- 16 actual leak information.

I point again to the rebuttal evidence where

- 18 we showed what happened to us in the '80s, well, at least for
- 19 Canadian Western Natural Gas in the Calgary region, where we
- 20 weren't keeping up. And the leak frequency -- the number of
- 21 leaks can escalate very quickly, and it can take a decade to
- 22 correct that. And that was one thing back then when we were
- 23 only talking of bare mains -- the remaining bare mains, 370
- 24 kilometres in total. But we're talking about adding hundreds
- 25 of kilometres each year in the vintage category.

22 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

-

Exhibit 3, application, paragraph 21, page 2.1-9 and Exhibit 1, Business Case 1, paragraph 10, page 5.

00992

```
And if we get behind the eight ball, as they
1
2 call it, if we get behind on the leaks and they get away from
3 us, I am really worried we won't be able to catch -- get on
4 top of it again, because it's such bigger numbers than we
5 have ever seen before.
6 Q. Thank you, sir. That helps to clarify. So what ATCO is
7 doing, then, is changing the rationale for why it wants to go
8 ahead going forward with a larger pipe replacement program
9 than it has before. If I heard you correctly, you're using
10 the demerit point system and engineering assessments, but you
11 also factored into the account you're trying to get ahead of
12 the game, look at the vintaging that's happening, and start
13 acting proactively to address what you believe to be a
14 problem coming; is that right?
15 A. MR. DIXON:
                             "Proactive" is the keyword,
16 Mr. McNulty. Correct.
17 Q. But you are doing something differently than what you
18 used to do before, right?
19 A. MR. DIXON:
                             I guess the eye to the amount
20 of vintage that's coming at us, because we know it's a sea
21 change coming. And that is new because the situation is new.<sup>86</sup>
```

- 98. AG stated that based on its current replacement rates the amount of pipe over 50 years of age would almost double in 10 years with the expectation that the current leak frequency of 5.2 leaks per 100 km per year would double in 10 years without an aggressive replacement program.⁸⁷
- 99. AG submitted that the pipe installed in 1950 had been in service for 60 years and that the average retirement age of pipe experienced historically by AG was approximately 60 years. AG argued that history had shown that if it did not start to replace pipe when it reached that age, its leak frequencies would increase. The amount of 60-year old pipe was growing by an average of 128 km per year over the next five years. AG referred to Figure 1 in the business case included with the application and included again in the rebuttal which graphically represented the amount of pipe in service by vintage. AG submitted that the graph clearly supported the required steel mains replacement program. The graph demonstrated that the amount of vintage steel pipe in service was increasing at a rate almost 10 times anything experienced by AG in prior years.
- 100. AG argued that the proposed 100-year replacement program assumed that the average service life for all remaining steel pipe currently in service would rise to approximately 80 years from the current average of 60 years. AG claimed it was clear that this pipe did not have a 500-year life, which was what would be required based on the prior level of pipe replacement.

Transcript, Volume 5, pages 990 to 992.

AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 56, page 16.

AG rebuttal evidence, pages 13-14.

Application, Tab 2.1, Business Case 1, page 4.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 14, paragraph 51.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 15, paragraph 53.

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1053, lines 11-12.

AG argument, page 14, paragraph 34.

101. AG provided a graph in Figure 2.1 of its rebuttal evidence⁹⁴ which provided a leak history for bare steel mains which were not cathodically protected. The graph demonstrated that the bare steel mains experienced a greater frequency of leaks as the pipe aged, requiring the utility to dramatically increase its pipe replacement program in order to maintain leak frequency within acceptable levels. AG submitted that it was reasonable to consider that the need to replace existing pipe would also increase dramatically over time despite improvements in coatings and cathodic protection, particularly given the fact that large quantities of pipe were installed during an approximately thirty year period starting in about 1950. AG suggested that the lessons learned from the need to replace the bare steel mains on an accelerated basis as it aged should be used in planning for an orderly replacement of pipe installed subsequently. AG noted in the application:

ATCO Gas currently has 2,300 km of steel main in operation that is at <u>least 50</u> years old. By 2020, at the historical rate of replacement, this would grow to 3,800 km of steel main in operation that is at <u>least 50</u> years old. Should even a small percentage of this pipe vintage develop an unacceptable level of leaks, the safety risk would be unacceptable and ATCO Gas could easily become overwhelmed with work to address the situation.⁹⁵

- 102. The AG witnesses emphasized during the oral hearing the significant consideration pipe vintage had in its proposed UMR program as evidenced as the following exchange with Commission counsel:
 - 23 Q. Okay. Now, over time as pipe gets older, would you
 - 24 agree that that evaluation process that you've been doing
 - 25 would naturally result in increasing levels of steel mains 00934
 - 1 replacement?
 - 2 A. MR. DIXON: Not in and of itself. What's
 - 3 driving the increase in pipeline replacement is what we refer
 - 4 to as Figure 1 that was shown in the business case. It's
 - 5 also repeated in the rebuttal, and it's really the key to our
 - 6 steel maybe mains replacement program. I'll just call that
 - 7 up. Page 14, it's paragraph 51.
 - 8 Q. So are you in the rebuttal now?
 - 9 A. MR. DIXON: I'm in the rebuttal, page 14,
 - 10 paragraph 51, and this figure is really the key figure. It's
 - 11 the amount of vintage really drives the pace of our
 - 12 replacement program.
- 103. Despite the above characterization of the urban mains replacement program as a proactive program in which 90 km per year would be replaced with increased reliance on vintage, AG also indicted at the oral hearing that the specific urban mains replacement projects forecast for the test years were the same that would have been identified using the demerit point/leak history/engineering assessment procedures it had applied in prior years. Mr. Dixon had the following exchange with Commission Counsel:
 - Q. ...But just to be sure, then, so the projects you've identified in the business case, they would have been -- they would have been on tap, so to speak, to be replaced in 2011

Rebuttal evidence, paragraph 55, page 16.

Application, paragraph 21, page 2.1-9.

and 2012 under the existing demerit point and engineering assessment methodology? Is that right?

A. MR. DIXON: That's right. And I think we saw signs of that in 2010. Things are starting to ramp up. And that's solely due to the more vintage pipe adding to our system.

Q. Okay. So there are no additional projects for 2011 and '12 that have been added that would not have been there under -- using the methodology you applied last year.

A. MR. DIXON: That's correct. 96

Views of the parties

104. Calgary noted that AG proposed to increase the replacement of steel mains from previous years by five fold. In 2010 the leak frequency was lower than in the previous nine years, so that Calgary considered it was clear that the age of pipe was not the only factor driving leaks. Calgary suggested it might be argued that the worst of the pipe has been replaced so that the leak frequency would be expected to be down. Calgary argued that there was no justification for the significant increase in the capital expenditures forecast for the test periods.

105. The UCA's position was that the Commission should not approve the steel mains replacement program at this time, either as an on-going program or in relation to the test years. The UCA stated it was not opposed to an urban mains replacement program of some kind but that, in this proceeding, AG had not demonstrated that the applied for program was needed. Further, even if some such program was needed, AG had not demonstrated that the program suggested by AG was the most reasonable and economically efficient available alternative.

106. It was the UCA's submission that AG had failed to do or to consider at least three things that should be prerequisites to any kind of Commission approval of the program as follows:

- a. AG has failed to show, as even an initial step, that there is a need for the program or that the existing or status quo approach to dealing with the aging of its urban mains system is not adequate,
- b. AG has completely failed to acknowledge or assess the question of how its program and the available alternatives, including the status quo, would affect customers economically in the long run, and
- c. AG has failed to examine or consider any alternatives to its own proposal.⁹⁹

107. The UCA argued that AG already had in place a sophisticated system for monitoring the condition of its system, identifying and prioritizing risks, and taking appropriate remedial action when necessary. That mechanism resulted in on-going replacement and retirement activity at a modest level. Over time one would expect that natural retirement activity to increase, although when and at what rate that would happen appeared to be unknown.

108. The UCA considered that what was at issue was how that natural retirement process would play out in the long run as the components of the system age, and whether that natural retirement process was likely to create difficulties in the future. In the UCA's view AG had not

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1029, line 14 to page 1029, line 1.

⁹⁷ Exhibit 3, page 2.1-2, paragraph 5.

⁹⁸ Exhibit 83-01, response to UCA-AG-8(c).

UCA argument, pages 2 and 3, paragraph 7.

provided any actual evidence suggesting that a peak for replacement would occur, or indicating when it would occur, or how significant it would be.

- The UCA argued that what was needed in order to establish a natural retirement peak, and what would go directly to the issue AG raised, was a forecast of natural urban mains replacements or retirements over the next several decades under the status quo approach.¹⁰⁰
- The UCA did not dispute that the implications of aging infrastructure were an important issue for utilities and their customers, but argued that the AG evidence in support of its urban mains replacement program did not come close to meeting the required onus. AG's forecast that leak frequencies would double in ten years was not supported by any study, but was a "rule of thumb" that had apparently been derived entirely from AG's experience with bare steel mains rather than its actual experience with modern coated steel mains that have enjoyed cathodic protection for all or most of their lives.¹⁰¹ The UCA argued that the consideration that steel mains installed in the late 1970s and early 1980s reach 60 years of age, by and in itself did not mean that the pipe should be retired.
- 111. The UCA considered that AG was proposing to spend significant amounts of money on an annual basis over a period of several decades in response to a problem that it was not able to demonstrate existed. The UCA submitted that AG had apparently taken the position that the cost implications of this large ongoing program, and the relative cost implications of the various alternatives, were irrelevant to the issue of whether to allow it to proceed with its preferred program.102
- 112. The UCA argued that the fact was that the status quo and the proposal by AG would have significantly different cost implications for different generations of customers, and for existing customers in present value terms.
- The UCA pointed out in its reply argument that AG appeared to have altered its main focus for support of the replacement program. In the business case submitted with the Application, AG had maintained the business program was necessary in order to avoid potential difficulties in the long run associated with a peak or spike in replacement activity. In its rebuttal evidence¹⁰³ AG had developed a different theory that characterized the issue as one of safety and reliability in the near term, based on a claim that without programmed replacements leak frequencies would increase dramatically over the next 10 years.
- The UCA observed that AG did not indicate that it had conducted any testing or sampling of its coated pipes; conducted any scientific research into the corrosion resistance or overall life characteristics of either bare steel mains or modern coated mains; or surveyed the scientific or trade literature in relation to these issues. It was the UCA's opinion that AG had failed to make any serious effort to demonstrate, with any kind of logical or scientific rigor, that its massive proposed expenditures were required or reasonable. 104 The UCA submitted that:

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, page 9, Q.16 and Q.17 for the UCA's analysis of the analytical approach that ATCO should have taken in examining the steel mains replacement issue. See also in this connection the discussion between Mr. McNulty and Mr. Stauft at Transcript, Volume 8 at pages 1700 to 1712.

See discussion with Mr. Dixon at Transcript, Volume 5, page 937.

Exhibit 83.01, response to UCA-AG-12(a).

Exhibit 163.01, paragraphs 46-67.

UCA reply argument, page 6, paragraph 14.

There is no urgent need to institute the proposed program now, before it has been established that there is a problem or that an optimal and prudent solution has been identified. AG's program would take 100 years to complete. A delay of a year or two, or even five or ten years, to ensure that the approach that is ultimately taken is appropriate and necessary will make no material difference to the ultimate outcome. 105

- 115. The UCA noted the testimony of AG's witness, Mr. Dixon, who stated "That feedback loop for us on the leak inspections is really the critical piece in determining how well our mains replacement is operating." The UCA argued that the difficulty with that argument was that the feedback loop was telling AG that leak frequencies were low and stable at 5.2 leaks per 100 km¹⁰⁷ and that natural retirements of modern steel mains were also modest and stable at about \$10 million per year. The onus was on AG to demonstrate that the feedback loop was not painting an accurate picture of the future. The UCA stated that this was the basis for the UCA's position that the steel mains replacement proposal should be rejected for the purposes of this case.
- 116. The UCA argued that it had assumed that AG had operated its long-standing and comprehensive program for monitoring and, when necessary, replacing facilities based on the demerit point system and associated engineering assessments on a good-faith basis so as to only replace facilities that genuinely need to be replaced and that this approach should continue, in the absence of evidence to the contrary that it was not sufficient. In response to a question from the UCA, AG provided its historical forecast and actual expenditures for the UMR replacements as well as leak frequency data.

\$000						
	Forecast	Actual	\$ Overspent/(Underspent)			
2003	7,092	8,498	1,406			
2004	7,092	13,610	6,518			
2005	14,959	18,921	3,962			
2006	11,886	10,376	(1,510)			
2007	11,940	5,981	(5,959)			
2008	8,378	8,428	50			
2009	13,562	8,049	(5,513)			
2010	11,600	11,200	(400)			

UCA evidence, page 11, Question 20.

AG argument, paragraph 39.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 56.

¹⁰⁸ 2003-2009 from UCA-AG-03(d), 2010 from CCA-AG-03(d).

ATCO Gas UMR Actual vs. Forecast Pipe Installed ¹⁰⁹						
Kilometre						
	Forecast	Actual	Overbuilt/(Underbuilt)			
2005	51.29	35.35	(15.94)			
2006	31.50	17.32	(14.18)			
2007	15.43	8.90	(6.53)			
2008	11.00	13.90	2.90			
2009	11.30	9.80	(1.50)			
2010	14.30	14.30	0.00			

	Total Steel Mains (km)	Total Steel Leaks	Leaks/100km ¹¹⁰
	` ′		
2001	9958	607	6.1
2002	9342	661	7.1
2003	9161	563	6.1
2004	9150	721	7.9
2005	9126	667	7.3
2006	9100	576	6.3
2007	9059	503	5.6
2008	9056	725	8
2009	9053	706	7.8
2010	9043	474	5.2

- 117. The UCA believed the question of what the level of natural retirements was likely to be, based on the existing procedures and the retirement criteria that had been applied in past years, should be addressed to determine what forecast to adopt for the 2011 and 2012 test years.
- 118. The UCA observed that in order to identify the specific facilities to be retired on a programmed basis under the 90 km per year approach, AG had simply moved down its list until it reached roughly the 90 km level. ¹¹¹ The UCA argued that identifying the facilities to be replaced that way did not mean that 90 km of pipe would have been naturally retired in those years if AG had continued to apply the criteria that it applied prior to 2011.
- 119. In response to the interveners' submissions, AG maintained that the steel mains replacement program was required to provide safe and reliable distribution service and pointed out that it had already begun the accelerated program in 2011.¹¹²
- 120. AG submitted that the delay proposed by the UCA in order to study the urban mains replacement issue was unacceptable. AG argued that the UCA's proposal would not allow AG to carryout its mandate to provide safe, reliable gas distribution service. AG argued that Calgary was looking backwards when it argued that the leak frequency in 2010 was lower than the previous nine years. Both the UCA and Calgary were ignoring the large increase in the amount of vintage pipe that was accumulating.

1010

¹⁰⁹ Ibid.

¹¹⁰ UCA-AG-8(c).

UCA reply argument, page 8, paragraph 22.

AG argument, page 15, paragraph 35.

121. AG also argued that the UCA seemed to miss the point that the steel mains replacement program proposed by AG assumed that the average service life for all remaining steel pipe in service would rise to approximately 80 years from the current average of 60 years. This recognized that steel pipe coatings and cathodic protection continued to improve from 1950 to the present time.

Commission findings

- 122. The Commission notes that the amount of actual spending by AG on urban steel main replacements was \$8.4 million, \$8.0 million and \$11.6 million in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. AG has applied for approval of an urban mains replacement capital program forecast of \$50.2 million in 2011 and \$62.3 million in 2012. The forecast amounts would result in a significant increase over 2010 actual spending of \$11.6 million, and the actual of 2008 and 2009.
- 123. While the Commission appreciates AG's concerns with respect to its aging urban mains infrastructure, the Commission agrees with the interveners that AG has failed to demonstrate a need to implement an urban mains replacement program of the nature and timing proposed. The Commission does not accept the AG proposal to step up its urban main replacement program to target replacement of all existing urban steel mains and services within the next 100 years.
- 124. AG appears to have based the need for its proactive program on three concepts:
 - on the large increase in pipe installed in the 1950-1990 period depicted in Figure 1 of Business Case 1
 - the potential for an unmanageable need for replacements if the present level of urban main replacements continued and
 - past history, and in particular the experience with bare steel mains as demonstrated in Figure 2.1 of the Rebuttal Evidence¹¹⁴
- 125. The Commission is not persuaded by AG's evidence that there is either an immediate need to address the fact that infrastructure is aging or that resources may be constrained in the future in a manner that would prevent addressing the issue as it arises.
- 126. AG notes the large increase in pipe installation from approximately 1950 to 1990 depicted in Figure 1 of the business case and indicates that a correlation between aging pipe and leak frequency has been demonstrated. In support of this conclusion, AG refers, among other things, to Figure 2.1 of the rebuttal evidence which depicts the leak frequency of bare steel mains relative to year with increasing leak frequencies prior to the introduction of a bare steel mains replacement program. AG argued that this supported the need to stay ahead of the curve with respect to the need to replace aging pipe. AG has failed, however, to demonstrate that pipe presently in service, which has the benefits of coating and cathodic protection, will exhibit leakage or failure patterns similar to pipe previously installed without such features.
- 127. The Commission would expect that a capital program of the nature requested would have significantly greater probative support than what was provided. The rationale for the business case included references to system safety and reliability. The Commission, however, does not

AG rebuttal evidence, pages 15 and 16, paragraph 55.

¹¹³ Transcript, Volume 5, page 1053, line 11-12.

find that evidence on the record with respect to leak history for coated, cathodically protected steel mains and the nature of steel pipe failures¹¹⁵ supports either the timing or extent or the proposed program. Mr. Dixon made the following statement in response to a question by Commission counsel:

- 14 A. MR. DIXON: Well, it was finding us with
- 15 leaks. And I have to point out, too, with plastic pipe, the
- 16 cracking and the -- we've got lots of photographs in the
- 17 business case. It's much more dramatic failures than you get
- 18 with steel pipe. Steel pipe, you'll get pinhole corrosion
- 19 leaks that grow over time. You don't get dramatic failure of
- 20 steel pipe. You get lots of early warning, I would call it, 12:00
- 21 where plastic pipe will sit there and operate without a leak
- 22 at all, and then all of a sudden, it's a sudden and dramatic
- 23 failure. 116

The Commission agrees with the three deficiencies in the AG evidence cited by the 128. UCA:117

- AG failed to demonstrate that there is a need for the program or that the existing or status quo approach to dealing with the aging of its urban mains system is not adequate
- AG has failed to address how the proposed program would affect customers economically in the long run, and
- AG has failed to fully examine or consider any alternatives to its own proposal
- 129. The Commission agrees with the UCA, that it does not appear that AG had conducted any testing or sampling of its coated mains pipes nor had it undertaken research into the corrosion resistance or overall life characteristics of either bare steel mains or coated and cathodically protected mains. AG also did not indicate that it had canvassed the relevant scientific or trade literature.
- 130. AG referred to Figure 2.1 in its rebuttal evidence as evidence in partial support for the steel mains replacement program. The Commission notes that the figure details the experience for bare steel mains and there is no reason to expect a similar failure pattern for the existing coated steel mains. The evidence indicates that coating and cathodic protection techniques became available or were improved starting in the 1950s¹¹⁸ and that cathodically protecting steel pipe and maintaining a corrosion control program will reduce the occurrence of corrosion leaks. As noted by Mr. Dixon in the following exchange with Commission counsel:
 - 5 Q. Okay. And what I'm trying to understand, sir, is there
 - 6 was some suggestion, and we'll get into depreciation
 - 7 tomorrow, Mr. Kennedy, but some suggestion that around 60
 - 8 years is the present foreseeable average useful life of this
 - 9 class of steel mains, but your program is aimed at replacing
 - 10 the mains over a hundred years. So perhaps you can explain
 - 11 why 100 as opposed to 60 or something else?

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1155, lines 14-23.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1155, lines 18-20.

See paragraph 106 above.

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1026, lines 10-18.

- 12 A. MR. DIXON: Well, as I mentioned a little
- 13 bit earlier, that, you know, we anticipate that the coatings
- 14 on steel pipe and cathodic protection have got better and
- 15 better over time, so I fully expect that 60 year life that we
- 16 have now is going to get longer as we move out through the
- 17 program. I'm depending on that actually.¹¹⁹
- 131. Because there is no evidence on the record to indicate the point at which the steel mains will develop an unacceptable level of risk, nor was there evidence of an anticipated distribution pattern of the experience around the mean, AG has been unable to persuasively demonstrate the required start date or duration of an urban steel mains replacement program. Consequently, the Commission sees no reason for AG to move to a proactive replacement program at this time.
- 132. The Commission has in past decisions accepted the rationale used by AG in forecasting urban steel main replacement projects during a test period. The demerit point system and associated leak and engineering studies have been in use for some years in identifying and prioritizing urban steel main replacements and this methodology continues to perform as intended. As noted by Mr. Dixon:
 - 6 ... real -- the real proof of how well our replacement program is
 - 7 going is our leak frequencies, and we talked about that in
 - 8 another IR response. And if we see that staying fairly
 - 9 stable -- and I would look at those past ten years as being
 - 10 fairly stable even though it bounced from 5.2 to 8.something.
 - 11 That's a fairly stable level of leaks.
 - 12 And that means your mains replacement and all
 - 13 your other safety systems and inspections you have in place
 - 14 are working. If that leak frequency starts to rise, then
 - 15 your mains replacement is not effective. So that's the real
 - 16 key. The demerit point system is a prioritization trying to
 - 17 get us focused on the right areas, and the proof in the
 - 18 pudding is the leak frequency after the fact. 120
- 133. While AG has not been able to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Commission a need to commence a proactive urban steel mains replacement program at this time, the Commission is aware that ageing infrastructure is an industry wide issue and recommends that AG monitor industry research and experience with coated, cathodically protected pipe. Should industry experience and AG specific leak frequency begin to rise despite the use of the existing demerit point and related systems and inspections, then the Commission would be prepared to reexamine the need for a modified approach to urban steel main replacements.
- 134. As noted above, despite the majority of the AG evidence indicating a stepping up of the urban mains replacement program, as a proactive approach to replacing 90 km per year with an increasing reliance on pipe vintage, AG indicted at the oral hearing that the specific urban mains replacement projects forecast for the test years were the same as those which would have been identified using the demerit point/leak history/engineering assessment. The Commission finds this latter statement to be inconsistent with the characterization of the evidence as a new proactive approach to urban mains replacement over a 100-year period. Indeed the Commission

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1010, lines 5-17.

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1039, lines 6-18.

considers that evidence with respect to a proactive program would have been unnecessary had the projects proposed for the test years fully satisfied the criteria applied in previous years.

135. Given all the above the Commission approves a capital expenditure based on a status quo urban mains replacement program during the test years based on the actual expenditures in 2010 increased each year by an inflation factor of three per cent. The amounts approved for inclusion in revenue requirement are \$12.0 million and \$12.4 million in 2011 and 2012, respectively.

4.3.2 Meter relocation and replacement program (MRRP) (Business Case 2)

- 136. AG requested approval for expenditures of \$33.2 million and \$32 million in 2011 and 2012 for the MRRP.
- 137. MRRP includes three classifications of meter moves and a proposed premise survey as detailed in the following table:

	Table 2.1.1.2(c) ATCO Gas (Total) - Meter Relocation and Replacement Project							
		(\$ millions)						
	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012			
	Actual	Actual	Forecast	Forecast	Forecast			
Planned below ground	36.0	27.0	16.1	3.3	0.0			
Planned above ground	0.2	0.7	8.8	29.3	29.7			
Safety/accessibility	0.9	0.4	0.6	0.6	0.6			
Premise surveys	1.7	0.4	0.0	0.0	1.7			
Total avnandituras	0.0	20 E	OF F	22.2	22.0			

Table 7. MRRP actual and forecast costs

138. The forecast for 2010 was \$25.5 million but AG provided the following actual costs in response to CCA-AG-7(b):

planned below ground
 planned above ground
 safety/accessibility
 Total
 \$18,111,000
 \$9,799,000
 \$\frac{440,000}{\$28,350,000}\$

139. AG stated that the AUC and its predecessor the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board (EUB or board) had supported the meter relocation and replacement project since its inception in 2003, through Decisions 2003-072,¹²¹ 2006-004¹²² and 2008-113.¹²³ The MRRP program for 2011 and 2012 was focused on completing the below ground meters and continuing the above ground component begun in 2010. AG will continue to replace meters for safety and accessibility reasons and seeks approval for a premise survey in 2012. AG stated that the currently proposed

_...., r...g...p..., r.., r..g. -..

Decision 2003-072: ATCO Gas, 2003/2004 General Rate Application – Phase I, Application No. 1275466, October 1, 2033.

Decision 2006-004: ATCO Gas, 2005-2007 General Rate Application Phase I, Application No. 1400690, January 27, 2006.

Exhibit 3, paragraph 30, page 2.1-12.

MRRP project with respect to inside meters with above ground entries is focused on reducing risk and improving the safety for employees and the public.¹²⁴

- 140. AG submitted that when the MRRP project was initiated in 2003, AG had planned to move all inside meters to the outside, on a subdivision by subdivision basis, regardless of whether there was a below ground entry or above ground entry service. AG was directed by the EUB in Decision 2003-072 to focus on below ground entry sites first. AG was also directed to address inside meters with above ground entries through the meter recall program, estimated to be between 15 to 20 years. 125
- 141. AG stated that it had indicated in its 2005-2007 GRA its intention to proceed with replacement of above ground entry meters immediately after the below ground entries were complete but that a survey of these sites was required in order to prioritize the work based on safety concerns. AG expected to substantially complete relocating outside all inside meters with below ground entries in 2010.
- 142. AG indicated that all below ground entry meters would be completed in 2011 and that the above ground meters had been prioritized for replacement by way of a risk ranking into four tiers. The basis for the four tier ranking was a number of conditions identified as high medium and low risk in Table 1 of Business Case 2.¹²⁷ Table 2.1.1.2(e) reproduced below from the application categorizes the above ground entry meter sites based on a grouping of the risk conditions.

Table 8. MRRP above ground entry risk analysis

	Table 2.1.1.2(e) ATCO Gas (Total) - Meter Relocation and Replacement Project - Above Ground Entry Tiers Program Sequence Condition Quantity	
Tier 1	Multiple occurrences of high risk ranking factors at a single residence	569
Tier 2	A high risk factor, multiple medium risk factors, or both at a single residence	14,950
Tier 3	A medium risk factor, multiple low risk factors, or both at a single residence	51,649
Tier 4	A low risk factor at a single residence or no risk factors	38,406

143. AG stated that replacement of Tier 1 meters was completed in 2010 and replacement of Tiers 2 and 3 were anticipated to be completed over a five-year period ending in 2014. Tier 4 meters would be addressed in conjunction with other work such as meter recalls.

Views of the parties

- 144. The UCA did not provide evidence related to MRRP but submitted argument as summarized below.¹²⁸
- 145. The UCA noted AG's justification for all of this work was safety-related, but argued that it was not clear that the locations classified as Tier 2 and Tier 3 presented significant risks.

¹²⁴ Ibid., paragraph 4, page 2.1-2.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1187, lines 15 to 24.

Exhibit 3, paragraph 31, pages 2.1-12 and 13.

Exhibit 1, application, Volume 2-2, Business Case 2.

Exhibit 200.20, paragraphs 43 to 49.

- 146. The UCA argued that safety concerns associated with meter reading personnel entering customers' residences on a monthly basis would be addressed if the AMR program were approved because it would eliminate the need for a meter reader to enter the residence.
- 147. The UCA also noted its concern that AG was not capturing all efficiencies by coordinating with other programs such as AMR.
- 148. The UCA questioned the pace of relocations given the Commission's historical view that inside meters with above-ground entries present less of a safety risk than those with belowground entries.
- 149. The UCA recommended either allowing the Tier 2 and Tier 3 meters to be relocated in the normal course of meter testing, as AG had proposed for Tier 4 meters, or implementing the program over a longer period of eight years. In its reply argument AG stated that the UCA suggestion that the reasons for the MRRP program were access issues and meter reader safety were incorrect. It stated that homeowner safety and code compliance were the main reasons for MRRP. AG noted that until the low use AMR project was completed operational issues related to reading inside meters would continue. Completion of the AMR project was not expected before 2014.
- 150. AG observed that the UCA had provided no evidence to support its recommendation that the Tier 2 and Tier 3 meters be moved in the normal course of meter testing or over a longer period of eight years.

Commission findings

- 151. In Decision 2003-072 in which the EUB approved the original MRRP program the board directed AG to "incorporate in its Refiling, a revised proposal for replacement of meters with underground entries over a 10-year timeframe, and replacement/relocation of meters with aboveground entries on a schedule coincident with the recall program. The proposal should identify criteria for replacement and relocation in terms of safety or other considerations." ¹²⁹
- 152. In Decision 2006-004 the EUB approved a revised MRRP plan reducing the 10-year replacement period to eight years.
- 153. In Decision 2008-113 the Commission in its findings stated:

Given that the MRRP proposed by AG for 2008 and 2009 mirrors the previous plan the Commission accepts the implementation of the MRRP in the manner proposed by AG. 130

¹²⁹ Decision 2003-072, page 81.

Decision 2008-113, page 41.

154. Table 2.1.1(d) of the application, reproduced below, indicates the number of units replaced and forecast to be replaced in the respective years.

Table 9.	MRRP actual and forecast relocations and replacements
----------	---

	ATCO Gas (Total) - Meter Relocation and Replacement Project							
	2008 Actual	2009 Actual	2010 Forecast	2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast			
Planned below ground units	14,295	9,258	3,988	618	0			
Planned above ground units	81	438	4,034	15,714	15,714			
Safety/accessibility units	840	334	435	435	435			
Total units	15,216	10,030	8,457	16,767	16,149			

- 155. The Commission's approval in Decision 2008-113 was limited to capital expenditures in the test years for the below ground entry meter replacement program and safety and accessibility replacements. In addition the Commission approved the cost of the premise survey.
- 156. Table 2.1.1(e) reproduced in Table 8 categorizes above ground meter entries by risk into four tiers.
- 157. The Commission understands that the replacement of all Tier 1 above ground entry meters has been completed.
- 158. Tier 2 meters exhibit a high risk factor, multiple medium risk factors or both at a single residence. Given the identified level of safety concerns and risk the Commission accepts AG's proposal to replace Tier 2 above ground entry meters.
- 159. In response to UCA-AG-33(a), the number of Tier 3 meters identified as having medium risk factors is 32,511. The Commission considers that the Tier 3 meters with a medium risk factor should be removed by 2014 as contemplated in the application. The timing of the Tier 3 meter replacements should be coordinated with Tier 2 replacements to achieve efficiencies.
- 160. The Commission approves the relocation of meters classified as Tier 3 with low risk factors in conjunction with other work such as meter recalls.
- 161. The Commission approves the forecast capital expenditures for the replacement of meters designated under the safety/accessibility heading in Table 2.1.1.2(c). The Commission assumes that any Tier 3 or Tier 4 meters which subsequently develop safety or accessibility issues will be replaced under this program.
- 162. The Commission has not been persuaded there is a need for an additional premise survey, given that a survey was recently completed.
- 163. The Commission directs AG in the compliance filing to this decision to provide the Commission with the actual number of Tier 2 meters replaced in 2010 and the actual capital costs incurred. AG is directed to indicate the number of Tier 2 meters and Tier 3 meters with a medium risk factor left to be replaced in 2011 and 2012 and to provide the forecast capital costs in each year using the forecast capital costs calculated from Tables 2.1.1.2(c) and (d) in the application.

164. The Commission further directs AG to plan the replacement of the Tier 2 and the portion of the Tier 3 meters with a medium risk factor in a manner that achieves efficiencies and distributes the costs evenly over the period 2011 to 2014.

4.3.3 Plastic mains replacements (Business Case 4)

- 165. In the application and in the Business Case 4, AG proposed to begin a program to replace all of its approximately 9,600 km of polyvinylchloride (PVC) pipe and early generation polyethylene (PE) pipe currently in operation before any of it exceeds 50 years in age. The pipe to be replaced includes 1,597 km of PVC¹³¹ installed primarily in rural areas between 1966 and 1977. AG estimated it would spend \$19.5 million in 2011, \$23.4 million in 2012, and approximately \$20 million plus inflation per year on a go forward basis to replace approximately 600 km of pipe annually taking 17 years to complete the project.
- 166. The business case considered three alternatives: the status quo, the recommended proposal to replace all pipe installed before 1978 within 17 years and a third alternative to replace 1966-1974 vintage plastic pipe over 20 years at an estimated cost of \$11 million annually plus inflation.¹³²
- 167. The summary table below shows the plastic pipe that would be replaced under the two main alternatives. Alternative 2, the recommended alternative, includes pipe installed from 1966 to 1977. Alternative 3 includes pipe installed from 1966-1974.

Year	Total PE/PVC Main Installed (km) ¹³³
1966	106
1967	688
1968	1,119
1969	916
1970	634
1971	327
1972	189
1973	243
1974	531
	Alternative 3 Sum-total 4753
1975	2,012
1976	2,038
1977	637
Total	9,441

Table 10. PE/PVC installed from 1966 to 1977

168. During the past several years AG has replaced some PVC and PE, but not as part of a proactive program. The following table¹³⁴ provides a history of the replacements since 2002 and indicates that in the past nine years AG has replaced 32 km of pipe at a total cost of \$2.6 million:

Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-8(a).

Exhibit 1, Volume 2-2, Business Case 4, paragraph 7.

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-107(a).

Year	Pipe Replaced (m)	Cost (\$000's)
2002	502	8
2003	3037	68
2004	1200	44
2005	8523	512
2006	2392	158
2007	420	43
2008	5914	343
2009	1500	54
2010	8517	1,408
Totals	32005	2,639

Table 11. Plastic pipe replaced from 2002 to 2010

169. AG indicated that the PE pipe to be replaced was non-certified in Canada as it was manufactured before the Canadian quality assurance test, CSA B137.4 - Polyethylene Piping Systems Fittings for Gas Services was established or made mandatory. The CSA B137.4 standard was first available in 1973, and the manufacture of pipe to this standard was optional between 1973 and 1975 at which time the standard became mandatory in Canada. ¹³⁵ Prior to the CSA B137.4 standard, plastic pipe was manufactured to a US quality assurance test, ASTM D2837 - Standard Test Method for Obtaining Hydrostatic Design Basis for Thermoplastic Pipe Materials or Pressure Design Basis for Thermoplastic Pipe Products. Accordingly, AG was targeting the removal of PVC pipe and PE pipe manufactured prior to 1976. Given that some of this pre-1976 pipe may have been in inventory and installed for up to two years after its manufacture, AG's replacement program included PE pipe installed up to the end of 1977. AG indicated that replacement of plastic pipe installed in 1976 and 1977 would occur at the very end of the 17-year program at which point the pipe would be at least 50 years old.

170. AG noted that Alberta Transportation and Utilities published a report based upon extensive testing of plastic pipe in Alberta in 1985. This report found that plastic pipe from the 1960's and early 1970's contained questionable resin materials and was produced using questionable extrusion manufacturing operations. The National Transportation and Safety Board (NTSB) in the US published a special investigative report on "Brittle-Like Cracking in Plastic Pipe for Gas Service" in 1998. AG indicated that the report demonstrated that early generation plastic pipe failures were not isolated incidents and more such incidents were expected. The support of the property of the propert

171. AG noted in the application and in the business case that Alberta Rural Utilities Branch had put pressure limitations on all PVC and early generation PE pipe manufactured prior to 1975 in Bulletin RUB 2004-02.

172. AG included in its plastic pipe replacement business case as Figure 1,¹³⁸ and again in its Rebuttal Evidence,¹³⁹ a graph from the NTSB report showing the transition "knee" where

¹³⁴ Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-17(a).

AG rebuttal, page 8, paragraph 29.

AG rebuttal, page 8, paragraph 31.

AG rebuttal, page 9, paragraph 34.

Application, Tab 2.1, Business Case 4, page 10.

AG rebuttal, page 7, paragraph 24.

significant deterioration in pipe strength over time becomes evident for older generation plastic pipe. AG stated:

Figure 1 shows the relationship that has been determined between hoop stress and time of failure. It has been proven that as plastic pipe ages, it will exhibit increasingly brittle properties where the stress required to cause failure dramatically decreases. It can be shown through material failures that the older generation (pre-1978) plastic in the Company system is within the brittle area of the curve.¹⁴⁰

- 173. AG noted that the NTSB graph was generic for PE pipe and that there would be a unique plot for each resin, pipe manufacturer and pipe diameter. However, the consensus among researchers was that earlier generation plastic pipe reaches the transition knee at a younger age than does more modern plastic pipe. The business case included a review of the evidence demonstrating the need for the program. In its rebuttal evidence AG stated that it had "...done its own engineering assessment which concluded that the early generation plastic pipe it installed is limited to no more than a 50 year life." 141
- 174. AG noted that its records of installed plastic pipe did not include resin or manufacturer, so laboratory testing to identify the most probabilistic pipe would not be of assistance. The pipe in service has 143 combinations of manufacturer and resins, each with its own characteristics. Each combination would have to be tested.
- 175. AG stated that the examples of plastic pipe failures provided in the business case also show that plastic pipe can fail dramatically at the end of its service life. AG noted that this makes timely replacement of this pipe before it reaches the end of its service life all the more critical. Steel pipe would provide some indication it is nearing the end of service life by developing more corrosion leaks. AG argued that plastic pipe did not generally provide any such warning as it neared the end of its service life¹⁴² which necessitated erring on the side of caution with respect to replacement programs.
- 176. AG surveyed a number of other gas distribution companies with regard to PVC or brittle PE plastic pipe. The findings of the survey summarized in Table 3 of the business case were that these companies were monitoring their systems or undertaking a replacement program.
- 177. AG also noted that PVC pipe was considered to be inferior to PE pipe because it was more brittle than PE pipe to begin with. 143

Views of the parties

- 178. Calgary argued that AG had ignored the fact that there was significant replacement of the early generation PE pipe in the 1970s and Calgary understood that virtually all of the PVC pipe was replaced in the 1970s.
- 179. Calgary argued that the evidence provided by AG did not provide the justification to increase the amount of pipe replaced by almost 100 fold.¹⁴⁴

Application, Tab 2.1, Business Case 4, page 9.

AG rebuttal, pages 7-8, paragraph 26.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1155, line 24.

AG rebuttal, page 7, paragraph 25.

- 180. In its evidence the UCA submitted¹⁴⁵ that AG's business case had not demonstrated the need for a program to replace this vintage of pipe either at all, or over the proposed 17-year period. The UCA examined the following components of the AG evidence:
 - the NTSB report
 - a survey that AG conducted of other Canadian utilities in relation to older vintage plastic pipe
 - anecdotal evidence of examples of plastic pipe failures on the AG system
 - a claim that the expected life of the older vintage plastic pipe is only 50 years
- 181. The UCA noted that the 1998 NTSB report, made no recommendations concerning replacement programs and observed that hardening of the pipe over time "appears to have little observable adverse impact on the serviceability of plastic piping except in those instances in which the piping is subjected to external stresses." 146
- 182. The UCA noted that no other Canadian utility that responded to the survey had an approved and ongoing program to replace its older plastic pipe.
- 183. With respect to the anecdotal evidence, the UCA stated that it did not consider these examples justify the wholesale replacement of several thousand kilometres of plastic pipe.
- 184. The UCA submitted that the underlying premise on which AG's program was based was a non-conservative estimate of the life of PE pipe of 50 years. ¹⁴⁷ The UCA noted that AG had not provided a copy of its engineering assessment or explained the basis for its conclusions. The UCA stated that the response to UCA-AG-18 did not indicate reliance on external research, scientific papers, industry publications or research, or any other external sources of information, and that AG had not conducted empirical testing or other research in the course of conducting its assessment. ¹⁴⁸
- 185. The UCA acknowledged that it was possible that a thorough and properly done analysis would show that what AG had proposed was necessary and that it would ultimately benefit customers, but that analysis had not been done, ¹⁴⁹ and in fact stated in argument:

At the same time, the UCA does acknowledge that it appears that there are physical problems with older vintage plastic pipe that do not exist with the steel piping ... there does not seem to be any doubt that the older vintage plastic pipe is now of an age where it is subject to brittle-like failure under stress, and in that sense at least is an inferior technology. ¹⁵⁰

186. In light of the UCA's analysis of the four tenants of the AG proposal the UCA recommended that the Commission direct AG to undertake a testing and research program, potentially with other utilities, and report back to the Commission.

Exhibit 3, pages 2.1-16 and 2.1-18 (from 7-8 km/year to 600 km/year).

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence at pages 13-14, Q.23-Q.26.

As cited in UCA evidence from Exhibit 1, application Volume 2.2, Business Case 4, Plastic Pipe Replacement, Attachment 1, page 37.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA evidence, page 15, Q26.

¹⁴⁸ Ibid., page 15, Q27.

¹⁴⁹ Exhibit 110.07, UCA evidence, page 15, Q28.

UCA argument, paragraph 35, page 10.

- 187. Finally, in the event the Commission was amenable to some aspects of AG's plastic pipe replacement proposal the UCA recommended that:
 - Any Commission approval should exclude pipe installed during 1976 and 1977 as AG was proposing to include in the replacement program plastic pipe installed during 1976 and 1977 "...even though the record makes it clear that very little, if any, pre-1976 plastic pipe was installed after 1975. As indicated by ATCO Gas in Argument, quoting Mr. Hahn, ATCO Gas's approach reflects an 'abundance of caution'." (footnotes omitted). 151
 - The UCA submitted that even if some portion of pre-1976 plastic pipe had been installed AG's normal maintenance resources would still be available to deal with any issues that arose.
 - The Commission should distinguish between the older pre-1973 vintages and the 1973 to 1975 vintages because they have different maximum allowed operating pressures suggesting different physical properties.¹⁵²

Commission findings

188. The Commission accepts AG's evidence that all PVC and early generation PE is at risk of brittle failure when under stress and should be replaced. The risk of brittle failure when under stress is a serious issue impacting safety and reliability and the Commission considers that some action must be taken. The Commission will consider two issues: the time period over which this pipe should be replaced and the need to include in the replacement program plastic pipe installed between 1975 and 1978.

- 189. With respect to the lack of records AG has explained that the combination of manufacturers and resin in the early years complicated record keeping. The Commission rejects the proposal by the UCA to undertake additional testing and research prior to implementing a replacement program. The Commission questions the practicality and cost/benefit of such an approach given the different characteristics and circumstances of the pipe.
- 190. The UCA recommended that if the Commission approves a plastic pipe replacement project, the program should be scaled back by excluding 1976 to 77 pipe and drawing a distinction between the older pre-1973 vintages and the 1973 to 1975 vintages, which have different maximum allowed operating pressures.
- 191. With respect to the second UCA recommendation the Commission acknowledges that pre-1973 plastic pipe and 1973 to 1975 plastic pipe were subject to different certification practices and approved for different operating pressures. However, the Commission notes that neither vintage group was required to meet the CSA standard which became mandatory in 1975. Accordingly, the Commission considers it in the public interest to remove all pipe manufactured prior to 1973. With respect to pipe manufactured from 1973 to 1975, the Commission notes AG's comment that it is acting with an "abundance of caution." With regard to the UCA's first recommendation, the issue for the Commission to address is the extent to which inventory practices may have resulted in the installation in 1976 or 1977 of interim certified pipe from the 1973 to 1975 period. AG's records are inadequate. AG is neither able to identify whether pipe purchased during the interim 1973 to 1975 period was certified nor has it the ability to determine how long pipe remained in inventory and therefore, what portion, if any of the pipe was installed

40 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

_

UCA reply argument, paragraph 29, page 11.

UCA argument, paragraph 40 and 41, pages 11-12.

in 1976 and 1977. These facts have made the consideration of this program difficult. Nonetheless, the Commission considers the risk of brittle failure associated with plastic pipe and PVC pipe when subjected to stress to be a serious safety and reliability issue, and therefore, the Commission approves the entire program. However, the Commission directs that the program be implemented over a 20-year period considered in alternative three in the business case rather than the 17-year proposed in alternative two. Given the fact that the pipe manufactured during the 1973 to 1975 period was of a higher quality than the pre-1973 pipe and some of the 1973 to 1975 pipe may have met the then voluntary CSA standard and noting that this vintage of pipe was proposed to be removed last, the Commission considers the extended installation period to be warranted. Lengthening the time period over which replacement occurs will reduce the magnitude of the impact on rates to customers but does put in place a comprehensive plan to replace PVC and early generation PE.

- 192. As additional leak history data on pipe installed from the 1973 to 1977 period becomes available it may be appropriate to reconsider the program scope and timelines. The Commission directs AG to continue to provide plastic pipe leak history in future capital program applications.
- 193. The Commission directs AG in the compliance filing required by this decision to indicate what the 2011 and 2012 plastic pipe replacement program revenue requirement would be based on a 20-year program, without considering the actual 2011 expenditures.

4.3.4 Line heater reliability (Business Case 5)

- 194. As part of the expenditures included in regulating metering station improvements AG submitted Business Case 5. AG proposed to make improvements to 500 line heaters over three years beginning in 2011 for a total estimated cost of \$20.85 million or about \$7 million each year for the purpose of improving reliability and resolving safety, CSA standard, *Safety Codes Act* and Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) Code compliance issues. AG referred to three outages in 2006, 2007 and 2010 to support implementation of the project.
- 195. Mr. Dixon indicated that the project would achieve compliance with OH&S requirements and that improvements would be made at the same time to achieve greater reliability of the heaters. Approximately half of the forecast costs are related to OH&S compliance and half to reliability improvements.¹⁵³
- 196. In response to questions by Commission counsel the witness for AG confirmed that half the work was to comply with safety standards and that the estimated cost per unit to do the work had not been changed as a result of the on-going, half completed survey of the 501 units. Mr. Dixon indicated that a survey of approximately half of the line heaters has been completed and that nothing had been noted that would lead it to change its estimates. He confirmed that line heaters with non-compliance issues with OH&S standards would be given the highest priority for replacement. When questioned regarding the three examples of line heater failures, Mr. Dixon stated that none were in locations known for having high liquid content or problems with the upstream pipelines. Despite the small number of failures, he stated that the three-year time period was necessary to comply with the OH&S standard. 154

154 Transcript, Volume 6, pages 1204-1205.

¹⁵³ Transcript, Volume 5, pages 973-974.

- 197. AG considered proper functioning of line heaters was critical to ensure that customer outages did not occur.¹⁵⁵
- 198. AG noted that many of its line heaters had been in service for 30 years. The line heaters also did not have modern burner management systems and/or did not contain SCADA systems that permit real time monitoring of their operation.¹⁵⁶
- 199. AG stated its three-year program was based upon an average cost per site of \$41,700. The average cost per site was determined from eight sites where the necessary improvements have been completed. Each site was unique and included different sizes of line heaters but the eight were selected as being representative of the entire 500 sites requiring improvements. AG stated it had inspected approximately half of the 500 sites and had found nothing that would indicate the need for a different average cost forecast.¹⁵⁷

Commission findings

200. The Commission relies on AG's statement that OH&S regulations require AG to update its line heaters. A three-year program has been proposed to complete the work to bring the non-compliant line heaters into compliance and to do reliability work at the same time. The plan by AG to complete the compliance work in three years seems reasonable and the Commission approves this portion of the program for inclusion in revenue requirement. The Commission finds that when reliability improvements are to be made on heaters for which compliance work is to be done, it is practical to do both at the same time over the three year period. However, the Commission does not consider that justification has been made for a three-year period to complete work on line heaters that do not have a compliance component. Therefore the Commission directs AG to exclude from its program, line heaters that are in compliance with OH&S regulations. The Commission directs AG in the compliance filing to this decision to reflect two years of the three-year replacement and upgrading of the non-compliant line-heaters.

4.3.5 Low use AMR (Business Case 7)

201. AG proposed to install AMR on all 1,044,000 residential and low use customer premises over a five-year period starting in 2010 with field installations starting in 2011. AG indicated that the project will allow meter reading remotely without having a meter reader manually record the reading for low use residential and commercial customers and the associated meter reading cost reduction benefits outweigh the capital costs to install the AMR system. AG provided the following forecast:

Table 12.	AMR expenditures	- Table 2.1.1.4(c)
-----------	------------------	--------------------

	ATCO Gas (Total) - Low Use AMR Project - By Year									
	2010	2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total								
Units	10,000	134,000	348,000	333,000	219,000	1,044,000				
Forecast (\$ millions)	3.7	3.7 17.2 37.4 35.2 27.5 121.0								

202. During the test years of 2011 and 2012 AG forecast expenditures of \$17.2 million and \$37.4 million, respectively.

Application, Tab 2.1, Business Case 5, Line Heater Reliability, page 5.

Application, Tab 2.1, Business Case 5, Line Heater Reliability, page 3, 6.

Transcript, Volume 5, page 972, line 19.

203. AG submitted that it had been evaluating and testing advances in AMR technology for some time. The AMR technology had reached the stage where it could reliably meet AG's requirements now and into the future, on a cost effective basis. AG proposed a stand-alone implementation independent of AMI [advanced metering infrastructure] deployments by electric utilities. AMR would be accomplished by the installation of AMR endpoints on each meter. Itron Inc. (Itron) was selected as the vendor following a request for proposals which evaluated, among other things, functionality, technology, cost and industry proven reliability. AG also implemented several pilot projects prior to electing to proceed with the AMR project. AG indicated that, at the completion of the project, approximately 200 FTE positions would be redeployed into other positions, a portion of which would become available as the result of retirements and attrition. AG indicated that no severance costs would be incurred.

Views of the parties

- 204. Calgary stated it could not support the project as proposed due to the lack of reasonable assurance that former meter readers would actually assume open positions due to retirement and attrition. Calgary's opposition to the AMR project related to the operating and maintenance (O&M) expenses and will be discussed further under O&M.
- 205. The CCA recommended that AG should be directed to report to the AUC and interveners before the end of 2011 on the results and effects of the proof of concept stage for AMR before rate base additions are permitted.
- 206. The UCA did not object to AG's low use AMR,¹⁵⁸ however, it had the following concerns:¹⁵⁹
 - a. <u>Timing of harvesting of benefits</u>. The UCA is concerned that the timing of the reduction in meter reading positions does not reflect the timing of the installation of AMR meters.
 - b. <u>Contingency</u>. AG has included a 20% contingency, and the UCA is concerned that this unnecessarily inflates the costs included in the 2011 and 2012 forecasted capital expenditures.
 - c. Opportunity for daily reads. The UCA wants to ensure that the capability for daily reads does not require additional costs or site visits at a later date. 160
 - d. <u>Introduction of a program to have the RF [radio frequency] signal turned off.</u>
- 207. The contingency item of concern to the UCA was related to capital and is reviewed in this section. The other items are more related to O&M and will be discussed in the appropriate section of this decision.
- 208. The UCA noted that AG had included a 20 per cent contingency in the AMR business case, which was subsequently reduced to 15 per cent (\$6.851 million for the capital portion of the work and \$0.484 million for the work removal) as a result of the finalization of the contract for the installation and the majority of the materials. The UCA noted this was still higher than other contingency provisions used by AG which ranged from 10 per cent to 12.3 per cent. The UCA noted this was still higher than other contingency provisions used by AG which ranged from 10 per cent to 12.3 per cent.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A29.

UCA argument, page 14, paragraph 50.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A30.

¹⁶¹ Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-51(b).

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 19, paragraph 65.

209. The UCA also noted that the only project with a higher contingency at 18.3 per cent was the Oracle Human Resource Management System, an IT project. The IT component of the AMR project was complete and AG had converted its systems within budget, ¹⁶³ and the additional system work to interface the contractor's work management system with the AG work management system was completed within 10 per cent of the budget. ¹⁶⁴ The UCA was concerned that AG was not capturing possible cost savings and efficiencies that could result between projects. The UCA referred to the following statement from an AG witness at the hearing:

00754

- 6 A. MR. DIXON: Okay. A couple of points
- 7 there. The first one, let's talk about the MRRP program,
- 8 MRRP, and AMR. Yes, the two groups are in constant
- 9 communication so that we don't -- for efficiency reasons and
- 10 that we're not bothering the customer more than once.
- So, basically, what we're doing is trying to
- 12 hold off in the areas that are designated for MRRP work, hold
- 13 the AMR work off from those areas until the MRRP work is
- 14 done, and then it makes the AMR installation easier, because
- 15 that meter is already outside, so that's how we're marrying
- 16 up those two programs. 165
- 210. From this statement, it appeared to the UCA that AG was completing the MRRP task and then going back and installing an AMR endpoint. The UCA submitted that it would be more efficient to install AMR fitted meters at the time of the MRRP activity.
- 211. Based on all of the factors discussed above, the UCA argued that a reduction in the contingency was required. A reduction to 10 per cent would result in a reduction in the forecast capital expenditures for 2011 and 2012 of \$2,284,000 for the capital portion of the work and a reduction of \$161,000 for the removal work for 2011 and 2012. ¹⁶⁶
- 212. AG argued that its response to UCA-AG-51 and its rebuttal evidence¹⁶⁷ had highlighted the factors which continued to remain unknown, and which the contingency was intended to cover, including uncertainties around the quantity and cost of ancillary materials, unforeseen costs related to information system related work, and unforeseen project costs that might be required to aid in project management and inspection. AG stated it was too early in the project to quantify or estimate in detail the costs associated with the unknown factors listed above, and therefore it was premature to reduce the contingency any further than had been done. AG further argued that it had already demonstrated that five per cent of the original contingency built into the project was required as a result of the finalization of the contract with Itron.¹⁶⁸
- 213. In respect of the UCA's concern that AG was not capturing all efficiencies between the MRRP and the low use AMR projects, ¹⁶⁹ AG argued that in the event that the MRRP necessitated a meter exchange at a particular site, the exchanged meter would be equipped with an AMR unit.

Transcript, Volume 4, page 793, line 9.

Transcript, Volume 4, page 793, lines 22-23.

Transcript, Volume 4, page 754, lines 6-16.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A35.

AG rebuttal, page 25, 26, paragraph 85-87.

AG rebuttal, page 26, paragraph 87.

UCA argument, page 20, paragraphs 68-69.

However, that unit would not be used for meter reading until the site was ready to be included in a new AMR route, sometime in the future. AG submitted that a reduction to the project contingency should not occur as a result.

Commission findings

- 214. The Commission observes that there was no objection to the overall concept of the low use AMR project. The interveners expressed concern related to the potential O&M savings to be realized in meter reading and the assumptions regarding the deployment or attrition of the current meter readers. The UCA also had a concern regarding the forecast of capital costs.
- 215. The Commission supports the low use AMR project as set out in the business case, but finds it does not have sufficient information to address the capital cost component. The Commission's findings with respect to O&M, including cost savings, are discussed later in the decision.
- 216. The UCA's primary concern with the AMR program was the magnitude of the contingency included in the forecast estimates. The Commission agrees that the contingency may be too high, but notes that AG was expected to complete a "proof of concept" by the end of June 2011. The Commission directs AG to report in the compliance application to this decision on the results and effects of the "proof of concept" stage for installations made in the initial phase of the project and the results and the effect on the contingency, if any. AG is directed to submit an update to its business case economic analysis. The Commission will finalize the test year forecast amounts along with the contingency following the compliance application.

4.4 Distribution

217. The remaining costs in distribution will be reviewed. AG has forecast 21,700 new primary service installations in each of 2011 and 2012. Primary service installations are a driver of costs for distribution services. Other drivers are system improvements and redevelopment. AG described how system growth is accompanied by general capital growth in its distribution system:

The addition of new customers being served by ATCO Gas requires capital for more than just service line installations. New capital is required to construct mains, to purchase and install meters and regulators and to construct regulating stations. Many system improvements also have customer growth as a primary driver. Redevelopment of existing areas into higher density residential and commercial use often requires ATCO Gas to upgrade its system to meet the higher load. This redevelopment is particularly prevalent in the major urban centres. Typical upgrades include system looping and station upgrades to meet the increased customer requirements.¹⁷¹

Application, page 2.1-1, paragraph 2.

¹⁷¹ Ibid., paragraph 3.

Table 2.1.1 ATCO Gas (Total) - Historic and Forecast Expenditures									
	(\$ millions)								
	Actual Actual Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast 2008 2009 2010 2010 2011 20								
Distribution									
Distribution extensions	53.3	35.5	36.3	44.8	47.6	47.0			
Distribution improvements	80.7	66.0	72.8	73.6	146.4	164.0			
Distribution services	31.2	27.4	32.2	33.1	36.4	37.0			
Meters, regulators and installations	23.3	16.2	23.0	25.8	44.8	63.2			
Subtotal distribution	188.5	145.1	164.3	177.3	275.2	311.2			

Table 13. Distribution actual and forecast expenditures

4.4.1 Distribution extensions

218. Distribution extensions includes costs related to urban main extensions, rural main extensions and services, urban feeder mains and new regulating meter stations. The costs are related to system growth and are largely driven by demands made by municipalities, developers and rural customers. In 2008 the forecast was \$27 million and in 2009 the forecast was \$33 million. There were no intervener comments on general distribution extensions.

Commission findings

219. The Commission notes the difficulty in forecasting the expenditures in this area given the need to be responsive to customer growth and as evidenced in the discrepancy between actual and forecast expenditures since 2008. Directionally the change is consistent with the inflation and growth forecasts provided by AG in its application. The Commission considers it reasonable to approve the forecast for the test years.

4.4.2 Distribution improvements

220. Distribution improvements relate to the improvement and replacement of the distribution system and system upgrading. Business cases 1 (Urban Mains Replacement), 2 (Above Ground Entry Meter Relocation and Replacement Program), 3 (TransCanada Turbines HP Lateral Relocation), 4 (Plastic Pipe Replacement) and 5 (Line Heaters Reliability) fall within this classification and have been dealt with above. With respect to the remaining distribution improvements to be dealt with in this section, the Commission notes that the interveners did not provide comments.

	Actual			Forecast		
	2008	2009	2010	2010	2011	2012
			(\$ milli	ons)		
Urban Mains Improvements	18.2	16.1	20.1	20.4	69	78.6
Meter Relocation & Replacement Project	38.8	28.5	25.3	25.5	33.2	32
Commercial Below Ground Entry Project	6.1	6.5	7	6.8	0.6	0
Urban Main Relocations	6.4	5.1	6.1	8	7.8	5.3
Rural Main Replacements and Relocations	5.2	4.6	7.9	6.4	4	4
PE/PVC Pipe Replacement	0	0	0	1.1	19.5	23.4
Regulating Metering Stations Improvements	3.7	2.7	3.4	3.4	10.6	19.2
Cathodic Protection	0.8	1	1.1	0.6	0.9	0.8
Southern Extension Project Total Expenditures	1.5	1.5	1.9	1.4	0.8	0.7
	80.7	66	72.8	73.6	146.4	164

Table 14. Distrbution improvements

221. Urban mains improvements includes business cases 1 and 3 approved above, the urban mains replacement program, AP HP Relocations as updated in the January 21, 2011 update, and urban mains improvements.

4.4.2.1 High pressure relocations

- 222. AG submitted that the forecast costs included two projects in the City of Edmonton in 2011. The first was related to ATCO Pipelines abandoning a portion of line serving downtown Edmonton. The second was a result of ATCO Pipelines abandoning a line in northeast Edmonton. The third and final project was proposed for The City of Calgary in 2012 and was a result of ATCO Pipelines abandoning high pressure facilities in south east Calgary.
- 223. In all three cases, AG has recommended the option of installing new distribution facilities and transitioning a portion of the high pressure pipelines to distribution service, where those assets are assessed to be of acceptable integrity.
- 224. AG noted that the AUC had not approved the ATCO Pipelines' business cases supporting their projects, but that ATCO Pipelines was proceeding with this work and AG argued it had no option but to proceed with its work in order to maintain distribution service to the affected areas, and thus its revenue requirement forecasts must reflect the cost of undertaking that work.

Commission finding

225. The Commission is satisfied with AG's explanation and notes there were no opposing views provided by interveners. Accordingly, the Commission approves the incremental costs for high pressure relocation set out in its January 21, 2011 update.

4.4.3 Purchase of non-SCADA meters from ATCO Pipelines

226. In 2012, ATCO Gas included within its distribution improvements forecast a one-time \$6.5 million expenditure related to the purchase of non-SCADA metering equipment from ATCO Pipelines at its net book value.

-

¹⁷² Exhibit 70.01.

227. AG submitted in its application and rebuttal¹⁷³ that the 986 non-SCADA meters that it was planning to purchase from ATCO Pipelines were no longer needed by ATCO Pipelines after the 2011 integration with NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd. (NGTL). AG however, continued to need that data supplied by these meters for the determination of unaccounted for gas (UFG), transmission billing contract demand, flow information for facility sizing and design and transmission account settlement

Views of the parties

- 228. Calgary expressed concerns with the cost of integration of ATCO Pipelines and NGTL and recommended that the cost of the non-SCADA meters not be included in rate base.
- 229. The CCA submitted that the purchase of the non-SCADA meters from ATCO Pipelines' capital assets, which were transmission related, should not be included in a distribution utility rate base. The CCA agreed with Calgary that these asset transfers should have been considered and raised by AG and ATCO Pipelines as part of the integration negotiations. The measurement of natural gas delivered off the transmission system was a transmission function no matter what the size of the meter. The CCA recommended that the purchase of the high pressure non-SCADA meters should not be added to rate base.
- 230. AG argued that its customers were paying for the cost of these meters in their rates at present through the transmission charge. This was appropriate, because it was AG's customers who received the benefits of these meters, not NGTL.¹⁷⁴ In AG's reply it argued that contrary to the suggestion by Calgary, there would not be a cost increase to customers as a result of AG buying the non-SCADA meters which AG required in order to ensure that accurate measurement was occurring on its distribution system.
- 231. In rebuttal¹⁷⁵ AG noted that these meters were being used at present and would continue to be required in the future for a number of purposes including the determination of UFG, calculation of the contract demand quantity, network modeling and transportation account settlement.

Commission finding

232. The Commission notes AG's statement that these meters will be required in the determination of UFG. For this reason, and as supported by the other reasons put forward by AG, the Commission accepts AG's position that the meters it proposes to purchase from ATCO Pipelines will benefit AG. The Commission approves the purchase of the non-SCADA meters from ATCO Pipelines at book value.

4.4.4 Other distribution improvements

233. The Commission has reviewed the forecast costs of urban mains upgrades and urban mains improvements relative to actual costs for the years 2008 to 2010 and finds that the costs are reasonable.

Exhibit 163, AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 95.

¹⁷⁴ Transcript, Volume 5, page 962, lines 17-24.

AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 95.

Commission finding

234. The Commission approves the other costs in distribution improvements as filed.

4.4.5 Distribution services

235. AG is requesting approval of forecast costs for new urban service line installations of \$31.4 million in 2011 and \$32.0 million in 2012, and an additional \$5 million in each year for "service line replacements and improvements. AG stated in its application that the utility rate base is net of customer contributions. Therefore, approval is implicitly sought for the related customer contributions. In response to AUC-AG-21,¹⁷⁷ AG provided details of the customer contributions for new urban service lines. AG explained in the application that the forecast costs for new urban services were based on a three-year average:

An average price per service line is forecast for each service area. The three year average is calculated based on historical information to arrive at an average price. The average price per service line is then inflated to obtain a unit price per service for each of the test years. This unit price is then multiplied by the forecast number of service lines to obtain the total forecast cost.

- 236. The costs of new service lines are to be offset by a contribution from customers that is expected to amount to 5/8ths of the total cost. However, in the application AG indicated that it will not again achieve this level until after the tests years are completed. The test years included a forecast total of \$16.7 million and \$19.2 million for 2011 and 2012, respectively, which were only 53 per cent and 60 per cent of the total costs.
- 237. Mr. Zurek, explained in the oral hearing that actual contributions can lag the Schedule "C" rates.¹⁷⁹

Views of the parties

238. CCA noted that the cost of a new urban service was set at 5/8ths or 62.5 per cent for the customer contribution level. The CCA suggested that the AG forecast of contributions was incorrect and should be \$16.8 million in 2011. However, AG was only forecasting \$11.6 million which seemed to be consistent throughout the distribution service forecasts. Although CCA

The Commission notes that the Schedule "C" changes will be phased in over a three-year period in order to minimize customer impact. As part of this plan the Settlement Parties proposed deferral account treatment for these costs. The Commission will deal with the issue of deferral accounts later in this Decision.

The Commission realizes that, although Schedule "C" charges are included as part of the T&Cs, the charges result in revenues that are contributions-in-aid-of-construction and therefore directly impact the revenue requirement. It would be appropriate to discuss and approve the estimated revenues generated by such charges during the Phase I of a GRA. Accordingly, the Commission directs ATCO to submit and support the estimated revenues attributable to Schedule "C" charges and any proposed changes in its next GRA Phase I application."

Exhibit 3, Section 2.3, paragraph 1, page 2.3-1.

Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-21.

¹⁷⁸ Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-21.

Decision 2010-291, page 33, paragraphs 136-137:

[&]quot;The contributions are based on rates approved in Schedule "C", which was last approved in Decision 2010-291. In that decision the Commission made the follow statements in it findings:

¹⁸⁰ AUC-AG-21.

noted that AG explained the lower amount was due to a lag in implementation of Schedule "C" charges which set customer contribution levels¹⁸¹ CCA argued that AG should be directed to investigate whether the goal of 5/8ths customer contributions of new service connections should continue.

- 239. The CCA noted that in 2010 AG over-forecast residential urban service unit costs by 10 per cent¹⁸² and under forecast commercial unit costs by 11.8 per cent.¹⁸³
- 240. The CCA recommended that both the residential and commercial urban service unit costs be adjusted for 2011 and 2012. The CCA recommended that the 2011 and 2012 residential unit cost be decreased by 10 per cent while the commercial unit cost be increased by 11.8 per cent. Although these two recommendations have an offsetting effect, the CCA noted that there were rate design implications and accurate costing should be utilized.
- 241. The CCA also noted that in 2010 AG had over-forecast rural pool services unit costs by 11.4 per cent¹⁸⁴ and over-forecast extension unit costs by 3.3 per cent.¹⁸⁵ The CCA recommended that the 2011 and 2012 rural pool unit cost be decreased by 11.4 per cent. The CCA did not consider the extension cost variance to be material.
- 242. AG noted in its reply argument that the calculations performed by the CCA were incorrect.¹⁸⁶ The \$11.6 million of contributions the CCA indicated that AG was forecasting was the 2008 actual level of contributions.¹⁸⁷
- 243. AG submitted that a review of the correct 2011 and 2012 level of contributions to service line expenditures indicated that AG was recovering 53 per cent of the cost in 2011 and 60 per cent in 2012. The reason for the lower level of recovery in 2011 was because AG was increasing its Schedule "C" charges for service line contributions over a three year period to reduce the rate shock to customers as approved in Decision 2010-291.

Commission findings

- 244. AG has used an average of historical actual costs adjusted for inflation to arrive at the regional unit costs which are multiplied by the forecast of new customer service lines to determine total distribution service line forecast costs. Given the use of actual costs, the process is self adjusting. If previous forecasts have been over stated then so too have the revenues, which again is self compensating. As a consequence, the Commission does not agree that the unit costs should be reduced as proposed by the CCA. Based on the preceding analysis, the Commission approves the forecast expenditures for distribution services.
- 245. In respect of the contribution by customers for their portion of the service line which has historically been determined to be equal to 5/8ths of the total service line cost, the Commission is satisfied that AG is increasing the contribution from lower amounts to the approved level of

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1210.

¹⁸² CCA argument, paragraph 13, page 6 (1578-1737)1578.

¹⁸³ Ibid., (7007-6183)/824.

¹⁸⁴ CCA argument, paragraph 15, page 7 (4808-5406)/4808.

¹⁸⁵ Ibid., (8712-8998)/8712.

¹⁸⁶ CCA argument, page 6, paragraph 11.

Ibid.

¹⁸⁸ Ibid.

- 62.5 percent by 2013 in accordance with the negotiated settlement as approved in Decision 2010-291. The Commission expects AG to maintain the approved level with greater diligence so that it does not fall to the levels it has in recent past or require a graduated correction.
- 246. In Section 9.1 the Commission approved the growth forecast for the test years. As discussed above the Commission finds the three-year averaging methodology to be reasonable. The Commission approves the forecast costs of \$36.4 million in 2011 and \$37.0 million in 2012 for distribution services. The Commission also approves the customer contributions of \$16.7 million in 2011 and \$19.2 in 2012 as identified in response to AUC-AG-21 and implicitly reflected in the application.

4.4.6 Meters, regulators and installations

247. AG is requesting approval of forecast costs of \$44.8 million of forecast costs in 2011 and \$63.2 million of forecast costs in 2012 related to meters, regulators and installations. The cost classification has seven sub-accounts. The low use AMR project applied for in Business Case 7 accounts for \$17.2 million of 2011 forecast costs and \$37.3 million of forecast costs for 2012. The remaining \$27.6 million for 2011 and \$25.9 million for 2012 will be considered in this section. Two significant policy changes are introduced in relation to this cost classification: the request for an accounting change related to removal costs for the AMR project and a change in policy regarding meter replacements. AG will no longer be repairing or refurbishing meters. These changes in policy have implications for O&M Account 673 and will be examined in that section.

Commission findings

- 248. The Commission's analysis of forecast costs related to Business Case 7, were addressed in discussion of that business case. The residual amounts are related to meters and instruments, other AMR, SCADA, relocations and replacements and capitalization due to the change in accounting policy. Interveners did not comment on these costs.
- 249. The Commission has compared the forecast costs relative to actual costs for 2008 and 2009 and finds the only account with a significant increase is the meters and instruments. AG has explained that the increase in this cost is due in part to the need to replace non-temperature compensated meters for the MRRP program and for 2011 completing the replacement of mechanical temperature correcting modules on rotary meters. The Commission finds the explanations reasonable and approves the costs as forecast, subject to the Commission's determinations with respect to the MRRP program set out in Section 4.3.2 above.
- 250. The new classification for the capitalization of costs related to meter replacement has been addressed in the analysis of Account 673.

4.5 Land and structures

251. In the application AG estimated capital expenditures totaling \$15.3 million in 2011 and \$13.2 million in 2012 for land and structures.

Table 15. Distribution improvements

	Actual				Forecast	
	2008	2009	2010	2010	2011	2012
			(\$ mil	lions)		
Leasehold Improvements	0.8	0.6	1.3	1.1	1	1
New Operating Centre-Viking	2.9	0.1	0	0	0	0
New Operating Centre-Edmonton North	7.1	13.5	0.4	0.4	0	0
New Operating Centre-Fort McMurray	3.8	2.3	0	0	0	0
New Operating Centre-Peace River	2.5	2.2	0	0	0	0
Blue Flame Kitchen	0.3	0.2	1.3	1.2	0	0
New Operating Centre-Okotoks	0	0	0	0	7.3	4
Whitehorn Parking Lot Expansion	0.2	0.7	0	0	0	0
New Operating Centre-Airdrie	2.8	0.8	4.6	4.8	0	0
New Operating Centre-Drayton Valley	0	0	0	0	0.8	4.5
Grande Prairie Shop Extension and Yard	0	0	0.9	0.5	2.3	0
Total	23.5	22.8	10.4	10.6	15.3	13.2

252. Calgary raised a general issue related to AG's record keeping for land and structures and whether all properties included in the calculation of rate base in the test years continued to be used or required to be used to provide service. The Commission will consider this issue first.

4.5.1 Land and structures – used or required to be used

253. In response to CAL-AG-07(c) and a subsequent ruling by the Commission, ¹⁸⁹ AG provided information with respect to the acquisition date, original cost and operational purpose of certain of its land and structures. Calgary called into question whether the balance of AG's land and structures currently in rate base continued to be used or required to be used to provide utility service.

Views of the parties

254. Calgary submitted that AG had accounted for approximately 56 per cent of the \$123.3 million of structures and land, excluding land rights, in rate base at the end of 2010. Calgary then stated:

Therefore approximately 47% of the land and structures, at original cost, that AG claims it owns have not been shown to provide utility service. As such the owning and operating costs of these assets should be excluded from rate base and revenue requirement.¹⁹¹

¹⁹⁰ Exhibit 117.01, Q. 3, page 2.

¹⁸⁹ Exhibit 113.

¹⁹¹ Exhibit 117.01, Q. 3, page 3.

- AG submitted that Calgary's position that approximately 47 per cent of the land and structures AG uses to provide utility service should be removed from rate base because AG had not demonstrated that the assets are required for the provision of utility distribution service was "nonsensical".
- When asked to confirm "that all assets represented in Rate Base are presently used, are 256. reasonably used, and are likely be used in 2011 and 2012 to provide utility services.", in AUC-AG-3A(b), 192 AG answered "confirmed." AG also stated in AUC-AG-3A(a):

Subsequent to placing an asset in utility service, ATCO Gas undertakes inspection, maintenance, and integrity programs on assets to ensure they continue to perform safely, reliably, and cost effectively... When an asset can no longer provide safe, reliable, and cost effective service, ATCO Gas undertakes a review of alternatives to replace that asset. ... Any asset that is removed from service is also removed from rate base through the retirement process.

257. In reply argument AG submitted that its evidence indicated that:

> ATCO Gas has removed the cost of all assets no longer required for the provision of utility service from its rate base and revenue requirement forecasts. 193

258. AG submitted that it is entitled to a presumption of prudence with regard to property previously approved as prudent for inclusion in rate base. AG further submitted that Calgary had not demonstrated that AG had behaved imprudently with regard to the inclusion of any property in its rate base. Calgary had not demonstrated that AG has any assets in rate base that are not used or required to be used for the provision of utility service. 194

Commission findings

- Section 37 of the Gas Utilities Act requires the Commission in fixing just and reasonable 259. rates to "determine a rate base for the property of the owner of the gas utility used or required to be used to provide service to the public within Alberta."
- 260. The Commission does not consider that AG may rely upon a presumption of prudence that assets previously found to be used or required to be used to provide service and approved for inclusion in rate base should continue in forecast rate base and revenue requirement. In this regard the Commission notes the guidance of the Alberta Court of Appeal in ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. v. Alberta (Energy and Utilities Board), 2008 ABCA 200195 (Carbon decision) when it stated:
 - 29. The Act does not contain any provision or presumption that once an asset is part of the rate base, it is forever a part of the rate base regardless of its function. The concept of assets becoming "dedicated to service" and so remaining in the rate base forever is inconsistent with the decision in *Stores Block* (at para. 69). Such an approach would fetter the discretion of the Board in dealing with changing circumstances. Previous inclusion in the rate base is not determinative or necessarily important; as the Court

Exhibit 84.01.

AG reply argument, paragraph 20, pages 11-12.

AG argument, paragraph 12, page 6; AG reply argument, paragraph 21, page 12.

Leave to Supreme Court of Canada dismissed [2008] S.C.C.A. No. 347 (S.C.C.).

observed in *Alberta Power Ltd. v. Alberta (Public Utilities Board)* (1990), 72 Alta. L.R. (2d) 129, 102 A.R. 353 (C.A.) at pg. 151: "That was then, this is now." ¹⁹⁶

- 261. The court in the Carbon decision also made it clear that assets previously included in rate base that are not presently used or required to be used to provide utility service as required by Section 37 of the *Gas Utilities Act* should not remain in rate base.
- 262. The words "used or required to be used" are intended to identify assets that are presently used, are reasonably used, and are likely to be used in the future to provide services. Specifically, the past or historical use of assets will not permit their inclusion in the rate base unless they continue to be used in the system.¹⁹⁷
- 263. A utility must be diligent in reviewing its assets on an ongoing basis to ensure that the assets included in rate base and revenue requirement continue to be used or required to be used for the provision of utility service. Any asset determined no longer to be used or required to be used for the provision of utility service must be removed from rate base and revenue requirement.
- 264. With respect to the assets presently forecast to be in rate base and revenue requirement, the record provides clear confirmation by AG that all assets represented in rate base are presently used, are reasonably used, and are likely to be used in 2011 and 2012 to provide utility services. AG outlined the measures it takes to ensure assets once included in service continue to perform "safely, reliably and cost effectively." Further, AG indicated that it has removed the cost of all assets no longer required for the provision of utility service from rate base. AG also provided confirmation of the continued utility use of certain specific assets that the Commission directed it to address. In the absence of any contrary evidence which indicates that any particular asset or group of assets included in rate base forecasts is not required to provide utility service in the test years, the Commission accepts AG's statement that its forecast rate base includes only those assets which continue to be used or required to be used to provide utility service in the test years.

4.5.2 Airdrie operating centre

- 265. AG indicated that the construction of a new Airdrie operating centre had been approved in Decision 2008-113 with the expectation of completion in 2010. The facility was completed in 2010 at a cost below forecast. The Commission has compared the actual costs of \$5.6 million incurred in constructing the Airdrie operating center to the forecast costs previously approved by the Commission and notes that no intervener has objected to the inclusion of these costs in 2011 opening property, plant and equipment balances. The Commission approves the inclusion of these costs in 2011 opening property, plant, and equipment balances.
- 266. AG confirmed that the previous agency office had been sold. Section 26(2)(d) of the *Gas Utilities Act* provides that a utility must obtain the consent of the Commission prior to the disposition of an asset outside of the ordinary course of business. AG treated the sale as a disposition within the ordinary course of business and accordingly had not sought prior Commission approval.

¹⁹⁶ Carbon decision, paragraph 29.

¹⁹⁷ Carbon decision, paragraph 23.

AG indicated¹⁹⁸ that the proceeds of sale had been accounted for in a manner consistent 267. with the Uniform Classification of Accounts Regulation. ¹⁹⁹ In AUC-AG-31(b) AG provided the following breakdown of how the proceeds, net of disposition costs of \$795,000, were accounted for:

- \$318,000 credited to accumulated depreciation as salvage
- \$477,000 used to retire the land of which \$308,000 represented the pre-tax gain on sale which was recognized as income

At the hearing AG explained why the sale of the Airdrie agency office was considered to be a sale within the ordinary course of business.²⁰⁰ AG had suggested a materiality limit guideline of \$1.5 million in determining whether transactions were within the ordinary course of business in its application with respect to the disposition of proceeds from the sale of the Red Deer agency office. This application was considered by the EUB in Decision 2006-127.²⁰¹ Transactions below this threshold AG suggested should be considered as occurring inside the ordinary course of business and those above the threshold should be considered as occurring outside of the ordinary course of business. Transactions outside the ordinary course of business would require prior Commission approval under Section 26(2)(d) of the Gas Utilities Act. The EUB had not commented on the \$1.5 million threshold guideline in its decision. Ms. Wilson, witness for AG at the oral hearing, further explained the factors that AG considers when assessing whether a transaction should be considered either within or outside the ordinary course of business:

Well, I think probably the proceeds value certainly is one of the first things we would likely look to. I think if we added disposition, that --where the frequency was low and the proceeds were in excess of 1.5 million, there the decision in essence would be made that it would not be viewed as a disposition in the ordinary course.

If the proceeds are under 1.5 million, then we next look to what's the -- what's the rate base value. Are we talking about something significant here? If that's not significant either, then generally at that time we feel -- and as I said, we do look at other dispositions that we've had. I would note that in order U 2008 158, the Commission found that the disposition of the Brooks agency office, which had estimated proceeds of \$400,000 and a net book value of \$275,000 should be viewed in the ordinary course of business. So when we looked at that decision and the Airdrie situation, they seemed quite similar to us in materiality and situation.

So those are the kinds of things we look at, sir.²⁰²

In testimony, AG confirmed that the proceeds of sale allocated to the building exceeded book value and that the entire proceeds, less an allocated share of disposition costs, had been credited to accumulated depreciation. The proceeds of sale allocated to the land also exceeded

AUC-AG-31(b).

General Instructions to the Canadian Gas Association Uniform Classification of Accounts for Natural Gas under the Jurisdiction of the Public Utilities Board of the Province of Alberta, Alberta Regulation 546/63 (Uniform Classification of Accounts Regulation).

Transcript, Volume 6, pages 1241-1248.

Decision 2006-127: AG North, Disposition of Red Deer Operating Centre Part B - Final Disposition, Application No. 1421444, December 13, 2006.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1242, line 22 to page 1243, line 16.

book value. The shareholder received a return of the original cost of the land and after paying an allocated share of disposition costs, retained the net gain on the sale of the land.²⁰³

Views of the parties

- 270. Calgary noted in reply argument that AG had not fully explained why the Airdrie agency office had been considered by AG as a disposition in the ordinary course of business or why the proceeds should not be applied to the benefit of ratepayers.
- 271. In reply argument AG noted that it had treated the disposition in the ordinary course of business because the proceeds of sale were less than \$1.5 million. AG had further discussed other criteria that it considers when determining whether a disposition was in the ordinary course of business during questioning by Commission counsel.²⁰⁴

Commission findings

- 272. The Commission must first consider whether the disposition of the Airdrie agency office was a disposition within the ordinary course of business and therefore did not require the prior consent of the Commission.
- 273. The Commission recently reviewed the legislation, prior regulatory decisions and addressed the criteria to apply when considering whether an asset disposition by a utility is inside or outside the ordinary course of business. In Decision 2011-387²⁰⁵ the Commission considered an application by AltaLink Management Ltd. to dispose of certain assets outside of the ordinary course of business requiring the consent of the Commission pursuant to Section 102(2)(d) of the *Public Utilities Act*. The provisions of Section 102(2)(d) of the *Public Utilities Act* are nearly identical to the wording of Section 26(2)(d) of the *Gas Utilities Act*. In finding that the proposed disposition was outside the ordinary course of business, the Commission identified the frequency and materiality of the proposed transaction as the key factors to consider in determining if a proposed asset disposition is within or outside of the ordinary course of business. The Commission referred to Order U2001-196,²⁰⁶ a decision of the EUB which helped to develop this frequency and materiality test. In that decision the EUB stated:
 - ...The Board confirms that it must first determine whether the disposition of an asset is outside the ordinary course of business for a utility. The proceeds of disposition, NBV, frequency and type of sale would be among the factors considered by the Board in that determination. The quantum, and materiality (in relation to the total rate base) of the proceeds of disposition and the NBV would all be considered.²⁰⁷
- 274. The EUB also stated in U2001-196 that "both the quantum and materiality of the proceeds of the sale and net book value should be considered independently when the Board determines whether a transaction is in the ordinary course of business for a particular utility." ²⁰⁸

Transcript, Volume 6, pages 1243-1245.

Transcript, Volume 6, pages 1241-1243.

Decision 2011-387: AltaLink Management Ltd., Sale of AltaLink Assets at Riverside 388S Substation; Provident Energy Ltd. Amendment to Redwater Industrial System Designation, Applications Nos. 1606975 and 1606873, Proceeding ID. No. 1063, September 22, 2011.

Order U2001-196: NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd., In the matter of the Sale of the Athabasca Maintenance Facility, Application No. 2001112, File No. 6417-04, August 3, 2001.

²⁰⁷ Order U2001-196, page 3.

²⁰⁸ Order U2001-196, page 3.

In finding that the sale of a service center was outside the ordinary course of business for NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd. the EUB noted:

For example in this case, the NBV of \$2,163, 801 would be at the bottom end of the range of dispositions the Board would consider as outside the ordinary course of business. With respect to the frequency and type of sale the Board does not agree with NGTL that acquiring and divesting regional service centres, maintenance facilities, and field offices are necessarily in the ordinary course of NGTL's business. The Board considers that NGTL's ordinary business is the owning and operating of a pipeline, not the acquiring and divesting of real estate. ²⁰⁹

275. In Order U2008-158²¹⁰ the Commission followed the criteria set out in Order U2001-196 and determined that the sale by AG of the Brooks agency office for approximately \$400,000 with a book value of approximately \$275,000 was within the ordinary course of business.

276. This panel of the Commission concurs with the earlier decisions of the Commission and its predecessor that materiality and frequency are relevant factors to consider when determining whether the disposition of an asset is within or outside of the ordinary course of business. The Commission considers that the approach outlined by Ms. Wilson at the oral hearing provides a satisfactory balance between bringing multiple minor applications to the Commission for review while ensuring that substantive transactions are brought forward for consideration. The Commission agrees that \$1.5 million is a reasonable transaction value at this time to use as a threshold guideline. Should the transaction price be over \$1.5 million, AG will be required to bring an application for Commission approval under Section 26(2)(d) of the *Gas Utilities Act*. If the transaction price is less than \$1.5 million, AG should consider if there are other factors that would suggest that the transaction is outside of the ordinary course of business and therefore require the consent of the Commission to the disposition. Those other factors would include:

- the quantum and materiality of the proceeds of disposition in relation to the total rate base of the utility
- the quantum and materiality of the net book value of the asset in relation to the total rate base of the utility
- whether all or any portion of the functionality of the asset being disposed of has been relocated to an existing facility or relocated to a new facility
- the frequency and type of disposition of like assets
- the other party(ies) to the transaction and if the transaction involves an affiliate, whether the ATCO Group Inter-Affiliate Code of Conduct has been complied with
- the market value of the asset when compared to the consideration received on the disposition
- the allocation of sale proceeds between depreciable and non-depreciable property
- the net book value of the assets
- whether the asset was a utility or non-utility asset
- any other unique or distinguishing aspect of the asset or of the transaction

277. If a review of the circumstances and factors described above do not suggest that a transaction of less than \$1.5 million should be considered to be outside of the ordinary course of

²⁰⁹ Order U2001-196, page 4.

Order U2008-158, ATCO Gas Disposition of Brooks Agency Office, Application No. 1571404, May 9, 2008.

business, AG may proceed to deal with the disposition of the asset on the basis that it is within the ordinary course of business.

- 278. The Commission notes that ATCO Gas has negotiated the sale of a number of smaller agency and service facilities over the last several years. The sale of the Airdrie agency office appears to have been done at market value, did not involve an affiliate and generated proceeds were less than \$1.5 million. The record also does not indicate a concern with respect to the allocation of proceeds between depreciable and non-depreciable property. Having considered the above criteria, the Commission considers that the disposition of the Airdrie agency office qualified as a transaction within the ordinary course of business.
- 279. The second issue that the Commission must consider is whether the accounting treatment of the disposition proceeds received on the sale of the Airdrie agency office has been properly determined. At the time the asset was disposed of it was a utility asset with the sale proceeds being allocated between buildings and land in accordance with the Uniform Classification of Accounts Regulation. Proceeds allocated to the depreciable assets were credited to accumulated depreciation as salvage and proceeds allocated to land after retirement of the original cost of the land were recorded as utility income. The Commission will not disturb the accounting treatment for this asset given that it was retired and sold prior to the test period. However, had the asset not been sold prior to the test period the Commission would have conducted a different analysis, similar to the treatment directed for the Okotoks facility described below.

4.5.3 North Edmonton operating centre and North Yard service centre

- 280. The North Edmonton operating centre was approved in Decision 2008-113 and completed in 2010. AG indicated it had transferred certain services performed at the North Yard service centre to the North Edmonton operating centre. Services and groups of employees from other locations were also moved to the North Edmonton operating centre. No additional capital costs were forecast for the North Edmonton operating centre with respect to the test years.
- 281. Following the transfer of certain services from the North Yard service centre to the North Edmonton operating centre, AG continued to use the North Yard service centre for meter reading functions as well as a training facility for almost a year after the North Edmonton operating centre was in use. Those functions were then transferred to other facilities other than the North Edmonton operating centre²¹¹ and the North Yard service centre was moved to non-utility accounts in 2010 as the asset was no longer required for the provision of utility service. AG has not disposed of the North Yard service centre. The accounting for the North Yard service centre became an issue in this proceeding.
- 282. In response to CAL-AG-03, AG indicated that the net book value at the end of 2010 for the North Yard service centre was \$1,792,703, suggesting that a future disposition of the facility would be outside of the ordinary course of business. AG also indicated in the same IR response that a market evaluation of the North Yard service centre prepared in March 2010 showed an estimated market value of \$8,560,000.

Views of the parties

283. AG noted that it had not disposed of the North Yard service centre, nor had it brought an application related to that disposition before the AUC. AG submitted that any discussion

AUC-AG-3A(d) and AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 15, page 4.

regarding the disposition of the North Yard service centre was beyond the scope of the present general rate application.²¹²

284. Calgary suggested that any proceeds arising from the ultimate disposition of the North Yard service centre and other facilities that are no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service should be for the account of ratepayers. Calgary stated in evidence:

ATCO is proposing to, and has replaced, a number of structures and improvements and in some cases transferred the previous facility to non-utility. ATCO should be required to credit the value of the old properties against the new as a contribution toward the construction costs of the new facility. This concept was accepted by the Supreme Court in the *Stores Block* case. In this proceeding, one of the obvious applications would be the North Yard Service Centre which is being replaced by the North Edmonton Operating Centre.²¹³

- 285. In argument Calgary submitted: "[A]s a matter of fact, fact based upon ATCO's own evidence, NEOC replaces NYSC, as this was stated in ATCO's economic justification for including NEOC in rate base."²¹⁴
- 286. AG rejected Calgary's position that AG should be required to credit the value of old properties (such as the North Yard service centre) no longer required for the provision of utility service against the cost of new facilities (such as the North Edmonton operating centre). AG submitted that the Calgary position was another means of trying to appropriate the value of the assets owned by the utility for the benefit of customers and contrary to Supreme Court of Canada in *ATCO Gas & Pipelines Ltd. V. Alberta (Energy & Utilities Board)* 2006 SCC 4, [2006] 1 SCR 140 (Stores Block decision) and related cases. AG stated:

...ATCO Gas would note that an alternative to disposition of the property would be to lease out the non-utility property. Consistent with the *Carbon* appeal decision, the proceeds generated through the lease of the NYSC, which is no longer required for the provision of utility service, could not be used to reduce ATCO Gas' rates, as revenue generation is not a utility service. The regulator cannot do indirectly what it cannot do directly. ATCO Gas questions how a different outcome could occur depending on what is done with the property. The simple answer is that the outcome must be the same. To do otherwise would amount to an expression of contempt for the findings of the Alberta Court of Appeal in *Carbon*, *Harvest Hills*, *Salt Caverns* and for the Supreme Court in *Stores Block*.²¹⁵ (footnote omitted)

287. With respect to Calgary's argument that North Edmonton operating centre replaced North Yard service centre, AG noted in reply argument:

The costs of NEOC are general system costs associated with the growth of ATCO Gas' overall operations, not simply a single function. It is clear from the evidentiary record, therefore, that the NEOC cannot be characterized as a one-for-one replacement of NYSC.²¹⁶

AG argument, page 7, paragraph 14.

AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 16, page 4.

²¹³ Calgary evidence, Question 22, pages 23-24.

²¹⁴ Calgary argument, page 20.

AG reply argument, page 15, paragraph 27.

288. AG also submitted that: "[T]here is no legal basis to do anything but reflect the removal of the net book value of the NYSC assets from rates, which AG has done in its revenue requirement forecasts."217 There is no actual sale of the North Yard service centre before the Commission to consider. AG stated:

The determinative fact in *Harvest Hills* was the lack of **immediate** need to replace the surplus lands as a direct result of the sale. Even if the utility had sold an asset and then had to replace it across the street, however, ATCO Gas maintains that this issue would be one of prudence of costs incurred. There is no basis for invoking paragraph 77 of Stores *Block* or reversing the findings of the Commission in Decision 2008-113.²¹⁸ (emphasis in original)

289. AG also submitted that even if there was a sale of the property before the Commission for consideration, customers have benefited from and not been harmed by the construction of the new facilities previously approved by the Commission: "[H]arm is not generated through the disposition of utility assets no longer required for utility service because customers are not entitled to the future earning potential of properties removed from rate base."²¹⁹

Commission findings

- The forecast cost for the North Edmonton Operating Centre is \$21.0 million and that amount is approved for inclusion in 2011 opening rate base.
- The Commission notes that the residual value of the North Yard service centre and other AG properties that are no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service were also considered in Decision 2008-113 and deferred to the Utility Asset Disposition Proceeding, Proceeding ID No. 20. The Commission stated:

Having regard for the Stores Block Decision and the Asset Disposition Rate Review Proceeding, the Commission is of the view that commenting on Calgary's recommendations concerning the use of net proceeds from a sale of assets by AG would not be appropriate at the present time. The Commission will consider such issues in the Asset Disposition Rate Review Proceeding. 220

- The Utility Asset Disposition Proceeding was suspended by the Commission in Decision 2008-123.²²¹ While that proceeding continues to be suspended, the Commission considers that certain of the matters raised for consideration by the parties can be advanced in the present decision.
- 293. A portion of the services provided from the North Yard service centre were transferred to the North Edmonton operating centre when it was constructed. The Commission must determine if a proportion of the value of the North Yard service centre, equal to the proportion of services transferred to the North Edmonton operating centre, can be attached in a manner advocated by Calgary so as to reduce the overall cost of the North Edmonton operating centre to ratepayers

²¹⁷ AG reply argument, page 16, paragraph 30.

AG reply argument, page 17, paragraph 33.

AG argument, page 7, paragraph 16.

Decision 2008-113, page 48.

Decision 2008-123: Review of Rate Related Implications of Utility Asset Dispositions Following the Supreme Court's Calgary Stores Block Decision, Application No. 1566373, Proceeding ID No. 20, November 28, 2008.

despite the fact that a disposition of the North Yard service centre has not occurred and the asset has been removed from rate base and moved to non-utility accounts.

294. The Stores Block decision dealt with entitlement to the proceeds of disposition of a utility asset when sold outside of the ordinary course of business under Section 26(2)(d) of the *Gas Utilities Act*. The Supreme Court confirmed that ratepayers are entitled to the receipt of a service at fair rates; they do not gain an ownership interest in the property of the utility. The court stated:

Thus, can it be said, as alleged by the City, that the customers have a property interest in the utility? Absolutely not: that cannot be so, as it would mean that fundamental principles of corporate law would be distorted. Through the rates, the customers pay an amount for the regulated service that equals the cost of the service and the necessary resources. They do not by their payment implicitly purchase the asset from the utility's investors. The payment does not incorporate acquiring ownership or control of the utility's assets. The ratepayer covers the cost of using the service, not the holding cost of the assets themselves... 222

- 295. The Supreme Court further clarified: "...the ownership of the assets is clearly that of the utility; ownership of the assets and entitlement to profits or losses upon its realization are one and the same."²²³
- 296. The Alberta Court of Appeal in the Carbon decision confirmed that ratepayers have no property interest in the assets owned by the utility nor do they have an entitlement to the profits or unregulated revenue that they may generate. The court stated:

Just as the end customers have no ownership interest in the assets of the utility, they have no interest in the profits, unregulated revenues, or unregulated businesses of the utility. The value of economic assets is often largely determined by the revenues they can generate, and if the end customers are not entitled to any ownership interest in the assets, they are likewise not entitled to any interest in the cash flow generated by those assets: **Stores Block** at para. 78.

297. The Stores Block decision also indicated however, that the regulator could attach conditions to the proceeds of sale for the benefit of ratepayers in certain circumstances, stating in paragraph 77 of its decision:

This is not to say that the Board can never attach a condition to the approval of sale. For example, the Board could approve the sale of the assets on the condition that the utility company gives undertakings regarding the replacement of the assets and their profitability. It could also require as a condition that the utility reinvest part of the sale proceeds back into the company in order to maintain a modern operating system that achieves the optimal growth of the system.²²⁴

298. The Alberta Court of Appeal in *ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. v. Alberta (Energy and Utilities Board)*, 2009 ABCA (Harvest Hills decision) had occasion to consider the guidance of the Supreme Court in paragraph 77 of the Stores Block decision. In the Harvest Hills decision the court considered whether the EUB could attach a condition to an approval under

Stores Block decision, paragraph 68.

Stores Block decision, paragraph 67.

Stores Block decision, paragraph 77.

Section 26(2)(d) of the *Gas Utilities Act* such that the proceeds of sale of a utility asset could be set aside to defer the cost of replacement facilities of a similar nature. In attaching the condition the EUB had relied on the wording of paragraph 77 of the Stores Block decision.

299. The court in the Harvest Hills decision concluded the condition contemplated by the Supreme Court would allow an attachment of sale proceeds in the following circumstances:

In our view, a more reasonable interpretation of the Supreme Court's words would permit the Board to impose a condition if there was a close connection between the sale of the asset and the immediate resulting need to replace it. For example, the utility might sell a pumping station and, in order to service the public, it might need to access a different pumping station or even replace the existing one. The sale and purchase would be closely connected. This is what the majority of the Supreme Court had in mind when it stated that in some circumstances the Board could impose a condition that required the utility to reinvest the proceeds of sale into the system. 225

300. The Commission considers that the Harvest Hills decision established four criteria that must be met before the Commission can attach a condition to the proceeds of disposition of a utility asset which requires the utility to reinvest the proceeds into the regulated system. The four criteria are:

- there must be a disposition of property by a utility
- the sale must be outside of the ordinary course of business, giving rise to the jurisdiction of the Commission to review the transaction
- there must be a close connection between the sale of the asset and the need to replace it
- the need to replace the asset must be immediate, in other words the need to replace the asset must arise at the same time as the disposition

301. With respect to the third and fourth criteria, the record is clear that certain functions were relocated from the North Yard service centre to the North Edmonton operating centre and that within a year of relocating those services all remaining North Yard service centre service functions were transferred to other existing facilities. At that point the North Yard service centre ceased to be used or required to be used to provide utility service and the facility was removed from rate base. The Commission notes that Business Case 10 filed in the 2008-2009 GRA²²⁶ specifically stated:

This business case addresses how best to create a new North Edmonton Operating Centre to replace the NYSC.²²⁷

ATCO Gas initiated an evaluation to determine a long term solution for Edmonton operations facilities in order to ensure customer needs will be met in a cost effective manner for the foreseeable future. The result of that evaluation is the recommendation to replace the NYSC with a new North Edmonton Operations Centre (NEOC) in 2008.²²⁸

2008-2009 GRA, Tab 2.1, North Edmonton operating centre.

Harvest Hills decision, paragraph 35.

²²⁷ 2008-2009 GRA, Tab 2.1, North Edmonton operating centre, page 2.

²⁰⁰⁸⁻²⁰⁰⁹ GRA, Tab 2.1, North Edmonton operating centre, page 5.

- 302. The Commission finds that there is a clear and immediate connection between the decision to transfer certain functions from North Yard service centre and the decision to proceed with constructing the North Edmonton operating centre. Certain functions were immediately transferred from the North Yard service centre to the North Edmonton operating centre upon the latter's completion. Further, the North Yard service centre ceased to be used in the provision of utility services within a year after construction of the North Edmonton operating centre was finished.
- 303. With respect to the first and second criteria, there has been no actual sale and no application for approval of a disposition under Section 26(2)(d) of the Gas Utilities Act. It was argued by Calgary that the Stores Block decision line of cases should apply. Calgary stated above that "ATCO should be required to credit the value of the old properties against the new as a contribution toward the construction costs of the new facility." This line of argument would suggest that the findings of the court in the Harvest Hills decision with respect to the ability of the Commission to attach the proceeds of sale where there is "a close connection between the sale of the asset and the immediate resulting need to replace it" should not be allowed to be circumvented by the timing chosen by the utility for the actual disposition of the retired property. If a utility is able to avoid the establishment of a close connection between the sale of an existing asset and the resulting need to replace it by simply removing the existing asset from rate base and delaying the sale to a future period after the new asset is in service, unfairness and harm to ratepayers in the form of higher rates would result because the utility would avoid the potential attachment of the proceeds of disposition. This harm would occur despite the Commission having previously approved the construction of the new facility and its inclusion in rate base because rates could have been lower than otherwise would be the case. Such a result would provide a utility with the motivation to arrange its affairs in a manner that would not give rise to the possibility that the Commission might attach conditions to the proceeds of sale.
- 304. Given the wording specifically chosen by the court in the Harvest Hills decision, the Commission can not agree to apply the Harvest Hills decision in a manner that would credit the value of the North Yard service centre toward the construction costs of the North Edmonton operating centre as suggested by Calgary. In order to do what Calgary is suggesting, the Commission would, in effect, need to deem a disposition of the North Yard service centre effective at the time that the facility was no longer required for utility purposes in order to potentially attach the value of the North Yard service centre for reinvestment in the AG system.
- 305. The Commission's jurisdiction to potentially attach a condition to the value of a property only arises when Section 26(2)(d) is invoked which is upon a disposition of the property outside of the ordinary course of business. The Court of Appeal in *ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. v. Alberta (Utilities Commission)*, 2009 ABCA 246 (Salt Caverns decision) determined that a decision of a utility to withdraw an asset from rate base did not constitute a "disposition" under Section 26(2)(d) of the *Gas Utilities Act*. The Alberta Court of Appeal stated:

Ceasing to use an asset for utilities purposes involves the traditional criteria for what is in the rate base (discussed in Part F above), and does not involve or require a s. 26 application at all.²²⁹

306. The Commission notes that the utility may have very practical reasons for delaying or deciding not to sell an asset when it is retired, including the absence of a market in a rural

Salt Caverns decision, paragraph 56.

environment, poor market conditions, or because the utility has decided to retain the asset to conduct a separate unregulated business.

307. The Commission does not have the jurisdiction as the result of the Salt Caverns decision to deem a disposition of the North Yard service centre in order to potentially attach a condition to deemed proceeds under Section 26(2)(d) of the *Gas Utilities Act*. Accordingly, the Commission finds that it does not have jurisdiction over the value of a property withdrawn from rate base and/or moved to a non-utility account unless and until a disposition out of the ordinary course of business should occur. Further, the ability of the Commission to potentially attach proceeds of disposition arises only if there is a "close connection between the sale of the asset and the immediate resulting need to replace it." It therefore would appear that the ability of the Commission to consider the possible attachment of proceeds of sale arises only in the very limited circumstances where the disposition and the replacement of the functionality of the disposed asset occur relatively contemporaneously.

4.5.4 Irma agency office

308. AG confirmed in response to AUC-AG-31(a) that the Irma agency office was no longer needed for utility service and had been retired in 2010. Decision 2008-113 referred to AG's intention to move the services delivered through the Irma agency office to the new Viking operations centre²³⁰ along with services relocated from other facilities. At the hearing Ms. Wilson, on behalf of AG, confirmed that the Irma facility had been retired in the ordinary course of business when it was no longer required for utility service and that it had "in essence had been fully consumed in the provision of utility service."231 Ms. Wilson also confirmed her belief that upon retirement "from a depreciation theoretical standpoint, there would not be any value in rate base related to the facility" but that the facility had not been moved to a non-utility account.²³² Ms. Wilson confirmed that although AG was seeking a purchaser of the facility, that it had not yet been sold. When sold, the proceeds were expected to be immaterial and the transaction would be considered a disposition in the ordinary course of business so that Commission consent would not be required. Ms. Wilson indicated that the proceeds associated with the depreciable assets would in accordance with the Uniform Classification of Accounts Regulation be recorded as salvage and credited to accumulated depreciation and the proceeds associated with the land would offset the original cost of the land and any excess proceeds would be recognized as utility income for the benefit of the shareholder. If the sale proceeds allocated to the land did not recover the original cost of the land, the AG shareholder would bear the loss.233

309. Ms. Wilson further clarified in the following excerpt from a discussion of the Okotoks facility with Commission counsel that the accounting treatment AG uses on the disposition of an asset depends on whether or not the asset is sold within or outside of the ordinary course of business:

...The distinguishing factor to some extent is whether the disposition is inside or outside the ordinary course. If it's inside the ordinary course, we have the uniform classification of accounts, and that is our guide for how we account for the disposition.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1237, lines12-13.

²³⁰ Decision 2008-113, page 45.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1236, lines 13-22.

Transcript, Volume 6, pages 1236-1240.

If it's outside of the ordinary course, then of course an application has to be made to the Commission, and our view -- our understanding of the current state of the law is that proceeds of non-utility assets are not to be used reduce distribution rates for customers, and that would be regardless of whether the assets are depreciable or non-depreciable.²³⁴

310. When questioned by Commission counsel about responsibility for any ongoing operating costs at the Irma facility, Ms. Wilson indicated that she did not think that there were any but that if there were, they would be included in customer rates even though the facility had been retired.²³⁵ When asked why any ongoing costs would continue to be recovered from ratepayers, Ms. Wilson stated:

Well, sir, the asset was fully consumed in the provision of utility service; and if there is any residual net book value, first of all, I doubt that it's material, and second of all, it's likely due to some extent to the fact that your depreciation estimates are never going to be 100 percent -- never going to match 100 percent what actually happens.

So there is always going to be differences between the theoretical value of the asset, theoretical and the actual net book value, simply due to differences between what your depreciation rates assume and what actually occurs.²³⁶

Commission findings

- 311. The Commission considers that in the event that a utility is unable to, or chooses not to, prudently dispose of an asset approximately at the same time that it ceases to be used or required to be used to provide utility service; it is incumbent on the utility to retire that asset and to move the asset to a non-utility account. As discussed above in connection with AG's land and structures generally, the Alberta Court of Appeal in the Carbon decision made it clear that assets previously included in rate base that are not presently used or required to be used to provide utility service as required by Section 37 of the *Gas Utilities Act* should not remain in rate base.
- 312. The words "used or required to be used" are intended to identify assets that are presently used, are reasonably used, and are likely to be used in the future to provide services. Specifically, the past or historical use of assets will not permit their inclusion in the rate base unless they continue to be used in the system.²³⁷
- 313. The court in the Carbon decision also stated:

Thirdly, the only reasonable reading of s. 37 is that the assets that are "used or required to be used" to provide service are only those used in an operational sense.²³⁸

314. In the Salt Caverns decision the Alberta Court of Appeal stated:

Can it be reasonably argued that this regulatory power is confined to ruling on adding new items to the rate base, but inapplicable to excluding old or unused items? No. Phillips, *op. cit supra*, at 302 quotes another established textbook and lists items which regulatory commissions may exclude from the rate base. They include obsolete property,

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1252, line 15 to page 1253, line 1.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1236, line 23 to page 1237, line 8.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1238, line 23 to page 1239, line 8.

Carbon decision, paragraph 23.

²³⁸ Carbon decision, paragraph 25.

property to be abandoned, overdeveloped property and facilities for future needs, and property used for non-utility purposes.²³⁹

- 315. The Commission considers that assets that are not properly in rate base because they are no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service should not be reflected in rates in any fashion. It is irrelevant whether the asset was fully consumed in providing utility service or whether it has residual value or not.
- 316. The Commission notes the apparent conflict between the testimony of Ms. Wilson that indicated that if there were operating costs for the Irma agency office that they would be in customer rates²⁴⁰ with the statement quoted above in the reply argument of AG that:

ATCO Gas has removed the cost of all assets no longer required for the provision of utility service from its rate base and revenue requirement forecasts.²⁴¹

317. The Supreme Court of Canada in the Stores Block decision stated that upon disposition of an asset the profit or loss associated with the asset sold outside of the ordinary course of business is for the account of the utility shareholder. The Supreme Court noted:

The fact that the utility is given the opportunity to make a profit on its services and a fair return on its investment in its assets should not and cannot stop the utility from benefiting from the profits which follow the sale of assets. Neither is the utility protected from losses incurred from the sale of assets. In fact, the wording of the sections quoted above suggests that the ownership of the assets is clearly that of the utility; ownership of the asset and entitlement to profits or losses upon its realization are one and the same.²⁴²

Despite the consideration of utility assets in the rate-setting process, shareholders are the ones solely affected when the actual profits or losses of such a sale are realized; the utility absorbs losses and gains, increases and decreases in the value of assets, based on economic conditions and occasional unexpected technical difficulties, but continues to provide certainty in service both with regard to price and quality.²⁴³

- 318. The Commission considers that the retirement of a utility asset should be followed by the removal of the net book value, if any, from rate base and the movement of the asset to a non-utility account if it is not disposed of at approximately the same time as it is retired. Ongoing operational and remediation costs (except to the extent that remediation costs are notionally offset by the net salvage component of depreciation expense previously included in rates and collected from ratepayers) associated with the asset after it is no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service should be for the account of the shareholder as the owner of the asset.
- 319. Neither the timing of the actual disposition of an asset nor the characterization of a disposition as either within, or outside, the ordinary course of business, can logically serve to distinguish the entitlements or obligations of ownership once the asset is no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service. It would be unreasonable to suggest that a utility

66 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

.

Salt Caverns decision, paragraph 28.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1236, line 23 to page 1237, line 8.

AG reply argument, paragraph 20, pages 11-12.

Stores Block decision, paragraph 67.

Stores Block decision, paragraph 69.

could pass on the costs of ongoing obligations associated with the ownership of an asset to ratepayers after the asset is no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service simply by keeping the asset as a utility asset rather than moving it to a non-utility account. Similarly, it would be illogical to require ratepayers to pay for ongoing operational costs of an asset while the utility waits for an improvement in market conditions in order to maximize potential gains or simply because the utility is unable to dispose of the property because of associated liabilities or market conditions.

- 320. Accordingly, retired assets that are not anticipated to be disposed of at approximately the same time that they are retired should be moved to a non-utility account where any ongoing costs associated with the assets would be for the account of the utility shareholder. Given that the Irma agency office has been retired and not disposed of, the Commission directs AG to move the Irma agency office to the applicable non-utility accounts effective January 1, 2011. Operating costs and other costs associated with the facility, to the extent there are any, will be for the account of the AG shareholder from and after January 1, 2011.
- 321. The Commission also considers that the above analysis with respect to the North Yard service centre and the application of the Harvest Hills decision is equally applicable to the value associated with the Irma agency office. The Commission notes that the Irma agency office ceased to be used or required to be used for utility service when the services it provided were relocated to the Viking service centre in 2010. There was a close connection between the retirement of the Irma agency office and the immediate resulting need to replace it as demonstrated by the relocation of the services provided at the Irma agency office to the Viking operations centre. However, there was no disposition of the Irma agency office at the time that the functions of that office were moved to the Viking operations center. Further, a disposition of the Irma agency office, given its net book value, would likely not be a sale outside of the ordinary course of business. In these circumstances, the Commission does not have the jurisdiction to either deem a sale of the Irma agency office effective at the time that the Viking operations center opened nor would it have the jurisdiction to attach the proceeds of sale even if there had been a sale at that time.
- 322. As discussed above in relation to the North Yard service centre, the Commission's ability to potentially attach a paragraph 77 Stores Block decision type of condition to sale proceeds of a utility asset arises only when all four criteria outlined in the Harvest Hills Decision are present. In the present situation, there has been no sale of a utility asset and any sale would not have been outside of the ordinary business of AG and accordingly, a Section 26(2)(d) *Gas Utilities Act* application would not have been required.
- 323. The Commission directs AG in the compliance filing to this decision to reflect the movement of the Irma agency office to a non-utility account as of January 1, 2011 and to reflect the removal of any operating or related costs associated with the facility as of that date.

4.5.5 Okotoks operating centre

324. AG indicated its intention in the application to construct a new operating centre in Okotoks. The new building is planned to have 14,000 square feet and would be large enough to accommodate current operational concerns and to service construction projects in the Okotoks area. The new operating centre was forecast to be occupied in 2012 at a cost of \$7.3 million in 2011 and \$4.0 million in 2012.

325. AG indicated that the existing Okotoks agency office which was completed in 1982 is no longer adequate to meet the agency needs. AG expressed its intention to relocate a number of field operations and construction staff in addition to the employees presently located in the Okotoks agency office, to the new operating centre. The operating centre would be used to perform the services previously made available through the agency office but would also be used to perform additional functions previously performed from other locations. Mr. Dixon on behalf of AG described the activities that were going to be relocated to the new operating centre in the following manner:

Just to describe what we're doing there, the existing office is an agency office that I described earlier where we've got approximately ten district service operators that are uniform guys that, you know, attend to gas odours inside your house and appliance checks. They don't have any heavy equipment of any kind.

There's no personnel in that office that can install pipe in the ground, do the heavy work. The new operating centre we're building in Okotoks is an operating centre, so it's going to have the ability to contain heavy equipment and the personnel that do that kind of work that we're moving out of overcrowded facilities elsewhere in the company, the maintenance depot up by the airport in Calgary and Midnapore operations centre, which is in south Calgary, because we find that Okotoks and that whole area is becoming so busy on the growth side that those crews that are required to go down there to install pipes to new homes down there on a pretty regular basis.

So it makes a lot more sense to get those installation crews located right in Okotoks, so that's what the new operation centre is. That's its purpose. Once it is built, it makes a lot of sense not to keep two buildings, to move the existing staff that were in the agency office, just move them into that operations centre.²⁴⁴

- 326. Mr. Dixon also confirmed that the Okotoks office would be closed when the personnel relocated to the new operations centre although the exact timing of the closure was not certain. He also confirmed that the Calgary depot and Midnapore operations centre would continue to be used after the relocation of certain personnel and equipment to Okotoks. In AUC-AG-31(a), AG indicated that the existing Okotoks agency office is forecasted to be retired with a net book value of \$255,000 when the new operating centre would be ready for occupancy in July 2012. The net book value of the agency office would be removed from rate base upon retirement. The assessed value for the Okotoks agency office for property tax purposes in 2009 was \$940,000.
- 327. None of the interveners commented about the need for the Okotoks operating centre, its forecasted costs or the proposed retirement of the existing agency office.

Commission findings

- 328. The Commission finds the rationale for the new Okotoks operations centre to be convincing and the forecast costs to be reasonable. The Commission approves the forecast costs for the test period.
- 329. With respect to the existing Okotoks agency office, the Commission considers that there is a close connection between the retirement of the agency office and the immediate resulting

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1250, line 6 to page 1251, line 4.

²⁴⁵ CCA-AG-8 (c).

²⁴⁶ CCA-AG-8 (g).

need to replace it as demonstrated by the planned relocation of the personnel and services provided at the agency office to the new Okotoks operations centre. Even though other functions will be performed at the new operations centre, all of the services presently performed at the agency office are being relocated to the new operations centre. In the Commission's view these facts might be sufficient under the criteria established in the Harvest Hills decision to attach the actual proceeds of disposition of the agency office if the eventual disposition is outside of the ordinary course of business and occurs relatively concurrently with the relocation of the functionality of the Okotoks agency office to the new Okotoks operations centre. This matter, however would have to be more fully reviewed should AG file a Section 26(1)(d) Gas Utilities Act application with the Commission. The application of such proceeds would be directed at reducing rates that customers would otherwise be required to pay.

330. Should the Okotoks agency office not be disposed of at approximately the same time as it is retired, AG is directed to move the asset to a non-utility account where further operating and capital costs would be for the account of the utility shareholder.

4.5.6 Drayton Valley operating centre

331. AG indicated its intention to replace the leased facility in Drayton Valley with a new operating centre that would be ready for occupancy just prior to the lease expiring on December 31, 2012. The new operating centre would have 5,900 square feet compared to the leased 3,100 square feet to accommodate growth and storage space requirements. The new operating centre was forecast to cost \$0.8 million in 2011 and \$4.5 million in 2012. The new facility is anticipated to be ready for occupancy in October 2012.

Views of the parties

- 332. The CCA considered that the new operating centre should not be considered to be used or required to be used until 2013 at the expiry of the current facility lease renewal. The CCA did not consider it appropriate that customers pay for the lease of the current facility and pay the ownership costs of the new proposed facility in the same test year. Accordingly, the CCA recommended that \$ 5.3 million be removed from 2012 rate base and deferred until 2013.²⁴⁷
- 333. AG noted in reply argument²⁴⁸ that it had indicated in the response to CCA-AG-12(a), that the Drayton Valley operating centre planned occupancy date was October 2012. However, that did not mean that AG could immediately evacuate the leased facility. The fact that the leased facility might not be totally vacated prior to the end of 2012 did not alter the need to start using the new operating centre prior to the end of 2012.

Commission findings

334. The Commission finds the rationale for the new Drayton Valley operating centre to be convincing and the forecasted costs to be reasonable. The Commission understands the CCA's concern with having the expenditures in revenue requirement related to two facilities that will, at least in part, be providing overlapping functions for a period of time. However, the Commission accepts AG's explanation that both facilities are likely to be accommodating activities at the same time as staff and equipment are moved from one location to the other toward the end of the lease term. The Commission also notes that with the possibility of unanticipated construction

²⁴⁷ CCA argument, page 9, paragraphs 20 and 21.

AG reply argument, page 18, paragraph 36.

delays it is reasonable to a have a short overlapping period when moving facilities. In these circumstances the Commission considers it reasonable to approve the forecasted costs for the test period.

4.6 Moveable equipment

4.6.1 Purchase of compressed natural gas (CNG) trailers

- 335. AG planned to purchase three used CNG trailers from ATCO Pipelines in 2011 at net book value and then purchase three additional new CNG trailers from an outside vendor (two in 2012) and to install refueling compression facilities in several communities for a total project capital cost of \$5.3 million. Included within its forecast for moveable equipment the total \$415,000 in 2011 would purchase the ATCO Pipelines trailers and in 2012 \$761,000 would purchase two new trailers. Also, after completing the design and permitting the compression for Fort McMurray and Grande Prairie in 2010 at a cost of \$126,000, AG proposed to spend \$1,466,000 in 2011 and \$1,414,000 in 2012 to complete the compressor installations in Fort McMurray, Grande Prairie, Lloydminster and Edson, and the engineering for Brooks.
- 336. AG has experienced several incidents in which large numbers of customers have lost gas service. The communities which were affected are referred to as single source communities. For most of these communities it is not economically feasible to provide a second source of supply to the community. As an alternative, an emergency gas supply source can be used to safely maintain service to the community. There are two main pieces to emergency gas supply infrastructure, CNG trailers and compressors used to fill the trailers.
- 337. An analysis of all outages in single source communities between 2001 and 2009 was completed and is included in Appendix 6 of Business Case 12. Ten incidents were found involving where 250 or more customers had lost service when the natural gas feed to the community was lost.
- 338. AG submitted that CNG trailers were required to provide emergency backup supply across the province to single source communities as an emergency gas supply.

Views of the parties

- 339. Calgary expressed concerns with the cost of integration of ATCO Pipelines and NGTL and recommended that the cost of the CNG trailers also be excluded.
- 340. The CCA considered that the CNG trailers purchased from ATCO Pipelines were related to transmission and should not be included in a distribution utility rate base. The CCA agreed with Calgary that these asset transfers should have been considered and raised by AG and ATCO Pipelines as part of the integration negotiations. The CCA viewed the CNG trailers as an alternative for when natural gas transmission was unavailable. Therefore the CNG trailers should continue to be considered an ATCO Pipelines asset.
- 341. The CCA recommended that the purchase of the CNG trailers should not be added to rate base. ACTO Pipelines should retain the asset to provide the alternative supply.
- 342. AG noted that no party filed evidence indicating that AG did not require CNG trailers to provide emergency backup supply across the province. AG also pointed out that it had identified the requirement in Business Case 12 to purchase six trailers to provide this emergency supply

capability. The business case also outlined that of the alternatives considered, the most cost effective solution was to purchase three existing trailers from ATCO Pipelines and purchase three additional new trailers. AG argued that regardless of whether AG purchased the three trailers from ATCO Pipelines, or it purchased them from a third party, AG still needed to make the purchase, and no party had filed evidence to demonstrate otherwise.

Commission findings

- 343. With respect to the CNG trailers, the Commission does not agree with the CCA that an isolated outage in a remote community would necessarily be the responsibility of the transmission company. There are no standards or regulations that make the transmission company responsible. Despite the small number of incidents experienced, the Commission accepts that there are risks of failure in communities with a single source supply and that the acquisition of portable trailers is a practical way to protect customers in the event of an extended outage or adverse weather conditions and approves the acquisition costs as forecast.
- Specifically, the Commission approves the purchase of the CNG trailers from ATCO Pipelines at book value as filed, and the forecasted expenditures for the refuling compressor facilities and the purchase of trailers from an outside vendor, which are to be located in several communities around the province.

4.6.2 Other moveable equipment

The remaining accounts in the moveable equipment category not dealt with above include 345. the following along with the actual and forecast expenditures indicated:²⁴⁹

		Actual		Forecast		
	2008	2009	2010	2010	2011	2012
		(\$ million)				
Transportation equipment	12.0	3.4	7.0	8.3	10.0	11.9
Tools and work equipment	2.6	1.0	1.7	2.4	2.6	2.5
Heavy work equipment	5.5	0.7	1.6	2.4	3.2	3.4
Garage, stores and shop equipment	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.6
Office furniture and equipment	1.8	0.6	1.1	0.7	0.7	0.7
Technical support equipment	0.4	<u>0.2</u>	<u>0.3</u>	0.3	0.3	0.3
Total	22.6	6.2	12.0	14.6	17.4	19.4

Table 16. Moveable equipment expenditures (in part)

Views of the parties

The CCA observed in 2010 that AG forecast \$14.7 million²⁵⁰ in the overall category of moveable equipment but actually spent \$12.1 million.²⁵¹ The over-forecast amount was

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-62(a), Attachment 1, page 8 of 11.

AG filing 2.1-36.

CCA-AG-14.

- \$2.6 million or 21 per cent.²⁵² AG was forecasting an increase from the 2010 actual level of expenditures of \$12.1 million to \$19.3 million for 2011 and \$21.6 million for 2012.²⁵³
- 347. The CCA expressed concern about the ability of AG to make reasonable forecasts in this category and recommended that 2011 and 2012 moveable equipment forecasts be reduced by 21 per cent.
- 348. The CCA also noted that AG forecast \$2.6 million²⁵⁴ in tools and work equipment but actually spent \$1.7 million in 2010.²⁵⁵ The over forecast amount was \$0.9 million or 53 per cent.²⁵⁶ AG was forecasting an increase from 2010 actual level of expenditures of \$1.7 million to \$2.6 million for 2011 and \$2.5 million for 2012.²⁵⁷ The CCA again expressed concerned about the ability of AG to make reasonable forecasts and recommended that 2011 and 2012 moveable equipment forecasts be reduced by 53 per cent.
- 349. The CCA noted further that AG forecast \$2.4 million²⁵⁸ in heavy work equipment but actually spent \$1.6 million in 2010.²⁵⁹ The over forecast amount was \$0.8 million or 50 per cent.²⁶⁰ AG was forecasting an increase from the 2010 actual level of expenditures of \$2.4 million to \$3.2 million for 2011 and \$3.4 million for 2012.²⁶¹
- 350. Again the CCA expressed concern about the ability of AG to make reasonable forecasts in this category and recommended that 2011 and 2012 heavy work equipment forecasts be reduced by 50 per cent.
- 351. AG took exception to the CCA's recommendations that a reduction be made to AG's forecasts for tools and work equipment and heavy work equipment based on the differences between the 2010 forecasts and actual results.²⁶²
- 352. AG noted in the rate base section above that the CCA recommendations with regard to the 2010 actual results had the following flaws:
 - By making a recommendation to reduce ATCO Gas' total capital expenditure forecast as well as individual recommendations for the same thing, the effect of the CCA's recommendation would be a double counting of that impact;
 - The fact that the CCA's individual recommendations only focus on those areas where the actual results were lower than forecast for 2010, the CCA is cherry-picking the 2010 actual results, and this makes the effect of the double counting even more significant;
 - ATCO Gas noted that the 2010 difference in total rate base was very insignificant (0.8%) and it would be inappropriate to focus on only one aspect of the rate base when considering the 2010 actual results.

²⁵² (12.1-14.7)/12.1.

²⁵³ CCA-AG-14.

AG filing 2.1-38.

²⁵⁵ CCA-AG-15.

 $^{^{256}}$ (1.7-2.6)/1.7.

²⁵⁷ CCA-AG-15.

²⁵⁸ AG filing 2.1-39.

²⁵⁹ CCA-AG-16.

²⁶⁰ (1.6-2.4)/16.

²⁶¹ CCA-AG-16.

²⁶² CCA argument, pages 9-10.

353. AG argued that the recommendations of the CCA on these individual areas of expenditure must be ignored for all the reasons noted above.

Commission findings

- 354. The Commission agrees with the CCA that there is a concern with the estimates and comparative spending between actual and forecast expenditures. While the Commission has not subscribed to the suggestion of the CCA to implement an across-the-board reduction to rate base, for the other moveable equipment being discussed, it does consider that rather than looking at specific components an overall adjustment could be made when dealing with small amounts. The Commission agrees with AG that the CCA's recommendation would be double counting. For example, the tools and work equipment expenditures are included in the moveable equipment expenditures.
- 355. Rather than an across the board reduction, the Commission prefers to use an escalation of past costs based on a three-year average of the actual expenditures in 2008, 2009 and 2010. AG has noted it has used a three-year average of past costs in other categories. In this case the three-year average applied across-the-board to all the accounts noted above in the table equals \$13.6 million. Allowing for inflation of three per cent, the amount approved for all the above accounts in 2011 is \$14.0 million and in 2012 is \$14.4 million. AG is directed to indicate in its compliance filing how it proposes to allocate the approved total amounts between the different accounts.

4.7 Information technology

Opening rate base

- 356. AG applied for approval of the January 1, 2011 opening rate base related to IT capital projects undertaken in the 2008 to 2010 period. The actual expenditures for IT capital were \$17.7 million in 2008, \$16.5 million for 2009, and \$8.2 million 2010. The forecast IT capital expenditures were \$9.1²⁶³ million for 2008, \$4.2²⁶⁴ million for 2009, and \$10 million in 2010.²⁶⁵
- 357. The major variances in IT opening rate base costs are in relation to SIBS (NGSIS Replacements) and Oracle Human Resources Excellence (HRX). For the SIBS project actual expenditures in 2008 and 2009 were \$1.8 million and \$5.0 million compared to forecasts of \$1.8 million and \$2.5 million for an actual amount in excess of approved forecast costs of \$2.7 million. AG explained that more hours were required to design and implement the system but no support was given for the extra hours and spending in Tabs 8.1 and 8.2 of the application.
- 358. The HRX project continued into the test period and is examined separately below.

Commission findings

359. The Commission acknowledges that expenditures in excess of the approved amounts in Decision 2008-113 could be due in part to the pricing determined in the Evergreen proceeding. The Commission finds that the over-expenditure on SIBS (NGSIS) replacements was not adequately explained in the application or supported in the analysis of variances provided in

Exhibit 3, AG application, Tab 8.1, Table 2.2.25.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Tab 8.2, Table 2.2.25.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Table 2.1.1 ATCO Gas (Total) – Historic and Forecast Expenditures, page 2.1-4.

Tabs 8.1 and 8.2. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to revise the SIBS amount to be included in opening rate base to the forecast approved in Decision 2008-113, adjusted for increases in price approved by this Commission.

360. The Commission approves the opening rate base for IT capital projects subject to changes for SIBS referred to in the preceding paragraph and the changes to opening rate base in respect of HRX discussed below.

Overview of IT capital projects

361. AG proposed forecast IT capital expenditures for new and existing programs for 2011 and 2012. The AG forecast capital expenditures for 2011 and 2012 are \$8.959 million and \$6.880 million respectively. The IT capital projects are described in the application²⁶⁶ and at Tab 4.2 I-Tek Forecast. Table 17, below from Tab 4.2, summarizes the IT capital projects and the forecast 2011 and 2012 costs:

Table 17. IT capital summary

ATCO Gas capital summary				
Projects	2011	2012		
ATCO CIS enhancements	\$950,000	\$625,000		
ATCO CIS VB to C#.Net Upgrade	\$225,000	\$0		
Capital budgeting	\$200,000	\$0		
DFSS development & enhancements	\$150,000	\$100,000		
DGIS enhancements	\$69,000	\$45,000		
Fleet management enhancements	\$0	\$60,000		
Graphics enhancements	\$150,000	\$155,000		
HRX development & enhancements	\$265,000	\$275,000		
IRIS development & enhancements	\$100,000	\$100,000		
IRS upgrade	\$500,000	\$0		
OFIN enhancements	\$200,000	\$200,000		
Oracle budgeting enhancements	\$120,000	\$100,000		
Oracle data warehouse (B.I.)	\$0	\$0		
Oracle database upgrade mid apps	\$505,000	\$78,000		
Oracle enterprise suite epgrade	\$2,748,000	\$0		
Reg. station upgrade	\$300,000	\$0		
SIBS enhancements	\$255,000	\$265,000		
Tariff billing enhancements	\$600,000	\$625,000		
Windows 7 & Office Upgrade	\$0	\$3,448,000		
Work management PDA replacement	\$841,000	\$0		
Work management PDA Enh.	\$181,000	\$179,000		
Work management enhancements	\$600,000	\$625,000		
Total	\$8,959,000	\$6,880,000		

²⁶⁶ Application, Section 2.1.1.8, pages 2.1-45 to 2.1-61.

- 362. In its application, AG outlined the need for the above IT capital projects including program upgrades to meet changing business needs and to ensure AG IT programs are vendor supported.
- The Commission will review the significant IT capital projects individually followed by a 363. consideration of the smaller projects collectively.

Views of the parties

- Calgary stated in evidence that AG's requested IT volumes for 2011 and 2012 should not be approved.²⁶⁷ AG did not provide adequate information to justify why the forecast capital volumes vary from year to year. The IT capital business cases did not quantify the IT capital or ongoing O&M unit volumes and cost breakdowns.
- 365. Calgary further stated in evidence that the IT capital business cases did not quantify the benefits to be realized or how to determine whether the benefits will be realized. ²⁶⁸ An IT capital budgeting process would demonstrate offsetting productivity benefits associated with new hardware and software. Calgary submitted that without the detail on unit volume forecasts for an IT project, it is not possible to know if upgrade costs were considered in the original GRA business case, statements of work, or supporting evidence.
- In reply argument AG responded to Calgary's recommendation that all IT capital volumes should not be approved, submitting that it had provided a full set of documentation on IT capital projects in its application and responses to IRs. AG also submitted that it had provided the historic actual volumes for 2008 to 2009 as well as the forecast volumes for 2010 to 2012 for both IT capital and O&M.

4.7.1 Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX or HRMS)

- 367. AG requested approval to include in January 1, 2011 opening rate base the capital costs associated with the Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRMS) which was also referred to as Oracle Human Resources Excellence (HRX). HRX is a fully integrated human resources (HR) information system. AG provided a business case dated August 26, 2009²⁶⁹ in support of its application. The business case indicated that this enterprise-wide application would replace the legacy systems in three functional areas: HR/benefits, payroll, and time and labour.
- AG's business case detailed forecast costs to implement HRX of \$16.1 million.²⁷⁰ AG reported actual HRX project costs of \$15.1 million for 2008 to 2010.
- AG also applied for approval of forecast HRX capital enhancement costs of \$0.3 million for each of 2011 and 2012.²⁷¹ AG was applying for the HRX project costs and the forecast HRX enhancement costs in this application.
- In 2000, the ATCO Group chose Oracle Corporation to provide enterprise wide application solutions for the ATCO group of companies, 272 including AG. 273 AG stated in cross-

²⁶⁷ Exhibit 109.02, Calgary evidence, page 31 and 43.

Ibid., page 33.

Exhibit 1, Tab Business Case 14, Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX).

Application, Business Case 14, page 21.

Exhibit 28, I-Tek Schedules for 2011-2012.

Exhibit 1, Tab Business Case 14, Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX), page 4, paragraph 3.

examination that the decision to add HRX was an ATCO Group decision and subject to IT governance of all ATCO companies, including ATCO I-Tek.²⁷⁴ AG commenced implementation of the HRX system in 2009 with completion in 2010.²⁷⁵ AG did not file a GRA in 2009 for approval of a revenue requirement for 2010 and therefore this is the first time the costs for this project have been before the Commission for approval.

371. AG stated that a fully integrated HR information system was required to respond to changing business needs and support future growth, including sustaining a high performance workforce in a competitive environment. The current human resource system and the related information systems no longer meet the functionality required by AG. In support of HRX²⁷⁶ AG stated that its existing HR related systems were in excess of 20 years old, built on aging technology and could not meet AG's business requirements without significant upgrades. The HRX system has the ability to integrate with the Oracle Financials suite of applications currently in use by the ATCO Group and will standardize the recording of employee data as well as automate and streamline HR processes. AG indicated that there would be significant business benefits in replacing multiple systems with one integrated system.

Views of the parties

- 372. Calgary stated in evidence that given this project was initiated in a non-test year, the Commission should assess the approval of the entire project and not only the capital additions in 2011 and 2012. Calgary also stated, "[t]he HRX Development and Enhancement business case does not contain operational volumes nor did it indicate any business or technology benefits" and therefore there was no basis for the forecast capital expenditures. Calgary recommended that the HRX of \$15.1 million and enhancement projects of \$0.3 million for 2011 and 2012 should not be approved until AG has filed a business case for the project costs by IT project unit volume, including AG's indirect costs. Calgary referred to Decision 2001-96²⁷⁸ which provided direction on the specific information to be included in business cases for capital projects. ²⁷⁹ In this decision, the Commission's predecessor, the EUB, requested further information from AG for all major capital projects including: a detailed justification including demand, energy and supply information, a breakdown of the project cost, the options considered and their economics, and a discussion of the need for the project. ²⁸⁰
- 373. Calgary requested that the Commission direct a post-implementation review of the HRX project and its enhancements in the next GRA.
- 374. Calgary in review of the HRX business case and the business case from AE 2007-2008 General Tariff Application (AE 2007-2008 GTA)²⁸¹ compared the capital costs of the project to

Transcript, Volume 3, pages 600 to 605, and Volume 4, pages 619 to 630.

Calgary argument, pages 55 to 56.

Application, Section 2.1.1.8, page 2.1-49, paragraph 140 states that final c ompletion of HRX was forecast for 2010. Exhibit 1, Tab Business Case 14, Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX) details that HRX went live by January 1, 2010 with post-implementation support occurring in the first quarter of 2010.

²⁷⁶ Ibid., pages 2.1-49 to 2.1-50.

Exhibit 109.02, Calgary evidence of April 7, 2011, page 52.

Decision 2001-96: ATCO Gas South, 2001/2002 General Rate Application, Phase I, Application No. 2000350, File No. 1307-1, December 12, 2001.

²⁷⁹ Exhibit 109.02, page 34.

Decision 2001-96, pages 28-29.

Decision 2007-071: ATCO Electric Ltd. 2007-2008 General Tariff Application – Phase I, Application No, 1485740, September 22, 2007.

the proposed Sum Total Talent Management System (TMS) discussed later in this decision. Calgary submitted in argument that:

...based upon the evidence provided with respect to TMS, it is clear that the cost of the ATCO HRMS is grossly over priced. Therefore, Calgary submits that the amount to be included in the opening rate base for HRMS should not exceed \$3.8 million on the basis that if the cost of TMS is 4x too much, it is likely that the cost of HRMS is 4x too much. ²⁸² (footnote omitted)

- 375. Calgary argued that its recommendation that costs should not exceed \$3.8 million was consistent with the forecast cost of HRMS, approved in the ATCO Electric (AE) decision²⁸³ adjusted for staff counts.²⁸⁴ Calgary also stated that absent the I-Tek affiliate relationship, it was likely the cost to AG of implementing and setting up the HRMS would have been about 25 per cent of the \$15 million claimed by AG.
- 376. AG submitted in argument that Calgary had confirmed in testimony that it was not disputing IT volumes related to capital projects, but that the HRX volumes should not be approved, until AG had demonstrated further benefits of HRX.²⁸⁵ AG argued that this was inconsistent with the position that Calgary had outlined in its response to AUC-CAL-8 which had not identified that Calgary was requesting any adjustments to the IT capital volumes in AG's forecast.
- 377. Calgary reiterated that the decision to move to HRX was an ATCO Group decision and was subject to IT governance of all the ATCO companies.²⁸⁶ In its business case, AG did not consider alternative deployment options such as software as a service (SaaS), as outlined for TMS in the HRchitect Report,²⁸⁷ or any business or technology benefits. Calgary stated that if the only purpose of the software was to replace the existing legacy software, there would be no need for a business case.
- 378. Calgary stated that HRMS was not the complete solution to AG's human resources management needs as another \$2 million would need to be spent on TMS.²⁸⁸ Calgary argued AG has not met its onus with respect to the cost of the HRX project.²⁸⁹
- 379. In reply AG argued that there was nothing on the record to support Calgary's position that HRX was overpriced and that Calgary's position was based on speculation. Calgary, by relying on the HRX business case from the AE 2007-2008 GTA, had developed its position on a business case that was filed in a different proceeding some four years ago. AG stated, "Calgary has not provided any evidence that actual HRX costs were imprudently incurred."²⁹⁰

²⁸² Calgary argument, page 22.

Decision 2011-134: ATCO Electric Ltd. 2011-2012 Phase I Distribution Tariff, 2011-2012 Transmission Facility Owner Tariff, Application No. 1606228, Proceeding ID. 650, April 13, 2011.

Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, page 22.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1616, lines 7-10.

Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, pages 55 to 57 and Exhibit 214.02, Calgary reply argument, page 11.

Exhibit 0192.04, Revised HRchitect Report (Implementing Human Capital Management Systems) dated May 31, 2011.

Exhibit 214.02, Calgary reply argument, page 21.

Exhibit 214.02, Calgary reply argument, page 12.

AG reply argument, page 44.

380. AG argued that the actual costs for this system were accepted into opening PP&E as part of the recent ATCO Electric General Tariff Application Decision 2011-134²⁹¹ and the Commission's decisions on HRX should be consistent

Commission findings

- 381. AG's evidence indicated that its existing HR related systems were in excess of 20 years old and they were built on aging technology which would require significant upgrades to meet ongoing business needs. The Commission accepts that AG's HR legacy systems did not have the capability to accommodate its ongoing business requirements. The Commission also accepts that Oracle HRX is an appropriate replacement program as noted by AG in its business case. The increased functionality and business benefits have been sufficiently supported by the HRX business case. The Commission also accepts that the Oracle HRX system is an enterprise system that AG uses to interface with a number of other programs.
- 382. The Commission notes and accepts AG's statement in the HRX business case that:²⁹²
 Generally the application cost only represents approximately 15%-25% of the total cost of implementing enterprise applications.
- 383. The Commission understands that the one time licensing fee of \$390,000 in the business case is the cost of the HRX application.²⁹³ Applying the above guideline for enterprise projects, leads to a total capital cost range of \$1.6 million to \$2.6 million.
- 384. Calgary submitted based on the report of its IT consultant that as the TMS program was four times more expensive than the IT consultant recommended, that the HRX program cost was likely four times more expensive and should be reduced to \$3.8 million.
- 385. The Commission has replicated Calgary's forecast of HRX based on the business case provided in the ATCO Electric proceeding adjusted for staff counts and estimates a forecast project cost of \$9.6 million. The Commission notes AG's comment that the AE business case was four years old but finds that the business case was dated May 2008, the year in which the project commenced. The Commission considers the AE business case is the best information on the record regarding the forecast cost of HRX.
- 386. The Commission finds the actual cost of \$15.1 million to be in excess of these three cost estimates. The Commission also recognizes that the estimates undertaken are imprecise and accordingly relies on them as directional guidance. The Commission has reviewed the business cases of ATCO Electric and AG and other evidence on the record and determines that a 10 per cent cost reduction in the actual costs of HRX is warranted. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to reduce the actual cost of HRX in its opening rate base by 10 per cent.

4.7.2 Sum total talent management system (TMS)

387. As part of its April 21, 2011 application update, AG filed a business case proposing the implementation of TMS to be integrated with AG's existing human resource talent management

²⁹¹ Decision 2011-134, page 19.

²⁹² Tab 4.2 Business Case 14, Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX), page 18.

²⁹³ Ibid., page 21.

system.²⁹⁴ The project was scheduled to commence in March 2011.²⁹⁵ TMS was proposed to address AG's performance management, succession planning, employment, workforce planning, and compensation management needs. AG stated that the system would enhance its ability to retain and develop staff, enable better management decisions through access to talent management data, improve existing talent management processes, measure key talent management performance indicators, reduce reliance on manual processes, and enhance human resources reporting requirements.²⁹⁶ During the oral hearing Mr. Schmidt on behalf of AG confirmed that TMS is an enterprise application.²⁹⁷

- 388. AG requested that it be allowed to update its 2011 capital expenditure forecast to include the estimated \$2 million forecast capital cost of TMS and to increase its O&M by \$0.1 million in 2011 and \$0.4 million in 2012.²⁹⁸
- 389. The business case provided a breakdown of the \$2 million forecast capital expenditure including the acquisition of five modules;²⁹⁹ and implementation of two of the modules, performance management and succession planning. A separate business case is to be prepared for the other modules after the implementation of the first two modules is completed and AG is satisfied with the functionality of the software.³⁰⁰ AG stated that the forecast annual cost benefit arising from the performance management and succession planning modules was in the range of \$561,000 to \$775,000.³⁰¹
- 390. In testimony, AG advised that it would revise the forecast capital expenditure to exclude the three modules for which a business case had not yet been prepared.³⁰²
- 391. AG's forecast 2011 capital costs, before adjustment for the three modules that may be implemented at a later date are provided in the in the following table:³⁰³

Exhibit 118.01, AG application update Attachment 1.

AG confirmed that ATCO I-Tek on behald of all ATCO companies, has entered into an agreement with SumTotal for the TMS system in March 2011 in CAL-AG-63(i) at Exhibit 162.02, page 6.

Exhibit 118.01, application update, Attachment 1, page 7.

Transcript, Volume 4, page 630, line 19-23.

Exhibit 118.01, Attachment 2, page 26.

The five modules outlined in the business case include: performance management, success planning, employment, workforce planning and compensation management, Ibid. page 8.

ATCO has stated in response to our IR, AUC-AG-112(c) that the implementation of the two modules is October 2011.

Exhibit 118.01. Attachment 2, page 17.

Exhibit 203.01, AG argument, paragraph 84, page 34.

³⁰³ Ibid., page 25.

Table 18.	TMS capital estimate
Table 10.	I IVIO Cabital Estilliate

Phase I -business requirements, RFP process		\$54,000
Phase II - implementation costs		
I-Tek PM & oversight	\$130,000	
Modules: performance management and succession planning	\$145,000	
Travel & expenses	\$15,000	
Technical/Infrastructure personnel	\$650,000	
I-Tek sub total	\$940,000	\$940,000
Change management (client team)	\$50,000	
Client sub total	\$50,000	\$50,000
Vendor implementation	\$225,000	
License costs	\$390,000	
Travel expenses	\$30,000	
Vendor sub total	\$645,000	\$645,000
ITEK contingency vendor contingency	\$200,000	
Vendor contingency	\$125,000	
Contingency sub total	\$325,000	\$325,000
Total forecast capital costs		\$2,014,000

392. AG requested that the Commission approve the capital expenditures for this project and the related O&M billing unit costs for the test years.³⁰⁴

Views of the parties

393. Calgary provided a review of AG's TMS business case by HRchitect.³⁰⁵ Calgary stated in its written evidence that the cost of TMS as proposed is approximately 75 per cent more expensive than necessary.³⁰⁶ This was corrected at the oral hearing to 94 per cent higher.³⁰⁷ Calgary proposed that only three-eighths of the cost of acquiring the license should be included in rate base and the remainder of approximately \$243,750 should be put in plant held for future use since only two of the modules will be in service during the test period.

394. Calgary stated in argument that the ATCO Group was aware in 2010 that TMS would be implemented and that the software had been acquired before the business case was filed by AG. ATCO I-Tek proposed to use an application service provider (ASP) deployment model where a third party firm hosts, manages and upgrades the application software.³⁰⁸ Mr. Hanscome on behalf of HRchitect expressed the opinion that a SaaS deployment model where the vendor manages customizes and configures capabilities tailored to customer needs would have been

Exhibit 118.01, AG April 21, 2011 application update, business case talent management system.

Exhibit 192.04, revised HRchitect Inc. Report dated May 31, 2011.

Revised Addendum 2 to Calgary's evidence, page 2, dated May 31, 2011.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1621, lines 10-18.

Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, page 24.

preferable. According to the HRchitect report, a SaaS model allows for greater data security and privacy. ³⁰⁹ Calgary stated that if the ATCO Group was truly seeking the lowest cost provider consistent with security, confidentiality and privacy, it would require ATCO I-Tek to match the price of a SaaS system.

- 395. Calgary submitted that the review and evidence on TMS provided by Mr. Hanscome on behalf of HRchitect should be given more weight than that of AG's IT consultant, as Mr. Hanscome is the only human resources information technology specialist on record. Calgary identified three major differences between the HRchitect report and AG's business case:³¹⁰
 - the evaluation and selection of TMS would require future enhancement work, apparently influenced by ATCO I-Tek
 - the costs associated with TMS were excessive for certain components
 - the productivity benefits of TMS were overstated
- 396. Calgary stated that the 2011 capital costs should be reduced to \$500,000, with cost reductions in three areas: the purchase of software, use of a third party consultant and I-Tek labour hours.
- 397. Calgary also took issue with the projected annual operating costs for TMS of \$0.1 million in 2011 and \$0.4 million in 2012.³¹¹ HRchitect suggested that the costs should be for a partial year in 2011, operating costs should be \$77,000, and for a full year in 2012, operating cost should be \$108,000.³¹²
- 398. AG submitted in argument that it had included forecast capital and O&M costs related to the implementation of TMS in its update filing of April 21, 2011, and that the forecasts were supported by a business case included in that filing. AG submitted that Calgary had indicated in the course of the oral hearing that AG should proceed with the implementation of TMS. AG submitted that it was important to note that Mr. Hanscome agreed that the selection of SumTotal as the vendor software was a reasonable choice.³¹³
- 399. AG argued that the HRchitect report was based on a generic and high level analysis rather than an analysis of the specific functional and security requirements of AG. Further, the HRchitect analysis for costing was based on an amalgam of vendors. AG submitted that the forecast capital and operating costs related to TMS should be approved as filed.
- 400. AG submitted in argument that Mr. Hanscombe had acknowledged that the HRchitect report was not a business case specific to the circumstances of AG.³¹⁴

Ibid., Attachment 2.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1622, lines 17-25.

Calgary argument, pages 23 to 25.

³¹⁰ Ibid., page 26 to 27.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1620, lines 12-17, page 1621, lines 4-9 and lines 19-24 and Exhibit 203.01, AG argument, page 34, paragraph 36.

AG argument, page 35, paragraph 88.

- 401. Calgary noted that Mr. Hanscome had explained in testimony³¹⁵ his views why the AG HR business requirements were not specific or unique. Mr. Hanscome stated:
 - 5 A. MR. HANSCOME: A certain percentage of a
 - 6 company's individual business requirements are key to
 - 7 implementing a TMS. Our rule of thumb in approaching these
 - 8 engagements is that human resources or talent management
 - 9 particular requirements are at a minimum 80 percent across
 - 10 industry, that these capabilities are common to HR. HR is HR
 - 11 is HR at about 80 percent level. There's about 10 to 15
 - 12 percent of a requirement that may be related to a particular
 - 13 industry segment, regulated industries or utilities, and an
 - 14 additional 5 to 10 percent that are unique to the culture and
 - 15 the individual aspects, the uniqueness of the organization.
- 402. Calgary raised concerns about the timing of the filing of the business case. Calgary argued that the TMS project, like HRX and other IT projects, did not meet all the project criteria in Decision 2001-96 and that AG had not met its statutory onus. In support of this statement, Calgary argued that AG did not consider; all the security options addressed in the HRchitect Report, that the HRchitect Report provided insight on why some IT project estimates from I-Tek were high, and that the HRchitect report contained more detailed benefit information.³¹⁶
- 403. In reply AG argued that it would not have been able to reasonably estimate the cost of TMS until the project scope and statements of work were completed in March 2011. HRchitect did not have access to AG's business requirements and it takes time to find vendors and review their proposals to assess which vendor and software to select. HRchitect's analysis is based on a SaaS model and AG excluded this model as it did not meet AG's functional and security requirements. AG argued that the evidence it filed supported the need for TMS and the selection of an ASP deployment model.

Commission findings

- 404. AG indicated that it took a modular approach to assessing and implementing the HRX and TMS systems and AG prepared stand alone business cases for these systems. Although the two software programs both address human resources business needs, the Commission will assess the TMS proposal independently of HRX.
- 405. The Commission notes that the TMS program itself is being implemented in a modular fashion. The business case addresses only two of the five purchased modules; performance management and succession planning.
- 406. Neither Mr. Hanscome nor Mr. Stephens for Calgary objected to the selection of either sum total as a vendor or to the TMS system. They did, however, object to the forecasted costs. This position is reflected in the following exchanges with Commission counsel:
 - Q. However, you still seem to suggest that the choice of SumTotal TMS system was the correct one even with these problems; is that right?

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1550, lines 5-15.

Calgary's reply argument, page 14.

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument, page 45, paragraph 103.

- A. MR. HANSCOME: Yes. My issue is not with the choice of the vendor who is certainly a major player in the talent management systems marketplace.³¹⁸
- Q. So again Calgary is not objecting to the selection of TSM [sic]; is that correct sir?
- A. MR. STEPHENS: No.
- Q. It's the cost associated with it that you have an issue with?
- A. MR. STEPHENS: It's the capital cost to implement it and the ongoing operations cost.³¹⁹
- 407. The Commission accepts AG's evidence that the performance management and succession planning modules of TMS will be of assistance in meeting the human resources business needs of AG identified in the TMS business case. AG has quantified the productivity benefits for the implementation of the two modules and the Commission finds the analysis supports the business case.
- 408. In the oral hearing Ms. Wilson,³²⁰ on behalf of AG and as confirmed in AG's argument,³²¹ stated that it was prepared to amend its TMS forecast to only include the capital cost of the two modules which will be implemented in the test years. The Commission finds that the evidence of Calgary and the HRchitect report support a reduction in the forecast TMS deployment and installation costs. In assessing the proposed costs the Commission notes that AG confirmed that TMS is an enterprise application. In these circumstances, the Commission considers that it should assess the total costs of the TMS program for the performance management and succession planning modules, regardless whether a SaaS or an ASP deployment model is used, relative to the application cost ratio of 15 per cent to25 per cent³²² of total implementation cost that was identified in the HRX business case for enterprise applications.
- 409. The Commission considered the confirmation from Mr. Hanscome that TMS is a reasonable system, as well as the recommendations of the HRchitect report that the costs for AG's deployment and turnover of the first two modules were high. AG confirmed that it had not been able to reasonably estimate the cost of TMS until the project scope and statements of work were completed in March 2011.
- 410. The Commission considers the HRchitect report which assumes a different platform, is helpful in providing directional guidance. Similarly, the Commission considered the 15 to 25 per cent application cost to total cost ratio as put forward by AG in the HRX business case. This analysis also provided directional guidance for a reduction in forecast costs for TMS. AG had agreed to address in testimony and rebuttal to remove the costs of the three TMS modules that will not be implemented in the test years. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to only include the forecast costs of the two modules to be implemented in the test years; performance management and succession planning. For all other costs in the business case, the Commission finds that in consideration of all the evidence before it, the TMS project is approved but that the forecast capital costs should be reduced by 10 per cent.
- 411. The Commission is satisfied with the evidence provide by AG with respect to increased operating costs and approves the applied for increases to O&M by \$0.1 million in 2011 and

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1620, lines 12-17.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1621, line 22 to page 1622, line 3.

³²⁰ Ibid., page 657.

Exhibit 203, page 34, paragraph 84.

Business Case 14, paragraph 28.

\$0.4 million in 2012. The Commission notes that all ATCO I-Tek costs are placeholders pending determination in the ongoing 2010 Evergreen proceeding.

4.7.3 Other IT projects

Background

412. AG has submitted business cases numbered 15 to 20 related to other IT projects. AG addressed certain additional IT projects, which were not supported by business cases, in the application. Calgary disputed the capital costs of two of the IT projects that were supported by business cases, and questioned the need for CIS enhancements generally with specific reference to tariff billing enhancements.

Views of the parties

- 413. The general views of the parties were summarized in Section 4.7. Some key points relevant to this section are repeated here. Calgary argued that AG had not quantified the benefits of these programs and how the benefits would be realized. Calgary stated that there was not adequate information to justify the forecast volume variance from year to year and argued that the requested IT volumes should not be approved. In reply Calgary stated that AG had not met the capital project criteria in Decision 2001-96 and AG had not met its statutory onus in relation to its IT capital expenditures.
- 414. In reply argument AG stated that it had provided a full set of documentation on IT capital projects,³²⁴ including historical actual volumes and forecast volumes.

Summary of business cases

Instrument record system (IRS) (Business Case 15)

415. In Business Case 15 AG is applying for approval of a \$0.5 million project to develop a new IRS stand alone database in Oracle to replace the existing IRS program. The IRS database documents all activities related to the pressure and temperature corrector fleet. AG must keep instrument records as long as the instrument is operating in the field and all inspection information must be retained for seven years after the instrument is retired. AG stated that its existing IRS, which was developed in [Microsoft] Access in 2000 has reached a size where it has become unreliable and needs replacement. In addition IRS cannot be used over the company's intranet. The new Oracle platform will meet user requirements in the future, allow for access by remote users, and alleviate slow response issues. The forecast capital cost to create an IRS stand alone database on Oracle is \$0.5 million and is proposed for 2011. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, page 15 of 16 to the application indicates the project will require 2088 units of labour at a cost of \$0.3 million in 2011 and a software licensing cost of \$0.2 million.

Oracle E Business (Business Case 16)

416. Business Case 16 is an application for approval of the Oracle E-Business Suite Upgrade (also referred to as the Oracle Enterprise Suite Upgrade or Oracle E). The purpose of this upgrade is to ensure AG's Oracle suite of products remain supported. Support for the current

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument, page 49 (PDF 51/143).

Exhibit 109.02, Calgary evidence, page 33.

See application, Section 2.1.1.8, page 2.1-51 and Tab 2.1, Business Case 15, Instrument Record System, pages 5 and 6.

version of Oracle E-Business Suite ends in 2013.³²⁶ Oracle has issued a new version of Oracle E-Business Suite and the proposed upgrade will ensure that support is continued beyond 2013. The Oracle E-Business Suite is used by other applications within AG including Oracle Financial and HRX. AG stated that updating the suite is necessary to keep the Oracle systems integrated, reduce security threats, increase functionality for sub-ledger accounting and taxes, and to gain other improvements to strategic sourcing, human capital management, the inventory system and warehouse management. The total capital cost in 2011 for the new version of Oracle E-Business Suite is forecast at \$2.7 million. The business case does not distinguish software costs from implementation costs but indicated that the upgrade costs were comprised of software fees to Oracle and labour costs associated with ATCO I-Tek and Oracle consultant effort to configure and implement the upgrade. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, page 15 of 16 to the application indicates the project will require 19,130 units of labour at a cost of \$2.748 million in 2011. Accordingly, there does not appear to be an Oracle licensing cost for the upgrade.

Views of the parties

417. Calgary stated in evidence that the forecast I-Tek volumes and costs for the Oracle E-Business Suite Upgrade have not been quantified in terms of related productivity benefits. The original business case submitted in the AG 2005-2007 GRA application did not include this 2011 upgrade. Calgary submitted that AG should have provided some quantification of the benefits of the re-architecting of the financial modules and other areas that were to benefit as a result of the new project including HR, procurement and spending analytics. Calgary stated that AG's request for the Oracle E-Business Suite Upgrade was not supported as the benefits were not quantified, was premature because the current software support does not expire until 2013, and that there was insufficient evidence to justify the I-Tek volumes and costs.

Oracle mid-size applications (Business Case 17)

418. AG is applying for an Oracle 11 Upgrade for mid-sized applications to support databases for a number of mid-sized distributed applications. The business case includes forecast capital costs of \$20,000 in 2010; \$505,000 in 2011 and \$78,000 in 2012. These costs are to implement the software as the upgraded database software is included in the annual software license fees. AG stated in the business case that Oracle will withdraw support for its Oracle 10g in July 2013. AG states that if it does not implement this upgrade, there is an increased level of risk for several of its distributed applications, many of which are essential to AG's operations. The new version would allow for a data recovery advisor, would increase application performance, and would provide the implementation of improved diagnostic tools to prevent application outages. The upgrade would affect multiple databases. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, pages 14 to 16 to the application indicates the project requires 142 units of labour at a cost of \$20,000 in 2010, 3,515 units of labour at a cost of \$78,000 in 2012.

Application, Tab 2.1, Business Case, Oracle E-Business Suite R12 Upgrade, page 4.

Business Case 16 at Volume 2.2 (Tab 2.1) page 2 states the end of support occurs July 2013. In paragraph 148 of the application, AG says the support will be withdrawn as of January 1, 2012.

Application Tab 2.1, Business Case 17, Oracle Version 10G to 11 Upgrade Mid Sized Applications indicated the following databases would be affected: Distributed Gas Information System, Meter Proving System, PC Automate, Industry Dialogue Manager, Imbalance Reporting Information System, Client Management Module, Fleet Management (FAA Suite), Graphic Information Viewer (DRIV), Khalix, Landman, Premier Plus 4 (Itron), Trim Records Management, and Daily Forecast and Settlement System.

Windows 7 and MS Office 2010 (Business Case 18)

- 419. AG submitted Business Case 18 for a "Workstation Operating System Upgrade (Windows 7 and Office 2010)." AG provided two reasons in support of this business case: Microsoft has announced that support for Windows XP will end in April 2014 and AG predicted that new versions of many applications will no longer be compatible with XP starting in 2010 and becoming more common by 2012.³²⁹
- 420. AG expects to commence the Windows 7.0 and Office 2010 upgrade early in 2012 and to complete it by year end. AG stated that there was really no other viable option as it had to move off end of life software platforms prior to them being discontinued.³³⁰ AG noted that Windows 7.0 has improved security and a number of other benefits. AG forecasts total costs of \$3,445,600 for capital costs and \$215,250 for operating and maintenance costs. Capital costs are further detailed as \$2,745,000 for 1,220 computers (\$2,250 each) plus related upgrade costs of \$915,850. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, page 16 to the application expressed the costs for the project as labour costs of \$3,107,000 and \$341,000 in licensing costs. Labour units are not provided.

Software enhancements to work management system (Business Case 19)

- 421. In Business Case 19 AG is applying for enhancements to the work management system implemented in October 2009. AG stated that the 2011 and 2012 enhancements to two work management software programs, Ventyx Service Suite 8.0 (Ventyx) and Maximo 6.2.3 (Maximo), would improve operational efficiencies through automatic features and provide a stable platform for future software and hardware upgrades.³³¹
- 422. The first enhancement proposed for 2011 at a cost of \$600,000 is related to the dispatch/mobile applications. The current version of the Ventyx software will not be supported after September 2011. AG stated that the new version Ventyx 8.1.2 is compatible with the next generation of proposed hardware for field staff, the personal data assistant (PDA). The new version of the software has a number of operational enhancements for order notations and cancellations, tracking unauthorized usage, managing return mail and mass printing functions.
- 423. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, pages 14 to 16 to the application indicates that the Ventyx enhancement project requires 4,100 units of labour at a cost of \$589,000 in 2011.
- 424. AG is also seeking approval for an upgrade in 2012 to the Maximo software used for order management at a forecast cost of \$625,000. AG estimates that support will end in the fourth quarter of 2012 although the vendor has not announced an official support deadline. An upgraded version will automate the creation of work orders to complete site visits at idle premises for the annual idle inspection program, automate printing to re-assigned print locations for employees preferring paper and display warning notes on work orders for potential areas of concern on the premises e.g. dog or a locked fence.
- 425. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, pages 14 to 16 to the application indicates that the Maximo enhancement requires 4185 units of labour at a cost of \$614,000 in 2012.

Application Tab 2.1, Business Case 17, Workstation Operating System Upgrade (Windows 7 and Office 2010) page 5, paragraph 6.

Ibid., pages 5 to 6, paragraph 8.

Application Tab 2.1, Business Case 19, Software Enhancements to Work Management Systems for years 2011 and 2012, page 7.

Views of the parties

426. In evidence Calgary observed that the work management enhancements project had a post implementation review. Calgary stated that the Work Management Phase II Post-Implementation Review³³² conducted in May 2010 report indicated an actual capital cost of the project of \$17 million compared to a forecast capital budget of \$13.5 million, or a 26 per cent overrun. Calgary submitted that AG had failed to demonstrate through a detailed revenue requirement analysis whether there was a benefit to ratepayers. Calgary submitted that there are no quantified benefits to justify the forecast I-Tek volumes and costs. Calgary stated that Business Case 19 described the majority of the capital costs to be software where AG's forecast IT capital schedule³³³ indicated the costs are nearly all I-Tek labour. Calgary concluded that this conflicting data makes it impossible for Calgary to accept the forecast I-Tek volumes in the IT capital schedule.

2010/2011 personal digital assistants (PDA) replacement project (Business Case 20)

427. In Business Case 20 AG is requesting approval to replace the existing PDAs. AG stated that PDAs are required to allow AG's distribution operation service employees to complete work orders involving residential, commercial, and industrial customers and to communicate with the dispatching system for maintenance, emergency and non-emergency service calls. AG stated that production of the current PDAs was discontinued in 2007 and that the devices are unsupported. The business case identifies the forecast capital cost of PDA replacements as \$1.8 million in 2011, and \$0.1 million in 2012. In an IR AG clarified that actual capital costs in 2011 were \$1.7 million.³³⁴ Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, pages 15 and 16 to the application indicated the project will require 377 units of labour at a cost of \$53,000 and 174 units of labour at a cost of \$25,000 in 2012.

Other projects addressed in the application

428. AG is applying for approval of costs for enhancements to the customer information system (CIS). AG stated that the CIS application is critical to billings and payments. AG further stated that the update is needed in response to demands on AG to collect, manage, and use data to ensure compliance with external clients and agencies such as the Commission and to meet internal needs for billing. Forecast costs for the CIS enhancements are \$950,000 for 2011 and \$625,000 for 2012. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, pages 15 and 16 to the application indicated the project requires 4,295 units of labour at a cost of \$617,000 and 57,813 units of processing at a cost of \$333,000 in 2011. In 2012, 2,769 units of labour at a cost of \$406,250 and 38,377 units of processing at a cost of \$218,750 are required.

429. AG is applying for approval of costs for further changes to CIS related to the tariff billing code. AG stated that these updates are required to comply with EUB Directive 012 Alberta Tariff Billing Code. The costs of the tariff billing code project are forecast as \$600,000 in 2011 and \$625,000 in 2012. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, pages 15 and 16 to the application indicated the project requires 2715 units of labour at a cost of \$390,000 and 36,458 units of processing at a cost of \$210,000 in 2011. In 2012, 2769 units of labour at a cost of \$406,250 and 38,377 units of processing at a cost of \$218,750 are required.

Exhibit 94.01, Work Management Phase II Post Implementation Review, May 2010, page 4 (PDF 38).

³³³ Exhibit 28.00.

³³⁴ AUC-AG-79c.

³³⁵ Exhibit 28, page 1 of 16.

Now AUC Rule 004: Alberta Tariff Billing Code Rules, Version 1.4, as of January 2, 2008.

- 430. A third CIS project for which approval of costs is requested is the proposal to update from Visual Basic 6 (VB6), which cannot handle large data loads to C#.NET. Vendor support for VB6 ended in 2008. The forecast 2011 cost to update to VB6 is \$225,000. AG stated that it has identified 103 programs in current use that will require this conversion. This project is related to the Windows 7.0 upgrade project as C#.NET is compatible with the Windows 7.0 operating system. Tab 4-2, Attachment 1, pages 15 and 16 to the application indicated the project requires 1018 units of labour at a cost of \$146,250 and 13672 units of processing at a cost of \$78,700 in 2011.
- 431. In addition to the above IT projects, AG has requested approval of forecast capital expenditures in the amount of \$\$1.66 million and \$0.62 million for 2011 and 2012 respectively for additional minor IT capital projects identified in Table 19 below. These additional programs include a capital budgeting system, a daily forecast and settlement system, graphics enhancements, an imbalance reporting information system, a regulating facilities application upgrade, service initiation and billing system and enhancements to other distributed applications.
- 432. In Table 19 below is a summary of the cost for various other minor IT projects forecast during the test years.

\$(000)	2011	2012
Capital budgeting	200	
DFSS development and enhancements	150	100
Graphics enhancements	150	155
IRIS development and enhancements	100	100
IRIS upgrade	500	
Reg. station upgrade	300	
SIBS enhancements	255	265

Table 19. Various smaller IT project forecasts

Views of the parties

Total

433. In evidence Calgary submitted information provided by AG with respect to CIS enhancements.³³⁷ AG indicated that there were three to five enhancement projects in each of the years 2007 though the forecast year of 2012.³³⁸ Calgary stated that these enhancement projects only include costs and no unit volumes. Also, the differences in dollars from year to year are difficult to determine. The costs for CIS enhancements are not justified due to the lack of quantifiable benefits and insufficient data for I-Tek volumes.

1655

620

Exhibit 109.02, Tables 4 and 5 pages 46 to 48.

AG's responses to the list of capital projects are found in Exhibits 82.01 CAL-AG-22 and 84.01 AUC-AG-43 and AUC-AG-79.

Commission findings

- 434. Decision 2001-96³³⁹ requires that all major capital projects should include a detailed justification including demand, energy and supply information, a breakdown of the project cost, the options considered and their economics, and a discussion of the need for the project. The Commission continues to consider that these requirements are still in effect for the analysis of utility business cases.
- 435. For some proposed projects, the Commission found AG's business cases sufficient to justify proceeding with the projects. Consequently, the Commission will first consider whether the business case or application, supports proceeding with the capital project. Where the Commission finds support for a project, it will approve the project in principle and move to a discussion of the reasonability of the forecast labour and processing unit volumes and the forecast cost to be included as a placeholder in revenue requirement. The Commission notes that the approved forecast costs for 2011 and 2012 will be placeholders, subject to price adjustment after the 2010 Evergreen³⁴⁰ proceeding. Actual capital costs incurred in implementing a project at the volumes approved in this proceeding at the prices approved in the 2010 Evergreen proceeding will be subject to Commission review for prudence when AG next applies to have the actual costs included in opening PP&Eaccounts.
- 436. The Commission finds that Business Case 15 for IRS database supports AG proceeding with the project. As the current system has been in place since 2000 and the new system will provide increased functionality the Commission considers it is reasonable to approve this project.
- 437. The Commission finds that the proposed update to Oracle E in Business Case 16 is premature. A major argument in support of this business case is that support of the current version of Oracle E will end in 2013. The Commission agrees with Calgary that the need for this project has not been demonstrated as the current software support does not expire until 2013 and the benefits were not quantified. For these reasons the Commission denies the application for this business case and directs that the forecast costs related to this business case should be removed from its revenue requirement in the compliance filing for this application.
- 438. Business Case 17 for oracle mid-size is proposed based on the fact that support of the current version will end in July 2013.³⁴¹ The application states that Oracle will terminate the existing level of support on January 1, 2012.³⁴² The Commission notes that there is a discrepancy in the dates of termination. According to AG's business case support will not be withdrawn but the level of support may change.³⁴³ The Commission does not consider it has sufficient information to determine if support will be withdrawn, and whether any change in the existing level of support will impact AG's operations. The Commission directs AG in the compliance filing to this application to provide information from the vendor regarding the proposed withdrawal of support, including the level of support which will continue to be available. If the vendor provides the option of continuing support at a lower level, AG is directed to provide an analysis of any impact on its operations.

Decision 2001-96: ATCO Gas South, 2001-2002 General Rate Application Phase 1, December 21, 2011, Application No, 2000350, File No. 1307-1, December 12, 2001, page 29.

Application No. 1605338, Proceeding ID No. 240.

Application, Business Case 17, paragraph 1.

Application, page 2.1-53, paragraph 148.

Application, Business Case 17, paragraph 1.

- 439. With respect to Business Case 18 for Windows 7.0 and MS Office 2010, the Commission considered the reasons AG provided in support of the business case that: Microsoft has announced that support for Windows XP will end in April 2014 and AG predicted that new versions of many applications will no longer be compatible with XP starting in 2010. AG predicted that lack of compatibility would become a greater problem by 2012. Although XP will continue to be supported until 2014 the Commission considers that an update is justified on the basis of the need for compatibility with other applications. AG updates for every second Windows release and the Commission considers this approach strikes a balance between cost management and maintaining up to date software. The Commission notes than no interveners objected to this business case. For the preceding reasons the Commission finds it is reasonable to approve this business case. However, the Commission finds the cost per computer of \$2,250 was not explained and in future filings the Commission will expect detailed support for costs incurred, including a calculation of unit cost and an analysis of resulting benefits.
- 440. With respect to Business Case 19, work enhancements, AG stated that the Ventyx software will not be supported after September 2011. The Commission finds that there are functional benefits of the Ventyx software related to manpower efficiencies and increased customer service. Given the identified functional benefits and the statement that support will be withdrawn in September 2011, the Commission considers it reasonable to approve the acquisition of the Ventyx software as proposed in the business case.
- 441. Business Case 19, work enhancements, also proposes a Maximo software upgrade in 2012. The Commission notes that functional benefits are forecast and that withdrawal of support is anticipated for the fourth quarter of 2012. The Maximo software appears to have been installed as part of work management Phase II in October 2009 at a cost of \$3.9 million. As Calgary noted the entire work management Phase II project was installed at a cost of \$17 million compared to a forecast cost of \$13.5 million. Calgary also noted a discrepancy in the cost breakdown between the business case and the schedule provided at page 16 of Tab 4.2 Attachment 1.344 The argument in support of the business case is premised on the withdrawal of support by the vendor. The Commission notes, as acknowledged by AG, that the vendor has not announced the withdrawal of support for the software. For the preceding reasons, the Commission denies approval of the forecasts costs for the Maximo software proposed in Business Case 19. The Commission directs AG to remove the forecast costs associated with this software package from its revenue requirement in the compliance filing for this application.
- 442. The Commission has reviewed AG's application which includes a number of IT projects not supported by business cases. Three CIS enhancements were proposed: a general CIS enhancement program, VB6 and tariff billing code.
- 443. AG has forecast costs for the general CIS enhancement program of \$1 million in 2011 and \$0.6 million in 2012. This program and the related benefits are not clearly described. The Commission finds the explanation in paragraph 129 of the application does not justify the requested capital expenditure for this project. Therefore, the Commission denies this proposed enhancement and directs that related costs be removed from the revenue requirement in the compliance filing to this decision.

³⁴⁴ Exhibit 28.01.

- 444. AG proposed an upgrade to VB6, for which support ended in April 2008. The system supports 103 programs. For these reasons, the Commission considers it reasonable to update the VB6 programs to C#.NET.
- 445. The Commission relies on AG's submission that the tariff billing code enhancements were necessary to conform with regulatory standards and considers that this update is required. The Commission approves the update of the tariff billing code as filed.
- 446. The other IT projects identified by AG in its application, have forecast capital costs of \$1.66 and \$0.62 million for 2011 and 2012 respectively. The Commission notes that interveners did not object to any of these IT capital projects. The Commission considers the forecasts of these projects are reasonably included in AG's revenue requirement and approves the implementation of AG's other IT projects.
- 447. Having identified the projects for which the business case supports the project, the Commission will now address the labour and processing volumes required to implement these projects and the forecast costs of these projects for the purpose of establishing a placeholder in revenue requirement. Labour and processing volumes for projects not approved are to be excluded from AG's revenue requirement.
- 448. Calgary noted that it is not possible for an intervener or the Commission to reasonably assess unit volumes and that the assessment process was further complicated by the change in approach in the master service agreement (MSA). The Commission shares Calgary's concerns regarding the information provided in the business cases.
- 449. The Commission is not able to assess the meaning of the volumes of labour units provided in Attachment 1 of Tab 4.2 of the application which relate to the business cases. This attachment provides information on capital projects from 2008 to 2012. For the projects forecast for 2010 to 2012 a single line item per project is provided with a single figure for labour units. The Commission is unable to assess the different classes of labour which could be included in the single labour unit and has no information on the relative costs of each unit. The Commission is concerned that a change to the mix of the labour components could result in a significant change to the cost of the IT project. The detailed project cost breakdowns for 2008 to 2009 identify many different labour components at various costs per unit. For example, there are multiple classes of analysts, classes of business service analysts, supervisors, consultants, project managers, as well as AG direct costs. Further, certain of the 2011 and 2012 projects are also ascribed a number of units of processing time without explanation.
- 450. For approved IT capital projects the Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to provide a description of volume metrics and a detailed breakdown of the labour units related to the different classifications with the current rates in support of theforecast labour costs. For any items without units, an explanation should be provided of the reason for inclusion in labour costs. Similarly, AG shall provide an explanation for all projects that have been allocated a volume of processing costs.
- 451. The Commission requires sufficient detail with respect to volumes to be able to assess the reasonability of forecast volumes to actual volumes forming the basis of costs in reviewing prudence when AG next applies to have the actual costs included in opening PP&E accounts.

452. With respect to the forecasted costs for each of the approved projects the Commission approves as reasonable the inclusion in revenue requirement of the license fee required for a project. The balance of the forecasted costs are labour and processing unit costs driven by volumes. Volume pricing is to be determined in the 2010 Evergreen proceeding. The Commission considers the forecasted costs reasonable for purposes of establishing a placeholder in revenue requirement for IT capital. The placeholder will be finalized when prices are determined in the 2010 Evergreen proceeding to apply to any volumes approved in the compliance filing process to this decision.

4.8 Balance of capital expenditures

- 453. The Commission has examined the 20 business cases filed in the application and the additional business cases filed in updates and made specific findings. The Commission has also made findings on the forecast costs related to distribution.
- 454. The lands and structures category included a number of building projects specifically discussed; the remainder not discussed included general land and structures, leasehold improvements, and the Grande Prairie shop extension and yard development.
- 455. In the moveable equipment category the following were not specifically discussed: transportation equipment, tools and work equipment, heavy work equipment, garage stores and shop equipment, office furniture and equipment, and technical support equipment.
- 456. Except with respect to Business Case 20 for PDA replacements, there was no specific discussion of the various areas in the communication equipment category.
- 457. The information technology, and demand side management categories were discussed separately.

Commission findings

458. The Commission notes that interveners have not raised concerns regarding the categories described above that are not specifically discussed elsewhere in this decision. The Commission has reviewed the costs for the above categories and considers costs of an ongoing nature are reasonable when compared to actual costs incurred in 2010. The project related costs were adequately supported in the application. Consequently, the Commission approves the forecast expenditures in 2011 and 2012 that were not specifically addressed.

5 Capital structure

5.1 Return on equity and equity ratio

459. AG incorporated the generic return on common equity (ROE) rate of 9.00 per cent over the test period as a placeholder for both 2011 and 2012 pending a decision in the 2011 generic cost of capital proceeding.³⁴⁵ AG included a forecast equity percentage for 2011 and 2012 of 39 per cent,³⁴⁶ consistent with Decision 2009-216.³⁴⁷

Application No. 1606549, Proceeding ID No. 833.

Application, Table 3.1.2(a).

Decision 2009-216, page 107.

460. AG forecasted its 2011 and 2012 return on rate base at 7.200 per cent and 7.130 per cent respectively. When the forecast return is applied to the forecast 2011 and 2012 mid-year rate base the utility income is \$112.8 million for 2011 and \$125.5 million for 2012.³⁴⁸

Commission findings

- 461. In Decision 2009-216, the 2009 Generic Cost of Capital application, the Commission established a generic ROE for 2009 and 2010 of 9.0 per cent. The Commission also determined an ROE of 9.0 per cent for 2011 on an interim basis.³⁴⁹ The Decision directed that individual utilities, or interveners, could apply for changes to equity ratios on the basis of significantly changed circumstances. AGs' current equity percentage as approved in Decision 2009-216 is 39 per cent.³⁵⁰
- 462. The 2011 Generic Cost of Capital application is currently before the Commission. That proceeding is considering both return on equity and capital structure for all Alberta utilities. Accordingly, an ROE of 9 per cent and a common equity percentage of 39 per cent are approved as placeholders for the 2011 and 2012 test years pending the decision of the Commission in the 2011 Generic Cost of Capital proceeding.

5.1.1 Prior preferred share issues

463. In Decision 2009-115,³⁵¹ the Commission approved the issuance by ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. of 6.7 per cent, 1,080,000 Series 2 Preferred Shares dated March 27, 2009 to CU Inc. at \$25.00 per share in respect of the advance of \$27,000,000 made to ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. by CU Inc. Net proceeds of \$24,624,000 were allocated to AG.³⁵²

464. In its evidence³⁵³ Calgary took issue with the reasonableness of the rate of preferred shares issued by AG on March 27, 2009. Calgary noted that:

On March 31, 2009 Nesbitt Burns indicated that the market value of the share was \$26 up from the issue price of \$25 and that the current yield was 6.44%. Four days later the yield had dropped 32 basis points. Further, the reset price will be 481basis points over 5 year Canada's as compared to the spread of 136 basis points on the December 2010 issue.

465. ATCO Gas explained the rationale and the mechanics behind the March 27, 2009 issue in its rebuttal evidence:

Calgary questions the reasonableness of the 6.7% March 27, 2009 preferred share financing rate. ATCO Gas notes that the preferred share issue was priced on March 10, 2009 as indicated in a CU Inc. press release of the same date. In a preferred share offering, there is normally a two week period between the filing of the preliminary short form prospectus with the securities regulatory authorities (i.e. the pricing date of March 10, 2009) and the closing date of the issue (March 27, 2009.) The spring of 2009 was a tumultuous time in the capital markets. Volatility was high and the availability of capital was low. The scarcity of capital at the time drove up market premiums, yet ATCO Gas

Application, Section 3.1.3.

Decision 2009-216, page 18, paragraph 75.

Decision 2009-216, Table 17, page 107.

Decision 2009-115: ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. Issuance of Debentures and Preferred Shares, Application Nos. 1605229, 1605230, and 1605231, Proceeding ID. No. 224, Released: August 14, 2009.

Application, Schedule 3.2-D.

³⁵³ Exhibit 109.01, page 16.

required capital to finance capital expenditures and to repay existing indebtedness. Due to the market volatility, there was also no indication that waiting to finance would result in lower rates. Rather, the concern at the time was such that the rates would continue to increase.³⁵⁴ (footnote omitted)

466. Further ATCO provided a table providing data on issuing companies and the terms of their share issuances for preferred shares during the first quarter of 2009:

Date	Issuer	Issue size (millions)	Ratings (S&P/DBRS)	Initial dividend rate	Premium	Fixed rate reset every
Jan-09	National Bank	\$145	P-2(H)/Pfd-1(L)	6.60%	4.79%	5 yrs
Feb-09	CIBC	\$200	P-1(L)/Pfd-1	6.50%	4.33%	5 yrs
Mar-09	CU Inc.	\$160	P-2(H)/Pfd-2(H)	6.70%	4.81%	5 yrs
Mar-09	HSBC Bank Canada	\$250	P-1/Pfd-1 (neg)	6.60%	4.85%	5 yrs
Mar-09	Bank of Montreal	\$275	P-1(L)/Pfd-1	6.50%	4.58%	5 vrs

Table 20. Comparable preferred share rates

467. In Decision 2011-055,³⁵⁵ the Commission approved the issuance by ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. of 1,440,000, 3.80 per cent Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 4 dated December 2, 2010 to CU Inc. at \$25.00 per share in respect of the advance of \$36,000,000. Net proceeds from the sale of the Series 4 preferred shares from ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. to CU Inc. was estimated at approximately \$35,008,000 after deducting a pro rata share of the fees and estimated expenses to be paid by CU Inc. in connection with the issue of CU Inc.'s Series 4 preferred shares. Of these net proceeds, \$30,645,000 was allocated to AG.³⁵⁶ The Commission confirmed that the proper place to review the prudence of that decision as well as the rate was a general rate application. The Commission stated:

- 31. In its argument, ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. submitted that a proper testing of the prudence of any financing decisions takes place in the same forum as where the prudence of other utility decisions is undertaken, the utility specific GRA or General Tariff Application (GTA). AGPL submitted that "The prudence of the issue, the dividend rate, terms of the re-set, redemption and purchase for cancellation options, the interest rates and other material terms and conditions are not the fundamental concern of a funding application. The appropriate forum for a review of such matters is at a GRA or a GTA where these matters will be part of the revenue requirement determined by the Commission.
- 32. The Commission agrees with this and historically the GRA or GTA is where the Commission has tested the prudence of utility financing decisions.³⁵⁷ (footnote omitted)

94 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

-

Exhibit 163.01, paragraph 142.

Decision 2011-055: ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. Issuance of Preferred Shares to CU Inc., Application No. 1606853, Proceeding ID. No. 1004, Released: February 16, 2011.

Application, Schedule 3.2-D.

³⁵⁷ Decision 2011-055, paragraphs 31-32.

Commission findings

468. The Commission accepts that the March 27, 2009 share issuance was reflective of the market at the time and accepts AG's position quoted above that:

Due to the market volatility, there was also no indication that waiting to finance would result in lower rates. Rather, the concern at the time was such that the rates would continue to increase. 358

- 469. Accordingly, the Commission finds the preferred share issuance to have been prudent. However, given that preferred shares are subordinate to debt and in certain market conditions, the issuance of preferred shares may demand higher dividend rates than anticipated, alternative debt options should be examined in such circumstances. The Commission directs AG in its next preferred share application to provide a comparative analysis of the alternative of issuing debt.
- 470. The Commission notes that no party specifically objected to the December 2, 2010 Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 4 although Calgary did object to the increased percentage of preferred shares, suggesting that if the increase was permitted by the Commission, it should reduce the cost of the preferred shares permitted in revenue requirement.³⁵⁹ Decision 2011-055 reflects the dividend rate as follows:

The dividend rate payable by ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. on the series 4 preferred shares to be issued to CU Inc. is the rate payable by CU Inc. on its series 4 preferred shares. Until June 1, 2016, the dividend rate will be fixed at \$0.95 per share per annum. ³⁶⁰

- 471. Decision 2011-055 notes that the share issue will be used to finance capital expenditures and will help maintain a capital structure for ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. at the levels established in Decision 2009-216.³⁶¹
- 472. The Commission also notes the comments made in Decision 2011-055:
 - 23. ...the Commission takes comfort in the fact that AGPL stated that if at the time when the dividend rates reset, by the formula indicated in paragraph 12 above, and a cost rate results which is not reflective of the then current market rates of debt, then AGPL can and will redeem the preferred shares. Further, AGPL stated in its responses to AUC-AGPL-4 and AUC-AGPL-6 that the option to redeem shares is available at the individual specific utility level, i.e. AGPL can, at its option, redeem the series 4 preferred shares from CU Inc. which in turn would redeem the equivalent number of shares from the public. The Commission considers that this redemption option does not restrict nor limit the Commissions' ability to judge and approve prudence of the share issue going forward at the time of the relevant General Rate Application. ³⁶² (footnote omitted)
- 473. The Commission finds that the issuance of the December 2, 2010 Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 4 to have been prudent, however, noting that the dividend rate is subject to redetermination June 1, 2016, the Commission is unable to confirm the reasonableness of dividend rate upon renewal at this time.

Decision 2011-055, page 3, paragraph 12.

³⁵⁸ Exhibit 163.01, paragraph 142.

Calgary evidence, page 52.

³⁶¹ Ibid., page 3, paragraph 14 and page 5, paragraph 19.

³⁶² Decision 2011-055, pages 5-6, paragraph 23.

5.2 Preferred share financing forecast

- 474. ATCO Gas proposed to increase the preferred share component of its capital structure to approximately nine per cent and 10 per cent in the 2011 and 2012 test years, respectively. AG plans to issue \$39.2 million in preferred shares in 2011 and \$17.6 million in 2012.³⁶³ The preferred share financing requirements are forecast to be met with perpetual five year rate reset preferred share issues.³⁶⁴
- 475. AG noted that the Series U and V preferred shares were issued in 1996, with a five-year term to reset the dividend rate. The dividend rates were reset in 2002 and once again in 2007. The last payment due at the current dividend rate will be due November 2012 and thereafter the dividend rate will be re-determined based on market conditions at the time. ATCO Gas has also forecast that rate to be 5.20 per cent.
- 476. In the application AG provided the following forecast preferred share rates:

Table 21. Application forecast preferred share rates

Table 3.2.4 ³⁶⁵ Forecast Preferred Rates				
	2011	2012		
5-Year Canada Bond Rate	3.00%-3.25%	3.5%-3.70%		
Credit Spread	1.40%-1.80%	1.40%-180%		
Preferred Rate	4.40%-5.05%	4.90%-5.50%		
Recommended Rate	4.75%	5.20%		

477. In its May 16, 2011 update AG provided the following adjusted preferred share rates:³⁶⁶

Table 22. Updated preferred share rates

	2011 GRA	2012 GRA
5-Year Canada Bond Rate	2.85%	3.75%
Credit Spread	1.40%	1.40%
Preferred Rates (Updated)	4.25%	5.15%
Preferred Rates (As Filed)	4.75%	5.20%
Reduction to Rates	(0.50%)	(0.05%)

- 478. In its rebuttal evidence, AG provided reasons supporting the increase in its percentage of preferred shares:
 - the use of preferred shares at the 5 to 10 percent range results in a marginal increase to customer costs, their use also enhances the credit metrics for ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. in support of CU Inc.'s A credit rating which more than offsets this increased cost to customers;

Application, page 3.2-2, paragraph 5.

Application, page 3.2-2, paragraph 6.

Application, Table 3.2.4, page 3.2-3, paragraph 10.

Exhibit 160.01, Table 3.2.3.

- the form of preferred shares issued by ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. are perpetual in nature and although there is interest rate risk (exposure to movements in underlying Government of Canada benchmark bond yields) there is no refinancing risk (that replacement financing is not available) or credit spread risk (that spreads will widen for any given level of credit rating or that CU Inc. experiences a downgrading) associated with the reset preferred shares. Debt instruments, on the other hand, have exposure to all three risks; and
- the cost of preferred shares has declined to a greater extent than the cost of debt. Additionally, the decrease in income tax rates and the decrease in nominal dividend rates have also contributed to the improvement in the cost of preferred shares relative to other forms of financing. The 2010 preferred dividend rate of 3.8% and the reset spread of 136 bps are the lowest all-in rate and reset spread ever made available to CU Inc. and among the lowest rate available to any utility in Canada.³⁶⁷
- 479. Below is a comparison of actual 2010 capital structure³⁶⁸ and the forecast for the test years:³⁶⁹

Table 23. Capital structure ratios

	2010	2011	2012
Debt	53.1%	51.6%	50.9%
Preferred shares	7.9%	9.4%	10.1%
Common equity	39.0%	39.0%	39.0%

Views of the parties

- 480. The CCA considered it inappropriate to increase preferred shares as a percentage of capital structure as there is no change in circumstance which would warrant such as a change. The CCA also recommended that the capital structure approved by the AUC in Decision 2009-216³⁷⁰ remain in place for the test years.
- 481. Calgary submitted that Decision 2009-216 requires AG to demonstrate significantly changed circumstances before it could change its capital structure³⁷¹ from what it was at the time of that decision. Calgary submitted that AG had not demonstrated such significantly changed circumstances and therefore there should be no change to the level of preferred shares.
- 482. AG submitted that Decision 2009-216 required demonstration of significantly changed circumstances before a utility could change its equity ratios and that it did not pertain to preferred share equity ratios³⁷² Decision 2009-216 states:
 - 413. The equity ratios awarded in this Proceeding will remain in place until changed by the Commission. Individual utilities, or interveners, may apply for changes to equity ratios on the basis of significantly changed circumstances.

Exhibit 163.01, paragraph 140, page 39 to 40.

Exhibit 160.01, Attachment 1, Schedule 2.

Application, Table 3.1.2(a).

Decision 2009-216: 2009 Generic Cost of Capital, Application No. 1578571, Proceeding 85, November 12, 2009.

³⁷¹ Decision 2009-216, paragraph 413.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 37, paragraphs 134-135.

- 483. AG argued that the quote was clearly referring to common equity ratios and not preferred share equity ratios. Therefore a requirement to demonstrate significantly changed circumstances in order to change to the preferred equity ratio, as suggested by interveners, does not exist.
- 484. Further, AG noted that in the recent ATCO Electric Decision 2011-134, ATCO Electric has been directed to prepare an updated analysis to demonstrate whether the optimal range of five to 10 percent for preferred shares discussed in Decision 2006-100³⁷³ is still relevant, concurrent with or prior their next preferred share application.³⁷⁴ AG offered to provide a similar analysis, concurrent with or prior to AG's next preferred share application.³⁷⁵

Commission findings

485. In Decision 2006-100 the EUB reviewed both the need for preferred shares and the target ratio of preferred shares for the ATCO Group of utilities. The board stated:

The ATCO Utilities proposed a preferred equity ratio of 6% and a debt ratio that approximates 57% across the four ATCO Utilities, which would then approximate 63% if the preferred shares were replaced with debt. In these proportions, the debt portion of capital is approximately 10 times larger than the preferred equity portion of capital. On this basis, the Board calculates that if the debt costs were to rise by any more than approximately 10 (i.e. 95/10) basis points, due to the replacement of preferred shares with debt, then the added cost of the (then) approximately 63% debt component would outweigh the approximate 95 basis points savings on the current 6% preferred share component. The Board notes that, in keeping with its steady-state approach, this calculation assumes that the added cost would apply to both existing and new debt....

It is not clear how many basis points would be added to AU's debt costs if preferred shares were replaced with debt. However, the Board accepts that directionally it should expect some increase in debt costs in such a scenario. The Board accepts AU's submission that the debt cost impact would vary depending on market conditions. In the Board's view, a 10 basis points or greater increase in debt costs for AU resulting from the discontinuance of the use of preferred shares in AU's capital structure would be sufficient to demonstrate the continued cost effectiveness of employing preferred shares. The Board considers the evidence provided by AU and its experts persuasive that the discontinuance of the use of preferred shares could be expected in the present market conditions to increase AU's debt costs by approximately 10 basis points. The Board also notes that AU's evidence indicated that the impact could be as high as 60 basis points. Therefore the Board finds that the continued use of preferred shares is cost effective at this time.

Therefore, the Board accepts that some level of preferred shares can to be utilized by AU at this time....

Under cross-examination by Board Counsel, AU indicated the optimum amount of preferred shares had been estimated by AU to be within a range of five per cent to 10 per cent.

3

Decision 2006-100: ATCO Utilities 2005-2007 Common Matters Application, Application No. 1407946, Released: October 11, 2006.

AUC Decision 2011-134: ATCO Electric Ltd. 2011-2012 Phase I Distribution Tariff & 2011-2012 Transmission Facility Owner Tariff, April 13, 2011, paragraph 460.

Rebuttal evidence, page 40, paragraph 141.

In Section 5.1 above, the Board concluded that the six per cent level of preferred shares was cost effective. This six per cent falls within the range identified by AU as being optimum. The Board accepts the evidence of AU on this point at this time. ³⁷⁶

- 486. In Decision 2011-055³⁷⁷ the Commission discussed its concerns when approving the issue of 1,440,000 Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 4 at \$25.00 per share to CU Inc., and up to 1,440,000 Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 5 upon conversion of the Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 4 at the option of the holder. The Commission stated:
 - 32. ...about the increasing levels and expense of preferred shares and believes that long term debt provides a viable alternative which should be considered by ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. when making future financing decisions.³⁷⁸
- 487. The Commission issued a similar decision with respect to the issuance of preferred shares with respect to ATCO Electric Ltd. in Decision 2011-056.³⁷⁹
- 488. In Decision 2011-134 the Commission found:
 - 460. ...that long term debt rates and preferred share dividend rates may reach a point in the future where it is no longer to the benefit of customers to increase the levels of preferred shares. The Commission reaffirms its statement in Decision 2011-056 that it continues to be concerned with the increasing levels and expense of preferred shares and finds that long term debt provides a viable option which should be considered by ATCO Electric in future financing decisions.³⁸⁰
- 489. The Commission notes that AG offered to prepare a similar analysis to the one directed from ATCO Electric, concurrent with or prior to AG's next preferred share application. The Commission considers such an analysis is required and directs AG to prepare an updated analysis concurrent with or prior to AG's next preferred share application to assess whether the optimal range of five to 10 per cent for preferred shares as discussed in Decision 2006-100 should be continued thereafter. This analysis should also include a number that represents the most cost effective level of preferred shares for AG and should be submitted to the Commission concurrently with or before AG's next preferred share application to the Commission. Accordingly, approval of the actual preferred share issue is subject to the Commission's approval of the directed analysis.
- 490. AG has forecast preferred share issues of \$39.2 million and \$17.6 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively. The forecast preferred share rate reflected in the May 16, 2011 update is 4.25 per cent in 2011 and 5.15 per cent in 2012. The Commission accepts the forecast dollar amount of the proposed preferred share issuances for both 2011 and 2012, subject to the direction set out in the preceding paragraph.

Decision 2011-056: ATCO Electric Ltd., Issuance of Preferred Shares to CU Inc., Application No. 1606854, Proceeding ID No. 1005, February 17, 2011.

Decision 2006-100, pages 19-21.

Decision 2011-055: ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd., Issuance of Preferred Shares to CU Inc., Application No. 1606853, Proceeding ID No. 1004, February 17, 2011.

³⁷⁸ Ibid., paragraph 32.

³⁸⁰ Decision 2011-134, paragraph 460.

- 491. The Commission does not accept, however, the forecast preferred share rates for 2011 and 2012. AG issued the 3.80 per cent Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 4 dated December 2, 2010, one day prior to filing the application on December 3, 2010, which contained a recommended preferred share rate of 4.75 per cent for 2011. Decision 2011-055 noted part of AG's explanation for issuing preferred shares in December 2, 2010 was "that the preferred dividend rate of 3.8 per cent and the reset spread of 136 are the lowest all-in rate and reset spread ever made available to CU Inc. and among the lowest rate available to any utility in Canada." In response to UCA-AG-61(g) AG indicated that the Cumulative Redeemable Second Preferred Shares Series 4 were underwritten and priced on November 16, 2010 and that the underlying Government of Canada benchmark five-year bond had a yield of 2.44 per cent at the time of pricing the transaction. 382
- 492. In light of the actual market experience of CU Inc. and AG in issuing preferred shares on December 2, 2010, the Commission can not accept as reasonable either the original 2011 forecast preferred share rate of 4.75 per cent in the application or the May 16, 2011 update of 4.25 per cent. The Commission has found the 2011 forecast to be unacceptable therefore the 2012 forecast must also be rejected.
- 493. Given the date of this decision, it is not practical to require AG to revise its 2011 forecast in a compliance filing. Further, the Commission notes that under Section 40 of the *Gas Utilities Act*, in fixing just and reasonable rates of an owner of a gas utility:
 - (a) the Commission may consider all revenues and costs of the owner that are in the Commission's opinion applicable to a period consisting of
 - (i) the whole of the fiscal year of the owner in which a proceeding is initiated for the fixing of rates, tolls or charges, or schedules of them,
 - (ii) a subsequent fiscal year of the owner, or
 - (iii) 2 or more of the fiscal years of the owner referred to in subclauses (i) and (ii) if they are consecutive,

and need not consider the allocation of those revenues and costs to any part of that period,

494. Accordingly, the Commission directs AG in the compliance filing to this decision to include the actual preferred share rates for preferred shares issued in 2011, if any, for the purposes of calculating capital structure, forecast return on rate base, forecast utility income and revenue requirement in 2011. AG shall also provide an updated forecast for 2012 preferred shares in the compliance filing, and shall include an analysis of any rate differential between the recommended forecast 2012 preferred share rate and the rate of any preferred shares issued in 2011.

Decision 2011-055, pages 6-7, paragraph 26.

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-61(g).

5.2.1 Prior debt issue

495. In Order U2008-56³⁸³ the Commission authorized AG to issue a 30-year, 5.556 per cent debenture to CU Inc. In Decision 2008-113 AG was directed to use a 2008 debenture rate of 5.62 per cent in determining the long term debt rate for the 2008-2009 test years.³⁸⁴ In Schedule 3.2-C of the present 2011-2012 application AG provided the following table which provided the detail of its outstanding long term debt including its 20-year 5.563 per cent debentures and 30-year 5.183 per cent debentures issued May 26, 2008:

Table 24. Long-term debt

ATCO Gas Calculation of Long Term Debt and Embeded Cost Rate As at December 31 (\$000's) 2010 Forecast Average **Embedded** Series -**Embedded** Line Coupon Issue Maturity Cost Outstanding Carrying Cost of **Date Balance** Debt No. Rate Date Rate (a) Cost 1 2020 11.910% 2.806 11.770% 90/11/28 23.559 2 9.920% 91/12/18 2022 10.050% 26,537 2,667 3 9.400% 92/12/08 2023 9.510% 43,282 4,116 4 6.800% 99/08/12 2018 6.850% 119.533 8,188 5 7.050% 00/05/16 2011 7.130% 47,485 3,386 6 6.145% 02/11/22 2017 6.210% 53,779 3,340 7 5.432% 04/01/23 2019 5.489% 104.580 5.740 8 5.096% 04/11/18 2014 27,936 1,441 5.160% 9 2034 5.896% 04/11/18 5.940% 56,690 3,367 10 5.183% 05/11/21 2035 5.230% 19,879 1,040 4.801% 2021 4.850% 19,912 11 06/11/20 966 12 5.032% 06/11/20 2036 5.070% 19,886 1,008 13 5.556% 07/11/30 2037 5.620% 64,620 3,632 54,665 14 5.563% 08/05/26 2028 5.620% 3,072 15 5.580% 08/05/26 2038 5.610% 94,411 5,296 16 Total Long Term Debt and Advances 776,754 50,065 6.445% 17 Mid Year Calculations 782,372 50,719 6.483% 18 Total Mid Year Short Term Debt (Financial) 0 0 2.000% 19 Total Long Term and Short Term Advances 782,372 50,719 6.483% 20 Adjustment for Deemed Debt 6.483% (29,661)(1,923)21 48,796 Deemed Debt 752,711 6.483%

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 101

Order U2008-056 ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. - 5.556% Debenture Application - December 06, 2007, February 7, 2008.

³⁸⁴ Decision 2008-113, page 53.

496. The Commission notes the previous GRA did specifically approve the prudence of the May 26, 2008 debt issues. The Commission considers that the two tranches of debt issued in 2008 were done at prudent rates and approves the inclusion of their cost rates in the calculation of forecast return on rate base, utility income and of revenue requirement.

5.2.2 Debt forecast financing requirements

- 497. AG indicated in the application that it anticipates issuing \$120.9 million in long-term debt in 2011 and \$89.9 million in 2012. The long-term debt financing requirements are forecast to be met with 30-year debenture issues.³⁸⁵
- 498. In the application AG provided the following forecast debenture coupon rates:

Table 25. Application forecast debenture rates

Table 3.2.3 ³⁸⁶ Forecast Debenture Rates								
	2011	2012						
Long Canada Bond Rate	4.10%-4.50%	4.50%-5.25%						
Credit Spread	1.30%-1.50%	1.30%-1.50%						
Debenture Rate	5.40%-6.00%	5.80%-6.75%						
Recommended Rate	5.75%	6.35%						

499. In its May 16, 2011 update AG provided the following adjusted forecast debt rates:³⁸⁷

Table 26. Debt rates

	2011 GRA	2012 GRA
Long Canada Bond Rate	3.90%	4.50%
Credit Spread	1.40%	1.40%
Debenture Rate (Updated)	5.30%	5.90%
Debenture Rates (As Filed)	5.75%	6.35%
Reduction to Rates	(0.45%)	(0.45%)

- 500. The proceeds from these debt issues, combined with internally generated funds, will be used to finance the capital expenditure program, to refinance maturing debenture issues and to maintain the approved capital structure. There is a scheduled financing retirement in 2011 for the 7.05 per cent debenture of \$47.5 million.³⁸⁸
- 501. AG noted that no party has indicated that alternative financing rates should be used and that the financing rates have been developed in a manner consistent with past practice.³⁸⁹

Application, Section 3.0, Table 3.2.3.

Application, Table 3.2.3, page 3.2-3, paragraph 8.

Exhibit 160.01, page 1.

Application, page 3.2-2, paragraph 7.

AG argument, page, 40, paragraph 101.

Commission findings

502. AG has forecast issuing \$120.9 million in long term debt in 2011 and \$89.9 million in 2012. The forecast debenture rate reflected in the May 16, 2011 update is 5.30 per cent in 2011 and 5.90 per cent in 2012. The Commission accepts the forecast dollar amount of the proposed debenture issuances for both 2011 and 2012.

503. The Commission does not accept, however, the forecast debenture rates for 2011 and 2012. The Commission notes that on November 18, 2010, CU Inc. completed the sale of debentures in the principal amount of \$125,000,000 at a coupon rate of interest of 4.947 per cent with a maturity date of November 18, 2050, at a price of 100.00 to yield 4.947 per cent. This debt issue was for the benefit of ATCO Electric Ltd. and was approved in Decision 2011-057. ATCO Electric Ltd. was approved to issue a 4.947 per cent debenture to CU Inc. in the principal amount of \$125,000,000 at a coupon rate of interest of 4.947 per cent at a price of 100.00 to yield 4.947 per cent dated November 18, 2010.

504. The Commission observes that in CAL-AG-06(b) AG stated:

It should be noted that the long-term debt issuance completed by CU inc.[sic] in November 2010 was done at historically low rates and the company was able to achieve a 40 year term with no incremental cost over issuing a 30 year debenture.³⁹¹

- 505. In light of the actual market experience of CU Inc. in issuing debentures for the benefit of one of its utility subsidiaries on November 18, 2010, the Commission can not accept as reasonable either the original 2011 forecast debenture rate of 5.75 per cent in the application or the May 16, 2011 update of 5.30 per cent. Given that the Commission has found the 2011 forecast to be unacceptable, the 2012 forecast must also be rejected.
- 506. As noted above with respect to forecast preferred share rates, given the date of this decision, it is not practical to require AG to revise its 2011 long-term debt forecast in a compliance filing. Further, pursuant to Section 40(a) of the *Gas Utilities Act*, in fixing just and reasonable rates, the Commission may consider all revenues and costs of an owner of a gas utility applicable to a period consisting of:
 - (i) the whole of the fiscal year of the owner in which a proceeding is initiated for the fixing of rates, tolls or charges, or schedules of them,
 - (ii) a subsequent fiscal year of the owner, or
 - (iii) 2 or more of the fiscal years of the owner referred to in subclauses (i) and (ii) if they are consecutive,

and need not consider the allocation of those revenues and costs to any part of that period,

507. Accordingly, the Commission directs AG in the compliance filing to this decision to include the actual long-term debt rates for long-term debentures issued in 2011, if any, for the

³⁹¹ Exhibit 82.01, CAL-AG-06(b).

Decision 2011-057: ATCO Electric Ltd. Application to Issue Debentures to CU Inc.:4.947 Per cent in the Principal Amount of \$125,000,000, Application No. 1606855, ID No. 1006, February 17, 2011.

purposes of calculating capital structure, forecast return on rate base, forecast utility income and revenue requirement in 2011. AG shall also provide an updated forecast for 2012 long-term debt in the compliance filing, and shall include an analysis of any rate differential between the recommended forecast 2012 long-term debt rate and the rate of any long-term debt issued in 2011.

6 Operating and maintenance expense

6.1 Operating and maintenance expense general

508. In the application, AG forecast total operating and maintenance (O&M) expenses of \$368.4 and \$378.8 million for 2011 and 2012 respectively.³⁹² AG provided an April 21, 2011 update to its forecasted amounts of O&M and amended its forecast for the test years to \$366.4³⁹³ and \$378.1³⁹⁴ million respectively.

- 509. AG stated that the primary drivers for O&M cost increases were customer growth and inflation. AG forecasted total customer growth in each of the test years of 21,636,³⁹⁵ an approximate two per cent increase above AG's 2010 actual number of customers. AG forecast three per cent inflation for labour costs³⁹⁶ and two per cent inflation in all other costs or "supplies."³⁹⁷
- 510. In its April 21, 2011 update³⁹⁸ AG revised its forecast inflation rate for supervisory labour in 2012 to four per cent, resulting in an increase of \$0.3 million to the 2012 O&M expense.
- 511. AG categorized O&M costs in seven functional areas. The following table presents the 2011 and 2012 forecast O&M expense by functional area.

Table 27. ATCO Gas functional forecast³⁹⁹

	2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast
Function	(\$0	000)
Gas Management	612	630
Transmission	107,899	109,349
Distribution	82,961	88,630
General	6,979	7,365
Sales & Transportation Promotion	7,951	9,505
Customer Accounting	51,140	53,134
Administrative	108,861	109,530
O&M Total	366,403	378,143

Application, Volume 1, pages 4.2-3 to 4.2-4.

104 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

-

Exhibit 118.02, AG April 21, 2011 update, Attachment 3. See also Exhibit 161.03, AUC-AG-113 Attachment.

Exhibit 118.02, AG April 21, 2011 update, Attachment 3. See also Exhibit 161.03, AUC-AG-113 Attachment.

Application, Section 7, Table 7.2(a) and 7.2(c).

Exhibit 3, AG application, Volume 1, page 8.0-1.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Volume 1, page 8.0-4.

Exhibit 118.01, AG April 21 update, at page 4.

⁹⁹ AUC-AG-113, Attachment O&M History which include 2008-2009 actual and 2011-2012 forecast.

Views of the parties

- 512. The UCA submitted that AG's proposed increases are excessive in an environment of low expected inflation and modest system growth. AG has not demonstrated that its forecast is a reasonable estimate of the expenditures that will be required to operate the AG system in a safe and reliable manner in the test years. The UCA submitted that the most reliable and unbiased evidence of required general O&M expenditures is what the utility actually spent during the prior period. The UCA recommended that the Commission only approve an increase to AG's O&M forecasts for the 2011 and 2012 test years consistent with inflation and system growth above the 2010 actual base year, unless AG has shown that external factors and circumstances warrant a further increase. The UCA indicated that an additional increase would be warranted for the following external factors: AG's defined benefit pension funding requirements, the integration of ATCO Pipelines and NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd. system services, and the implementation of low use AMR which will affect meter reading expense over the test years.
- 513. The UCA generally accepted AG's assumptions regarding inflation and system growth. The net effect of applying the UCA's reasoning to AG's forecasts is a reduction in forecast O&M expenditures of approximately \$18 million in 2011 and \$25 million in 2012. **In some categories, the UCA assumed that system growth would not affect costs at all. The net result is an average assumed "system growth effect" of approximately one per cent.
- 514. The UCA also noted that AG claimed that its aging workforce is an external factor or changed circumstance that should be reflected in increased forecast O&M costs. 402 The UCA argued that there was no evidence that showed a causal connection between an aging workforce and increasing O&M costs. The UCA noted that the aging workforce is not a new phenomenon, nor is it unique to AG. 403 If new programs and new expenditures are required to deal with an aging workforce, they would have been required in previous years as well, and would have been reflected in actual expenditures for 2008, 2009 and 2010. The UCA argued that it is not plausible that an aging workforce has had no noticeable or identified effect on AG's costs over the past several years, but the incremental aging of its workforce by one year in 2011 generated numerous cost increases. The UCA stated in evidence 404 that whatever effects an aging workforce may potentially have on AG have already been accounted for in the market and in the optimization of the system to date.
- 515. The UCA also submitted that AG failed to file evidence to support O&M cost increases with respect to AG's argument that the forecast cost increases were due to aging infrastructure and increased safety standards (for example: CSA Z662). 405 The UCA stated that AG:

...did not identify any costs associated with meeting the standard, or demonstrate any actual connection between Z662, in either its current or its proposed form, and any of the cost increases proposed in the Application. There is no evidence in any of the material related to CSA Z662 of any new standard that will directly require ATCO to increase its O&M expenditures. 406

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 26, paragraph 92.

Exhibit 142.02, response to AUC-UCA-16 Attachment – Revised Section 4 Attachments.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence see general discussion re retirements at paragraphs 207-211.

See Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence at page 36, Q.54.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA evidence pages 36-37.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, pages 36-38.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 38, paragraph 127.

To the contrary, leak frequencies appear to have been essentially stable for a considerable period. 407

516. In rebuttal evidence AG stated: "[T]he Z662 code change in 2011 will codify society's reduced tolerance towards a distribution system leak." AG stated further:

The standards under which ATCO Gas is required to deliver gas safely and reliably have become more demanding in 2011 and 2012. There is a reduced tolerance for leaks and system failure. ATCO Gas has responded to the higher standard by appropriately increasing its inspection and maintenance activities. These evolving standards are precisely the reason why ATCO Gas has proposed a thorough external review of its inspection and maintenance practices in 2012. The review will provide ATCO Gas with an unbiased assessment of its inspection practices to ensure that they are aligned appropriately with the risks.⁴⁰⁹ (footnote omitted)

- 517. In its general comments, the CCA stated that the Commission has the discretion to take either a broad brush cost analysis or line by line approach towards establishing and approving the revenue requirement of AG for the 2011 and 2012 test years. The CCA submitted that the preceding points could support general reductions to the applied for revenue requirement should the AUC be so inclined. The CCA submitted that AG applied for significant increases to its revenue requirements for 2011 and 2012 supported by general assertions regarding safe and reliable service. The CCA noted that the revenue requirement from this application will form the basis for the going in rates for performance-based regulation.
- 518. Calgary filed evidence with respect to ATCO I-Tek (I-Tek) O&M expenses, demand side management (DSM) and automated meter reading. Calgary expressed concerns regarding the allocation of costs between the north and south systems.⁴¹¹
- 519. AG submitted that O&M costs warrant increases beyond inflation and customer growth for the following reasons:
 - the aging workforce is driving AG's increased costs related to retirements, hiring activity and associated training costs
 - a tightening in the labour marketplace is starting to be reflected in increasing voluntary turnover⁴¹²
 - stringent operating standards are leading to increased costs such as increased leak inspection, commercial station inspection and line heater inspection⁴¹³

Commission findings

520. AG has the burden of proof to show that forecast cost increases and changes are reasonable. The Commission must consider each material expense and assess whether or not AG has satisfied its onus in light of the overall record.

Exhibit 83.01, response to UCA-AG-06(c).

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 55, paragraph 199.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 55, paragraph 201.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, paragraph 81, page 26-27.

⁴¹¹ Exhibit 109.02.

Rebuttal evidence, paragraph 212, page 57.

AUC-AG-63 Attachment, Exhibit 118, April 21 update.

- 521. The UCA has proposed that the Commission employ an analysis that would increase 2010 actual expenditures by a factor equivalent to system growth and inflation, except where circumstances would warrant a further increase. While the Commission would consider it reasonable to use 2010 actual O&M expenses adjusted for growth and inflation factors, it only considers it appropriate to do so when warranted in respect to particular functional or prime accounts.
- 522. The Commission does not accept the option put forward by CCA for an aggregate broad brush approach for the purposes of this proceeding because it is the Commission's obligation to consider the entirety of the evidence in respect of each functional area and to make a determination on the basis of the evidence.
- 523. The Commission has not been persuaded that an aging workforce and a tightening labour market are driving higher O&M costs. AG noted "Every workforce is aging, so the phenomenon is not new to AG." The Commission finds the UCA's discussion regarding the impact of aging workforce to be persuasive. AG's recruitment, training, mentoring, employee development and safety programs have been evolving with the aging workforce and these labour related issues are not unique to this GRA. Accordingly the Commission has denied in the sections that follow aspects of programs which have incremental costs attributable to an aging workforce.

Section 44(3) Gas Utilities Act.

Rebuttal evidence, paragraph 207, page 56.

Comparison of actual expenses to forecasts

524. The following table presents the forecast and actual O&M functional expenses for the years 2008 to 2010:

Table 28. Comparison of actual expenses to forecasts

				ATCO Gas			
		08	&M Forecas	t Variance A	nalysis (\$0	00)	
		2008	2008	2009	2009	2010	2010
		Forecast	Actual	Forecast	Actual	Forecast	Actual
FUNCTION				(\$00	0)		
GAS MANAGEMENT	Total	700	500	800	630	592	600
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			-28.6		-21.3		1.4
TRANSMISSION	Total	76,900	80,000	93,900	102,285	106,965	107,000
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			4.0		8.9		0.0
DISTRIBUTION	Total	74,100	73,400	79,200	76,948	74,579	73,600
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			-0.9		-2.8		-1.3
GENERAL	Total	7,700	7,216	8,200	7,158	6,877	6,600
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			-6.3		-12.7		-4.0
SALES AND TRANSPORTATION PROMOTION	Total	4,500	4,439	4,800	5,190	5,238	4,800
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			-1.4		8.1		-8.4
CUSTOMER ACCOUNTING	Total	42,800	44,585	44,800	46,200	49,819	48,800
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			4.2		3.1		-2.0
ADMINISTRATIVE	Total	75,400	75,642	84,100	76,814	98,039	96,600
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			0.3		-8.7		-1.5
O&M	Total	282,100	285,782	315,800	315,225	342,110	338,000
Forecast Variance versus Actual (per cent)			1.3		-0.2		-1.2

- 525. The Commission has reviewed AG's forecasting record from 2008 to 2010, with the understanding that AG's 2010 forecast was not subject to detailed scrutiny through a litigated proceeding. The Commission is satisfied that AG's forecasting history appears reasonable when compared against actuals from 2008-2010, subject to the caveat noted above with respect to 2010. Therefore, the Commission sees little merit in scrutinizing functional areas by prime account on the basis of forecasting variance.
- 526. The Commission considers that an assessment of AG's forecast by functional area and prime account expenses for the test years should be compared against actual expenses to determine the reasonableness of AG's forecast.
- 527. The following table provides the variances of AG's actual costs for 2008 to 2010 and variance of 2011 forecast to 2010 actuals and 2012 forecast to 2011 forecast.

	2008	2009	2010 ⁴¹⁶	2011	2012
	Actual	Actual	Actual	Forecast	Forecast
Function			(\$000)		
Gas Management	530	630	600	612	630
Annual Variance (per cent)		18.9	-4.8	2.0	2.9
Transmission	79,989	102,285	107,000	107,899	109,349
Annual Variance (per cent)		27.9	4.6	0.8	1.3
Distribution	73,442	76,948	73,600	82,961	88,630
Annual Variance (per cent)		4.80	-4.40	12.70	6.80
General	7,216	7,158	6,600	6,979	7,365
Annual Variance (per cent)		-0.8	-7.8	5.7	5.5
Sales & Transportation Promotion	4,439	5,190	4,800	7,951	9,505
Annual Variance (per cent)		16.9	-7.5	65.6	19.5
Customer Accounting	44,585	46,200	48,800	51,140	53,134
Annual Variance (per cent)		3.6	5.6	4.8	3.9
Administrative	75,642	76,814	96,600	108,861	109,530
Annual Variance (per cent)		1.5	25.8	12.7	0.6
O&M Total	285,843	315,225	338,000	366,403	378,143
Annual Variance (per cent)		10.3	7.2	8.4	3.2

Table 29. ATCO Gas functional history and forecast

528. Based on the data presented in Table 28 ATCO Gas functional history and forecast above, the Commission considers AG's overall operating and maintenance forecast is generally consistent with actual results. However, the functional variance analysis identifies certain functional areas where forecast costs have increased by large percentages for the test years. For example, the sales and transportation function forecast costs have increased by 65.6 per cent and 19.5 per cent above 2010 actual for 2011 and the 2011 forecast for 2012, respectively. Demand side management, the centennial program, and AG's proposed expansion of the Blue Flame Kitchen (BFK) are key drivers of the increases in forecast costs for the 2011 and 2012 test years for this functional area.

- 529. Further, AG has forecasted increases in the distribution function of over 12 per cent in 2011 and a further increase of 6.8 per cent in 2012, while 2010 expenses declined by 4.4 per cent. The Commission also notes that AG has forecasted an approximately 12.7 per cent increase in 2011 for the administrative function, which is incremental to the 2010 increase of 25.8 per cent above the 2009 actual.
- 530. Given the material increases in certain functional areas as identified above, the Commission will undertake a detailed review of the prime accounts in these functional areas and undertake a high level review of the other functional areas.
- 531. Two of the key underlying drivers for increases to AG's O&M expense forecasts for 2011 and 2012 relate to inflation and customer growth. AG forecast a three per cent inflation rate for labour costs⁴¹⁷ and two per cent inflation rate in all other costs or "supplies."⁴¹⁸ In its April 21,

⁴¹⁶ UCA-AG-62(a), Attachment 2.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Volume 1, page 8.0-1.

2011 update⁴¹⁹ AG revised its forecast inflation rate for supervisory labour in 2012 to four per cent, resulting in an increase to the 2012 O&M expense of \$0.3 million. AG based its forecasts on information from the Conference Board of Canada Winter 2011 Provincial Outlook and the Alberta Finance Outlook 2011. The following table presents the forecast rates:

Table 30. Labour inflation

	2011 (%)	2012 (%)
Conference Board of Alberta (May 2010)	2.80	3.30
Conference Board of Canada (Winter 2011)	2.70	3.50
Government of Alberta (2010 Budget)	3.00	3.20
Government of Alberta (2011 Budget)	4.20	4.10

- 532. AG forecasted total customer growth in each of the test years of 21,636,⁴²⁰ an approximate two per cent increase above AG's 2010 actual number of customers. The forecasts for customer growth were based on primary service line forecasts which were developed by each urban and rural area of its service territory based on Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation housing forecasts.⁴²¹
- 533. Interveners did not object to either the inflation forecast or the growth forecast.

Commission findings

- 534. The Commission finds that AG's inflation forecast for the 2011 and 2012 test years for labour and supplies appears reasonable when compared against the forecasts noted in the preceding table. AG's two per cent inflation forecast for supplies in 2011 and 2012, three per cent labour inflation forecast for 2011 and 2012, and four per cent increase for supervisory staff for 2012 are therefore accepted for the purpose of forecasting O&M costs.
- 535. With respect to AG's customer growth forecast of two per cent, the Commission is satisfied that AG's customer forecast is based on a reasonable method and the result is in line with recent history as discussed in more detail in Section 9.1 of this decision.

6.2 Full time equivalents forecast

- 536. In this application, AG forecast an increase in FTEs to 2,238 in 2011 and 2,257 in 2012. AG forecast a 2010 FTE complement of 2,148; actual FTEs in 2010 were 2,090.9.⁴²² In response to UCA-AG-72(a), AG explained that it does not track FTEs by O&M and capital, but provided an estimate based on a review of costs and activities in UCA-AG-72 attachment. The number of FTEs estimated for O&M is 1,243.4 in 2011 and 1,250.6 in 2012, which is a small reduction from 2010 actual of 1,259.5.
- 537. AG explained that there are modest increases in total FTEs over the forecast years largely due to the forecasts of increased capital work and a lower vacancy rate. AG proposed an average

Exhibit 3, AG application, Volume 1, page 8.0-4

Exhibit 118.01, ATCO April 21 update at page 4.

Application, Section 7, Table 7.2(a) and 7.2(c).

Application, Section 2.1.1.3, page 2.1-23, paragraph 65.

Exhibit 83.31, UCA-AG-72(a) attachment.

vacancy rate of six per cent for 2011 and 2012. Actual vacancy levels were 7.5 per cent in 2008, 6.4 per cent in 2009, and 10.9 per cent in 2010. 423

Commission findings

538. The Commission has not been persuaded that the proposed decrease to a six per cent vacancy rate due to an increasing proportion of vacancies caused by retirements is warranted. A six per cent vacancy rate is inconsistent with historical results and unsupported by the evidence filed in this proceeding. AG is therefore directed to increase its forecast vacancy rate for 2011 and 2012 to 8.3 per cent based on a three-year historical average and to revise its forecast FTE levels and revenue requirement in the compliance filing to this decision.

6.3 Functional analysis of O&M

539. The following sections consider and address specific O&M expenses. The Commission findings in the following sections are subject to above findings with respect to costs attributable to inflation, growth and an aging workforce. The sections are organized by functional area. The three functional areas gas management, transmission and general will be examined below followed by general findings. Other functional areas will be examined individually.

6.3.1 Gas management function – Account 625

540. The forecast costs for the gas management function include expenses relating to the development, administration and maintenance of operational procedures and processes necessary to provide gas distribution services to retailers and the default supply provider.

Gas Mgmnt	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
Total	500	26.0%	630	-4.8%	600	2.0%	612	2.9%	630

Table 31. Gas management function

6.3.2 Transmission function – Account 663

541. The forecast costs for the transmission function relate to the forecasted transmission service charges from ATCO Pipelines and NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd. (NGTL) over the test period for delivering gas to the AG distribution system. The rates used in the 2011 and 2012 forecasts for transmission charges are based on the final 2010 rates approved for ATCO Pipelines in Decision 2010-475. 424 Any subsequent changes to the transmission rates are subject to deferral account treatment. After implementation of the integration (integration) 425 of ATCO

Decision 2010-475: ATCO Pipelines 2010 Final Revenue Requirement, Final Rates Filing and Deferral Accounts Disposition, Application Nos. 1606306 and 1606326, Proceeding ID. 706, October 1, 2010.

⁴²³ AUC-AG-61 Attachment.

AP and NGTL entered into the Alberta System Integration Agreement dated April 7, 2009 which provides for AP and NGTL to swap ownership of certain physical assets within distinct operating territories or "footprints" in Alberta and to work together in Alberta under a single rates and services structure, while maintaining separate ownership, management and operation of their assets. The integration was approved by the Commission in Decision 2010-228 and 2011-260 and by the National Energy Board. Integration, with the exception of the contemplated swap of assets, was implemented on October 1, 2011.

Pipelines and NGTL, AG will receive gas transportation services only from NGTL. The NGTL transmission charge will be the aggregate amount of all AG's contract demand quantities multiplied by the higher of the ATCO Pipelines firm service utility (FSU) rate in effect at the time of transition and the NGTL FT-D3 rate. AG indicated that it did not expect that there would be any difference in the methodology to determine peak billing demand or contract demand volume when transitioned to NGTL. AG requested that the Commission confirm that the existing deferral account for approved transmission rate changes will apply to transmission charges from NGTL post integration. A27

Table 32. Transmission function

	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
Total	80,000	27.9%	102,285	4.6%	107,000	0.8%	107,899	1.3%	109,349

6.3.3 General function

542. General function costs include the cost of operating and maintaining communication equipment, operating centres, agency offices and general environmental costs.

Table 33. General function

	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
General									
Total	7,216	-0.8%	7,158	-7.8%	6,600	5.7%	6,979	5.5%	7,365

Commission findings

- 543. The Commission observes very little change in the gas management forecast costs compared to the actual costs incurred in the previous two years and notes that interveners did not take issue with the forecasted costs.
- 544. The forecast transmission costs are flow-through. They are based on the latest approved rates for AP and are subject to deferral account treatment. None of the interveners objected to these forecasts. Integration between AP and NGTL was effective October 1, 2011, with all customers, including AG, now subject to NGTL rates and terms and conditions of service. The Commission confirms that a deferral account for approved transmission rate changes will apply to NGTL transmission charges post integration.

Under the agreement NGTL will be the party that interfaces contractually with customers for regulated gas transmission services using the combined regulated AP and NGTL gas transmission systems within Alberta. AP's revenue requirement will be collected by AP through monthly charges to NGTL. NGTL will include AP's monthly charge in NGTL's revenue requirement which will be collected from customers using the Alberta System.

Application, Volume 1, page 4.2-8.

Application, Volume 1, page 4.2-8.

- 545. The forecast costs included in the general function in the test period have increased approximately 5.6 per cent over actual expenses for 2010. The 2010 costs were less than actual costs incurred in 2008 and 2009. The 2012 costs are forecast to be approximately the same as the experience in 2008 and 2009. Interveners did not object to the forecast costs.
- 546. Accordingly, the Commission is satisfied that the updated forecast costs for the gas management function, transmission function and general function for the test years are reasonable and are approved, subject to other findings in this decision.

6.3.4 Distribution function

547. The distribution function relates to operating and maintaining the distribution system facilities. The costs related to this function include the inspection and maintenance of distribution mains and services, testing, inspection, removing and resetting meters, maintenance and operating costs of regulating stations and providing customer service. Table 34 below shows the actual costs for the distribution function for 2008, 2009 and 2010, and the forecast amounts for 2011 and 2012.

Table 34. Distribution function

DISTRIBUTION	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
PRIME ACCOUNT BREAKDOWN									
Distribution Supervision - 670	16,644	2.1%	17,000	-5.3%	16,100	10.6%	17,803	12.2%	19,978
Remove & Reset Meters - 673	5,006	5.4%	5,277	-5.2%	5,000	8.4%	5,421	0.0%	5,419
Service on Customer Premises - 674	13,914	10.2%	15,332	-4.1%	14,700	7.9%	15,862	5.8%	16,779
Mains & Services - 675	30,030	2.2%	30,670	-3.3%	29,700	14.2%	33,923	6.1%	36,004
Measuring and Regulating -677	5,752	7.9%	6,208	-5.0%	5,900	25.0%	7,374	3.1%	7,600
Meters - 678	1,360	20.3%	1,636	-8.3%	1,500	13.4%	1,701	11.5%	1,897
Other Distribution Operation - 679	736	12.2%	826	-15.3%	700	25.3%	877	8.7%	953
Total	73,442	4.8%	76,948	-4.4%	73,600	12.7%	82,961	6.8%	88,630
Accounting change re meters							4,200		4,200
Adjusted total						18.3%	87,161	11.9%	92,830

Exhibit 161.03 AUC-AG-113 Attachment.

6.3.5 Distribution supervision – Account 670

548. Account 670 includes the labour and supplies for the support and supervision of the distribution function. In the application, AG explained the cost drivers for its forecast increases for the distribution supervision account for the 2011 and 2012 test years as follows:⁴²⁹

- In 2011, the cost increase stemmed from \$0.5 million of inflation, increased training costs, increased work for ATCO Pipelines, and safety initiatives.
- The \$0.3 million of increased work for ATCO Pipelines will attract incremental revenues.
- Incremental costs of \$0.6 million in 2011 and \$0.8 million in 2012 relate to an increase in training, mentoring and coaching due to past and forecast retirement activity.
- A \$0.5 million cost increase in 2011 and 2012 is attributable to safety initiatives to maintain and improve AG's safety performance due to significant workforce changes and retirements.
- In 2012 AG forecasted an additional two occupational health nurses at a cost of \$0.2 million to proactively implement preventative programs to address potential injuries in an aging workforce.
- AG is expanding its inspection program. In 2012, AG will retain an external consultant to assess AG's inspection practices regarding risks of its aging infrastructure at a cost of \$0.5 million.
- 549. The UCA accepted AG's submission that it will incur additional costs of \$0.3 million in the test years related to work to be performed for ATCO Pipelines. With respect to the remaining supervisory expenses, the UCA submitted that AG failed to justify its forecast 2011 O&M expenses beyond the 2010 actual costs escalated for inflation and system growth. The UCA submitted that AG's forecast costs should be reduced to \$17.2 million and \$18.1 million for the 2011 and 2012 test years.
- 550. AG in rebuttal evidence referred to the UCA suggestion that the basis for this account should be 2010 costs adjusted for inflation and customer growth. AG's comprehensive forecast includes a forecast cost related to addressing the effects of an aging workforce, an increase in retirement activities and a review of AG's inspection practices in 2012. Because the UCA believes that AG is immune to the impact of an aging workforce and increased retirement activities, the UCA has rejected AG's forecast and supplanted the judgment of the UCA. As discussed above, the foundation of the UCA's argument is fundamentally flawed and should be rejected.⁴³⁰
- 551. With respect to the \$0.5 million forecast costs for an external consultant to assess AG's inspection practices, the CCA submitted that one-time costs should not form the basis of revenue requirement. The CCA also submitted that if the AUC considers that this activity is needed, it could either be forecast for 2011 or removed from the revenue requirement for 2012 for determining going in rates for PBR. The CCA noted that AG identified other non-ongoing expenses in section nine of its application.

114 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

.

⁴²⁹ Application, Volume 1, pages 4.2-11 to 4.2-12.

AG reply argument, page 77, paragraph 176.

Commission findings

- 552. For Account 670, distribution supervision, the Commission accepts cost increases of \$0.5 million for inflation and \$0.3 million for the increased work provided to ATCO Pipelines. As discussed earlier in this decision, the Commission does not accept AG's arguments with respect to cost increases being driven by an aging workforce and retirements. Accordingly, the forecast cost increases of \$0.6 million for training, mentoring and coaching related to forecast retirement activity, \$0.5 million for safety initiatives related to changes to the workforce and retirements, and \$0.2 million in 2012 for the costs of two new occupational health nurses to proactively implement preventative programs to address potential injuries in the aging workforce are denied.
- 553. AG forecast the addition of an external consultant in 2012 at a cost of \$0.5 million to assess AG's inspection practices to ensure that the inspection activities are aligned appropriately with risks.
- 554. Interveners did not oppose this expenditure but the CCA submitted that it should be a one time charge. The Commission agrees with the CCA that this expenditure should be treated as a one-time cost in 2012 revenue requirement. The Commission approves the forecast costs of \$0.5 million for an assessment of inspection practices as a one time expense. AG is directed to incorporate these costs as a one time expense in its compliance filing to this decision.

6.3.6 Remove & reset meters – Account 673

- 555. Account 673 includes the costs related to labour and supplies to change, test, service, inspect, remove and reset meters. AG has forecast additional costs of \$0.65 million in 2011 and \$0.4 million in 2012 related to a commercial inspection program. AG explained that after a review of its inspection activity, a gap was identified in its inspection practices. In 2011 AG introduced an inspection program for commercial meter stations which have not historically been inspected on a routine basis.
- AG has also requested approval of an accounting change with respect to retired meters. AG has requested permission to commence the capitalization of costs related to meter exchanges when a meter is being permanently retired. The primary reason for change in accounting treatment relates to Measurement Canada's new compliance regulation (S-S-0-6) that AG stated requires it to replace meters prior to failure to measure within acceptable tolerances. The previous standard required AG to replace meters after they failed to measure within acceptable tolerances. AG stated that it must be fully compliant with the new standards by January 1, 2014. If the AUC does not approve this proposed accounting treatment, AG will need to revise its O&M forecast upwards by \$4.2 million in each of 2011 and 2012. AG is initiating changes in 2011 to ensure compliance by 2014. AG will no longer be repairing residential meters because the new shorter seal periods for refurbished meters increases sampling and replacement cycles when compared with new meters, making refurbishment uneconomic for residential meters. AG submitted that it is proposing to treat the costs associated with the removal of the meter which will be retired as removal costs, and it will capitalize the costs to install the new meter consistent with the Uniform Classification of Accounts Regulation. AG stated that the proposed

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-14.

accounting treatment is also consistent with the Uniform System of Accounts for electric utilities in Alberta. 432

557. The UCA accepted AG's forecast⁴³³ and took no position with respect to the capitalization of meter costs.

Commission findings

558. The Commission recognizes the necessity to comply with changing standards and accepts AG's proposed cost increases for the test years for the proposed commercial inspection program. However, the Commission does not approve AG's request for an accounting change to capitalize costs related to meter exchanges when a meter is being permanently retired. The cost of the "original installation of house regulators and meters" is capitalized in Account 474. "Expenses incurred in connection with removing, resetting, changing, testing and servicing customer meters and house regulators" are recorded in Account 673. AG's change in policy to use only new meters does not change the accounting requirement. AG has stated that without the approval requested the expenses in 2011 and 2012 would need to be increased by \$4.2 million. However, this amount does not agree with the \$3.1 million in 2011 and \$2.8 million in 2012 that AG planned to capitalize for the same activity. AG is directed to revise its revenue requirement accordingly in the compliance filing to this decision.

6.3.7 Service on customer premises – Account 674

- 559. Account 674 includes costs related to labour and supplies costs incurred for services on customer premises including emergency calls for gas odors, carbon monoxide, no heat, appliance checks, and the labour and supplies for the first-line supervisors of distribution operator service. AG indicated that inflation and customer growth account for most of the forecast increase in costs in this account. The remainder is largely the result of increased training costs that AG submits will be incurred as a result of increased employee turnover.⁴³⁷
- 560. Consistent with its general treatment of forecast increases in training costs not directly attributable to external factors, the UCA has not included those costs in its estimates. The UCA recommended an escalation factor resulting in forecast costs for Account 674 of \$15.3 million for 2011 and \$16.0 million for 2012.⁴³⁸

Commission findings

561. AG stated that most of the forecast cost increase over 2010 actual costs was driven by inflation and customer growth. However, AG indicated in AUC-AG-65(c)⁴³⁹ that 1.2 per cent of the total increase in 2011 and an additional 0.5 per cent of the total increase in 2012 related to training in anticipation of higher employee turnover due to aging workforce and a tightening of the market. The Commission previously rejected the justification of forecast cost increases due to

Transcript, Volume 6, pages 1226-1229.

UCA argument, paragraph 134.

Uniform Classification of Accounts Regulation, Account 474.

Uniform Classification of Accounts Regulation, Account 673.

Exhibit 3, application, page 2.1-25, Table 2.1.1.4(a).

Exhibit 82.01, response to AUC-AG-65.

⁴³⁸ Exhibit 142.02, response to AUC-UCA-16 Attachment, Revised Schedule 4 Attachments.

Exhibit 084.01, AUC-AG-65(c).

an aging workforce and a tightening of the labour market. Accordingly, the Commission directs AG to reduce the forecasted costs in Account 674 by 1.2 per cent in 2011 and 1.7 per cent in 2012 in the compliance filing to this decision.

6.3.8 Mains and services – Account 675

- 562. Account 675 mains and services includes the inspection and maintenance costs to operate the distribution system and the labour and supplies cost of front-line supervisors of distribution operators, field (DOF). This account also includes costs of repairs for any third party damages to the distribution pipeline system, line locates, odorant, training, and cathodic protection. AG has applied for approval of forecast costs for Account 675 of \$33.9 million in 2011 and \$36.0 million in 2012.
- 563. AG indicated that cost increases in the test years are the result of employee wage increases, the effects of addressing customer growth on the system, and inflation of general supplies and contractor costs. Inflation and distribution system growth accounts for a \$1.5 million increase in costs in this account over the 2010 forecast costs.
- 564. Forecast costs for the test years include two proposed initiatives. The first initiative is an increase in leak inspection activities. AG stated that only 60 per cent of leaks are found through inspection activities and only 18 per cent of the most critical leaks are identified through leak inspection. To improve its record, AG proposed to increase leak inspection activities at a cost of \$1.3 million in each of 2011 and 2012. As a result of the increased inspection activities, AG is anticipating a 20 per cent increase in repair activities at a forecast cost of \$0.6 million.
- 565. AG is proposing to add four damage prevention coordinators to work with the excavating community to increase the awareness, knowledge and skill level of those working around AG's buried facilities. The coordinators are expected to start mid-2011 and are forecast to cost \$0.2 million in 2011 and \$0.4 million in 2012. AG submitted that due to the existing damage prevention program more excavators have been calling for locates and the percentage of facilities damaged as a result of no locates has dropped from 43 per cent in 2009 to 30 per cent in September 2010. AG forecast a \$0.5 million increase in locate costs in 2011 due to the anticipated success of the expanded program.
- 566. The UCA submitted that the proposed increases do not reflect the operation of relevant external factors. However, the UCA suggested, out of an abundance of caution, that an incremental amount of \$1.0 million beyond what is suggested by inflation and system growth should be included in the forecast costs for this account. The UCA recommended that \$32.0 million and \$33.4 million be approved for 2011 and 2012, respectively.

Commission findings

567. AG has applied for approval of forecast costs for Account 675 of \$33.9 million in 2011 and \$36.0 million in 2012. AG has forecast cost increases of \$1.5 million for inflation and system growth for this account in 2011. As noted above, AG's inflation and growth forecasts have been approved.

Application, page 4.2-16, paragraph 41.

UCA argument, page 40, paragraph 136.

⁴⁴² Ibid.

Exhibit 142.02, response to AUC-UCA-16 Attachment, Revised Schedule 4 Attachments.

- 568. AG has forecast an additional \$1.3 million of costs for leak detection in each of 2011 and 2012. AG stated that only 60 per cent of leaks are found through inspection activities and only 18 per cent of the most critical leaks are identified through leak inspection. The Commission finds the additional expenditure for leak detection to be warranted in the public interest in the test years. The Commission approves the forecast cost of \$1.3 million per year for leak detection and the anticipated leak repair activities of \$0.6 million in each of 2011 and 2012.
- 569. AG also proposed adding four damage prevention coordinators beginning in the middle of 2011 to increase awareness of buried gas lines within the excavating community. The Commission commends activities to reduce line hits and notes the 40 per cent reduction in hit lines on the AG system from a high of 1,000 in 2007 to 601 in 2010,⁴⁴⁴ which resulted from the combined activities of AG and other programs such as Alberta One Call "Dial Before You Dig." The Commission approves the forecast costs and encourages AG to explore cost-effective coordination on an industry wide basis.
- 570. AG requested an approval of an additional \$0.5 million due to an anticipated increase in requests for line locate costs in 2011. Having approved the requested damage prevention coordinators, the Commission considers there will likely be an increase in requests for line locates and accordingly approves the forecasted cost of line locates.
- 571. The Commission approves the costs forecast over the test period for mains and services.

6.3.9 Measuring and regulating – Account 677

- 572. Account 677, measuring and regulating, includes maintenance and operating costs for the over 4,000 points where AG receives gas transmission service. AG forecast costs with respect to 677 for the test years of approximately \$7.4 million and \$7.6 million. AG explained that inflation of three per cent and customer growth of two per cent account for \$0.32 million of the \$1.4 million increase from 2010 actual costs to 2011 forecast costs. AG noted that additional meters were forecast to be acquired from ATCO Pipelines as a result of integration between ATCO Pipelines and NGTL, resulting in the need to add two technologist positions at a forecast cost of \$0.2 million.
- 573. In the April 21, 2011 application update, AG discussed differing maintenance requirements between line heaters at upstream well sites subject to the *Oil & Gas Conservation Act* and its Regulations⁴⁴⁵ and line heaters operating on AG's distribution system operating under the *Pipelines Act*. AG proposed a new line heater inspection program at a forecast annual cost of approximately \$0.9 million per year. AG indicated that similar inspection programs are mandated for line heaters in upstream gas production and that its proposal is to follow that standard even though it acknowledged that it is not legally bound by the same requirement. AG noted in the oral hearing that downstream line heaters on the AG system would still have corrosion risks event though the content of the gas stream would contain less liquids and water than upstream flows. Mr. Feltham stated:

Oil and Gas Conservation Regulations 151/1971.

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-81(a).

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence at paragraph 205.

Transcript, Volume 3, page 536, lines 18 to 24.

Actually, the biggest concern that we have with the -- it's a high pressure pipe coil inside of a glycol bath, and the biggest concern we have there is corrosion. And glycol you can't see through, so there's no way to visually inspect it. 448

- 574. AG has 607 line heaters and AG estimates the cost of inspection as \$7,000⁴⁴⁹ per unit for a total forecast cost of \$4.2 million. AG states that it would inspect 125 units per year over a five-year period.
- 575. The UCA argued that AG has never performed the proposed type of inspection in the past⁴⁵⁰ and it did not indicate that it had ever experienced internal corrosion problems with any of its over 600 line heaters. The UCA submitted that the \$0.9 million of annual expenditures on a program that AG is not legally required to undertake could not be supported without empirical justification
- 576. The UCA noted that AG had forecast costs for additional technologists to work with meters proposed to be purchased from ATCO Pipelines. The UCA stated that the application does not include a business case or any other support to demonstrate a necessity for additional technologists to maintain and operate additional meters transferred from ATCO Pipelines as a result of integration. The UCA did acknowledge, however, in response to AG-UCA-21(a), costs related to the integration of the ATCO Pipelines system may be a new and externally driven expense.
- 577. In reply argument, AG noted that unlike the oil and gas industry, most of its line heaters are situated near populated areas, which increases the consequences of a failure.⁴⁵²

Commission findings

- 578. The evidence submitted by AG with respect to the line heater inspection program has not persuaded the Commission that these inspections are required during the test period. The Commission notes that AG stated that line heaters on well sites have a legal requirement for inspection every five years but AG is not legally bound to abide by this same inspection requirement. Further AG has not inspected its line heaters in the past and AG has not supplied any evidence to suggest that it should begin inspecting line heaters during the test period. Given the above, the Commission denies the line heater inspection costs of \$0.9 million per year. The Commission also observes that it has approved the forecast costs associated with AG's line heater improvements program to meet OH&S standards and improved reliability enhancements on non-compliant meters during the test years.
- 579. AG is forecasting additional meters to be transferred from ATCO Pipelines as a result of integration and AG proposes to add two technologists to maintain these meters at a forecast cost of \$0.2 million for each of 2011 and 2012. However, in Section 2.1 of the application AG states that there is uncertainty surrounding what additional metering equipment AG may purchase from ATCO Pipelines.⁴⁵⁴ As confirmed by Mr. Schmidt in testimony, the proposed costs relate to

Exhibit 118.01, Attachment 5, paragraph 4.

⁴⁴⁸ Ibid., page 537, lines 17-21.

Transcript, Volume 2 at page 277, line 18.

⁴⁵¹ Exhibit 143.02.

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument, page 79, paragraphs 181 to 182.

⁴⁵³ Ibid., paragraph 3.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Section 2.1, page 21, paragraph 59.

technologists required to maintain non-SCADA meters to be transferred by ATCO Pipelines in the 2012 test year. ⁴⁵⁵ Accordingly, the Commission approves the forecast cost of \$0.2 million for the two technologists for the 2012 test year.

580. The Commission considers the costs forecast over the test period for measuring and regulating, Account 677, after the above adjustments, are reasonable and are approved.

6.3.10 Metering and other – Accounts 678 and 679

Table 35. Metering and Other

	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Act vs. 2008 Act	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Act vs 2009 Act	2010 Actual (\$000)	2011 Fcst. vs. 2010 Act	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Fcst vs. 2-11 Fcst.	2012 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Fcst vs. 2010 Act
Meters - 678	1,360	20.3%	1,636	-8.3%	1,500	13.4%	1,701	11.5%	1,897	26.5%
Other - 679	736	12.2%	826	-15.3%	700	25.3%	877	8.7%	953	36.1%

- 581. AG has requested approval for \$1.7 million in 2011 and \$1.9 million in 2012 for account 678; and for \$0.9 million and \$1.0 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively for account 679.
- 582. ATCO Gas indicated that the increase in Account 678 relates to the sampling of pressure and temperature correction instruments starting in 2011. The instruments were given a seven-year seal period in 2005 by Measurement Canada, making 2011 the first year where sampling is required. 456
- 583. The UCA submitted that the forecast costs for account 678 should be \$1.6 million for each of 2011 and 2012 and for account 679 \$0.7 million for 2011 and \$0.8 million for 2012, representing a 4.4 per cent increase over 2010 actuals.

Commission findings

584. AG provided limited support for the forecast increase to the costs for accounts 678 and 679. Accordingly, in the absence of any other substantive information, the Commission considers that an adjustment of five per cent for inflation and growth is justified for each of the test years. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to forecast costs for accounts 678 and 679 by escalating 2010 actual costs by a factor of five per cent per year.

120 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

-

Transcript, Volume 2 at page 377, lines 18 to 22.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 56, paragraph 206.

O&M Total	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
Supervision – 700	196	71.4%	336	-40.5%	200	69.5%	339	3.2%	350
Advertising – 701	2,230	6.0%	2,364	-11.2%	2,100	35.3%	2,841	35.6%	3,853
Demonstration and Selling Expense – 702	1,097	35.6%	1,487	0.9%	1,500	107.5%	3,112	12.1%	3,490
Home Service – 705	916	9.5%	1,003	-0.3%	1,000	65.9%	1,659	9.2%	1,812
Total	4,439	16.9%	5,190	-7.5%	4,800	65.6%	7,951	19.5%	9,505

6.3.11 Sales and transportation promotion function

585. AG has applied for approval of forecast costs of 7.9 million in 2011 and \$9.5 million in 2012 for the sales transportation promotion function. The 2011 forecast is an increase from the actual costs in 2009 of \$3.1 million with a further increase of \$1.6 million to 2012.

586. AG submitted that as part of its responsibility to safely and reliably deliver natural gas, AG has the responsibility to communicate safety, energy efficiency and conservation information to its customers, employees, and the public. ⁴⁵⁷ AG submitted that there are a number of factors that affect this responsibility, including growth in population, location of AG assets, the goals and objectives of government and AG customers, and evolving media. ⁴⁵⁸ AG submitted that several communication channels had proven effective for AG. AG requested Commission approval for forecasted costs in respect of each of the three primary areas: customer relations and communications, DSM, and BFK.

587. In the application, in addition to the functional expense account breakdown presented in the table above, AG provided the following summary of costs by primary area in the following table:

Table 36.	Primary areas of sales and transportation promotion function	459

	2008 Actual (\$million)	2009 Actual (\$million)	2010 Actual (\$million)	2011 Forecast (\$million)	2012 Forecast (\$million)
Cust. Relations & Communications	2.2	2.2	1.9	2.4	3.5
DSM	1.3	1.9	1.7	3.5	3.9
BFK	1.0	1.1	1.2	2.0	2.1
Total	4.5	5.2	4.8	7.9 ⁴⁶⁰	9.5

Exhibit 3, application, pages 4.2-21-4.2-22.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-21.

Exhibit 3, application, Table 4.2.2.5(b).

The application AG had an amount of \$8.5 million which was reduced by \$0.6 million for the comprehensive DSM program research expenditure forecast which was moved to 2012 as a one-time adjustment.

- 588. Some of the projects within these areas discussed below include an event to mark AG's centennial anniversary, the BFK Calgary Learning Centre, a school program which includes the Energy Education Mobiles (EEM), an Incentive/Rebate Program and DSM.
- 589. This section of the decision will consider customer relations and communications and the BFK. Section 6.3.14 will consider demand side management. The account specific comments of the interveners are address in the relevant sections below.

6.3.12 Blue Flame Kitchen

- 590. AG is requesting approval of forecast costs of \$2.0 million in 2011 and \$2.1 million in 2012 for the BFK. This is an increase from the 2010 actuals of \$1.2 million. AG indicated that the increases in forecast costs are due to the re-introduction of a physical presence for the BFK in Calgary, inflation, and the addition of a home economist in 2012. AG opened its BFK Calgary Learning Centre in 2010. AG has requested the inclusion of \$1.9 million for the Calgary BFK in rate base as of 2011 and operating costs of \$1.0 million for 2011 and \$1.1 million for 2012.
- 591. The forecast costs associated with the BFK in Calgary were denied in Decision 2008-113. In that decision, the Commission commented on both the "legacy" nature of the Edmonton BFK and the proposed re-opening of a physical presence in Calgary. In relation to the Calgary, the Commission stated:

With respect to the re-opening of the BFK in Calgary, the Commission considers that AG has not demonstrated to the Commission's satisfaction that the facility in Calgary is warranted. AG has not shown how direct communication with customers will be established or the amount of customer traffic that it expects will use the facility in any given year, particularly if communication with customers has trended more to the electronic format (the high-tech world). The Commission is not convinced that the service cannot be provided through the Edmonton office.

Further, the Commission notes that the BFK in Edmonton was considered to be a "legacy" service. The Commission views that this legacy service was related to AG's former involvement in the retail gas business. Given the responsibilities of retailers and their ability to offer product differentiation to customers the Commission does not consider that additional BFK resources should be approved in this Application. The Commission accepts the submissions of the interveners that the facility is not needed at the present time and denies inclusion of capital costs in revenue requirement for the BFK facility in Calgary.

If AG wants to reopen this issue, the Commission considers that AG should address the reasons it used for originally closing the facility in Calgary, and how circumstances have changed which would justify these costs being included in future revenue requirements.⁴⁶⁴ (footnotes omitted)

592. AG responded to the Commission's direction in Decision 2008-113 to address the closing of the original Calgary BFK facility and the changing circumstances justifying its reintroduction stating:

122 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

⁴⁶¹ Exhibit 93.01, AUC-AG-62, page 12 of 21.

Exhibit 3, application, pages 4.2-28-4.2-30.

Exhibit 110.07, page 53, A.75.

While ATCO Gas may have mistakenly thought that the entire province could be served from a single location, the fact remains that the combined effect of ATCO Gas needing to engage a growing base of customers, and a much changed media environment, challenges old approaches to deliver utility messaging.

By having a Blue Flame Kitchen in Alberta's two major centres, ATCO Gas is able to create multiple touch points to create a favorable environment to deliver safety and energy efficiency messages to customers and gain valuable earned advertising opportunities.⁴⁶⁵

- 593. By "earned advertising," AG was referring to favourable publicity that is gained when stories and articles are produced about a product. AG indicated that a mix of media is required in order to reach consumers and to build awareness of living and working safely around natural gas facilities. AG also indicated that a physical presence will allow AG to include an interactive EnergySense kiosk allowing communication with respect to demand side management initiatives.
- 594. AG argued that expanding the BFK to Calgary will "help to ensure that AG is able to get its safety and conservation messages out to a wider audience than it otherwise would." AG indicated that the physical presence of a BFK facility provides the opportunity for a "sustained presence through all mainstream media (print, electronic, broadcast, social media)." AG provided historic and forecast information about the use of the BFK in several IR responses providing statistics on public contact with the BFK via internet, telephone and personal visits. AG indicated that traffic to the BFK website was 311,966 in 2010 and forecast learning center program participants of 1,130 in 2011.
- 595. The UCA submitted that AG has not met the Commission's requirements for the establishment of a Calgary BFK outlined in Decision 2008-113. AG has not demonstrated any quantifiable benefits in terms of cost savings or identified how the delivery of messages via this "communication channel" is required for the distribution services and the delivery of public safety messages for ". . . public safety in the context of the delivery of safe, reliable, natural gas delivery service."
- 596. The UCA also argued that BFK in Calgary is not a "legacy service" and was not provided on a continual basis and was discontinued by AG.⁴⁷² The EUB found in Decision 2006-024⁴⁷³ for ATCO Electric, who was at the time a partner with AG, that the services provided by the BFK are not necessary for the provision of distribution service.⁴⁷⁴ AG is the only Canadian distribution utility that has facilities with demonstration kitchens.⁴⁷⁵ While AG may claim that the Calgary

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-29.

Application, page 4.2-23, paragraph 60.

Application, page 4.2-29, paragraph 82.

Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-81, Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-87 and UCA-AG-88.

Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-81(a) and (e).

Exhibit 163.01, paragraph 224, page 59 (PDF).

Exhibit 3, Section 4.2.2.5, paragraph. 84 and Exhibit 110.7, page 49, A.69.

Exhibit 110.07, page 55, A.78.

Decision 2006-024: ATCO Electric Ltd., General Tariff Application, Application No. 1399997, March 17, 2006.

⁴⁷⁴ Cited in Exhibit 110.07, page 55 A. 80.

⁴⁷⁵ Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-81 d).

BFK or the BFK programs are necessary "to cut through the media clutter that exists today," ⁴⁷⁶ AG only spends \$50,000 per year promoting safety messages in the ATCO BFK ⁴⁷⁷ compared to the \$2 million per year it takes to operate and maintain the BFK. ⁴⁷⁸ The UCA argued that the cost does not justify the necessity of having the BFK as a communication channel.

- 597. The UCA submitted that all costs, including the capital costs, incurred for the Calgary BFK should be denied for the test period 2011-2012. Capital costs for assets that were incurred in the past but were not approved should be removed from rate base. The UCA stated "There is no need to promote safety through nutritional, lunch programs or cooking demonstrations." 479
- 598. The UCA did not address in evidence whether the Edmonton BFK should be disallowed⁴⁸⁰ and in testimony made general comments with respect to DSM but had no specific position with respect to the Edmonton BFK.⁴⁸¹ In argument, however, the UCA stated that the costs for the Edmonton BFK should be disallowed for the reasons outlined by the UCA for the disallowance of DSM programs.⁴⁸²
- 599. The CCA does not support the expansion of the BFK into an educational role. The CCA considers that the AUC should not permit AG to enter into or expand its offering of educational services. The CCA does not support the increase of positions from 12 to 21 for the BFK and recommended that staffing levels should be reduced. Given the AUC's previous ruling concerning the Calgary BFK, all associated costs should be removed from the revenue requirement for the test years.
- 600. AG submitted that it has a legislated responsibility to communicate with its customers. 484 In order to ensure the safe, reliable delivery of natural gas, AG "needs to not just control the behavior and influence the behavior of its employees, but also anybody that comes close to or interacts with our system, so not just our customers, but the public too." 485 Because the BFK has an audience that is already actively soliciting information from the utility, AG submitted that it is able to capitalize on that fact and use this communication channel to cut through the media clutter. 486
- 601. AG submitted that the UCA appears to contradict its evidence on the record with regard to the expenditures related to the BFK. In argument, for the first time, the UCA took the position that not only the Calgary BFK but all costs related to the BFK, including costs related to the Edmonton BFK, should be removed from AG's revenue requirement forecast⁴⁸⁷ contrary to its evidence which only opposed the expansion of existing programs.⁴⁸⁸ Given the change in position

⁴⁸² UCA Argument, page 71, paragraph 239.

Exhibit 163.01, paragraph 224, page 59 (PDF).

Exhibit 84, AUC-AG-80, page 2 of 3.

Exhibit 3, application, Volume 1, Section 4.2, Table 4.2.2.5 (b).

Exhibit 110.07, page 56, Q/A 81.

⁴⁸⁰ Transcript, Volume 8, pages 1729-1731.

⁴⁸¹ Ibid

Transcript, Volume 2, page 385.

AUC-AG-70(b), Section 4 Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation (Alberta Regulation 186/2003), rebuttal, paragraph 215.

Transcript, Volume 2, page 390, lines 16-17.

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument, page 82.

UCA argument, page 71, paragraph 239.

Transcript, Volume 8, pages 1728-1729, commencing at line 21.

at this late stage in the proceeding, and the lack of evidentiary support, the Commission should give zero weight to the new positions of the UCA.

602. AG submitted that a change in circumstances warrants the opening of the Calgary BFK.⁴⁸⁹ The number of customers that AG serves today has increased significantly from the level back in 1998. Media clutter has similarly increased as technology has advanced.

Commission findings

603. AG has requested approval of forecast O&M costs of \$2.0 million for 2011 and \$2.1 million in 2012 for the BFK. The costs relate to the continuing operation of the Edmonton BFK, referred to as a "legacy" service and the new BFK's Calgary Learning Centre.

The Commission considered the status of the Edmonton BFK in Decision 2008-113. The Commission pointed out that the BFK service started with AG's former role in the retail gas business and found that the Edmonton BFK was a "legacy" service. With respect to the re-opening of the BFK in

- 604. In regards to AE, which was at one time a partner with AG in the BFK, the Commission's predecessor, the EUB took a more firm position in relation to the BFK. In Decision 2006-024 for the 2005-2006 General Tariff Application for ATCO Electric, the EUB, stated: "However, the Board does not consider that the services provided by the Blue Flame Kitchen are necessary for the provision of distribution services." 490
- 605. In this application, the Commission was asked to approve forecast costs related to both the "legacy" Edmonton BFK and the new Calgary BFK. Prior to considering the applied for costs, the Commission must first address the question of whether the BFK service should continue to be provided by AG as a regulated gas distribution utility.
- 606. AG primarily supports the inclusion of BFK costs as one method of communicating with customers to deliver safety and energy efficiency messages. Another justification for the BFK is the ability to communicate with customers regarding DSM.
- 607. The Commission has considered the responsibilities of gas distributors as set out in the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*. The role of a gas distributor in providing services relating to energy efficiency and DSM will be examined relative to Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles, Relationships, and Responsibilities Regulation* in the following section on DSM.
- 608. With respect to the distribution of safety information, Section 4(1)(k) provides that a gas distributor must distribute public safety information. The BFK distributes safety information and provides education with respect to the gas distribution system. In order to determine if the costs associated with the public safety and gas distribution information aspects of the BFK are reasonable and should be included in customer rates, the Commission will consider the applied for costs and the alternatives available to perform these functions.
- 609. Although the Commission notes the AG data and statistics on the use of the BFK in Calgary and Edmonton, the Commission is not persuaded that the operation of the BFK program

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 125

⁴⁸⁹ AUC-AG-81.

⁴⁹⁰ Page 43.

is a cost effective means to communicate distribution service information or natural gas safety information.

- 610. AG explained that it spends \$50,000 per year on "cross-promotion of safety messages" through the BFK⁴⁹¹ while the forecast for the test period for the BFK is \$2 million per year. ⁴⁹² The Commission considers that BFK provides a disproportionate amount of costs for the safety and gas distribution service communication benefits received. Further, AG is the only Canadian distribution utility that has a facility like the BFK Calgary Learning Centre. ⁴⁹³ The Commission is not persuaded that the Edmonton BFK is required in light of the limited benefit that customers receive through safety and gas distribution communication through the BFK. The Commission finds that the BFK is not a cost effective means of proving public safety communication. Further, AG has other options to meet its responsibility to distribute public safety information. For the preceding reasons, AG is directed to remove all Edmonton BFK costs from 2011 opening rate base and from revenue requirement for the test years, including both capital and O&M related costs. For the same reasons the request to include in revenue requirement costs associated with the Calgary BFK is denied.
- 611. The Commission does, however, continue to support the expenditure of \$50,000 per year on safety messaging that the BFK has provided in the past. AG may add this expenditure to its Customer Relations and Communications forecast for the test years. AG is directed to advise the Commission in the compliance filing to this decision as to the mechanism it will use to promote natural gas safety matters and gas distribution education information to customers.

6.3.13 Customer relations and communications

- 612. Customer relations and communications includes the following areas: employee communications, customer communications, media relations, community relations, public safety education, and information programs. AG applied for costs of \$2.4 million in 2011 and \$3.5 million in 2012⁴⁹⁴ for customer relations and communications. This is an increase from \$2.2 million actual costs in 2009 and \$1.9 million actual costs in 2010. AG submitted that the increase in costs in 2011 was due to inflation, AG becoming a year-round presence in the marketplace with safety messaging, and the development of communications plans for the ATCO 100th Anniversary (Centennial Anniversary) in 2012. The Centennial Anniversary forecast costs were \$0.25 million in 2011 and \$1.1 million in 2012, which accounts for the majority of the incremental costs in this area.
- 613. The UCA expressed concern about the increase in forecast costs and pointed out that there was little demonstrated need for AG incremental costs in this area, and some of these costs were to the benefit of shareholders.⁴⁹⁷
- 614. In evidence, ⁴⁹⁸ Calgary concurred with the UCA that the primary purpose of the Centennial expenditures is for the benefit of the shareholders and as such should not be included in the revenue requirement.

Exhibit 84, AUC-AG-80, page 2 of 3.

Exhibit 3, application, Vol. 1, Section 4.2 Table 4.2.2.5(b).

⁴⁹³ AUC-AG-81(d).

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-25.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-27.

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-90(b).

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-86(b); Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-80.

615. AG submitted that its Centennial Program in 2012 is another element of AG's integrated strategy to promote awareness of the services provided by AG and its facilities, address natural gas safety issues, promote conservation of non-renewable resources, and promote recruitment and retention of employees in the various communities it serves.

Commission findings

- 616. Similar to the Commission's finding with respect to AG's BFK program above, the Commission is of the view that the increase in costs for the purpose of the Centennial Anniversary celebration is not justified as a cost effective means to communicate safety matters and is unnecessary for the provision of safe and reliable delivery of natural gas. Accordingly AG is directed to remove the forecast costs associated with the Centennial Anniversary from the sales and transportation promotions function for the 2011 and 2012 test years.
- 617. The Commission approves the balance of the forecast costs in this area.

6.3.14 Demand side management (DSM) programs

- 618. AG has requested approval of O&M costs and the capital expenditures detailed in Section 6.3.14 for the 2011 and 2012 test years for a number of projects collectively described as DSM programs. These projects and the related costs are presented in the following table. AG noted that it has been providing "DSM programs" and services since 2001 through ATCO Energy Sense (EnergySense). AG's DSM activities have primarily been focused on education and outreach. AG has also been evaluating alternative and renewable thermal energy technologies which have been explored through pilot projects. AG's actual DSM for labour and supplies was \$1.65 million in 2010 which are currently recorded in the sales and transportation promotion function. AG requested approval:
 - to expand or enhance certain existing DSM related programs
 - for expenditures related to research and a rebate/incentive pilot to be used to determine
 what future DSM programs might be best managed on a utility sponsored basis and how
 to structure those programs and
 - to offer a limited Renewable Energy Program service offering

Ibid

⁴⁹⁸ Exhibit 110.07.

Application, Section 4.4.1, page 4.4-2, paragraph 5.

Table 37.	DSM forecast ⁵⁰¹
I able Ji.	DOM IDICCASI

DSM Labour Supplies Breakdown	2010 Forecast (000)	2011 Forecast (000)	2012 Forecast (000)
Labour	,	, ,	, ,
Current Program	1,205	1,288	1,482
Energy Education Mobiles		149	262
Commercial Program		120	124
Total Labour	1,205	1,557	1,868
Supplies			
Current Program	441	639	781
School Program		725	725
How To Videos		50	150
DSM Market Analysis Study		600	-
Home Energy Report Program		350	300
Small Commercial Program		96	96
Total Supplies	441	2,560	2,052
Total	1,646	4,117	3,920

- 619. AG has delivered a school program targeted at grade four students since early 2010 which included the use of an Energy Education Mobile (EEM) vehicle. AG is requesting approval of costs related to an expansion of this program. Forecast costs include the acquisition of two additional EEMs at a capital cost of \$2 million, staffing costs of \$149,000 in 2011 and \$262,000 in 2012, and incremental supplies costs of \$725,000 for each of 2011 and 2012. ⁵⁰²
- 620. AG plans to develop a series of "How-To Videos" that customers would be able to access at the Company website or view at other outreach events such as home shows and tradeshows with regard to energy efficiency matters. AG is requesting approval of the production costs of \$150,000 in each of 2011 and 2012.⁵⁰³
- 621. AG plans a residential pilot program which will provide 25,000 customers with a comparative analysis of their energy consumption and information and advice that they can utilize to reduce energy consumption. The forecast cost of this pilot is \$350,000 in 2011 and \$300,000 in 2012.⁵⁰⁴
- 622. In 2001 AG became involved in the administration of government energy incentive programs. Since 2007, AG has been providing residential assessments province-wide. In AUC-AG-75 (b), AG forecast approximately \$1.0 million in residential assessment costs in revenue requirement in each of 2011 and 2012. In discussion with Commission Member Holgate at the oral hearing Mr. Morishita and Ms Wilson confirmed that although the costs of these programs

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.4-21, Table 9.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.4-22.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.4-22.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.4-23.

Exhibit 3, application, pages 4.4-18-19.

are included in revenue requirement, these are unregulated programs and are priced in a manner to ensure that costs are recovered over time. 506

- 623. In 2011 AG plans to introduce a small commercial customer assessment service more tailored to these customers' needs. Two additional commercial energy analysts would be required at a forecast cost of \$0.12 million per year. The cost of supplies associated with this program, are forecast at \$0.1 million per year for each of 2011 and 2012.⁵⁰⁷
- 624. AG also applied to introduce a Renewable Energy Program⁵⁰⁸ (REP) for alternative and renewable energy technologies which would supplement or replace traditional natural gas and water heating markets. AG requested approval for:
 - the capital and operating costs related to three existing REP projects (McKenzie Towne, Town of Hinton and Drake Landing)⁵⁰⁹
 - capital expenditures of \$1.5 million in 2011 and \$3.0 million in 2012 for new REP projects⁵¹⁰ and
 - the concept used to determine the pricing of renewable energy services related to the implementation of geothermal and solar energy delivery systems⁵¹¹
- 625. AG has completed renewable energy (geothermal and solar thermal) pilot projects in McKenzie Towne and the Town of Hinton. The capital and operating costs associated with these projects were included in forecast revenue requirement. AG is also a part owner of the Drake Landing Corporation for the Drake Landing Solar Community demonstration project, and is currently the operator of these assets. AG included the forecast revenues and operating costs related to the Drake Landing Solar Community project commencing in the year 2011. AG has the opportunity to assume full ownership of the Drake Landing renewable energy assets effective January 1, 2012 and has reflected this in the forecast revenues and operating costs for 2012. In response to UCA-AG-62(a), AG provided the actual capital expenditures for the McKenzie Towne project as \$0.2 million and \$0.6 million in 2008 and 2009 respectively. Actual capital expenditures for the Town of Hinton project were \$0.1 million in 2009. AG did not specify the operating costs for these projects.
- 626. AG also requested approval for a \$600,000 research study⁵¹² to assist in developing its own comprehensive DSM plan, and included a forecast of \$1.0 million as a one-time adjustment in 2012 for a rebate/incentive pilot program.⁵¹³ A utility delivered DSM plan and associated programs proposal would be filed with the Commission for approval at a future time.⁵¹⁴
- 627. AG noted that the Alberta Government's policy documents, including the current Provincial Energy Strategy and the Climate Change Strategy indicate a "high level objective ... for the province to become a sophisticated energy consumer and a solid global environmental

Transcript, Volume 3, pages 528 to 529.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.4-23.

Application, Section 4.4.6, paragraphs 64-75.

Section 4.4.6 of the AG application.

Section 4.4-26 of the AG application, paragraph 64.

Section 4.4-27 of the AG application, paragraph 71.

Section 4.4.7, paragraph 81 of AG application.

Section 4.4.7, paragraph 81 of AG application.

Application, Section 4.4.7, paragraphs 76-85.

citizen."⁵¹⁵ AG submitted that its existing and expanded DSM programs serve to narrow the gap in terms of achieving the Alberta Government strategy for energy and climate change.⁵¹⁶

- 628. AG referred to Section 28(e) of the *Gas Utilities Act* and Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*, A.R. 186/2003 as support for the inclusion of DSM programs in revenue requirement.
- 629. Sections28(e), (f) and (h) of the Gas Utilities Act provide:
 - (e) "gas distribution service" means the service required to transport gas to customers by means of a gas distribution system, and includes any services the gas distributor is required to provide by the Commission or is required to provide under this Act or the regulations;
 - (f) "gas distribution system" means a gas utility that delivers gas to customers through a system of pipelines, works, plan and equipment that is primarily a low pressure system;
 - (h) "gas distributor" means the owner, operator, manager or lessee of a gas distribution system;
- 630. Section 4(1)(b) of the Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation provides:
 - **4(1)** A gas distributor must do the following:
 - (b) make decisions about building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system for the purpose of providing safe, reliable and economic delivery of gas to customers in the service area served by the gas distribution system;
- 631. AG explained that these legislative provisions supported AG's DSM projects because:

The legislative requirement for "economic delivery of gas" means, in ATCO Gas' view, that it is required to consider mechanisms for reduction of natural gas use/conservation. 517

The legislative requirement for safety and "economic delivery of gas" means, in ATCO Gas' view, that it is required to develop effective mechanisms for safe use of gas and distribution facilities, as well as for energy efficiency and conservation.⁵¹⁸

632. In argument AG commented on this position further by stating:

ATCO Gas notes that the term "gas distribution system" is defined in Section 28 of the Gas Utilities Act ("GUA") as "a gas utility that delivers gas to customers through a system of pipelines, works, plant and equipment that is primarily a low pressure system" (emphasis added). Based on this definition, AG is of the view that the phrase "...building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system..." in Section 4(1)(b) of the 3R Reg is not restricted to building, upgrading and improving the pipes in the ground. Rather,

AUC-AU-70(0)

Transcript, Volume 2, page 399, lines 1-4.

Transcript, Volume 2, page 399-400.

⁵¹⁷ AUC-AG-51(b).

⁵¹⁸ AUC-AG-70(b).

this provision requires a gas distributor to make decisions about building, upgrading and improving its delivery of gas through the system. By providing DSM programs to its customers, ATCO Gas submits that it is making decisions that serve to improve its delivery of natural gas through the system for the purpose of providing economic delivery of natural gas to customers. As was noted by ATCO Gas, DSM provides the opportunity in the longer term to reduce the expansion of its distribution system, and reduce its transmission peak requirements.⁵¹⁹ (footnote omitted)

- 633. AG also stated in its rebuttal evidence that the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation* requires the company to develop and implement effective programs and communications for its customers regarding safe use of natural gas as well as for energy efficiency and conservation.⁵²⁰ Further, AG submitted that costs for renewable energy services form part of its "gas distribution service" and its *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation* responsibilities.⁵²¹
- 634. AG indicated that the Commission and its predecessors, the Alberta Public Utilities Board (PUB) and the EUB, have approved forecast costs associated with DSM programs on several occasions.⁵²²
- 635. AG noted that it serves over 85 per cent of the homes in the Province of Alberta. 523 Therefore, AG's DSM efforts will have broad application that will reach the vast majority of natural gas customers in Alberta. Further, given the dispersion of customers, some customers would not have had the opportunity to participate in certain DSM programs such as energy assessment audits, if left to the competitive marketplace alone.
- 636. In its application, AG also provided its rationale for providing regulated renewable energy program (REP) services:
 - Support for renewable energy development was consistent with the Alberta Provincial Energy Strategy.
 - The necessary economic drivers do not exist at this time to effect substantive market penetration of renewable energy solutions.
 - Utilization of renewable energy technologies to supplement or replace traditional natural gas technologies will reduce natural gas consumption. 524
- 637. AG submitted that the purpose of the renewable energy program services is to stimulate interest in renewable energy technologies by making them more visible in the marketplace and to help consumers overcome the cost barrier that exists today.⁵²⁵

Views of the parties

638. Climate Change Central (C3) characterized itself as a not-for-profit organization which administers and delivers province-wide DSM programs for the Alberta government, the federal

Transcript, Volume 1, page 75, line 13.

AG argument, pages 84-85, paragraph 216.

Rebuttal evidence, page 75, paragraph 298.

AG argument, page 88, paragraph 223.

⁵²² AUC-AG-70(b).

Application, Section 4.4.6, page 4.4-24.

Rebuttal evidence, page 81, paragraph 321.

government, various cities and municipalities in Alberta and corporate clients. C3 only participated in this proceeding with respect to the DSM costs being proposed by AG to be included in revenue requirement.

639. C3 submitted that the DSM components of AG's application should be denied for the following reasons:

- There is no mandate or governing legislation for ratepayer funded, utility administered DSM overseen by the Commission.
- There is no framework in place to review and assess the DSM components of the application and prior EUB decisions do not provide a precedent to approve the DSM components of the current application.⁵²⁶
- There is no evidence that the research and pilot program proposed by AG will add value to existing DSM research and program knowledge.
- Approval of the DSM components of the application represents a "slippery slope" and sets a precedent in support of a ratepayer funded, utility administered model for DSM in Alberta which could lead to other utilities (electricity, water and gas) making similar, uncoordinated applications to the Commission.
- Approval of the DSM components of the application is premature given the broader consultation process that C3 has initiated.
- The appropriate model of delivering DSM should be determined through a broader, more inclusive, stakeholder consultation process than a general rate application by a single utility.⁵²⁸
- There is no government policy direction on DSM in Alberta, and the Alberta Government has not asked AG to initiate a DSM program. 529

640. The primary focus of C3's intervention is the \$600,000 research program and the \$1,000,000 incentive/rebate pilot that has been proposed by AG.⁵³⁰ C3 is not opposed to ATCO EnergySense continuing its public education and outreach services at existing levels, or at expanded levels, if the services are shown by AG to be cost-effective.⁵³¹ However, AG should not be permitted to expand existing programs.

641. C3, Calgary and the UCA each argued that there is no legislative support for AG's expanded DSM programs. In support of this position, the following arguments have been raised:

• Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*⁵³² does not support DSM activities. ⁵³³

Transcript, Volume 1 at page 56, lines 9-11.

132 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

-

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1522, lines 16-23.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1522, line 11.

Exhibit 202.02.969, paragraph 49.

C3 argument, page 5, paragraph 10 referring to programs outlined in the application at page 4.4-31, paragraph 80 to page 4.4-32, Table 11.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1446, lines 17-20; page 1450, line 24 to page 1451, line 21; page 1453, lines 5-17.

Section 28 of the Gas Utilities Act. Section 4(1) of the Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation.

C3 argument, pages 6-9, paragraphs 13-19. Calgary argument, page 34-35. UCA argument, pages 67-68, paragraphs 226-227, as well as page 75, paragraph 250.

- The scope of the phrase "gas distribution service." as defined in Section 28 of the *Gas Utilities Act*, suggests that AG should not conduct DSM programs (unless expressly directed by the AUC).⁵³⁴
- Prior AUC decisions support the position that there is no legislative authority for AG's DSM programs. 535
- There is a need for legislative change in this area and there is no Alberta Government or AUC "mandate" for DSM, and thus the AUC should deny AG's expanded DSM program.⁵³⁶
- 642. C3 and Calgary argued that "economic delivery" of gas referred to in Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles, Reglationships and Responsibilities Regulation* does not include DSM initiatives. C3 stated that "economic delivery" relates to the commodity and "...building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system is intended to provide the same level of gas at the lowest (most economic) acceptable cost to ratepayers...[which] does not address energy efficiency" (emphasis provided by C3).
- 643. C3 referred to the list of functions of a gas distributor enumerated in Section 4(1) of the *Roles, Reglationships and Responsibilities Regulation* and referred to principles of statutory interpretation in support of its position that DSM programs are not proper activities of a gas distributor. C3 stated:

It is a general principle of statutory interpretation that a partial enumeration of things, such as that set out in subsection 4(1) of the 3R Regulation, is meant to be exhaustive, and anything left off the list is, by implication, meant to be excluded. This is known as the implied exclusion rule. Ruth Sullivan, in her text, *Statutory Interpretation*, describes the implied exclusion rule as follows:

An intention to exclude may legitimately be implied whenever a thing is not mentioned in a context where, if it were meant to be included, one would have expected it to be expressly mentioned. Given an expectation of express mention, the silence of the legislature becomes meaningful. An expectation of express reference legitimately arises wherever a pattern or practice of express reference is discernible. Since such patterns and practices are common in legislation, reliance on implied exclusion reasoning is also common.³⁹

Pierre Côté, in his text, *The Interpretation of Legislation in Canada*, also provides the following guidance:

Legislation is deemed to be well drafted, and to express completely what the legislature wanted to say: "It is a strong thing to read into an Act of Parliament words which are not there, and in the absence of clear necessity it is a wrong thing to do." 40

C3 argument, page 10-11, paragraphs 23-24 and 26. Calgary argument, pages 38-39. UCA argument, pages 68-69, paragraphs 229-231.

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 133

³⁹ Ruth Sullivan, *Statutory Interpretation*, 2d ed (Toronto: Irvin Law Inc., 2007) at 192.

UCA argument, page 68, paragraph 227.

⁵³⁶ C3 argument, paragraph 39 (re: legislative change), as well as page 5-17 (re: mandate). Calgary argument, page 38. UCA argument, paragraph 243 and 253.

⁵³⁷ C3 argument, page 7, paragraph 15.

- ⁴⁰ Pierre Côté, *The Interpretation of Legislation in Canada*, 3d ed (Scarborough: Thomson Canada Limited, 2000) at 276 per Lord Mersey, *Thompson v Goold & Co.*, [1910] A.C. 409, 420. ⁵³⁸
- 644. C3, Calgary and the UCA cited Decisions 2009-238⁵³⁹ and 2010-483⁵⁴⁰ to support the position that there is no legislative authority to include customer education and energy efficiency-related costs in AG's revenue requirement.⁵⁴¹ C3 also cited Decisions 2009-238 and 2010-483 to suggest that AG's existing public education and outreach services should be excluded from its revenue requirement.⁵⁴²
- 645. Calgary submitted that the DSM and renewable energy program services should not be approved because there should be a province-wide strategy in place. Calgary was concerned that an individual utility initiated DSM program would lead to regulatory inefficiencies and would not lead to coordinated and integrated province-wide DSM and renewable energy program service portfolios. Calgary stated that until a province-wide thorough analysis and consultation on possible models for funding and delivery of DSM programs was conducted, it would be premature to conclude that AG's proposed initiatives are in the best interest of ratepayers. Calgary indicted that it was not looking to have the existing approved amounts rolled back but Calgary did object to any expansion of DSM related expenditures.
- 646. Calgary argued that the implementation of renewable energy program services could result in ratepayer funded initiatives that could be substantially different from those of unregulated providers. Calgary submitted that this type of scenario would not maximize the benefits to ratepayers in respect to the level of costs and would establish precedents on funding and programming for Alberta ratepayers. Far Renewable energy programs are generally provided in the competitive marketplace. Calgary stated, "Ratepayers should not be obligated to support and subsidize this type of operation within a regulated utility competing in a competitive market place with an inherent competitive advantage." Far Renewable energy programs are generally provided in the competitive marketplace.
- 647. The CCA agreed with AG's interpretation of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation* that utilities should be responsible for delivering information and economic support for the conservation and efficient use of natural gas.⁵⁴⁹ However, the CCA stated AG has not met its onus and has failed to demonstrate the increased level of expenditures on its DSM programs. AG's expenditures for its \$0.6 million research study should be approved regarding possible DSM projects but the specific cost of the DSM rebate programs, the renewable energy programs and the pilot projects should be excluded from rate base pending the results of the research study.

⁵³⁸ C3 argument, pages 8-9, paragraphs 17-18.

Decision 2009-238: Direct Energy Regulated Services, 2009/2010/2011 Default Rate Tariffs and Regulated Rate Tariffs, Application No. 1600749, Proceeding ID. 149, December 3, 2009.

Decision 2010-483: ENMAX Energy Corporation, 2009-2011 Regulated Rate Option Non-Energy Tariff
 Application, Part 2 – Tariff Application, Application No. 1605947, Proceeding ID. 521, October 7, 2010.

C3 argument, page 11, paragraph 26. Calgary argument, page 39. UCA argument, pages 68-69, paragraphs 229-230.

⁵⁴² C3 argument, page 11, paragraph 27.

Exhibit 109.02, page 1 lines 12 to 13.

⁵⁴⁴ Ibid., page 2.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1625, Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, page 36.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1446, lines 17 to 18.

Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, page 37.

⁵⁴⁸ Ibid.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 12, paragraph 32 and 33.

- 648. The UCA submitted that the fact that AG has provided some DSM services since 2001⁵⁵⁰ is not a sufficient reason to approve existing, new or enhanced programs. Direct Energy Regulated Services had provided information on energy efficiency education or DSM services since 2004,⁵⁵¹ however, these costs were later denied by the Commission for the 2009-2011 test years.⁵⁵² Prior approval of costs of customer education was not sufficient reason for the costs to be approved in the future. Similarly, the energy efficiency education costs for ENMAX Energy Corporation (EEC) were denied by the Commission in Decision 2010-483, despite being approved in past periods. In Decision 2010-483, the Commission noted: "EEC has not provided any evidence that there are legislative changes that require the requested customer education costs to be incurred."⁵⁵³ The UCA compared the case advanced by AG to the case put forward by EEC and concluded that AG had not provided any evidence that there is a legislative change that requires it to incur customer education costs on conservation or DSM.
- 649. The UCA submitted that the costs incurred for customer education are neither required nor necessary for gas delivery service.⁵⁵⁴ The UCA also submitted that all of the capital and operating costs for new school programs and the energy education mobiles be denied, stating:

There is no mandate, law, regulation or decision that compels AG to provide customer education to students, nor are there any identifiable benefits to justify the cost, which is to be paid by current ratepayers. 555

- 650. In evidence, the UCA submitted that there did "not appear to be any law or regulation that requires AG to offer DSM services nor has AG been requested to provide the services by the Alberta Government." The UCA submitted that unless the Commission or the government specifically requires AG to provide a service that it not otherwise required for transportation of gas to customers, there is no justification for these services to be provided and funded by ratepayers. 557
- 651. The UCA acknowledged there is a legislative requirement for AG to provide public safety information but this requirement is only within the context of natural gas delivery, and not for the use or reduction in use of natural gas.⁵⁵⁸
- 652. The UCA submitted that AG's prior administration of unregulated federal government rebates to provide home inspection services⁵⁵⁹ that could be and are provided by unregulated companies/competitors,⁵⁶⁰ does not suggest that that utility sponsored incentive/ rebate programs should continue.
- 653. In argument, the UCA objected to the proposed renewable energy program as it is a different type of program than has been previously approved and "entails AG supplying energy

Exhibit 3, Volume 1, Section 4.4.4, paragraph 40.

As approved in Decision 2003-106. As noted in the UCA's evidence, Exhibit 110.07, page 49-50, A.71.

Decisions 2009-238 and 2010-483. As noted in the UCA's evidence, Exhibit 110.07, page 50-51, A.72.

⁵⁵³ Decision 2010-483, page 17, paragraph 81, cited in Exhibit 110.7, pages 50-51, A.72.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 69, paragraph 231.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 730, paragraph 243.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA evidence, page 66.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 68, paragraph 227.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 69, paragraph 231.

Exhibit 110.07, page 60, A.87.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1512, lines 10-25 and page 1514, line 10.

sources from geothermal/solar rather than natural gas."561 The UCA argued that there are competitors in the market supplying both geothermal and solar equipment and that the market is both unregulated and competitive. The UCA asserts that if the projects are approved in this proceeding, AG will obtain a competitive advantage in the market for these services and will not contribute to a more viable market. Existing legislation, regulation and government mandates in Alberta do not require AG to offer DSM service in the form of alternative energy. ⁵⁶² Ratepayers should not pay the capital costs or operating costs for these expenditures and these expenditures should not be approved.

- 654. The UCA submitted that Section 4(1) of the Roles, Relationshiups and Responsibilities Regulation enumerates various obligations for a gas distribution utility, all of which are concerned with gas distribution service. Nowhere in Section 4(1) is it contemplated that a gas distribution utility should or must pursue alternative energy projects. As such, the UCA submitted that AG's proposed renewable energy projects fall well outside its mandate as a regulated gas distributor and the costs associated therewith should not be properly recoverable in AG's tariff. The UCA submitted that ratepayers should pay none of the capital or operating costs for the McKenzie Towne, the Town of Hinton or for the Drake Landing Solar Community. Nor should the proposed \$4.5 million forecast for new projects expenditures be approved.
- The UCA submitted that there is no requirement, as a gas distributor, nor a need for AG to duplicate C3's role as an administrator of incentives and rebates for DSM in the province.⁵⁶³ All the AG proposed funding for the study incentives and rebates should be denied.⁵⁶⁴
- 656. With respect to the renewable energy programs, interveners opposed the programs for the following reasons:
 - That this type of service is not part of the functions prescribed by the regulations regarding the role of gas distributors. 565 566 567
 - That this service can be obtained by existing service providers and that this service if approved would provide AG with a competitive advantage. 568 569 570 571 572 573
 - That this service is subsidized by rate payers.⁵⁷⁴
- 657. In reply to intervener submissions, AG stated that neither C3 nor Calgary, provided any precedents or authorities to support their interpretation of Section 4(1)(b) of the Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation. AG noted in argument that the "gas distribution system" definition in the Gas Utilities Act must be considered to assess the appropriate scope of

```
Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 75, paragraph 249.
Exhibit 200, paragraphs 248-254.
```

Transcript, Volime 7, page 1451, lines 14-21 and page 1471, lines 1-5.

Exhibit 2002.02, UCA argument, page 74, paragraph 246.

UCA evidence O100.

UCA evidence O100.

UCA evidence Q100.

Transcript, Volume 7, pages 1589-1590, commencing at line 20.

⁵⁶⁹ Transcript, Volume 7, pages 1603-1604, commencing at line 11.

Information response AUC-C3-5 (c).

⁵⁷¹ Transcript, Volume 7, page 1494, lines 22-24.

UCA evidence Q93 and Q94.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1494, lines 22-24.

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1494, lines 22-24.

Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*. AG submitted that Section 4(1)(b) requires a gas distributor to "make decisions about building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system" for the safe, reliable and economic delivery of gas (which DSM serves to accomplish).⁵⁷⁵

- 658. AG submitted that Decisions 2009-238 and 2010-483 confirm that the distributor of natural gas is the appropriate party to perform DSM functions, not default supply providers and retailers who should not, without express authority, duplicate the functions previously performed by the distributor prior to and after the separation of retail functions. Moreover, retailers operate in a competitive environment, and thus there is significant overlap in markets. As a result, AG submitted, retailer conservation efforts would be more fragmented, and less efficient.⁵⁷⁶
- 659. AG also submitted that Decision 2010-222⁵⁷⁷ fully supports the AG position. Decision 2010-222 dealt with a dispute between the Town of Redcliff and the City of Medicine Hat regarding the rates charged by the City for natural gas service provided to customers in Redcliff in the years 2006-2008. The application was brought by the Town under Section 44 of the *Municipal Government Act*. The rates were charged under a Gas Supply Agreement between the City and the Town. One of the rates charged by the City to the Town was an energy conservation charge which applies to residential customers using more than 22 gigajoules per month. AG relies on this decision in support of its position that costs for renewable energy services fall within the ambit of "gas distribution service" and the *Roles, Relationships and Respnsibilities Regulation* responsibilities for natural gas distributors. AG submits that the relevant definitions used in the *Municipal Government Act* and in the *Gas Utilities Act* each refer to the delivery of gas service leading AG to make the following statement:

It is ATCO Gas' view that the scope of the City's gas delivery service under the MGA and a distributor's delivery service under the Gas Utilities Act are the same. Consequently, it follows that costs relating to renewable energy services, which were allowed under the MGA as part of the City's gas delivery service (as per Decision 2010-222), should also be allowed for a natural gas distributor under the GUA.⁵⁷⁹

660. In reply argument AG referred to the use by C3 of the implied exclusion rule of statutory interpretation. AG submitted that the rule did not apply to an interpretation of Section 4(1) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*. AG stated:

A critical component of the "implied exclusion rule" is that the subject words (in this case, "DSM") must be expressly included in a provision elsewhere in the legislation (so as to suggest that its exclusion in Section 4(1)(b) of the 3R Reg was intended by the legislature)....In this case, AG notes that neither the GUA, nor the Regulations under the GUA, refer to DSM or energy conservation initiatives. ⁵⁸⁰

AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 300.

AG argument, paragraph 216.

Decision 2010-222: Town of Redcliff, Dispute with City of Medicine Hat, Regarding Gas Supply Rates, Application No. 1551749, Proceeding ID. 144, May 21, 2010.

AG argument, paragraphs 224-229.

AG argument, page 90, paragraph 228.

AG reply argument, page 103, paragraph 247.

Commission findings

- 661. AG has requested Commission approval to include in rates the costs of various assessment and education outreach programs, research and pilot programs and renewable energy programs, collectively described as demand side management.
- 662. The evidence on the record with respect to DSM focused on whether the proposed programs fell within the legislative scope of a gas distributor and issues of general public policy and societal considerations including energy conservation, climate change, renewable energy, the development of government policy, customer preferences, the coordination of DSM efforts, the efficient delivery of DSM programs, practices in other jurisdictions, and the availability of certain services in the competitive market.
- 663. The Commission must first determine if the requested DSM projects fall within the scope of the the Commission's jurisdiction under the relevant legislation. If the Commission determines these projects are within the scope of its jurisdiction to approve, it will proceed to assess the reasonableness of the forecast DSM costs for the purposes of determining just and reasonable rates.
- 664. The Commission sets out the applicable legislative provisions for ease of reference.
- 665. Sections 28(e), (f) and (h) of the Gas Utilities Act provide:
 - (e) "gas distribution service" means the service required to transport gas to customers by means of a gas distribution system, and includes any services the gas distributor is required to provide by the Commission or is required to provide under this Act or the regulations;
 - (f) "gas distribution system" means a gas utility that delivers gas to customers through a system of pipelines, works, plan and equipment that is primarily a low pressure system;
 - (h) "gas distributor" means the owner, operator, manager or lessee of a gas distribution system;
- 666. Section 4 of the Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation provides:

Functions of gas distributor

- **4(1)** A gas distributor must do the following:
 - (a) provide gas distribution service that is not unduly discriminatory;
 - (b) make decisions about building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system for the purpose of providing safe, reliable and economic delivery of gas to customers in the service area served by the gas distribution system;
 - (c) arrange for adequate upstream transmission capacity for the purposes of clause (b):
 - (d) operate and maintain the gas distribution system in a safe and reliable manner;
 - (e) carry out gas distribution tariff billing for gas distribution service under the gas distributor's approved gas distribution tariff;
 - (f) connect and disconnect customers in accordance with the gas distributor's approved gas distribution tariff;

- (g) perform metering, including verifying meter readings and verifying accuracy of meters;
- (h) maintain information systems relating to the consumption of gas by customers;
- (i) perform load balancing for the gas distribution system;
- (j) perform functions that a settlement system code requires a gas distributor to perform;
- (k) distribute public safety information;
- (1) provide to a retailer or the gas distributor's default supply provider sufficient, accurate and timely information about the retailer's or default supply provider's customers, including metering information about the gas consumed by those customers, in order to enable the retailer or default supply provider to bill and to respond to inquiries and complaints from customers concerning billing for gas services;
- (m) act as a default supply provider to customers who pay a default rate for gas;
- (n) respond to inquiries and complaints from customers respecting gas distribution service;
- (o) if a customer makes an inquiry related to the functions of retailers or default supply providers, direct the customer to the customer's retailer or default supply provider;
- (p) on the request of a customer, direct the customer to a source where the customer may obtain the current list of licensed retailers maintained in accordance with the *Fair Trading Act* and the regulations made under that Act.
- (2) Each gas distributor must maintain records relating to the functions set out in subsection (1) and make the records or the information in them available, or otherwise provide the records or information, as required by the Act and the regulations.
- (3) A gas distributor is entitled to recover in its tariffs the prudent costs as determined by the Commission that are incurred by the gas distributor to meet the requirements of subsection (1).
- 667. The Commission notes that no party took issue with the responsibility of AG to distribute public safety information under Section 4(1)(k). While public safety messaging may be a minor part of some DSM activities, this, by itself, does not justify DSM expenditures.
- 668. Parties agreed that the legislative authority to approve the inclusion of DSM costs in revenue requirement depends on the definitions in the Act and Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles*, *Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*.
- 669. The term "gas distribution services" refers to services the gas distributor is required to provide under the act, Section 4(1) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*, under other regulations, or by direction of the Commission.
- 670. The Commission considers that there are two essential components of Section 4(1)(b). First there is a requirement of a gas distributor to make decisions about "building, upgrading, and improving the gas distribution system." Secondly, those decisions must be made for the "purpose of providing safe, reliable and economic delivery of gas to customers in the service area served by the gas distribution system." Both of these components of Section 4(1)(b) must be interpreted to determine whether the proposed DSM projects are a necessary function for a gas distributor.

671. AG and CCA have argued for a broad interpretation of Section 4(1)(b), while the other interveners have suggested a more narrow interpretation. The Supreme Court of Canada commented on the approach to take to statutory interpretation in *Bell ExpressVu Limited Partnership v. Rex* [2002] 2 S.C.R. 559 stating:

In Elmer Driedger's definitive formulation, found at p. 87 of his Construction of Statutes (2nd ed. 1983):

Today there is only one principle or approach, namely, the words of an Act are to be read in their entire context and in their grammatical and ordinary sense harmoniously with the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act, and the intention of Parliament.⁵⁸¹

- 672. Ruth Sullivan in *Sullivan on the Construction of Statute*⁵⁸² states that under Driedger's modern principle, three things must be considered in interpreting a statutory provision:
 - what is the meaning of the legislative text?
 - what did the legislature intend?
 - what are the consequences of adopting a proposed interpretation?⁵⁸³
- 673. The author goes on to state: "The rules associated with textual analysis, such as implied exclusion or the same-word-same-meaning rule, assist interpreters to determine the meaning of the legislative text." 584
- 674. In addressing the first of the three matters suggested by Sullivan, namely the text of the legislation, the legislation does not contain further definitions that may help in understanding what was intended by the words used in sections 26(e) and (f) of the *Gas Utilities Act* or Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*. Accordingly, the Commission finds that it should consider the ordinary meaning of the words.
- 675. The Commission finds that Section 4(1)(b) is intended to relate to the physical aspects of the facilities and the improvement or upgrading of service quality. System improvements and upgrades are not without constraints. Decisions made about building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system, must be made "for the purpose of providing safe, reliable and economic delivery of gas." The Commission considers that the words "safe and reliable" relate to the facilities used to provide gas distribution service and the quality of that service. Decisions made on building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system must be made to ensure or improve the safety of the delivery of gas distribution service, the reliability of gas distribution service and the economic delivery of gas distribution service.
- 676. The term "economic delivery" must be construed in the context of the *Gas Utilities Act* and the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation* taken as a whole. The legislation provides for the regulation of gas utility rates and services. The Commission must determine just and reasonable rates for the provision of gas distribution service by the owner of a gas utility. The Commission finds that in this context "economic delivery" means the delivery of gas

Bell ExpressVu Limited Partnership v. Rex [2002] 2 S.C.R. 559 paragraph 26-30.

Ruth Sullivan, Sullivan on the Construction of Statutes, 5d ed (Markam: LexisNexis Canada Inc., 2008).

Ruth Sullivan, Sullivan on the Construction of Statutes, 5d ed (Markham: LexisNexis Canada Inc., 2008) at 3.

Ruth Sullivan, Sullivan on the Construction of Statutes, 5d ed (Markham: LexisNexis Canada Inc., 2008) at 3.

distribution service at an economically efficient cost to ratepayers, so as to ensure rates remain just and reasonable.

- 677. AG submitted that DSM is related to the building, upgrading and improving of the gas distribution system for the purpose of providing safe, reliable and economic delivery of gas to customers because it provides the opportunity in the longer term to reduce the expansion of its distribution system, and reduce its transmission peak requirements.
- 678. The object of DSM is not the cost efficient delivery of gas distribution to customers. Rather, it is aimed at altering customers' behaviour over the long term with a view to lowering consumption. While lower consumption may reduce the growth in costs in the long term, Dr. Cicchetti noted the importance of conducting DSM initiatives, in the longer term, on the basis of earnings neutrality in the form of lost margin protection. As well, direct performance-based incentives to AG should be considered in order to sustain energy efficiency efforts. 585
- 679. The Commission finds that the reduction in consumption is not intended to be captured in Section 4(1)(b). The Commission does not agree that the wording of Section 4(1)(b) is expansive enough to allow the utility to engage in DSM activities funded by ratepayers simply because there is the potential for an unquantifiable, consequential impact to future facilities or to customer demand for gas distribution services.
- 680. The Commission finds that the proposed DSM programs do not relate to building, upgrading and improving the gas distribution system for the purpose of providing safe reliable and economic delivery of gas to customers. Accordingly, the Commission finds that based on the meaning of the legislative text, the DSM programs proposed do not fall within the intended meaning of Section 4(1)(b) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*.
- 681. Turning to the second consideration suggested by Sullivan, the Commission will consider the apparent intention of the legislature in drafting the statutory definitions and Section 4(1) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation*. In discerning the intention of the legislature, the Commission has considered the context of the *Gas Utilities Act* and the regulations thereunder. The legislative scheme is intended to provide for the regulation of gas utilities and to provide the Commission with various responsibilities, including the authority to set just and reasonable rates and standards of service in the public interest. AG noted in its reply argument that "...neither the GUA, nor the Regulations under the GUA, refer to DSM or energy conservation initiatives." 586
- 682. Sullivan stated that the rules of statutory interpretation such as the rule of implied exclusion may assist in determining the meaning of the text. The Commission agrees with C3 that the implied exclusion rule of statutory interpretation can be applied in this instance. The Commission does not agree with AG's submission that a reference to DSM must be included elsewhere in the legislation before the implied exclusion rule can apply. The Commission notes that AG did not provide any authorities to support this position. Sullivan refers to the application of the rule in the following words:

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 141

Exhibit 3, Application, Section 4.4, Appendix A, Written evidence of Dr. Charles Cicchetti, page 5; Transcript Volume 3, May 26, 2011 page 558 to 565; also see Ms. Wilson and Mr. Schmidt at Transcript Volume 3, page 558.

AG Argument, page 103, paragraph 140.

An implied exclusion argument lies whenever there is reason to believe that if the legislature had meant to include a particular thing within its legislation, it would have referred to that thing expressly. Because of this expectation, the legislature's failure to mention the thing becomes grounds for inferring that it was deliberately excluded. Although there is no express exclusion, exclusion is implied.⁵⁸⁷

- 683. Application of the implied exclusion rule suggests that the legislature in enumerating a lengthy list of gas distributor functions in Section 4(1) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation* considered in a comprehensive manner the functions intended to be performed by a gas distributor. Functions not provided in the list were not indented to be functions of a gas distributor, unless a function was directed by the Commission as contemplated by the definition of "gas distribution service" or the function is provided for elsewhere in the legislation. DSM is not among the listed functions. As noted above, AG stated in its reply argument that "...neither the GUA, nor the Regulations under the GUA, refer to DSM or energy conservation initiatives." Consequently, the Commission concludes that DSM was not intended by the legislature to be among the functions of a gas distributor.
- 684. The third step in the Sullivan analysis requires the Commission to consider the consequences of adopting a proposed interpretation. The consequence of the interpretation placed on the definitions of the statute and Section 4(1) of the *Roles, Relationships and Responsibilities Regulation* by the Commission is that the costs associated with AG's DSM programs, both existing and proposed are not properly included within the regulated rates of a gas distributor and should be removed entirely from rate base, revenue requirement and rates. The Commission finds the consequences of the interpretation placed on the wording of the above provisions to be reasonable.
- 685. The Commission has also considered the arguments of AG with respect to prior decisions of the EUB and the Commission and is not persuaded by these submissions. If the legislative scheme does not provide for DSM activities to be carried out by a gas distributor, that is sufficient to conclude that DSM activities would not result in just and reasonable rates and should be denied.
- 686. The Commission denies AG's request to include in revenue requirement for the test years all costs associated with current and proposed DSM activities. The Commission directs that all DSM related costs, both capital and operating, be removed from rate base and revenue requirement for the test years. The Commission further directs that the DSM capital expenditures incurred during the period 2008 to 2010 are to be excluded from opening rate base.

6.3.15 Customer accounting function

687. The customer accounting function includes meter reading, the billing of retailers, and responding to customer inquiries related to the provision of delivery service. AG performs the meter reading function at the customer's premise while ATCO I-Tek Business Services has been contracted to perform the customer contact and retailer billing activities. Table 37 below shows

142 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

Ruth Sullivan, Sullivan on the Construction of Statutes, 5d ed (Markham: LexisNexis Canada Inc., 2008) at 244

AG Argument, page 103, paragraph 140.

the actual costs for the customer accounting function for 2008 to 2010, and the forecast amounts for 2011 and 2012.589

Table 38. Customer accounting function

O&M Total	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
Supervision - 710	1,695	-26.3%	1,250	-12.0%	1,100	38.9%	1528	24.9%	1,909
Customers' Contracts and Orders -711	2,314	2.9%	2,381	-100.0%	0	100.0%	16	6.3%	17
Meter Reading and Bill Delivery -712	17,591	4.2%	18,330	-2.89%	17,800	7.7%	19,176	3.9%	19,929
Customers' Billing and Accounting-713	21,916	2.6%	22,476	22.3%	27,500	3.2%	2,8385	2.4%	29,072
Credit and Collection - 714	1,441	23.2%	1,776	23.9%	2,200	-14.8%	1,875	9.0%	2,043
Uncollectible Accounts - 718	-372	-96.5%	-13	-1638.5%	200	-20.0%	160	2.5%	164
Total	44,585	3.6%	46,200	7.8%	48,800	2.7%	51,140	3.9%	53,134

6.3.15.1 Supervision – Account 710

- AG forecasted supervision expenses for 2011 and 2012 of \$1.5 million and 1.9 million 688. respectively.
- In its general evidence⁵⁹⁰ the UCA observed that in the application AG did not discuss the significant increase in this account, and on that basis, the UCA recommended that these expenses be reduced to the escalated level of \$1.1 million in 2011 and \$1.2 million in 2012.
- 690. AG disagreed with the UCA assertion that AG did not discuss the increase in forecast costs with respect to Account 710. In rebuttal, AG outlined the forecast costs for governance.⁵⁹¹ The governance amounts in 2012 include \$0.3 million for CC&B benchmarking. 592

Commission findings

The Commission considers that AG has not provided an adequate explanation for the forecast increases in the account. The discussion of governance provides no explanation of which accounts are impacted by the governance amounts. In the absence of a satisfactory explanation for the increase, the Commission directs AG to revise its forecasts for Account 710 to the amount calculated as the actual expenditure for 2010 increased by a five per cent per year, to reflect inflation and growth, for each of 2011 and 2012. The \$0.3 million for CC&B benchmarking is also approved in 2012.

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-34.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA evidence, Q.65 on page 42.

AG rebuttal, paragraph 132.

Exhibit 218.02, AG reply argument, page 85, paragraph 194.

6.3.15.2 Impact of AMR on meter reading and bill delivery – Account 712

692. AG has requested approval of forecast meter reading and billing delivery costs of \$19.7 million in 2011 and \$20.5 million in 2012. AG explained that the low use AMR project allows AG to limit its meter reading cost increases during the test years to inflation and step salary increases.⁵⁹³

693. AG has proposed a low use AMR project that is expected to result in a decrease in the manual meter reading, with meter readers expected to fill other positions vacated through the significant level of retirements which are expected to occur in the next three to five years. AG assumed that no severance costs will be incurred as a result of this project, through the use of resource planning to provide existing meter readers opportunities to continue employment with AG in other areas of the company. AG indicated that the reduction of meter reading positions is not immediate upon the installation of the new AMR devices for a number of reasons. ⁵⁹⁴

Views of the parties

694. The UCA does not object to the AG low use AMR⁵⁹⁵ but was concerned that the timing of the reduction in meter reading positions does not reflect the timing of the installation of AMR meters.

695. The UCA indicated that, AG had forecast to have installed AMR devices on 13.79 per cent of its meters by the end of 2011, and 47.13 per cent by the end of 2012. Fin contrast, AG is forecasting a 2.75 per cent reduction in meter readers in 2011 and an 11.67 per cent reduction in meter readers in 2012, Fin resulting in a proposed reduction in meter readers by AG of 6.1 positions in 2011 and 25.9 Positions in 2012. Fin the percentage of meter readers displaced were to match the installation of AMR devices, the UCA submitted that the meter readers should be reduced by 30.6 in 2011 and 104.6 in 2012.

696. The UCA rejected AG's explanations that justified the large discrepancy between the number of meters converted and the reduction in meter reader positions. In its evidence, the UCA recommended a reduction in the forecast meter reading O&M costs of \$456,000 for 2011 and \$2,997,500 for 2012.⁶⁰¹ The UCA maintained that this is a reasonable estimate, which could represent the upper end of the forecast range of meter reader cost reductions. During the hearing, there was discussion of the possibility of using a mid-year calculation for the reduction in meter reader FTEs.⁶⁰² The UCA argued that the mid-year calculation represented a bottom of the forecast range of meter reader cost reductions. The lower end of the range of forecast cost reductions would be \$247,500 for 2011 and \$1,965,300 for 2012.⁶⁰³

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.1-31, paragraph 88 and Table 42.2.6(a) Customer Accounting Function.

UCA-AG-56.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A29.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A31.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A31.

The Commission notes that the 25.9 figure is a double counting of the 13 meter readers referred to in the Business case 7 and the 12.9 in response to UCA-AG-49(a) attachment as indicated in UCA evidence response to Ouestion 31.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A31.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A34.

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-56(a) as cited in Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A34.

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1697, lines 2-4.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, pages 18-19.

- 697. The UCA acknowledged its meter reader reduction calculation excluded certain minor incremental O&M costs associated with AMR implementation. The excluded costs relate primarily to increased meter reading requirements related to metscan AMR devices, which the UCA agrees should be reflected in the forecast. Based on the UCA-AG-49(a) Attachment⁶⁰⁴ the UCA submitted that the required positive adjustment appears to be approximately \$0.1 million in 2011 and \$0.2 million in 2012. AG also explained that the \$1.3 million of meter reading expense reduction for 2012 was incremental to the reduction in 2011.⁶⁰⁵ Accepting that correction the UCA submitted that a further \$0.8 million reduction in 2012 meter reading expenses is required. With these various adjustments, the UCA recommended that AG's forecast meter reading expenses should be reduced to \$17.8 million in 2011 and \$14.7 million in 2012.
- 698. Calgary submitted that AG's evidence showed that the redeployment of the meter readers is based upon an unknown timetable of retirements, attrition, training time and qualifications of the former meter readers. 606 Calgary submitted that it cannot support the AMR project as proposed, due to the lack of reasonable assurance that the former meter readers will actually assume open positions due to retirement and attrition. Calgary recommended that the cost of the underemployed meter readers should be removed from the revenue requirement. Based upon the proposed number of AMRs to be installed in the test period, and the forecast cost per meter reader, the reductions should be \$1.340 million in 2011 and \$5.332 million in 2012. 607 If the Commission does not reduce the cost to reflect the redundant or underemployed meter readers, then the program should not be approved. However, Calgary submitted that it could envision, at least, three scenarios under which it could support an AMR program:
 - When a meter reader is no longer required, neither used nor useful, the meter reader could simply be laid off or terminated as is common in industry when an employee's services have been superseded by technology. AG indicates that average severance cost would be around \$40,000 per meter reader.
 - 2. If AG desires to retain the now redundant meter readers in a reserve employee status, the fully loaded cost of the meter readers could be booked to a deferral account until such time that the meter reader legitimately assumed a position made available by retirement or attrition. This approach would require that at the next rate case AG provide an analysis of how the forecast compared to the actual retirements or attrition took place, how they were filled and the costs, if any, associated with meter readers assuming those positions and a comparison of all the costs AG proposes to include in it forecast costs for 2011 and 2012.
 - 3. The cost of the underemployed meter readers could simply be removed from the revenue requirement for 2011 and 2012. 609
- 699. The CCA agreed with the concerns expressed by the UCA and argued that AG should have more appropriately matched the realization of productivity benefits in 2011 and 2012 via reduced meter readers with the timing of corresponding investments or capital costs associated with the deployment of AMR. The CCA submitted that AG's reasons for delaying the

⁶⁰⁴ Exhibit 83.01.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence at paragraph 187.

Exhibit 82, responses to CAL-AG- 40 and 41.

Exhibit 109.02, page 26, footnotes 52 to 54. Average of 82,000 AMR in 2011 and 4500 reads per reader is 18 readers at \$74,443 or \$1.340 million and in 2012 an average of 318,000 AMRs and using 4,500 reads per reader is 77 readers at \$76, 175 is \$5.332 million. (The Commission notes that 318,000 divided by 4,500 equals 70 meter readers.)

⁶⁰⁸ Exhibit 95, CAL-AG-36(b).

Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, pages 41-42.

recognition of productivity benefits, primarily to 2013 and thereafter, are not supported. The CCA recommended that the labour cost component of Account 712 should be reduced by \$0.5 million in 2011 and \$3.3 million in 2012. Additionally, the CCA suggested that the supply and software costs corresponding to meter reader position reductions should also be reflected in the refiling of AG's application. ⁶¹⁰

- 700. In rebuttal evidence, AG stated that a transition period is required to plan, install, commission and verify the new system before the full benefits can be realized.⁶¹¹ The AMR project will not abruptly make meter readers redundant. It is a four-year project which won't be completed until 2014. Throughout the four years of the project, meter readers will continue to be required to obtain manual meter reads during the transition to 100 per cent AMR. In the early stages meter readers will play a role in the installation program itself. However, the number of meter readers required will decrease slowly as each of the 4,128 meter reading routes is successfully and completely converted to an AMR system.⁶¹²
- 701. Sites with existing Metscan devices will require manual meter reading once the Metscan device has been replaced with an Itron device, until the new AMR collection process is implemented. This means AG will actually be performing more manual meter reading on its system than it currently does.⁶¹³
- 702. The transitional nature of the project requires manual meter reading to continue owing to the fact that routes will contain a changing mixture of manual and AMR meter reading. Until such time as 100 per cent of the AMR units have been installed and have been verified to be functioning correctly, manual meter reading will be required to ensure that meter reads continue to be provided on a timely and accurate basis for every customer.⁶¹⁴
- 703. AG explained that operational savings forecast related to the installation of AMR in the test years are \$0.5 million and \$1.3 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively, which are primarily related to the avoidance of six additional meter reading positions in 2011 and a further seven positions in 2012.⁶¹⁵
- 704. If the Commission agrees that additional meter reading position reductions should be assumed by AG in its forecasts it must be recognized that not all low use devices will be implemented on January 1st of each year. In 2011 the actual implementation will not commence until the proof of concept stage has been completed, and any required process changes identified, which will be after June 2011. The calculations must reflect the reduction in meter readers AG has already incorporated into its forecasts for 2011 and 2012. Furthermore, AG should be compensated for severance related to those positions. AG submitted that there is no negative impact to customers associated with AG's intention to use meter readers to fill vacant positions as meter readers become available. AG has expressed concern that Calgary's high level

146 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 23, paragraph 73.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 21, paragraph 71.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence page 21, paragraph 72.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence page 22, paragraph 76.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence page 24, paragraphs 77-78.

⁶¹⁵ UAC-AG-49(a).

Transcript, Volume 7, page 1582, lines 11-12.

mathematical calculations are fraught with errors. 617 Similarly, AG expressed concerns with respect to the UCA's mathematical calculations regarding meter reading reductions. 618

Commission findings

705. The interveners recommended adjustments to forecast costs related to the expected reduction in meter readers based on the number of AMR units installed. The Commission agrees that a reduction to AG's forecast meter reading costs is warranted as a number of meter readers will no longer be required.

706. The quantification of the reduction is complicated by the transitional issues associated with AMR installation addressed below and the uncertainty regarding the number and timing of meter reader displacements. AG has proposed to utilize displaced meter readers to address vacant positions within AG due to employee turnover and retirements. The Commission agrees with Calgary that AG's evidence shows that the redeployment of the meter readers is based upon an unknown timetable of retirements, attrition, training time and qualifications of the former meter readers. To the extent that underutilized meter readers move to other existing positions within AG, their wages or salaries, will already be reflected in forecast costs for the position being filled. Failure to recognize the benefit of movement to other positions in 2011 and 2012 results in a duplication of forecast costs. Although Calgary and the UCA have attempted to quantify the impact of redundant meter readers, there are calculation errors in the evidence of both parties.

707. AG has recognized in their cost forecasts the benefits of AMR to the extent that additional meter readers will not be hired to accommodate growth or the additional meter reads required for the Metscan units. AG identified that absent this program an additional 6.1 meter readers would have been required in 2011 and a further 6.8 meter readers in 2012 for a cumulative total of 12.9 FTEs

708. AG's analysis does not reduce the number of meter readers in proportion to the number of meters on which AMR units have been installed. At the end of 2011, approximately 14 per cent of meters will have had AMR units installed and at the end of 2012, 47 per cent of meters will have had AMR units installed.⁶²¹

709. The Commission is prepared to give some weight to the following explanation provided by AG as to why the reduction of meter reading positions is not immediate upon the installation of the new AMR devices:

- i. AMR deployment does not begin until April 2011 and the initial work will be done slowly while installation processes are refined.
- ii. Meter readers cannot be reduced until enough AMR has been deployed to free them up for a significant number of days in the month, which is achieved through installing AMR over a number of different billing cycles. It will take some time before this can be achieved.
- iii. One to three months after the AMR deployment has been completed, the meter readers will have to complete an additional manual meter reading cycle to validate a manual read against the AMR reading.

Transcript, Volume 7, pages 1585-1587.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 52, paragraph 185.

Exhibit 3, page 1.0-4, paragraph 12.

Exhibit 82, responses to CAL-AG- 40 and 41.

Exhibit 1, Tab 2.1, Business Case 7, page 33.

- iv. 25,000 of the AMR units that will be retrofit in the months of April through August will be in Metscan saturated areas where full manual meter reading has not been
- An increase in customer requests for validation readings may be experienced until v. customers become more comfortable with the new technology. A manual meter reading will be required to complete these requests. 622
- 710. The Commission notes that point i) above relating to starting the installations in April applies only to 2011. 623 Point iv) relating to the replacement of the Metscan meters appears to be addressed in the additional 1.3 positions in 2011 and 2.0 position in 2012 forecast to address the reduction in active metscans. The impact appears to have been addressed by 2012. The remaining points would apply equally to both test years.
- For 2011, the Commission accepts AG's forecast reductions to meter readers and the related forecast costs based on the explanations provided above. However, by the end of 2012, the Commission notes that 47 per cent of the AMR units will have been installed and that AG has anticipated savings related only to 12.9 meter readers.
- The Commission has calculated assuming a mid-year installation in 2012 that 318,000⁶²⁴ meters will have been converted to AMR units by the end of 2012. AG stated that the average meter reader will be able to read 4500 meters per year. 625 Theoretically this represents a reduction of approximately 70 meter readers in 2012. AG has forecast an opportunity savings of 12.9 meter readers, which is 57 less than the theoretical reduction based on the number of meters removed. At a fully loaded cost of \$76,175⁶²⁶ per meter reader an adjustment of approximately \$4.3 million would be warranted. The Commission considers the transition factors identified in paragraph 714 and the redeployment of meter readers to other areas or potential severance costs⁶²⁷ must be considered. Given the lack of detailed information on the record regarding these matters, the Commission recommends a reduction of the estimated \$4.3 million by 25 per cent. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to reduce the forecast costs for Account 712 by \$3.2 million in 2012.
- The Commission approves AG's forecast meter reading costs for the 2011 and 2012 test 713. years, subject to the adjustments noted above.

UCA-AG-56.

Application, page 2.1-27, paragraphs 76 and 77.

Business Case 7, page 31, 134,000 units installed to the end of 2011 plus 50 per cent of the 348,000 units installed in 2012.

Exhibit 82.01 CAL-AG-40(f).

Exhibit 82.01 CAL-AG-40(f).

Exhibit 95, CAL-AG-36(b).

6.3.15.3 Customer billing and accounting expenses – Account 713

Table 39.	Customer billing and accounting
-----------	---------------------------------

	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
Customers' Billing and Accounting -	0.1.0.10	0.00/	00.470	00.007	07.500	0.50/		0.40/	00.070
713	21,916	2.6%	22,476	23.2%	27,500	2.5%	28,385	2.4%	29,072

714. AG requested that volumes for customer care and billing services (CC&B) as detailed in Tab 4.2 of the application be approved by the Commission. The prices for these services for 2010 and onward will be finalized following the completion of the "ATCO Utilities Evergreen Proceeding for Provision of Information Technology and Customer Care and Billing Service Post 2009" (2010 Evergreen) application (Proceeding ID No. 240). AG has forecast CC&B costs of \$28.4 million and \$29.1 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively. The forecast amounts are slightly higher than the 2010 actual cost of \$27.5 million. The 2010 to 2012 forecast for CC&B services is based on the master service agreement (MSA) rates negotiated with ATCO I-Tek Business Services Ltd. The forecast for the test years is based on the forecast volumes provided and the CC&B rates as submitted in the 2010 Evergreen proceeding. The approval of the CC&B MSA, and all rates and terms and conditions contained therein, will be subject of a separate 2010 Evergreen regulatory proceeding. AG requested approval of only the CC&B volumes, and IT volumes as the unit costs or pricing under the MSA is subject to the 2010 Evergreen proceeding.

715. Calgary noted that AG provided the 2008 to 2010 actual and 2011 to 2012 forecast numbers of customers⁶²⁹ and service accounts,⁶³⁰ which provided the following annual percentage growths:

Table 40. Customer and service growth

Annual Growth	Customer Growth Percent	Service Account Growth Percent
2008A to 2009A	1.49 %	1.27%
2009A to 2010A	1.92%	1.93%
2010A to 2011F	1.88%	2.74%
2011F to 2012F	2.01%	2.50%

716. Calgary proposed that the Commission use an increase based on a four-year average of customer growth. ⁶³¹ Calgary recommended that CC&B forecast volumes should be reduced to

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 149

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-33, paragraph 91.

Year-End Customers: 2008A – 1,022,167, 2009A – 1,037,412, 2010A – 1,057,369, 2011F – 1,077,246, 2012F – 1,098,882 from Volume 1, Tables 7.2 (b) and 7.2 (c) and Exhibit 83.01 UCA-AG-62(a) Attachment 4, page 4, Table 7.2(b) and 7.2(d) Tab.

Annual Service Accounts: 2008A – 12,292,475, 2009A – 12,448,977, 2010A – 12,689,445, 2011F – 13,037,528, 2012F – 13,363,464 from Volume 2-1, Tab 4-1 Attachment, Billing Services Tab and Exhibit 171.01.

⁶³¹ Calgary evidence, page 63, Table 11.

12,961,210 for 2011 and 13,285,241 for 2012 to accord with the customer growth rate forecast by AG. 632

717. AG submitted that it has developed the forecast for billing volumes for CC&B consistent with past practice, based on the actual service accounts with the incorporation of forecast customer growth plus accounting for the effect of incremental service account activities for customers switching retailers and other service billing events. AG argued that Calgary's recommendation would not result in the service account volumes increasing by the customer growth forecast of two per cent.

Commission findings

718. The Commission is not persuaded by Calgary's recommendation to reduce CC&B volumes in 2011 and 2012 to levels consistent with customer growth as Calgary's recommendation ignores the impact of customers switching retail service providers and potential other billing events. In AUC-AG-78, AG explained that billing units or volumes forecast assumed a 2.5 per cent growth in services account billings. The Commission considers a 2.5 per cent escalation factor is not unreasonable when weighed against customer growth and the impact of other billing system activity.

719. The Commission approves AG's CC&B volumes forecast for 2011 and 2012 of 13,037,528 and 13,363,464 respectively. As noted earlier, the approval of the CC&B MSA, and all rates, terms and conditions is the subject of a separate 2010 Evergreen proceeding. AG's forecast I-Tek CC&B costs of \$28.4 million and \$29.1 million in 2011 and 2012 are considered placeholders pending Commission determination with respect to the 2010 Evergreen proceeding.

6.3.15.4 Credit and collection – Account 714 and Account 718 – uncollected accounts

720. These accounts were not discussed by AG in the application. The Commission has reviewed the forecasts against actual expenditures in 2008 to 2010 and finds that AG's forecast costs are reasonable. The forecast costs for accounts 714 and 718 are approved as filed.

6.4 Administration and general function

721. AG explained that this function includes costs incurred in the general administration of the company as well as support costs that are not chargeable to a specific operating function. Table 40 below shows the actual costs for the administration and general function for 2008 to 2010, and the forecast amounts for 2011 and 2012.⁶³³

150 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

.

Exhibit 109.02, Calgary written evidence, page 62.

Exhibit 161.03, AUC-AG-113 Attachment.

Table 41. Administration and general function

O&M Total	2008 Actuals (\$000)	2009 Actual vs 2008 Actual	2009 Actuals (\$000)	2010 Actual vs 2009 Actual	2010 Actuals (\$000)	2011 Forecast vs 2010 Actual	2011 Forecast (\$000)	2012 Forecast vs 2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast (\$000)
ADMINISTRATIVE									
Labour	14,591	2.5%	14,955	-3.7%	14,400	19.8%	17,245	3.8%	17,904
Supplies	61,051	1.3%	61,859	32.9%	82,200	11.5%	91,616	0.0%	91,626
Total	75,642	1.5%	76,814	25.8%	96,600	12.7%	108,861	0.6%	109,530
Administrative Expense -721 Special Services -	52,291	1.7%	53,179	5.5%	56,100	12.1%	62,884	3.6%	65,131
722	574	134.7%	1,347	-40.6%	800	43.3%	1,146	5.0%	1,203
Insurance - 723	1,271	7.2%	1,363	-4.6%	1,300	5.2%	1,367	-1.0%	1,353
Injuries and Damages -724	1,327	-60.7%	522	-4.2%	500	4.4%	522	0.0%	522
Employee Benefits - 725	16,143	1.8%	16,436	97.7%	32,500	8.6%	35,294	-4.5%	33,700
Other Administrative & General Expenses - 728	4,037	-1.7%	3,967	36.1%	5,400	41.6%	7,648	-0.4%	7,621
Total	75,642	1.5%	76,814	25.8%	96,600	12.7%	108,861	0.6%	109,530

6.4.1 Administrative expense – Account 721

722. The administrative expense includes a number of support costs that are not chargeable to a specific operating function. AG is requesting approval of forecast costs for administrative expense of \$63.5 million in 2011 and \$65.2 million in 2012.

Table 42. Administrative expense

	2008 ⁶³⁴ Forecast (\$million)	2008 ⁶³⁵ Actual (\$million)	2009 ⁶³⁶ Forecast (\$million)	2009 ⁶³⁷ Actual (\$million)	2010 ⁶³⁸ Forecast (\$million)	2010 ⁶³⁹ Actual (\$million)	2011 ⁶⁴⁰ Forecast (\$million)	2012 ⁶⁴¹ Forecast (\$million)
Labour	14	13.8	15.5	14.0	14.0	13.5	17.3	17.8
I-Tek	14	14.7	17.8	16.6	19.8	18.8	20.5	20.8
Office Rent	8	8.6	9.5	9.4	9.5	9.4	9.6	9.8
ATCO Corp. Services	6.8	7.6	7.1	7.8	7.9	8.1	8.4	8.6
Stationary Printing Photocopier	1.4	1.1	1.4	0.8	0.9	0.9	1.0	1.0
Aircraft	0.4	1.0	0.5	0.9	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.5
Relocation	1.6	1.1	1.6	0.6	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
Facilities Management	0.9	1.0	0.9	1.0	0.9	0.9	0.9	1.1
Advertising	1.3	0.5	1.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.5
Other	2.6	2.9	2.9	1.7	2.2	2.9	3.8	4.1
Total	51.0	52.3	58.5	53.2	57.0	56.1	63.5	65.2

6.4.2 Administrative labour

723. The majority of the increase in administrative labour is due to a forecast increase in labour. AG forecast an increase in administrative labour expense from 2010 actual costs to 2011 forecast cost of \$3.8 million or approximately 28 per cent with an additional increase of approximately \$0.5 million in 2012. AG identified the primary drivers of its forecast cost increases related to administrative labour:

- inflation for \$0.4 million in 2011 and \$0.5 million in 2012
- the filling of vacancies and growth positions for \$1.7 million in 2011, and
- \$1.1 million in 2011 is associated with increased Variable Pay Program ("VPP") costs⁶⁴²

⁶³⁴ Exhibit 4, GRA Volume 2-1, Tab 8.2.2.

⁶³⁵ Exhibit 3, GRA Volume 1.0, Table 4.2.2.7(b).

⁶³⁶ Exhibit 4, GRA Volume 2-1, Tab 8.2.2.

⁶³⁷ Exhibit 3, GRA Volume 1.0, Table 4.2.2.7(b).

⁶³⁸ Ibid.

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-62(a) attachment 2.

⁶⁴⁰ Exhibit 3, GRA Volume 1.0, Table 4.2.2.7(b).

⁶⁴¹ Ibid.

- 724. The UCA noted that AG's "Administrative Expense Labour" category increased significantly over the forecast labour inflation rate of three per cent. The UCA acknowledged that part of this increase was due to the VPP. While AG attributes cost increases to employee turnover associated with an aging workforce, the UCA submitted that AG presented no analysis or study demonstrating that employee turnover, let alone forecast increased retirements, has a negative impact on AG. AG also failed to provide any analysis of whether the replacement of older retiring employees by younger workers would or could result in lower total wages and salaries or benefits costs. 44
- 725. Absent any evidence on these issues, the UCA has assumed a generic wage inflation factor that would not be sensitive to changes of that kind. The UCA suggested that AG has not identified any changed circumstances or external factors to support the forecast cost increase of \$3.3 million or 28 per cent. The UCA also considered that the VPP is simply a form of labour expense where any increases are already accounted for in the relevant inflation estimates. The UCA recommended that administrative expense labour be reduced to \$13.9 million in 2011 and \$14.3 million in 2012.
- 726. Calgary suggested that given the minimal growth in customers, throughput and demand that AG should be able to operate in its test years with the same level of FTE's that it did in 2010.⁶⁴⁸
- 727. In its rebuttal evidence and in testimony, AG explained that the key reasons for the increase in administrative labour expense forecast of \$3 million and \$0.5 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively were:
 - Inflation of three per cent which was not objected to by either the UCA or Calgary.
 - VPP increases, where the \$1.1 million increase in 2011 represents the impact of the proposed expansion of the VPP. The increase relates to moving from 118.6 positions in 2010 to 130.6 positions in 2011 and also the component of VPP relating to net income.
 - Growth positions, where the \$0.6 million is comprised of three accountants and seven administrative support positions.
 - Vacancies In the 2010 GRA forecast there were 13 vacant positions that were forecasted to be filled in 2011. These positions relate to staff that have been on maternity leave, been promoted and moved into other areas within the organization or to other companies.⁶⁴⁹ At the hearing in response to questioning by the UCA's counsel, Mr. Cook stated,⁶⁵⁰ seven of the vacant positions have been filled to date, four positions are currently being recruited and two others are maternity leaves that are returning in the June/July timeframe.

Exhibit 163.01, rebuttal evidence, at paragraph 233.

See Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence at page 40, Q. 63.

As suggested by the UCA at Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, page 36, Q.54.

UCA argument, pages 34-35.

UCA evidence, pages 40 and 41.

Exhibit 142.02, AUC-UCA-A6 Attachment, UCA proposed reductions to ATCO Gas O&M.

Calgary evidence, page 15.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, pages 61-63.

Transcript, Volume 2, page 312, lines 16-20.

- 728. AG disagreed with the UCA that 2010 was a good base year to use as 2010 was an anomaly with low retirements and turnover as a result of the recession. AG argued that its 2011 and 2012 forecasts should not be adjusted because the stable workforce experienced in 2010 is no longer occurring.⁶⁵¹
- 729. AG has forecasted an increase in retirements of 10 per cent in 2011 and 50 per cent in 2012. Furthermore, those retirement forecasts are conservative when compared to the number of employees eligible to retire in those years. AG submitted that it has demonstrated that a considerably lower level of turnover was experienced in 2009 and 2010. 654

Commission findings

- 730. AG explained that 2009 to 2010 was a period of lower level employee turnover and that it expected retirements to be a key cost driver for cost increases in 2011 and 2012. The Commission has reviewed AG's explanation of the various cost drivers for the increases associated with administrative labour and considers that AG has failed to adequately justify the increase in forecast costs associated with this account. Given the minimal growth in customers, throughput and demand, the Commission is not persuaded that there has been a significant change in circumstances between 2010 and 2011. The Commission finds that the increase in administrative labour should be limited to an adjustment for inflation and growth of 5 per cent per year, except for the variable pay which is addressed below.
- 731. AG is directed to revise its 2011 and 2012 forecast for administrative labour, excluding the VPP component, utilizing AG's 2010 actual costs increased by five per cent per year.

6.4.3 Variable pay program

- 732. AG has forecasted an increase in its variable pay program (VPP) costs of approximately \$1.1 million for both the 2011 and 2012 test years. 655
- 733. AG noted that in Decision 2008-113,⁶⁵⁶ the Commission approved the expansion of the VPP to 396 supervisory positions in 2008 and 404 supervisory positions in 2009. The Commission also upheld the continued use of deferral account treatment for payments made under the plan. However, AG is seeking a change to that deferral account process.⁶⁵⁷
- 734. In Decision 2008-113, the Commission clarified that the deferral account for the VPP was only for the difference between the amount forecast to be paid out to the 15 employees included in the VPP forecast and the actual amount paid out. AG was not allowed to recover the cost of the VPP paid out to 19 additional employees in 2006 and 22 additional employees in 2007. The AUC acknowledged the clarification of its decision was not explicit in

UCA argument, page 34, paragraph 116.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 57, paragraphs 209 to 211.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 57, paragraph 211.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 57, paragraph 212.

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.1-11, Table 4.1.6 Deferred VPP Costs.

⁶⁵⁶ Decision 2008-113: ATCO Gas 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase I, Application No. 1553052, Proceeding ID. 11, November 13, 2008.

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.1-9, paragraph 16.

Decision 2006-004. 658 AG stated that as a result of the clarification AG was required to absorb \$0.3 million of VPP expense. 659

- 735. AG cited Decision 2010-189,660 in which the Commission reviewed the factors used to evaluate the appropriateness of a deferral account. AG submitted that the deferral account for VPP is not symmetrical. It can only provide symmetry if it addresses the requirement for AG to expand or contract the number of employees eligible for the plan as circumstances dictate. This will be especially important once AG's rates are determined through a performance-based regulation plan. AG therefore requested that the deferral account be treated in the same fashion as the majority of AG's other approved deferral accounts. AG is requesting that all differences from the amounts included in AG's approved revenue requirement with respect to VPP will be deferred, whether those amounts be higher or lower than forecast, and whether AG has expanded or contracted the number of employees eligible for VPP.661
- 736. AG has not expanded VPP to the extent forecast in the 2008/2009 GRA because the economic downturn warranted a more measured approach to the expansion. As a result, AG is proposing a one-time \$1.9 million true-up in 2011 that is payable to customers. AG is forecasting a continued modest expansion of VPP, moving from 118.6 positions in 2010 to 140.6 positions in 2012. Included in the forecast for 2011 and 2012 is the component of VPP relating to net income. This represents \$0.8 million of the total VPP forecast to be paid out in each of 2011 and 2012. The balance of the VPP relates to the achievement of operational metrics.⁶⁶²
- 737. The UCA does not support including increased amounts to reflect the addition of new participants to the program in the O&M forecast.⁶⁶³ The UCA has accepted a three per cent increase in unit labour costs as being reasonably reflective of market conditions. The fact that the Commission has previously approved significant potential increases in the number of employees that participate in VPP should not, in the UCA's submission, be interpreted as pre-approval of whatever incremental costs AG might incur by adding more employees to the program.⁶⁶⁴
- 738. The UCA noted that Decision 2011-134⁶⁶⁵ approved the inclusion of a net income component in the ATCO Electric VPP, with the conditions that the components reflect only ATCO Electric's net income and that the net income component not exceed 10 per cent of the program total. That approach was premised on the idea that net income components in variable pay programs can lead to operational efficiencies that ultimately benefit customers. If a 10 per cent limitation is appropriate for rate-making purposes, as it was for ATCO Electric, that condition should be imposed effective January 1, 2011 and the allowed amount adjusted accordingly. In this application, ⁶⁶⁶ AG also requested changes in the operation of the deferral

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.1-9, paragraph 17.

becision 2008-113, page 65.

Decision 2010-189: ATCO Utilities Pension Common Matters Application No.1605254, Proceeding ID. 226, April 30, 2010, paragraphs 72-73.

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.1-10, paragraph 19.

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.1-10, paragraph 20.

UCA argument, page 47, paragraph 162.

UCA argument, page 47, paragraph 163.

Decision 2011-134: ATCO Electric Ltd. 2011-2012 Phase I Distribution Tariff, 2011-2012 Transmission Facility Owner Tariff, Application No. 1606228, Proceeding ID No. 650, April 13, 2011, page 62, paragraph 309.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Volume 1 at pages 4.1-9 and 4.1-10.

account related to VPP. The UCA does not support any changes to the operation of the VPP deferral account.

- 739. The CCA considered that AG should be limited to both a 10 per cent overall VPP program tied to AG net income and each individual participant in the program. The CCA is concerned that AG was counting on adding additional employees to the VPP. This would have the effect of weighting the current employees in the VPP down to the level of 10 per cent of AG's net income. The CCA considered that AG should not be able to undertake changes which undo the AUC's reasoning in AltaLink Decision 2009-151⁶⁶⁷ by increasing the number of employees in the program. VPP programs which are tied to net income of a utility benefit the shareholders of the utility, not the customers. The CCA would prefer that no part of the bonus system be based on a utility's net income. The CCA considered that customers benefit when VPP programs are tied to low customer rates, high service standards and safety.
- 740. The CCA recommended that the forecast O&M expense should be reduced by \$950,000 per year, the amount by which AG over-forecast the expense in 2008 to 2010. This recommendation is in addition to the one time adjustment.⁶⁶⁹
- 741. The CCA submitted that AG has not justified an increase in the number of employees eligible for VPP and that the number of FTEs eligible should be capped at the 2010 number of 118.6.⁶⁷⁰
- 742. The CCA argued that customers should be protected from unnecessary expansion of the VPP program and growth of the deferral account. The CCA submitted that this deferral account should have a set maximum relative to the total O&M and capital expense per year. In any event, excess expenses should be returned to customers. The CCA considers this is appropriate because AG has control over payments from the account, unlike other deferral accounts.
- 743. The CCA objected to the change in the ratio of funding between capital and O&M for this account. The CCA noted that for 2009 actual and 2010 forecast, 65 per cent of the provision was expensed to O&M, while 35 per cent was capitalized. AG applied to change this ratio to 83per cent and 17 per cent.⁶⁷¹ The CCA considered that 65 per cent of this account should continue to be attributed to O&M and 35 per cent to capital.⁶⁷²
- 744. AG noted that ATCO Electric can now be added to the list of utilities with a net income component included in their VPP as per Decision 2011-134. That decision directed ATCO Electric to ensure that the net income component of VPP relates to ATCO Electric earnings and not ATCO Group earnings. AG has reflected consistency with Decision 2011-134 by only including net income related to AG's earnings. AG has forecasted its VPP to reflect a 10 per cent net income component based on the net income of AG consistent with Decision 2011-134, as

Decision 2009-151: AltaLink Management Ltd. and TransAlta Corporation 2009 and 2010 Transmission Facility Owner Tariffs, Application No. 1587092, Application No. 1594573, Proceeding ID. 102, October 2, 2009.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 33, paragraph 100.

Exhibit 204.0,1 CCA argument, page 34, paragraph 102.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 353, paragraph 105.

^{2,600,000/(2,600,000+525,000)} and 525,000/(2,600,000+525,000).

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, pages 34-35, paragraph 104.

detailed in Exhibit 174.⁶⁷³ AG argued that setting maximum weightings or limits on any one individual's set of performance objectives would in effect be micromanagement.⁶⁷⁴

- 745. AG noted that the CCA had proposed a reduction to the VPP expense of \$950,000 in each of 2011 and 2012, which related to excess VPP accruals not paid out to employees. This proposed adjustment would be in addition to the one time adjustment requested by AG related to VPP.⁶⁷⁵ AG argued that this would require it to fund VPP on its own, which would require an adjustment to its working capital.
- 746. Finally, the CCA objected to the proposed change in allocation of VPP between O&M and capital.⁶⁷⁶ AG noted that the allocation is consistent with the allocation of labour costs related to specific VPP employees. The allocation of VPP costs will be adjusted to be consistent with actual VPP payments, and adjusted in the deferral account.
- 747. AG submitted that its VPP forecast should be approved as filed.

Commission finding

- 748. In Decision 2011-134 the Commission approved the inclusion of a net income component in the ATCO Electric VPP, with the conditions that the components reflect only ATCO Electric's net income and that the net income component not exceed 10 per cent of the program total.⁶⁷⁷ In Decision 2009-151, the Commission also approved a net income goal of 10 per cent for AltaLink's short term incentive plan⁶⁷⁸ and an earnings component of EDTI's short-term incentive program in Decision 2010-505.⁶⁷⁹
- 749. AG is requesting approval of a VPP with a 10 per cent net income component based on the net income of AG. The Commission is concerned that allowing a 10 per cent net income component based on total forecast VPP may result in specific individuals receiving compensation that unreasonably weights VPP towards income targets that might be a detriment to customers' interests and operation measures.
- 750. In AG's application and as explained in AUC-AG-58(c),⁶⁸⁰ AG initially proposed an overall net income performance component of 27 per cent for the test years. For officers, the net income performance component was 52 per cent of their target VPP. For top-level managers, approximately 50 per cent had a net income performance component, which accounted for up to 50 per cent of their target VPP. For the remaining VPP eligible employees there was no net income performance component.

Exhibit 203.01, AG argument, page 74, paragraph 190.

⁶⁷³ Exhibit 174. Schedule 1.6-A. line 22.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 34, paragraph 102.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 34, paragraph 104.

⁶⁷⁷ Decision 2011-134, page 62, paragraph 309.

Decision, 2009-151: AltaLink Management Ltd. and TransAlta Corporation, 2009 and 2010 Transmission Facility Owner Tariffs, Application No. 1587092, Application No. 1594573, Proceeding ID. 102, October 2, 2009, page 22, paragraphs 120-122.

Decision 2010-505: EPCOR Distribution and Transmission Inc. 2010-2011 Phase I Distribution Tariff, 2010-2011 Transmission Facility Owner Tariff, Application No. 1605759, Proceeding ID 437, October 28, 2010, paragraph 208.

Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-58(c).

- 751. The Commission finds that the inclusion of net income component within a VPP is reasonable when there is a balance struck between the benefits that customers may receive through reduced costs versus increased earnings for the benefit of shareholders. A net income component greater than 10 per cent for officers and senior managers might result an inherent conflict between shareholder interests and customers. The Commission finds that setting limits to individual performance objectives will ensure that management is not incented to maximize shareholder value at the expense of customers. If AG wishes to include a net income component for specific individuals higher than 10 per cent of their VPP compensation, those costs are to be borne by shareholders. AG is directed to revise its VPP forecast to reflect a maximum individual net income component of VPP of 10 per cent in its compliance filing to this decision with a supporting explanation to its revised VPP forecast.
- 752. With regard to AG's forecasted increases in 2011 and 2012 for VPP, the Commission concurs with the UCA that AG did not justify an increase to the VPP forecast cost in excess of inflation. In its April 21 update, ⁶⁸¹ AG revised its forecast inflation rate for supervisory labour in 2012 to 4.0 per cent. The Commission finds that AG's four per cent inflationary adjustment for supervisory labour for 2012 is reasonable. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to revise its forecast VPP for 2011 by utilizing the 2010 forecast cost (which is consistent with the 2009 actual expense) by three per cent for 2011 and increasing the 2011 amount by four per cent for 2012.⁶⁸²
- 753. The Commission approves the forecast costs for VPP expense and the forecast increase in eligible positions, moving from 118.6 positions in 2010 to 140.6 positions in 2012.
- 754. AG applied to revise its existing VPP deferral account based on an asymmetrical methodology to a fully symmetrical deferral account. The VPP is controlled by the utility, who determines which employees are eligible to receive payments and the basis on which those payments will be calculated, subject to the 10 per cent net income component set by the Commission. If the utility had the discretion to increase the variable pay program costs and participants, customers would be exposed to a significant risk of additional costs. The Commission is not persuaded that a change in the deferral account is required, and finds that the status quo parameters of AG's VPP deferral account should be maintained.
- 755. The Commission approves the one-time payment to customers of \$1.9 million in 2011 to true-up the deferral account balance.
- 756. With regard to the CCA's recommendation on the allocation of VPP expenses between O&M and capital, the Commission is satisfied with AG's explanation that AG reconciles the difference between the actual VPP and forecast, and that reconciliation will reflect the actual weighting between O&M and capital.

6.4.4 Administrative expense – office rent – Account 721

757. AG has requested approval of forecast costs for office rent of \$9.6 million and \$9.8 million in 2011 and 2012 respectively. AG requested a deferral account to address any

Exhibit 118.01, ATCO April 21 update, at page 4.

Exhibit 3, page 4.1-11, Table 4.1.6 Deferred VPP costs.

Exhibit 3, application, Table 4.2.2. 7(b) Administrative Expense (Account 721).

difference between the forecast and the actual lease rate for the ATCO Center in Calgary similar to what was done for the expiry of the ATCO Centre Edmonton lease.⁶⁸⁴

758. AG indicated that it entered into a new 10-year lease for the ATCO Centre in Edmonton effective December 1, 2008 at a starting lease rate of \$25.00 per square foot as well as a five-year lease for the Milner Building space effective January 1, 2009 at a rate of \$21.00 per square foot. AG received Commission approval for a temporary deferral account⁶⁸⁵ for the difference between the approved forecast rate and the actual rate. The increase in rent costs for 2009 over 2008 was primarily due to the new lease rates for ATCO Centre Edmonton and the Milner Building. Forecast increases in rent costs from 2010 to 2012 relate to operating cost increases.

759. AG's lease of certain floors in the ATCO Centre in Calgary expires October 1, 2011. AG stated that it had no binding agreement to extend the term of the lease 686 but that the rent will be subject to a third party appraisal fairly close to the time that the lease will expire agreed to by all parties. AG has used the previously approved rate of \$14.50 per sq/ft to forecast lease costs in the test years for the ATCO Center Calgary. AG requested a deferral account to address any difference in the forecast and the actual lease rate for the ATCO Center in Calgary. AG stated that it could potentially finalize this matter in its compliance filing for this GRA688 and that would be its intention. AG submitted that if the Commission does not agree that any further proceeding to review the lease rate should occur, and that no deferral account is to be used, then AG must be allowed the right to update its placeholder lease rate, which is currently based on the last approved lease rate.

760. Calgary recommended that the Commission deny AG's request for a deferral account to address any difference in the forecast and actual lease rate for the ATCO Centre in Calgary, and that the rate approved by the Commission should be no greater than the current rate. ⁶⁹⁰ Calgary stated that it appeared AG made up its mind not to change locations and was prepared to pay whatever rent the landlord required. It does not appear that AG did any analysis to determine whether a general review of market rents was applicable as an alternative to remaining in the ATCO Centre in a period of 10 per cent plus vacancy rates in Calgary. ⁶⁹¹ Calgary submitted that the justification for a deferral account has not been met, and it might be argued that a prudent person would not take the types of risk that AG is proposing with respect to required office space in Calgary.

761. In rebuttal evidence, AG explained that office space alternatives generally must be pursued one to two years before the space is required. AG is undergoing significant changes with regard to some of its capital and maintenance programs, the low use AMR project has commenced, which as discussed above is a complex undertaking, AG adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in 2011, and it is experiencing one of the heaviest regulatory schedules in its history. A move to a new facility within a year or less is not a viable

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-38, paragraph 103.

Decision 2009-109, Direction 21 at Tab 1 in application.

Transcript, Volume 4, page 684, lines 14-19.

Transcript, Volume 4, page 683, lines 17-24.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1271, lines 5-10.

Exhibit 163.01, AG argument, paragraph 191.

⁶⁹⁰ AUC-CAL-5 (c).

Exhibit 109.02, Calgary evidence, page 12, O.13.

option for AG when one considers these matters. AG cannot put its business on hold because it has a lease renewal coming up. Furthermore, the 55,000 square feet of contiguous office space required by AG is not readily available in the Beltline office market, which generally means that AG would have to consider a move to downtown Calgary, with higher lease rates. AG would have to incur leasehold improvement costs and moving costs, while also continuing to recover existing leasehold improvement costs for the Calgary ATCO Centre. AG would also have to incur lease costs for the new facility while still incurring lease costs related to the existing facility in order to facilitate the move. Calgary has factored none of these considerations into its recommendation.

- 762. In its response to AUC-CAL-5, Calgary provided a publication from Barclay Street Real Estate Ltd. for the fourth quarter of 2010. AG submitted that its actions should not be judged on the basis of information that it could not act upon without a major disruption of its business. The Barclay Street publication provided by Calgary does not give any indication of the contiguity of the vacant space in the Beltline.
- 763. AG also notes that in AUC-CAL-5(c) Calgary suggests that ATCO Centre would not be considered a Class A building and indicates that the maximum lease rate should be based on the Class B rate in the Barclay Street publication of \$12 per square foot. AG notes that in the Beltline, ATCO Centre is considered a Class A building. According to the Barclay Street publication, average lease rates for Class A buildings in the Beltline in 2009 were \$20 to \$25 per square foot. As at the fourth quarter of 2010, the Barclay Street publication cites lease rates of \$16 to \$20 per square foot. Calgary has made no provision to account for the impact of additional costs that AG would be required to incur.
- 764. In its evidence at page 12, lines 19 and 20, Calgary indicates that by waiting to renegotiate the lease, AG is essentially prepared to pay whatever rent the landlord seeks. AG argued that this is a false characterization of the facts. A market assessment will be performed by a third party shortly before the lease expiry. AG will file that market assessment as support for the new lease rate in a future regulatory proceeding. AG views that this matter would be better addressed once the final lease rate is known.⁶⁹²

Commission findings

- 765. The Commission recognizes that AG might have been challenged to find 55,000 square feet of lease space to meet its needs in the Beltline area of Calgary and that a move of this size would offer operational challenges for AG. However, the Commission is not persuaded that AG investigated all lease options, including space outside of the Beltline. AG should have taken steps to address its lease requirements on a timely basis and weigh the cost/benefits of continuing its lease at the ATCO Centre in Calgary versus other alternatives.
- 766. The Commission considers that a lease or lease extension should have been negotiated well before the expiry of the lease term. The record indicates that leases are typically negotiated one to two years in advance of expiry. Failure to do this limits AG's options and hence impacts its ability to negotiate leasing arrangements. In these circumstances, the Commission does not consider that a deferral account is warranted. Further the Commission does not consider that the actual rate should be accepted as the basis for the revenue requirement.

160 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

⁶⁹² AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 204.

- 767. The Fourth Quarter 2010 Office Space Review indicates rents in the Beltline have declined throughout 2010. Average rates for Class A buildings decreased from \$20 to \$25 per square foot to \$22 to \$24 per square foot. Class B building rents decreased from a range of \$13 to \$17 per square foot in 2009 to a range of \$11 to \$14 per square foot in 2010. AG indicated that the ATCO Centre is a Class A building while Calgary indicates that the ATCO Centre is a Class B building. The Commission notes that AG's rental rate during 2009 was \$14.50 per square foot which is mid-range for Class B buildings for that year. The Commission also notes that the Barclay Street publication repoed a downward pressure on rents at that time and that the range of rents for all classes of building space had decreased. However, the Commission agrees with AG that there would be significant costs both out of pocket and from operational disruptions which should be considered if AG were to move to other premises.
- 768. Weighing all the above factors the Commission considers that the existing rental rate should be used for the revenue requirement in 2011 with a three per cent escalation for inflation in 2012.
- 769. AG is directed in the compliance filing to this decision to include in its revenue requirement a rental rate for 2011 of \$14.50. For 2012, rent should be forecast based on \$14.50 per square foot increased by a three per cent inflation factor.

6.4.5 ATCO corporate aircraft and office costs – Account 721

770. ATCO corporate services (corporate or head office costs) costs are allocated using a methodology which was recently approved by the AUC in Decision 2010-447.⁶⁹³ This methodology is based on revenues, total assets and capital expenditures to allocate corporate office costs to the operating entities. Inflation rates for corporate services costs are forecast at three per cent for both of the test years.⁶⁹⁴ Both corporate office costs and aircraft cost are determined through the approved allocation methodology. As noted previously, the next corporate cost allocation methodology proceeding has been advanced to advanced to April 2, 2012. Consequently, the 2012 forecast amount for this account will be a placeholder.

6.4.5.1 ATCO corporate office costs – Account 721

- 771. AG has requested approval of forecasted corporate services costs for 2011 and 2012 of \$8.6 million and \$8.8 million respectively. 695
- 772. AG submitted that in the preparation of its GRA, it reviewed relevant decisions issued by the Commission since the release of Decision 2008-113 (Decisions 2009-087,⁶⁹⁶ 2010-447 and 2011-134), for relevance in this application.⁶⁹⁷ AG submitted that corporate costs and related cost increases for the 2009 and 2010 years had been reviewed and approved by the Commission for ATCO Electric in Decision 2009-087. AG submitted that in light of the ATCO Electric approval for the very same corporate office costs, and the immateriality of the increases in these costs in 2011 which AG has supported, these costs should be approved as forecast. AG noted that the

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 161

⁶⁹³ Decision 2010-447: ATCO Utilities Corporate Cost Allocation Methodology, Application No. 1605473. Proceeding ID. 306, September 20, 2010.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-39, paragraph 105.

Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-39, Table 4.2.2.7(d).

Decision 2009-087: ATCO Electric Ltd. 2008-2009 General Tariff Application-Phase I, Application No. 1578371, Proceeding ID. 86, July 2, 2009.

AG rebuttal evidence, pages 66-67.

Commission approved the head office costs for ATCO Electric for 2011 and 2012 in Decision 2011-134. 698

- 773. The UCA expressed its concern with respect to the transparency and justification of interaffiliate costs and noted that the Commission's predecessor and the Commission have expressed concerns in Decisions 2002-069,⁶⁹⁹ and 2008-113. The UCA submitted that over time, there have been significant increases in head office costs with little or no detailed visibility into the nature and magnitude of various costs.⁷⁰⁰
- 774. The UCA submitted that the reference by AG in rebuttal to Decision 2009-087 regarding the approval of corporate costs for ATCO Electric for the 2009 and 2010 revenue requirements is not relevant.
- 775. Based on AG's history of providing insufficient detail for inter-affiliate costs, and actual costs being above approved costs for 2008-2009 by approximately 11 per cent, the UCA recommended reductions to head office costs of \$921,000 in 2011 and \$945,000 in 2012.⁷⁰¹
- 776. With respect to future proceedings, the UCA recommended that AG must provide more detailed analysis of the head office costs it recovers from customers, and that:
 - time spent on business development should be tracked
 - business development costs should not be recovered from customers
 - advertising costs should not be recovered from customers
 - other inappropriate costs should be identified and removed from revenue requirement⁷⁰²
- 777. In evidence Calgary supported the recommendations of the UCA.
- 778. The UCA expressed concern with the proposed allocated corporate advertising costs. AG is forecasting its share of advertising costs will be \$73,000 in 2011 and \$75,000 in 2012. This advertising includes items such as Calgary Flames, North of 60, and Spruce Meadows, one of which should be paid by AG customers. The largest item is for "Other," which includes newspapers, magazines, journals, banners, and visual media. This broad category also should be excluded.

Commission findings

- 779. As noted previously 2012 forecast costs for Account 721 are placeholders.
- 780. The Commission relies on the approval of the corporate cost allocation methodology in Decision 2010-447 for 2011. The Commission has reviewed the corporate costs in Table 42, Administrative expense and notes that actual costs for 2008, 2009 and 2010 exceeded forecasts.

⁶⁹⁸ AG argument, paragraph 198.

Decision 2002-069: ATCO Group Affiliate Transactions and Code of Conduct Proceeding, Part A: Asset Transfer, Outsourcing Arrangements, and GRA Issues, Application No. 1237673, July 26, 2002, page 92.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 55.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence, A125.

Exhibit 200.01, UCA argument, page 67, paragraph 224.

Exhibit 0110.07, UCA general evidence, A120.

⁷⁰⁴ Exhibit 0083.01, UCA-AG-67(e).

⁷⁰⁵ Ibid.

However, for 2008 an explanation of the variance is provided. The Commission accepts AG's explanation and considers that the increase, which was with respect to HRX, would be a recurring cost. A comparison of actual 2008 costs to forecast 2011 costs is an increase of 10.5 per cent over a three-year period. The Commission considers an increase of approximately 3.5 per cent per year to be reasonable. However, the Commission agrees that the \$73,000 for 2011 and \$75,000 for 2012 of allocated corporate advertising, as noted above by the UCA, should not have been included in the corporate costs and directs that this amount should be removed.

781. The Commission is satisfied that except as noted above for advertising, AG's forecast corporate office costs for 2011 are reasonable. The Commission notes that the same costs formed part of the 2011 revenue requirement for ATCO Electric in Decision 2011-134.

6.4.5.2 Aircraft costs

782. AG has forecasted corporate aircraft costs of \$.5 million in each of 2011 and 2012. Corporate aircraft costs reflect AG's direct use of the corporate aircraft. Fixed costs relating to the head office use of the corporate aircraft were charged to corporate aircraft in 2008 and 2009; effective 2010 they are charged to ATCO corporate services and allocated to AG.⁷⁰⁷

783. The UCA noted that there is an inconsistent record on the issue of the allocation of fixed costs. Decisions 2007-071,⁷⁰⁸ 2007-104,⁷⁰⁹ and 2008-113⁷¹⁰ indicated that the fixed aircraft costs allocated to the Office of the Chair (OOC) should be a shareholder cost. In Decision 2011-134,⁷¹¹ the Commission approved these costs for ATCO Electric. The UCA requested that the Commission reconfirm its earlier position that the reallocation of fixed costs related to the use of aircraft by the OOC be disallowed. The UCA submitted that the forecast costs should be reduced by \$391,000 in 2011 and \$401,000 in 2012 to remove the fixed costs of the Citation X aircraft.⁷¹²

784. AG argued that its forecast aircraft costs for 20011 and 2012 are consistent with the corporate aircraft costs accepted in Decision 2011-134.⁷¹³

Commission findings

785. With respect to aircraft costs, in Decision 2011-134 the Commission noted that the inclusion of the fixed costs of the Citation X to the OOC is consistent with the corporate allocation methodology approved in Decision 2010-447. There is a benefit to ATCO Electric from the use of the aircraft and the Commission found that ATCO Electric had complied with its intent in Decision 2007-071.

786. Although Decision 2011-134 dealt specifically with ATCO Electric, the Commission notes that the it relied on the allocation methodology approved in Decision 2010-447 that also

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 253.

Application, Tab 8.1, Attachment page 46 of 139. "Increase due to Oracle HRX which was not in forecast." Exhibit 3, application, page 4.2-40, paragraph 110.

Decision 2007-071: ATCO Electric Ltd., 2007-2008 General Tariff Application – Phase I, Application No. 1485740, September 22, 2007, page 121.

Decision 2007-104: ATCO Electric Ltd., 2007-2008 General Tariff Application – Refiling, Application No. 1544572, December 21, 2007, page 12.

⁷¹⁰ Decision 2008-113, page 68.

Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 52, paragraphs 180-181.

Exhibit 203.01, AG argument, pages 75-76, paragraph 194.

applies to AG. The Commission considers that there is no evidence on the record of the current proceeding to support a different treatment for AG. As such, the Commission finds that including Citation X fixed costs in AG's forecasted expenses is reasonable. As aircraft costs are subject to corporate cost allocation, aircraft costs for 2012 are subject to placeholder treatment, pending the outcome of ATCO Utilities Corporate Office costs and the Allocation Methodology proceeding.

6.4.6 Administrative expense – mass media advertising – Account 721 and other supplies – Account 721

787. AG forecasted increases to mass media advertising of \$0.5 million in both the 2011 and 2012 test years. 714 AG requested approval of forecast costs for other supplies for the 2011 and 2012 test years of \$3.8 million and \$4.1 million respectively. 715

788. For the Mass Media Advertising Account 721, AG submits that the increase is due to recruitment advertising necessary to address growth in labour resource requirements and the replacement of positions for increased retirements.

789. For Other Supplies Account 721, AG submits that the increase over the test years is to address employee training needs.⁷¹⁶

790. The UCA argued that both the media advertising and other supplies expenses involve proposed increases beyond what is suggested by inflationary pressures. The proposed increases in other supplies relate primarily to leadership training that AG justifies on the basis of its aging workforce. In its evidence, the UCA suggested that the cost increases are not justified because whatever effects an aging work force may potentially have on AG have already been accounted for in the market and in the optimization of the system to date. The UCA recommended a decrease in AG's 2011 and 2012 forecast costs relating to mass media advertising of \$295,000 in 2011 and \$290,000 in 2012; and other supplies of \$830,000 in 2011 and \$1,059,000 in 2012.

791. Calgary submitted in its evidence that a general statement about the number of employees eligible for retirement in the near term does not justify the \$1.2 million increase from 2010 actual costs to the 2012 forecast for other supplies.⁷¹⁹

792. AG submitted that the UCA and Calgary have not provided any support for their positions. In rebuttal evidence, AG explained that a significant contributor to the 2010 decrease in mass media advertising costs incurred was the temporary stabilization of its workforce arising from the economic crisis. As the economy continues to recover, a competitive labour market is expected resulting in the requirement for increased levels of recruitment advertising. AG's 2011 forecast increase in mass media advertising costs, back to pre-economic crisis levels, arose from changed circumstances of a more competitive labour market, and an increased need for labour resources.⁷²⁰

164 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

.

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-35, Table 4.2.2.7 Administrative Expense (Account 721).

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-35, Table 4.2.2.7 Administrative Expense (Account 721).

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-41, paragraph 113.

UCA evidence, pages 36 and 37.

Exhibit 142.02, AUC-ACA-16 Attachment, UCA proposed O&M reductions to 2011 and 2012.

Calgary evidence, page 15.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 69, paragraph 269.

- 793. With regard to other supplies, AG noted that the UCA indicated that training activities are related to the overall workforce demographic theme and are not justified because these impacts have already been accounted for in the market and in the optimization of the system to date. Calgary submitted that the number of employees eligible to retire in the near term did not justify the requested increase. AG submitted that its demographic profile shows a significant number of employees eligible to retire over the next several years with a potential peak occurring between 2011 and 2015. By the end of 2015, close to 500 of AG's current employees will be eligible to retire.
- 794. Leadership training costs are forecast to increase in 2011 by \$0.9 million and stabilize in 2012.⁷²⁴
- 795. AG submitted that it has identified not only the cause of the increases for mass media advertising and other supplies, but the dollar impact related to each cause. The causes for the increase in forecast costs for mass media advertising and other supplies is not limited to the aging work force issue as indicated by the UCA.

Commission findings

- 796. The Commission, earlier in Section 6.1 above, found that it was not persuaded that the aging workforce and tightening labour market are driving higher O&M costs. The Commission is persuaded by the UCA's argument that there has not been a sufficient change in circumstances between 2010 and the test years to warrant the requested increases forecast by AG.
- 797. The Commission therefore approves mass media and other supplies expenses for 2011 and 2012 calculated as 2010 actual costs increased by five per cent per year for inflation and growth. AG is directed to include this revision in its compliance filing.

6.4.7 IT and CC&B governance costs

798. AG indicated⁷²⁵ its IT and CC&B governance costs included the following amounts:

- The ATCO Group IT governance related to the Office of the CIO, for which the allocated forecast⁷²⁶ is \$0.6 million for 2011 and \$0.6 million for 2012.
- ATCO Gas IT governance forecast to be \$0.8 million for 2011 and \$1.7 million for 2012. 2012 includes IT benchmarking costs of \$0.6 million.
- ATCO Gas CC&B governance forecast to be \$0.5 million for 2011 and \$0.9 million for 2012.
- 2012 includes CC&B benchmarking costs of \$0.3 million.

AG did not fully detail which accounts, O&M or capital, included these governance costs.

Calgary evidence, page 15.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, Q 131 and Q 132.

UCA evidence, page 36.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 69-70, paragraph 272.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 70.

Exhibit 82.11, CAL-AG-15(a) Attachment, 2011 - \$562,000, 2012 - \$579,000.

Views of the parties

- 799. Calgary submitted that the governance functions in ATCO Group and AG are not fulfilling their roles to ensure competitive prices (and volumes) for IT capital projects and IT and CC&B O&M costs. I-Tek should not be allowed to play any role in selecting the best solution for the ATCO Group or AG because it is in a conflict of interest position. Calgary submitted that there is an absence of evidence to demonstrate that the governance function has been cost effective to ratepayers. Specifically, good governance would have provided better support for a service provider's forecast of operating and capital expenditures than has been provided in the current application.
- 800. Calgary noted that during cross examination,⁷²⁸ Mr. Schmidt stated that Oracle Financials, Oracle HRX and SumTotal TMS were ATCO Group decisions and subject to the IT governance of all ATCO companies including ATCO I-Tek. For IT projects that were just for the use of AG, the AG governance group was responsible.
- 801. Calgary indicated that ATCO has requested the approval of two ATCO Group IT projects, Oracle HRX (or HRMS) and SumTotal TMS, to be added to rate base and operating costs. Calgary submitted that both of these projects have poor cost/benefit plans. Neither project's business case examined competitive alternatives to I-Tek. Calgary submitted that the evidence indicated that I-Tek had been involved in defining the selection criteria used in the requests for proposal.
- 802. Calgary recommended that the governance costs allocated from the ATCO Group for 2011 and 2012 should be reduced to zero. Further, Calgary recommended that the AG governance costs with respect to IT and CC&B should be reduced to zero. These latter personnel have not demonstrated that they are exercising a governance function on behalf of AG. Their activities and results seem to indicate that they are functioning on behalf of the ATCO Group.⁷²⁹
- 803. In reply argument, AG stated that Calgary implies that ATCO is not complying with the Inter-Affiliate Code of Conduct without providing any evidence to support such a claim. Calgary stated that one indication of the Governance groups not properly performing their functions is the poor cost/benefit analysis related to Oracle HRX and TMS. AG submitted that it had demonstrated in the business cases the benefits of the chosen alternatives. AG further submitted that the use of third party software demonstrated that there was no conflict of interest and no violation of the Inter-Affiliate Code of Conduct.⁷³⁰

Commission findings

- 804. The Commission reviewed the merits of each of the HRX and TMS projects in the rate base section of this decision.
- 805. As noted above, AG has not fully described which accounts, O&M or capital, include corporate governance costs. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to indicate the allocation of the governance costs identified above to specific capital and O&M accounts,

Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, pages 55 to 57.

⁷²⁸ Ibid., noting Transcript, Volume 3, page 600 to Volume 4, page 630.

Calgary argument, pages 55-57.

Exhibit 218.02, AG reply argument, page 53 and 54, paragraph 123.

including the corresponding amounts approved in Decision 2011-228 and the actual amounts incurred in 2010.

6.4.8 IT expenses – Volumes

6.4.8.1 **ATCO I-Tek (included in Account 721)**

806. In the application, AG requested approval of all O&M IT volumes and specified expenses. Specified expenses were defined by AG as expenses from third-party vendors such as annual maintenance fees. The I-Tek O&M volumes are provided in the application and the forecast placeholder costs for these volumes are \$21.1 million in 2011 and \$21.3 in 2012.731

	Actuals			
MSA Schedule Reference	2010	2010	2011	2012
2. Specified Expense	\$1,740,284.98	\$1,846,287	\$1,130,932.8	\$1,156,936
3. Express Request Service Fee	\$20,591.22	\$16,435	\$16,867.1	\$17,436
4. Application Service Provider Service	\$304,539.72	\$320,307	\$336,097.3	\$340,291
5. Distributed Server and Managed Services	\$4,963,838.40	\$5,101,450	\$5,285,565.0	\$5,250,569
6. Mainframe Services	\$2,415,711.49	\$2,999,658	\$2,967,344.1	\$2,944,381
7. Disaster Recovery Service	\$360,722.76	\$460,438	\$489,971.8	\$494,134
8. Project Labour Service	\$670,562.91	\$665,621	\$1,563,263.3	\$1,690,248
9. Storage Service	\$904,623.29	\$793,903	\$778,779.9	\$794,447
10. User Connectivity Service	\$321,755.94	\$340,889	\$350,188.6	\$359,569
11. Network Connectivity Service	\$1,112,387.11	\$1,107,592	\$1,124,611.0	\$1,129,497
12. Voice Service	\$829,762.70	\$782,519	\$840,041.7	\$858,800
13. Workstation Service	\$2,605,006.05	\$2,810,894	\$2,819,414.5	\$2,843,806
Schedule E	\$3,138,791.10	\$3,135,621	\$3,365,331.4	\$3,441,916
Non I-Tek		\$35,000.00	\$-	
Total	\$ 19,388,577.66	\$ 20,416,613.55	\$ 21,068,408.71	\$21,322,029.64

Table 43. I-Tek forecast placeholder costs for 2011 and 2012⁷³²

807. All AG IT volumes for O&M were presented in AG's application, at Tab 4.2 and updated in Exhibit 180.

AG stated that it provided volume information for O&M in the application. The forecasts are laid out in detail and structured identically to Schedules D and E of the master services agreement (MSA) filed in the 2010 Evergreen proceeding.⁷³³

809. Calgary reviewed AG's O&M I-Tek volumes and submitted that AG failed to provide sufficient cost/benefit support for the requested I-Tek volumes in its application, and IR responses. Calgary argued that AG did not provide evidence in the proper level of detail to support its forecasts for the operate component of IT volumes for O&M and also that AG did not

Exhibit 3, application, Volume 1, pages 4.2-35 and 4.2-36 have costs of \$20.5 million for 2011 and \$20.8 million for 2012; and Exhibit 27.01 Excel spreadsheet of Tab 4.2 which shows \$21.1 million in 2011 and \$21.3 million in 2012.

Exhibit 82.01, CAL-AG-17(a).

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 35, paragraph 125.

follow the Evergreen Strategy Report⁷³⁴ that requires AG to separate IT volumes into the operate components of daily operation and operations support for new projects. AG stated that Calgary's claims that AG has not clearly identified base operating volumes. AG in rebuttal evidence,⁷³⁵ noted that the O&M volume information provided in Tab 4.2 of the application includes 2008-2009 actual volumes. In the hearing, AG was asked to undertake⁷³⁶ to provide a table to convert the volumes under the old MSA to the volumes under the new MSA. AG provided a spreadsheet⁷³⁷ with actual volumes for 2008 to 2010 and forecast volumes for 2010 to 2012.

Commission findings

810. Calgary brought forward issues with respect to the Evergreen Strategy Report, O&M IT volumes and the lack of comparability due to the differences in structure and terms of the two MSAs. The Commission is satisfied that Exhibit 180 provided sufficient detail of volumes in a standardized format to allow the Commission to assess the reasonability of the forecast volumes. The Commission accepts the O&M forecast volumes as filed. The Commission notes the dollars are placeholders and directs AG to use the amounts provided in Table 42 above for the test years.

6.4.9 Legal and consulting – special services – Account 722

- 811. The special services account includes both legal and audit fees. AG forecast legal and consulting fees of \$0.9 million and \$1.0 million for 2011 and 2012 respectively. These forecasts include costs of \$150,000 in 2011 and 2012 relating to the potential requirement for AG to participate in NGTL proceedings with the NEB. AG submitted that it used an average of the prior three years actual costs plus inflation to develop the legal and consulting fees forecast for the test period. AG submitted that costs included in this category were consistent with the Commission scale of costs.
- 812. AG requested a placeholder for AG's legal and consultant costs on the basis that it should be able to recover the full amount of its prudently incurred regulatory costs which may be in excess of the Commission's scale of costs. It also stated that it should be able to recover legal costs related to the review and variance or appeal of Commission decisions.

Commission findings

- 813. The Commission has not been persuaded that the \$150,000 forecast costs in each of the test years for potential involvement in hearings before the NEB relating to integration are justified because no supporting rationale was provided. The Commission is satisfied that the balance of AG's forecast costs for its audit, legal and consulting fees is reasonable based on AG's explanation that it is an average of its previous three-year costs. AG's forecast with regard to legal and consulting expenses is approved, subject to the above reduction.
- 814. With respect to AG's request for a placeholder for legal and consulting costs, the Commission notes that in Decision 2006-004⁷³⁹ the EUB denied an application by AG for recovery of costs in excess of the scale of costs with respect to proceedings before the EUB,

Exhibit 83.01, UCA-AG-85(a).

⁷³⁴ 2008-2009 Evergreen.

Exhibit 163.01, page 35 of 82, paragraph 125.

Transcript, Volume 4, page 524, lines 1-6.

⁷³⁷ Exhibit 180.

Decision 2006-004: ATCO Gas, 2005-2007 General Rate Application, Phase I, Application No. 1400690, January 27, 2006.

including review and variance proceedings, and for costs associated with appeals of EUB decisions.⁷⁴⁰ The Commission confirms the findings and reasoning of the EUB and finds that the reasoning is applicable to the present application.

815. The Commission's Rule 022: Rules on Intervener Costs in Utility Rate Proceedings (Rule 022) addresses the recovery of costs in AUC regulatory proceedings, including review and variance proceedings, for all parties to a proceeding. The Commission finds that Rule 022 sets out the parameters for cost recovery and therefore there is not justification to support a placeholder for forecast legal and consulting costs. AG's request for a placeholder related to legal and consultant costs is denied.

6.4.10 Reserve for injuries and damages (RID) – Account 724 – late payment

- 816. AG has forecast annual expense levels of \$.5 million for the Reserve for Injuries and Damages account for both 2011 and 2012.⁷⁴¹ AG also proposed a one-time recovery from customers related to the reserve for injuries and damages of \$2.1 million (\$1.2 million for the North and \$0.95 million for the South). A one time adjustment arising from the settlement of litigation related to late payment penalty charges accounts for \$1.8 million of the \$2.1 million. AG indicated that the one-time recovery is necessary in order to maintain the reserve balance at \$600,000 in total.⁷⁴²
- 817. The evidence of the parties focused on the proposal to include the costs of the late payment penalty charges litigation and settlement into the RID account.
- 818. In AG's 2008/2009 general rate application, AG advised the Commission that it was involved in litigation related to an action commenced against Canadian Western Natural Gas by a customer in the style of a class action against AG related to late payment charges. Beginning in 1982 AG had included within its terms and conditions of service approved by the Commission's predecessors, a provision requiring customers who do not pay their monthly bill by the due date to pay a late payment penalty of five percent of the unpaid charges. The law suit alleged that the late payment charge contravened Section 347(1)(b) of the *Criminal Code* which prohibits receipt of a payment of interest at a criminal rate. Section 347(2) of the *Criminal Code* defines "criminal rate" as "an effective annual rate of interest calculated in accordance with generally accepted actuarial practices and principles that exceeds sixty per cent advanced under an agreement or arrangement." In Decision 2008-113 the Commission noted that the litigation was ongoing and directed AG to maintain a separate accounting of the legal and other payments in it reserve for injuries and damages (RID) account.
- 819. On July 20, 2009, the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta approved a settlement agreement (settlement) related to the late payment charge litigation covering the period November 1, 1998 to May 1, 2004. AG paid a settlement amount of \$1.5 million. AG incurred legal costs of \$0.3 million in defending the claim. The total \$1.8 million was recorded to the RID account. The settlement and legal costs of \$1.8 million substantially accounts for the

7

⁷⁴⁰ Decision 2006-004, pages 100-102.

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-34, Table 4.2.2.7(a) Administrative and General Function.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Section 9.1.4, paragraph 6.

⁷⁴³ Application, Volume 2-1, Decision 2008-113, Other Commission Direction, PDF page 88.

Decision 2008-113, page 82.

In Application, Volume 2-1, Decision 2008-113 Other Commission Direction, PDF page 89, AG indicates that the legal fees amount to \$406,000 resulting in a charge to the reserve of \$1.9 million.

- \$2.1 million of the requested one- time adjustment to be recovered from customers.⁷⁴⁶ The allocation of the settlement amount between north and south was done on the basis of the total late payment revenues recognized by each area.
- 820. The CCA stated in argument that the action filed against AG was founded on a similar action commenced against Consumers' Gas Co. that was considered by the Supreme Court of Canada in *Garland v. Consumers' Gas Co.*, [1998] 3 S.C.R. 112 (Garland No. 1 decision). In that decision, the Supreme Court found that Section 347(1)(b) of the *Criminal Code* applied to the late payment penalty of five per cent of the unpaid charges for the month charged by Consumers' Gas (now Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.). The late payment penalty was found to be an interest charge within the meaning of Section 347(2) of the *Criminal Code*. By implication, in entering into a settlement of the claim against it, the CCA argued that AG must have engaged in similarly prohibited conduct.
- 821. The CCA opposed ATCO recovering the \$1.8 million from customers as the CCA views this proposal by ATCO as an inappropriate use of the RID. The CCA submitted that the settlement was reached in 2009 and therefore should not be collected in 2011 and 2012 revenue requirement. AG should not be allowed to recover this amount through the RID. The CCA submitted that the RID operates as a reserve account, the amount of which is determined using a reserve methodology with respect to legal claims. AG, however, is using the RID in this case to recover amounts related to the settlement on a deferral basis. Further, given that the settlement was not filed on the record, there was insufficient information to conclude whether AG had acted prudently in negotiating the settlement.
- 822. The CCA also submitted that recovery of the settlement amount should not be permitted because the subject matter of the claim is founded upon AG having potentially engaged in prohibited conduct when it charged a late payment penalty which arguably exceeded the allowed rate of interest provisions of the *Criminal Code*.⁷⁴⁷ The CCA stated in argument: "CCA submit AG does not bear any risk for its prohibited conduct..."
- 823. In reply argument the CCA stated:

The CCA concern is the utility, in this instance ATCO, must be liable for its acts or omission. To that end, ATCO as a corporation must bear the liability or responsibility. The CCA submit it is manifestly unfair to expect customers to bear the liability for the actions of the company which are arguably prohibited by law.⁷⁴⁹

The PUB, AEUB, AUC or interveners are not responsible for the inappropriate conduct of AG or its predecessor companies. The conduct of AG and its predecessor companies and the cost related to inappropriate conduct is the responsibility of AG.⁷⁵⁰

824. AG reiterated its argument from the 2008-2009 general rate application on this matter:

ATCO Gas submits that it is evident that customers received the benefit of late payment charges as an offset to revenue requirements and as such, it is appropriate that the

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-43, paragraph 117.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 49, paragraphs 150-151.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 50, paragraph 155.

CCA reply argument, pages 15-16, AP 53.

⁷⁵⁰ CCA reply argument, page 17, paragraph 57.

litigation costs and the cost of any potential payments be charged against the reserve for injuries and damages for future recovery from customers.⁷⁵¹

- 825. In testimony, Ms. Wilson stated in an exchange with counsel for the CCA that the fact that customers benefited from the late payment charges was not their primary reason for including the settlement amount in the RID. Ms. Wilson stated:
 - A. MS. WILSON: So, sir, you made reference that ATCO Gas had indicated that customers benefitted from the late payment fee.

To be clear, that is secondary to our position, which really is that we were required to charge a late payment fee. The methodology and the rate that was to be used was reviewed in an opening [sic] process.

Every time Northwestern and Canadian Western came before the regulator, the treatment of the revenues that were to be recovered through that late payment fee was also addressed in those regulatory proceedings. So everything that occurred with regard to that fee was reviewed and approved by the regulator.

As a matter of fact, the Canadian Western and Northwestern were actually directed to move to a percentage basis for their fee, more like other distribution utilities in Canada. At the time I believe they were using a commodity base fee. So we were actually directed to make our late payment penalty fee look more like other utilities in Canada. 752

- 826. AG submitted that it had not been found guilty of engaging in any prohibited conduct and that even if it had, such a finding would not be relevant. AG stated in reply argument: "[T]he regulator has never indicated that ATCO Gas is not entitled to use the RID simply because it may have been found guilty of something." ⁷⁵³
- 827. With respect to the CCA's suggestion that because the class action suit was founded on the Garland No. 1 decision, AG must have engaged in similarly prohibited conduct, AG stated in reply argument: "The fact that the claim was based on a similar case does not by extension make ATCO Gas guilty." In testimony, Ms. Wilson stated in response to a question from counsel for the CCA:
 - Q. Okay. So in the end, how is ATCO Gas punished for having the late fee, which did not comply with the Criminal Code?
 - A. MS. WILSON: Well, sir, I have said several times now that there was no finding of guilt on the part of ATCO Gas.

This isn't about punishment. This is about the fact that we used a rate. It was a rate used by practically all natural gas distribution utilities across Canada; there was no understanding at the time of its use that there may be an issue with regard to it.

AG reply argument, page 94, paragraph 222.

Exhibit 4, AG application, Volume 2-1, Tab 1 Decision 2008-113, Other Commission Direction, page 4, PDF page 91.

Transcript, Volume 2, page 251, line 16 to page 252, line 9.

AG reply argument, page 94, paragraph 222.

And, however, a Court case occurred for Enbridge, and based on that, ATCO Gas made a prudent decision with regard to the settlement of this claim. ⁷⁵⁵

828. AG submitted that the settlement obtained by AG is prudent and avoids the potential for significantly higher costs as well as future litigation related to this matter. The regulator approved the late payment rate and structure each time it approved AG's (and predecessors') rates. AG indicated that the Ontario Energy Board had found it appropriate for customers to be responsible for the settlements reached by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. and Union Gas. AG indicated that the Enbridge circumstances regarding late payment charges were very similar to AG's and that it should be allowed to recover the total amount of the settlement and legal costs from customers in its rates.⁷⁵⁶

829. AG submitted that the Ontario Energy Board has approved the recovery of settlements related to late payment suits in all cases in Ontario to date, regardless of whether a finding of guilt existed or not. The CCA has not been able to demonstrate any distinguishing aspect that would warrant a different outcome occurring in Alberta. AG submitted that it prudently settled this claim without any finding of guilt on the part of a court of law. AG stated in reply argument:

As noted by ATCO Gas in its Argument, this isn't a matter of whether different utilities were subsequently found guilty under the Criminal Code because of the late payment charge rate that was used by them, and the fact that ATCO Gas charged a similar rate. It is about the fact that ATCO Gas prudently settled this claim at a cost of \$1.9 million, considerably less than the Enbridge settlement of \$22 million dollars. ATCO Gas also thereby avoided the considerable costs of litigating this class action lawsuit. Finally, it is about the fact that the RID does not distinguish between those cases where a finding of guilt occurred versus where a settlement occurred before any finding on the part of the courts. Tesp

Commission findings

830. It is of assistance in analyzing the issues raised with respect to the settlement and the ability of AG to recover the settlement and associated legal fees in the amount of \$1.8 million from ratepayers to review the chronology of the relevant events on the record. Section 347 of the *Criminal Code* came into effect on April 1, 1981.⁷⁶⁰ Beginning in 1982 AG had included within its terms and conditions of service approved by the Commission's predecessors, a provision requiring customers who do not pay their monthly bill by the due date to pay a late payment penalty of five percent of the unpaid charges.⁷⁶¹ The Garland No. 1 decision was issued on October 30, 1998. The litigation leading to the settlement was commenced in February, 2001. On July 20, 2009 the court approved the settlement covering the period November 1, 1998 to May 1, 2004.

172 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

7

Transcript, Volume 2, page 258, line 23 to page 259, line 11.

Exhibit 4, AG application, Volume 2-1, Tab 1 Decision 2008-113, Other Commission Direction, pages 4-5, PDF pages 91-92.

AG reply argument, pages 94-95, paragraph 222.

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument, pages 94-95.

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument page 95, paragraph 224.

Garland No. 1 decision, paragraph 23.

Application, Volume 2-1, Decision 2008-113 Other Commission Direction, PDF page 88.

- 831. AG takes the position that the payments made under the settlement and associated legal costs should be collected from ratepayers through the RID account mechanism because AG relied on the approval of the predecessors of the Commission and the late payment charges benefited ratepayers. Further, there has been no finding of guilt on the part of AG and even if there was it would not be relevant. The settlement of the class action claim is no different than any other settlement reached in litigation filed against the company and included in rates through the RID account. The inclusion in the RID account of these costs would be similar in treatment to the way in which the Ontario Energy Board has dealt with this issue.
- 832. The CCA takes that position that settlement and related legal costs should not be included in the RID account and collected from ratepayers because it doesn't properly fit within the RID account. Further, AG should not be entitled to recover payment of these amounts from ratepayers because the late payment penalty rate may infringe the provisions of Section 347 of the *Criminal Code*. In support of this position the CCA relies on the finding of the Supreme Court in the Garland No. 1 decision. The CCA summarized its position as follows:

In summary, the Court held Consumers' Gas actions regarding its late payment penalty charges mounted to prohibited conduct. By implication, in entering into a settlement of the claim against it, AG must have engaged in similarly prohibited conduct.⁷⁶²

833. The Commission considers the analysis in the second Garland case decided by the Supreme Court of Canada to be of assistance in making a determination on the present issues. In *Garland v. Consumers' Gas Co.*, [2004] 1 S.C.R. 629 (Garland No. 2 decision) the Supreme Court determined that Consumers' Gas had to repay the late payment penalty charges collected from ratepayers after the commencement of the class action suit on the basis of a finding of unjust enrichment. The fact that ratepayers benefited from the collection of the late payment penalty charges was not accepted as a defense to a claim of unjust enrichment in a civil suit with respect to the period commencing with the filing of the law suit. The court stated:

In this case, the respondent says that any "benefit" it received from the unlawful charges was passed on to other customers in the form of lower gas delivery rates. Having "passed on" the benefit, it says, it should not be required to disgorge the amount of the benefit (a second time) to overcharged customers such as the appellant. The issue here, however, is not the ultimate destination within the regulatory system of an amount of money equivalent to the unlawful overcharges, nor is this case concerned with the net impact of these overcharges on the respondent's financial position. The issue is whether, as between the overcharging respondent and the overcharged appellant, the passing of the benefit on to other customers excuses the respondent of having overcharged the appellant.

The appellant submits that the defence of change of position is not available to a defendant who is a wrongdoer and that, since the respondent in this case was enriched by its own criminal misconduct, it should not be permitted to avail itself of the defence. I agree. ⁷⁶³

834. With respect to the argument advanced by Consumers' Gas that the late payment penalty charges had been approved by the Ontario Energy Board, the court determined that because the late payment penalty charge infringed the provisions of Section 347 of the *Criminal Code*, it followed that the regulatory approvals of that charge were constitutionally inoperative to the

⁷⁶² CCA argument, pages 46-47, paragraph 145.

Garland No. 2 decision, paragraphs 62-64.

extent of the conflict with Section 347. However, Consumers' Gas had the reasonable expectation that it was entitled to rely on the Ontario Energy Board approvals even though these approvals were inoperative, up until the point in time when the law suit was filed. This reasonable expectation provided Consumers' Gas with a juristic reason for the enrichment received with respect to the period of time up until the law suit was commenced. After the law suit was commenced, Consumers' Gas "...was put on notice of the serious possibility that it was violating the *Criminal Code* in charging the LPPs" ⁷⁶⁴ and therefore was no longer to rely on the Ontario Energy Board orders. The court stated:

Consumers' Gas could have requested that the OEB alter its rate structure until the matter was adjudicated in order to ensure that it was not in violation of the *Criminal Code* or asked for contingency arrangements to be made. Its decision not to do this, as counsel for the appellant pointed out in oral submissions, was a "gamble". After the action was commenced and Consumers' Gas was put on notice that there was a serious possibility the LPPs violated the *Criminal Code*, it was no longer reasonable for Consumers' Gas to rely on the OEB rate orders to authorize the LPPs. ⁷⁶⁵

- 835. Consumers' Gas was required to repay the late payment penalty charges collected after the law suit was commenced because it could not rely on the prior Ontario Energy Board approvals to prevent recovery by the plaintiff after the date that the lawsuit was filed.
- 836. In the present proceeding, there has been no judicial finding that AG has infringed Section 347 of the *Criminal Code*; the Commission has not been asked to decide a question of unjust enrichment as was the case in the Garland No. 2 decision; and the Commission is not being asked to decide who, as between AG and the customers who paid late payment charges, should bear the cost of the late payment charges. Nevertheless, the Commission considers the guidance supplied by the Garland No. 2 decision is directly applicable in certain respects to the present application.
- 837. AG has acknowledged that "ATCO Gas charged a similar rate" to the late payment penalty rates collected by Consumers' Gas. Although the Commission's predecessors continued to allow late payment penalty charges in this form to be included in AG's terms and conditions of service, the Commission considers that AG should have been aware of the Garland No. 1 decision when it was issued on October 30, 1998. Accordingly, at that time, AG should have been aware that a late payment penalty rate, similar to the rate being charged by AG "amounted to charging a criminal rate of interest under s. 347." ⁷⁶⁷
- 838. The Commission considers that AG's corporate governance and legal responsibilities, the costs of which are paid by ratepayers, include the responsibility to ensure that AG's terms and conditions of regulated service comply will all applicable law. Ensuring that AG's terms and conditions of service comply with all applicable law is not the responsibility of interveners, nor is it the responsibility of the Commission. AG, like Consumers' Gas in the Garland No. 2 decision, could have requested the regulator to "...alter its rate structure until the matter was adjudicated in order to ensure that it was not in violation of the *Criminal Code* or asked for contingency arrangements to be made" ⁷⁶⁸ at any time after it should have become aware of the

Garland No. 2 decision, paragraph 59.

174 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

Garland No. 2 decision, paragraph 59.

AG reply argument, page 95, paragraph 224.

Garland No. 2 decision, paragraph 6.

Garland No. 2 decision, paragraph 59.

Garland No. 1 decision. Consumers' Gas could not rely on prior Ontario Energy Board orders to avoid a claim of unjust enrichment after it was put on notice of the lawsuit. The Supreme Court considered that Consumers' Gas' decision not to take steps to address the issue after it received notice, was a "gamble." Similarly, the Commission considers that AG and its predecessors' inaction after the issuance of the Garland No. 1 decision in requesting a change to the late payment penalty charge on the basis of a possible infringement of Section 347 of the *Criminal Code*, amounted to a "gamble." AG and its predecessor organizations gambled that it would not be sued on the same basis as the Garland No. 1 decision and AG further gambled that if it were sued, that the Commission would allow recovery of any resulting award or settlement amount to be recovered from ratepayers. AG's inaction is even more noticeable given the passage of time between the issuance of the Garland No. 1 decision in October 1998 and the commencement of the lawsuit against AG's predecessor in February 2001.

- 839. Given that the settlement relates to a period (November 1, 1998 to May 1, 2004) subsequent to the issuance of the Garland No. 1 decision, the Commission considers that the entire amount paid under the settlement and the applicable legal costs is at issue. AG should have been aware of the issues associated with Section 347 of the *Criminal Code* at least from the October 30, 1998 issue date of the Garland No. 1 decision and it is AG's responsibility to ensure that its terms and conditions of service comply with all applicable law. There is no evidence on the record to indicate that AG requested a change from the regulator to the late payment penalty rate in its terms and conditions of service on the basis of the criminal rate of interest provisions of the *Criminal Code* during the period November 1, 1998 to May 1, 2004. In these circumstances, the Commission considers that AG is not entitled to rely on approvals of the late payment penalty rate by the predecessors to the Commission to include the settlement in the RID account.
- 840. It follows from the above that AG must also fail in its argument to include the settlement amount in the RID account based on the fact that ratepayers benefited from the collection of the late payment penalties through lower rates. AG fails in this argument because AG (not ratepayers or the Commission) has the responsibility to ensure that its terms and conditions of service comply with all applicable law and because AG can not rely in the present circumstances on prior approvals by the regulators of the late payment penalty rate to avoid responsibility. The Commission agrees with the CCA that to hold otherwise would remove all accountability and risk from AG and that it would be "... manifestly unfair to expect customers to bear the liability for the actions of the company which are arguably prohibited by law." "771"
- 841. The set of circumstances surrounding the settlement discussed above, distinguishes the recovery of the settlement costs from the recovery of other litigation costs through the RID. It is for these reasons that the Commission finds that ratepayers should not be required to pay for the costs of the settlement and the associated legal expenses.
- 842. AG's request for a recovery of \$1.8 million related to the settlement and associated legal expenses is denied. The Commission therefore directs AG to remove the settlement and associated legal expenses from AG's forecast for reserve for injuries and damages and revenue requirement in its compliance filing. The \$300,000 balance of the proposed \$2.1 million recovery in order to maintain a reserve balance of \$600,000 is approved.

Garland No. 2 decision, paragraph 59.

Garland No. 2 decision, paragraph 59.

⁷⁷¹ CCA reply argument, pages 15-16, AP 53.

843. The Commission also approves the forecast expense levels of \$.5 million for the reserve for injuries and damages account for both 2011 and 2012.

6.4.11 Employee benefits – Account 725

- 844. Employee benefits Account 725 includes statutory benefits, costs related to pensions, flex benefits and other employee benefits. AG forecast costs for employee benefits in the test years of \$35.3 million in 2011 and \$33.7⁷⁷² million in 2012.
- 845. Statutory benefits, comprised of Canada Pension Plan (CPP), Employment Insurance (EI) and Workers' Compensation Board (WCB) premiums account for approximately \$0.6 million of the increase in 2011 and \$0.2 million of increase in 2012. AG attributes these increases to inflation, an increase in the number of employees and increases in EI premiums announced by the federal government.
- 846. There are three components related to pension costs: amortization of deferred pension, pension expense and other post-employment benefits (OPEB), and pension funding. The amortization of deferred pension of \$2.7 million in 2011 is a result of a direction by the EUB in Decision 2006-100.⁷⁷³ Pension expense and OPEB was \$1.2 million in 2010 and has increased to \$1.5 million in each of 2011 and 2012.
- 847. Pension funding in the test years is a placeholder in this application subject to determination by the Commission in a Common Pension Matters proceeding. Decision 2011-391⁷⁷⁴ requires that a compliance filing be made by November 30, 2011. Therefore, the pension funding in the 2011-2012 GRA is considered to be a placeholder.
- 848. Flex benefits include long term disability and health and dental premium costs for benefits offered by the ATCO Group. AG stated that there was a decrease to long term disability rates in 2010 offset by higher rates for dental and health premiums.
- 849. AG explained the increase in other employee benefits as arising from increased communication costs, education reimbursement costs and retirements gifts and staff recognition awards, and inflation.⁷⁷⁵
- 850. The UCA recommended that the Commission approve \$33.5 million and \$31.8⁷⁷⁶ million for 2011 and 2012 respectively for Account 725. In argument the UCA explained the basis for its proposed adjustment as tracking labour inflation at three per cent, with an adjustment in 2012 to reflect the end of recovery of deferred pension amortization amounts.⁷⁷⁷

Decision 2006-100: ATCO Utilities 2005-2007 Common Matters Application, Application No. 1407946, October 11, 2006.

Exhibit 110.07, UCA general evidence at page 42, Q.66.

⁷⁷⁷ Exhibit 200.02, UCA argument, page 49-50, paragraphs 169 to 171.

⁷⁷² April 21, 2100 update.

Decision 2011-391: ATCO Utilities (ATCO Gas, ATCO Pipelines, and ATCO Electric Ltd.) 2011 Pension Common Matters, Application No. 1606850, Proceeding ID No. 999, September 27, 2011.

AG rebuttal evidence, pages 72-73.

851. In its rebuttal evidence AG criticized the UCA for not also providing for increases in employee benefits to account for growth in the number of employees.⁷⁷⁸ AG suggested that a 4.4per cent growth factor would be more appropriate.

Commission finding

852. The Commission is satisfied that AG has adequately explained why employee benefits are increasing for the test years. Further the Commission notes that the largest component of employee benefits is the pension funding which is subject to a placeholder. In Decision 2011-391 the Commission made a determination of pension funding for AG to be included in revenue requirement for 2011 and 2012. AG is directed to maintain the current placeholders for pension funding, pending a decision in relation to the compliance filing for Decision 2011-391 noted above. AG is directed to submit an application to replace the placeholders within a reasonable time following the issuance of the decision in the compliance filing. With the exception of the placeholder for pension funding, the Commission approves the forecast costs for employee benefits.

6.4.12 Other administrative and general expenses – Account 728

853. Other administrative and general expenses are comprised of hearing costs, a charge for the consumer advocate, bank charges, company memberships and other supplies. The largest sub-account is hearing costs, which will be discussed below. A second significant account is bank charges, which is of interest due to the proposed change in classification of certain components from financing costs to O&M expenses.

6.4.13 Bank and short-term financing charges – Account 728

- 854. AG forecast bank and short-term financing costs for 2011 and 2012 of \$1.2 and \$1.1 million respectively. AG explained that in order to maintain the flexibility regarding timing and size for the issuance of long term financing, CU Inc. and Canadian Utilities Limited maintain sizable short term credit facilities, the costs of which are shared between the subsidiaries using a shared cost formula. When these fees were introduced in 2008 they were charged as financing costs. In 2010 they are now charged as operating costs which is the more appropriate treatment. Ref.
- 855. In its evidence Calgary's position was that AG did not justify the increase in the bank charges or more particularly credit facility fees including forecast increases to standby fees, credit extension, and guarantee fees.⁷⁸¹
- 856. In its rebuttal, AG submitted that it fully justified the increased costs incurred to maintain these credit facilities as mainly relating to increased standby fees stemming from the economic crisis. Rurther, in paragraphs 289 and 290 on page 73 of its rebuttal, AG indicated that bond rating agencies require CU Inc. to maintain an adequate level of liquidity to fund operations and maintenance and capital expenditures. Failure to achieve this level of liquidity could impact CU Inc.'s credit rating. The credit facilities held by CU Inc. and Canadian Utilities Limited allow the achievement of these liquidity requirements, and thus allow CU Inc. to maintain its credit rating.

Calgary evidence, page 15.

⁷⁷⁸ Exhibit 163.01, at paragraph 189.

Exhibit 3, page 4.2-49, Table 4.2.27(k).

⁷⁸⁰ Exhibit 3, page 4.2-48.

Rebuttal evidence, paragraph 289, page 73.

Customers benefit directly from this as CU Inc. is able to access lower market rates based on its credit rating. Additionally, these credit facilities provide CU Inc. flexibility regarding the timing and sizing of long term financings which also translates to lower costs to customers.⁷⁸³

857. AG submitted that credit facility costs incurred at the CU Inc. / Canadian Utilities Limited level are allocated to the ATCO Utilities using the corporate cost allocation methodology approved in Decision 2010-447. These credit facility costs were recently approved by the Commission in ATCO Electric Decision 2011-134. These are the very same credit facility costs that AG's credit facility cost forecast is based on. AG has properly supported its 2011 and 2012 credit facility costs and the Commission has found those costs to be reasonable for ATCO Electric. AG submitted that these costs should be approved as filed.⁷⁸⁴

Commission findings

858. The Commission is satisfied with AG's explanation that credit facility costs and standby fees have increased as a result of the recent economic crisis. Further, the Commission recognizes that ensuring liquidity levels are maintained at levels required by bond rating agencies results in CU Inc. being able to maintain its existing credit rating and allows AG access to lower market rates for financing its operations. The forecast bank charges are consistent in total with the 2009 charges and the Commission finds the amounts to be reasonable. As these costs are allocated using the ATCO Utilities corporate cost allocation methodology approved in Decision 2010-447 the Commission accepts the allocation methodology for 2011. As noted earlier, ATCO Utilities corporate cost allocation methodology is subject to review in 2012. As a result, all costs for 2012 including "bank and short term financing costs" are subject to a placeholder pending the outcome of the aforementioned proceeding. AG is directed to maintain a placeholder for 2012.

859. The Commission has concerns with the reclassification of these bank and short term financing costs from financing to O&M costs. AG has stated that charging these costs as operating costs is more appropriate but has not provided supporting rationale. AG has submitted that these costs are incurred for credit facilities which are required by bond rating agencies and to allow flexibility for CU Inc. Consequently, the Commission finds that the costs are more appropriately treated as financing costs rather than O&M costs.

860. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to reclassify bank and short-term financing costs as financing costs.

6.4.14 Hearing costs – Account 728

861. AG has forecast hearing costs for 2011 and 2012 of \$3.9 million for each test year, an increase of \$2 million over 2010 actual costs of \$1.9 million. In addition to the increase in forecast expenses of \$2 million per year, AG also requested a one time adjustment of \$7.5 million related to hearing costs to recover prior year costs and an increase in the hearing expense for the years 2011 and 2012 to \$3.9 million as a result of higher anticipated costs.

862. AG explained that its forecast hearing costs have increased due to its past GRA, rate setting applications, which are individually identified in the application, and stated that it

Exhibit 3, AG application, page 4.2-47, paragraphs 128-129.

Exhibit 203.01, AG argument, page 82, paragraph 208.

Exhibit 203.01, AG argument, page 82, paragraph 209.

⁷⁸⁵ Exhibit 93.01 AUC-AG-62.

anticipates increased costs for the current GRA, rate setting applications, Generic Cost of Capital, Pension, Performance-based Ratemaking and Benchmarking proceedings. The CCA noted that the response to AUC-AG-62 stated that the actual hearing cost reserve (HCR) expense is \$1.3 million. The CCA considered that the 2011 deferred hearing account opening balance should reflect 2010 actual hearing payments. AG has over-forecast intervener and external AG hearing costs. Pursuant to the current AUC Rule 022, the number of intervener groups eligible for funding has been limited. The CCA recommended a reduction of the forecast expense of \$300,000 for each of the test years.⁷⁸⁷

- 863. The CCA submitted that the one-time adjustment should be amortized over the test years and a further five years being an estimate of the term of PBR. The CCA expects that regulatory activity will diminish once a PBR mechanism is put into place as this GRA will form the basis of the PBR going in rates.⁷⁸⁸
- AG noted that in response to AUC-AG-62 page 19 of 21, it provided the 2010 actuals in the same format as Table 4.2.2.7(i) of the application. AG stated that it appears the CCA is missing the fact that the annual AUC assessment payment, which was \$2.4 million in 2010, is also included in the deferred hearing account. Taking this into consideration, the closing balance for the 2010 actuals is the same as the 2010 forecast closing balance and as such no adjustment to the 2011 opening balance is required.⁷⁸⁹
- AG stated that CCA's proposal of a \$300,000 reduction is arbitrary and without basis.⁷⁹⁰ 865.
- 866. AG submitted that the proposed \$7.5 million one-time adjustment is a specific cost adjustment relating to prior years activity, not future years activity. Additionally, a one-time adjustment is consistent with how adjustments to the deferred hearing account have been handled in the past.⁷⁹¹

Commission findings

- Given AG's explanation that under-forecasting of the AUC assessment payment offsets the over-forecasting of hearing payments the Commission is satisfied that no 2011 opening balance adjustment is required. The Commission approves AG's one-time adjustment of \$7.5 million to address prior years' activity as being reasonable.
- The CCA expressed the view that with the limitation to intervener costs pursuant to Rule 022 that intervener costs may have been over-forecast. The Commission finds that hearing costs were accurately forecast in 2010 and accepts the \$3.9 million of hearing costs as filed. Given the deferral treatment accorded to hearing costs any over or under accrual will be trued up in the future.

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument, page 97, paragraph 228.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 36-37, paragraphs 110-111.

Exhibit 204.01, CCA argument, page 37, paragraphs 111.

Exhibit 218.01, AG reply argument, page 97, paragraph 226.

CCA argument, page 37, paragraph 111.

6.5 North and South O&M allocation

869. Calgary argued that AG has failed to provide O&M information in its application for AG North and AG South and has for the most part allocated the costs between the two systems on the basis of the number of customers. As the Commission stated in Decision 2008-113:

...the Commission will require that AG first satisfy the Commission that it has established a cost allocation method capable of capturing costs causal to the North and South systems.⁷⁹²

- 870. Calgary requested that the Commission direct AG to provide actual 2010 and forecast 2011 and 2012 O&M expenses by account for each of AG North and AG South.⁷⁹³
- 871. The CCA agreed with AG that allocations of revenue requirement are more appropriately addressed in the upcoming Phase II proceeding.⁷⁹⁴
- 872. While the Commission expressed a concern with regard to the use of the weighted customer allocation methodology in Decision 2008-113, AG submitted that this concern had been addressed in the first compliance filing for the 2008-2009 GRA. In Decision 2009-109, the Commission found:⁷⁹⁵

It appears from these submissions that ATCO Gas has now abandoned the Weighted Customer allocation methodology in favour of separately tracking certain accounts. **The Commission considers this separate tracking to be a preferable approach.** [emphasis added]

- 873. AG submitted that Calgary is raising matters that have already been determined by the Commission. AG also argued that:
 - The Commission approved the use of one revenue requirement in its Phase I proceedings in Decision 2008-113.⁷⁹⁶
 - AG is not using customers as an allocation method for its distribution operations and maintenance expense, nor for its capital expenditures, which appear to be the main focus of Calgary's concern.⁷⁹⁷
 - If Calgary has a concern with the allocation methodology that AG intends to use in the development of rates, it should be addressed in the Phase II proceeding related to this application. ⁷⁹⁸

Commission finding

874. In Decision 2008-113 the Commission approved the use of one revenue requirement in AG's Phase I GRA proceedings. ⁷⁹⁹ In Decision 2009-109 the Commission found that AG has

⁷⁹² AUC Decision 2008-113, dated November 13, 2008, page 113.

Exhibit 201.01, Calgary argument, page 47.

Exhibit 216.01, CCA reply argument, page 8.

⁷⁹⁵ Decision 2009-109, paragraph 123.

AG argument, page 58, paragraph 144.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 50, paragraph 179 and Attachment 2.

AG argument, page 59, paragraph 148.

AG rebuttal evidence, page 50, paragraph 179 and Attachment 2.

AG argument, page 58, paragraph 144.

improved the direct tracking of costs. The Commission concurs with the CCA and AG that allocations of revenue requirement to the North and the South are more appropriately addressed in the upcoming Phase II proceeding.

7 Depreciation

875. In commencing an analysis of the depreciation evidence filed in this proceeding the Commission considers it beneficial to first review the purpose of depreciation expense in a utility rate making context. The purpose of depreciation accounting, applicable in any context, is to allocate the original cost of an enterprise's assets over the estimated service life of those assets. The actual recovery of an enterprise's investment is a function of the prices determined for its products or services in the marketplace. For a regulated enterprise, recovery of investment is dependant, in part, upon the inclusion of depreciation expense in rates approved by the regulator. The direct relationship between depreciation, rates and cash flow to a utility may result in differences in perspectives relative to depreciation. For example, in certain circumstances a utility may prefer to accelerate the recovery of an investment while ratepayers may favor a slower recovery of the investment to reduce rates in the short term. The dynamics of establishing depreciation rates that are fair to both the utility and ratepayers was explored in Decision U96001800 by the EUB as follows:

The Board believes the depreciation expense to be charged customers in any year should reflect an appropriate allocation of the cost of utility plant over the periods that benefit from the plant's use in providing utility service. This allocation should be fair to both NGTL's shareholders and customers. The Board acknowledges that estimating the appropriate portion of capital assets to be recovered in any one year is not exact and requires consideration of a large number of factors, such as past retirement experience and the assets in question, new technology, salvage values of assets and the ultimate economic life of assets independent of the engineering life of the plant. Given the combination of these and other factors, the precise selection of appropriate depreciation rates for any one test year is a matter requiring considerable judgment.

- 876. The Commission notes that the estimation of utility depreciation expense in any given test period is not an exact exercise and accordingly experts may justifiably differ on approach, judgment and findings. Experts apply experience and judgment to the available facts and relevant circumstances in weighing the information available including the factors identified in the above quote.
- 877. The Commission will assess the persuasiveness of the depreciation evidence presented by the parties in the above context and relative to the record in its entirety.
- 878. AG filed company sponsored evidence⁸⁰¹ on depreciation and a depreciation study prepared by Gannett Fleming.⁸⁰² AG proposed the adoption of the recommendations of the depreciation study.

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 181

Decision U96001: NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd., 1995 General Rate Application - Phase I, File 1600-1, January 4, 1996, page 66.

Exhibit 3, AG application, Section 5.0.

⁸⁰² Ibid., Attachment 1.

7.1 Depreciation rate changes – overview

879. AG included the following table describing the forecast amounts for 2010, 2011 and 2012.

Table 44. Depreciation and amortization expense⁸⁰³

(\$ millions)				
	2010 Forecast	2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast	
ATCO Gas (North)	55.6	62.4	68.7	
ATCO Gas (South)	48.2	53.3	58.3	
ATCO Gas	103.8	115.7	127.0	

880. The actual 2010 depreciation and amortization expense was \$115.2 million.

881. The increase in total depreciation expense in revenue requirement is forecast at \$11.9 million for 2011 and from 2010 forecast with a further increase for 2012 of \$11.3 million. AG indicated that the increase in depreciation expense is due in part to:

- changes in capital vintage distribution and depreciation parameters of Average Service Life, Iowa Curve and Net Salvage which will increase depreciation expense by \$3.4 million; and
- changes in the amortization of Reserve Differences which will increase depreciation expense by \$5.1 million. 804
- 882. Depreciation rates are determined based on depreciation parameters of average service life, Iowa Curve and net salvage. The following table summarizes all proposed changes to the current depreciation rates:

⁸⁰³ Ibid., Section 5.1-1.

Ibid., Section 5.1-2.

Table 45. Proposed depreciation rate changes⁸⁰⁵

Account	Account title	Current Rate %	Forecast Rate %
47200	Structures and Improvements	2.76	2.74
47300	Services	4.44	4.03
47400	Regulator and Meter Installations	3.02	3.49
47401	Meter Equipment Installations	7.45	6.69
47500	Mains	2.94	3.20
47700	Measuring and Regulating Equipment	4.08	3.82
47701	Measuring and Regulating Equipment – Electronic	6.44	5.59
47800	Meter Equipment	3.68	5.08
47801	Meter Equipment – Electronic	6.89	7.05
47802	Meter Equipment – AMR	0.00	7.44
48200	Structures and Improvements	2.76	2.99
48201	Structures and Improvements – Security Systems	10.56	10.00
48300	Office Furniture and Equipment	4.90	5.00
48400	Transportation Equipment	8.74	10.26
48401	Transportation Equipment – NGV	10.22	9.79
48500	Heavy Work Equipment	5.65	7.53
48600	Tools and Work equipment	4.50	5.18
48800	Communication Structures and Equipment	5.82	5.36
48801	Communication equipment – Mobile	7.71	6.25
48900	Stores, Shop & Garage Equipment	3.60	3.95
49001	Natural Gas Vehicle Refueling Equipment	5.15	4.31
49600	Specialized Computer & Electronic Office Equipment	9.77	9.04

883. AG is seeking approval for the following:

- changes to the depreciation rates
- approval of depreciation rates for proposed six new accounts for Geothermal and Solar assets set out in Table 46 below
- a new account for low use AMR devices, Account Number 47802 at a depreciation rate of 7.44 per cent
- changes to the existing net salvage rates
- approval of contract life depreciation methodology for customized gas delivery service covered by a custom service letter agreement
- change in the methodology used to amortize leasehold improvements

Exhibit 3 AG application, Section 5.0, Attachment 1, Part III, Schedule 3.

Account Title	Proposed Rate %
Geothermal – Plumbing, Controls & Meters	6.74
Geothermal – Ground Loop	2.38
Geothermal – Heat Pumps	8.15
Solar – Tube & Plate Collectors	4.86
Solar – Tanks	9.10
Solar – Plumbing, Controls & Meters	6.91

Table 46. Proposed geothermal and solar asset depreciation rates⁸⁰⁶

884. Gannett Fleming stated that the primary factors utilized to determine each appropriate survivor curve and resultant depreciation rate were:

- the statistical analysis of data;
- current policies and outlook as determined through conversations with operations and management personnel over a number of years; and
- survivor curve estimates from previous studies of this company and other natural gas distribution and transmission companies.

885. In conducting the depreciation study that resulted in the proposed rates Gannett Fleming did not conduct field inspections. Gannett Fleming held meetings with management and operational staff of AG and provided copies of the interview summaries in an information response. Gannett Fleming relied on industry experience in determining whether the resulting depreciation rates were reasonable. 909

886. With respect to the negative salvage component of the depreciation study, Gannett Fleming submitted that the change in net salvage was based primarily on their professional judgment, in part based on historical data from 1995 to 2009, and in part on a comparison to peer natural gas distribution companies. The salvage analysis in the Gannett Fleming study indicated a range of salvage values from +23 to -533 per cent. Gannett Fleming did not always recommend adjusting the net salvage percentages to those indicated in the net salvage study. Gannett Fleming instead sometimes proposed minor changes to the existing net salvage percentages.

887. AG proposed a contract life depreciation methodology for assets that are dedicated to custom service. AG submitted that it would be appropriate to depreciate facilities specific to custom service over the life of the custom service contract.

888. AG proposed, in response to Directive 45 from Decision 2008-113, a change in the methodology of how it amortizes its' leasehold improvements.

Exhibit 3, 2011-2012 GRA application, Section 5.0, Attachment 1, page III-4.

Exhibit 3, 2011-2012 GRA application, Section 5.0, Attachment 1, page II-19.

Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-91, Attachment 2.

Response to AUC-AG-91.

Depreciation study, V-3.

Exhibit 3, 2011-2012 GRA application, Section 5.0, Attachment 1, page II-28 to II-29.

Views of the parties

889. UCA raised concerns regarding the results of the depreciation study. Jacob Pous, the UCA's depreciation expert, concluded after reviewing the information provided by Gannett Fleming and other information, that "...the depreciation request is not well-supported and results in excessive depreciation expense." 812

890. Mr. Pous asserted that the Gannett Fleming study failed to properly recognize lifelengthening impacts on assets reflected in the record. In his evidence he explained the principle behind his concern:

As discussed later for several accounts, the Company's historical data reflects the impact of early retirements due to problems with early generation PVC and plastic pipe, as well as a program to move meters from interior locations to the exterior of residences. While these programs have resulted in retirements of investment prior to normal anticipated ages, they no longer impact meaningful portions of the remaining investment in service. Therefore, their impacts as reflected in the historical observed life tables must be normalized or compensated for in making predictions for the remaining investment currently in service, which are not subject to these historical programs. ... lack of recognition of such investment mix versus retirement mix would yield noticeably inaccurate expectations for future events.⁸¹³

891. During the oral hearing Mr, Pous was asked to comment on what the impact would be to the Gannet Fleming depreciation study if it had considered the impact of the life lengthening information provided in the manner Mr. Pous considered proper. Mr. Pous provided the following example:

- For example, the early retirement of plastic
- 14 and what impact that may have.
- I asked for the data to demonstrate what the
- 16 life characteristics were for the plant that was at issue
- 17 with the earlier plastic, and it showed a lower survivor
- 18 curve for that investment; which means if you removed it, you
- 19 would elevate the remaining investment.
- So you take that into account. That has an
- 21 impact, and it's a quantifiable impact, from the standpoint
- 22 of knowing it's going to increase the average service life.814

892. Mr. Pous considered four of the larger utility plant depreciation accounts⁸¹⁵ and recommended average life cycle adjustments that would result in a reduction to depreciation expense of \$8,367,000 and \$8,980,000 for 2011 and 2012 respectively.⁸¹⁶ The UCA proposed the following changes to depreciation rates:

⁸¹² Exhibit 110.02, page 4, Question 7.

⁸¹³ Ibid., page 6, Question 13.

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1778.

Accounts 47300, 47400, 47500 and 48400.

⁸¹⁶ Exhibit 110.02, page 4, Question 7.

Account	Account Title	Current	ATCO	UCA		duction to Forecast Depreciation xpense Proposed by the UCA ⁸¹⁹
		Rate ⁸¹⁸	Proposal	Proposal	2011	2012
47300	Services	4.44%	4.03%	3.92%	\$993,000	\$1,075,000
47400	Regulator & Meter Installations	3.02%	3.49%	2.71%	\$1,557,000	\$1,652,000
47500	Mains	2.94%	3.20%	2.67%	\$4,169,000	\$4,509,000
48400	Transportation Equipment	8.74%	10.26%	8.90%	\$1,647,000	\$1,744,000
	Total				\$8,366,000	\$8,980,000

Table 47. UCA proposed depreciation rate adjustments⁸¹⁷

- 893. Mr. Pous also submitted that the net salvage estimates in the Gannett Fleming study are based on generalized claims of professional judgment and a comparison with a limited number of other gas distribution companies. Mr. Pous submitted that a lower negative salvage amount would be appropriate for two accounts⁸²⁰ (47400 Regulator and Meter Installations, and 47500 Mains) and would result in a further reduction to depreciation expense of \$5,816,000 and \$6,283,000 for 2011 and 2012 respectively.⁸²¹
- 894. Since changes to average life cycle estimates and net salvage parameters for the same account impact each other, the combined impact of the recommended life and salvage adjustments to depreciation expense would be a net reduction of \$13,499,000 in 2011 and \$14,527,000 in 2012.
- 895. The CCA generally agreed with the view of the UCA.
- 896. Calgary generally agreed with the view of the UCA. In addition Calgary raised concerns with respect to the depreciation reserve account and the production abandonment accounts. Calgary submitted that these accounts were inappropriate in light of certain court decisions.

7.2 Average service life

897. Gannett Fleming calculated the annual and accrued depreciation using the straight line method and the equal life group (ELG) procedure. The calculated annual depreciation amounts were determined on a whole life basis, meaning that if the annual amount from age zero to the maximum age was recovered it would result in complete capital recovery assuming the life and net salvage forecasts are realized. The methodology used to determine the annual service life estimates was explained as follows:

The method of estimating service life consisted of compiling the service life history of the plant accounts and subaccounts, reducing this history to trends through the use of analytical techniques that have been generally accepted in various regulatory jurisdictions, and forecasting the trend of survivors for each depreciable group on the basis of interpretations of past trends and consideration of Company plans for the future. The combination of the historical trend and the estimated future trend yielded a complete

Application, Section 5, Depreciation Study, Part 9-III, Schedule 3.

186 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

⁸¹⁷ Exhibit 110.05.

Exhibit 110.02, Depreciation Evidence UCA, page 11, Q/A 20, page 14, Q/A 25, page 18, Q/A32, page 20, Q/A37.

Exhibit 110.02, page 23, Question 45.

⁸²¹ Ibid., page 3, Question 7.

pattern of life characteristics from which the average service life was derived. The service life estimates used in the depreciation calculation incorporated historical data compiled through December 31, 2009. Such data included plant additions, retirements, transfers and other plant activity.822

898. Gannett Fleming discussed the factors that it considered in determining the appropriate Iowa curve to determine the average live for a property group in the following manner:

The survivor curve estimates were based on judgment which considered a number of factors. The primary factors were the statistical analysis of data; current policies and outlook as determined through conversations with operations and management personnel over a number of years; and survivor curve estimates from previous studies of this company and other natural gas distribution and transmission companies.⁸²³

899. In his critique of the Gannett Fleming evidence Mr. Pous submitted that:

... as standard Iowa Survivor curves normally do not match observed life tables at all points of the two curves, it is necessary to employ appropriate, but justifiable, judgment. A particularly important aspect of the curve-fitting process is to be cognizant of the dollar level of plant exposed to retirement forces at each point in the observed life table. The normal basis for curve fitting is to accept the "best" fit.824

900. Mr. Pous submitted that Gannett Fleming has incorrectly understood and misapplied the underlying premise of the impact of dollar level of exposures during the curve fitting process. Gannett Fleming therefore had not exercised its judgment appropriately in the curve-fitting process. This principle is set forth in "Depreciation Systems" by Frank K. Wolf and W. Chester Fitch:

The analyst also must decide which points or sections of the curve should be given the most weight. Points at the end of the curve are often based on fewer exposures and may be given less weight than points based on larger samples. The weight placed on those points will depend on the size of the exposures. Often the middle section of the curve (that section ranging from approximately 80% to 20% surviving) is given more weight that the first and last sections. This middle section is relatively straight and is the portion of the curve that often best characterizes the survivor curve.

Begin fitting with the left modal curves and identify the two or three curves that appear to best fit the data. Note the curve type and the corresponding average life, which is typically estimated to the nearest year. Continue with the symmetrical, right modal, and origin modal curves. Some groups may not give a suitable fit.

Continue by reexamining the contenders selected during the first pass. Often the choice between two or three tentative selections is difficult to make. The conservative choice is toward the lower life and right modal curve. 825

Mr. Pous submitted that: "...the dollar levels of exposures dictate the portion of the 901. survivor curve on which to focus, rather than simply assuming the area between 80% and 20% is

⁸²² Application, Section 5, Depreciation Study, Part I-3, page 7.

⁸²³ Exhibit 3, 2011-2012 GRA Application, Section 5.0, Attachment 1, page II-19.

Ibid., page 4, Question 10.

Depreciation Systems, Frank K. Wolf, W. Chester Fitch, Iowa State University Press, 1994, pages 46-47.

the critical area."826 Mr. Pous suggested that Mr. Kennedy, appearing on behalf of Gannett Fleming, had improperly placed more weight on the end of the curve than is appropriate, stating:

While Mr. Kennedy recognizes that the dollar level of exposures for a particular account has an impact on the curve-fitting process, he has incorrectly understood and misapplied the underlying premise.⁸²⁷

902. Mr. Pous further expanded on this point during testimony:

> He, from my review of the information, was more generous to the tail portion of the curve, which is less statistically valid, than to the middle portion and the upper portion of the curve, which is a much more stable portion of the curve. 828

> So you match the points of the curve not necessarily as closely at the top because of some of the infant mortalities that occur at that level, but you sure don't match the points of curve at the bottom and sacrifice the middle and upper portion as Mr. Kennedy has done in his process.829

903. Mr. Pous submits that actuarial analysis is not the only the factor that should be considered in determining average service life and dispersion patterns. When referring to the impact of early retirement programs, Mr. Pous stated:

While these programs have resulted in retirements of investment prior to normal anticipated ages, they no longer impact meaningful portions of the remaining investment in service. Therefore, their impacts as reflected in the historical observed life tables must be normalized or compensated for in making predictions for the remaining investment currently in service, which are not subject to these historical programs.⁸³⁰

904. Mr. Pous further comments that when the asset mix within a single depreciation account contains a broad range of assets of various vintages:

... lack of recognition of such investment mix versus retirement mix would yield noticeably inaccurate expectations for future events.831

In the depreciation rebuttal evidence, Mr. Kennedy discussed his use of a residual measure to quantitatively determine the quality of fit for Iowa curves:

However, the only way to quantitatively determine the quality of fit is through a mathematical calculation of fit. An index of mathematical fit is determined through the calculation of "Residual Measure". The most commonly accepted method of mathematically fitting survivor curves is to determine the algebraic differences between the percents surviving on the smoothed Iowa curve and the original survivor curve as plotted from the retirement ratios as calculated in the retirement rate analysis. The algebraic differences are squared and summed. The Residual Measure (or standard error of estimate) is the square root of the average difference squared between the percents surviving on the fitted smooth curve and the original life curve. The residual measure

⁸²⁶ Exhibit 110.02, page 5, question 12.

⁸²⁷ Ibid.

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1762, lines 4-8.

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1762, lines 20-25.

Exhibit 110.02, page 6, Question 13.

Exhibit 110.02, page 6, Question 13.

represents the mathematical criterion of "goodness of fit" and is the commonly used statistic for comparing the conformity among the various Iowa curve types. As the mathematical goodness of fit is a calculation differences between the observed life table and the smoothed Iowa curve, the lower the residual measure, the better the degree of mathematical conformity.⁸³²

906. Mr. Pous criticized the use of the residual measures method as a means to determine the best fitting Iowa stating:

The residual measure is absolutely wrong, and even if the publication that Mr. Kennedy relies upon for his 80/20 example, they indicate that you have to get different weighting to different points on the curve. Doing a residual measure gives every point on the curve the same weighting. It's just not done. You use visual curve fitting, which Mr. Kennedy only did really at the beginning. He only brought in the residual measure in rebuttal, and it's inappropriate.⁸³³

907. The Commission will next consider the four accounts for which the UCA is proposing a different depreciation rate from that forecasted by AG.

7.2.1 $47300 - \text{services}^{834}$

908. The utility plant in this account is the installed cost of the urban service lines used to connect the customer premises to the main.

- 909. In the depreciation study Gannett Fleming indicates that this account represents 32 per cent of the utility plant studied. Gannett Fleming reviewed the retirements, additions, and other plant transactions from 1912 to 2009 using the computed mortality and retirement rate method. AG's current Iowa curve for this account is 52-R2.5.
- 910. Interviews between Gannett Fleming and ATCO operations and management have indicated that the account has been subjected to a significant level of retirement activity due to the meter relocation programs. The relocation has resulted in the partial retirement of a significant number of service lines over a range of ages. The operations staff of AG also indicated to Gannett Fleming that the retirement activity over the past number of years is reflective of the expected retirement activity of plant currently in service, in part due to known issues with early generation plastic pipe.
- 911. Gannett Fleming submitted that the proposed Iowa Curve of 55-R3 fits the historic data, the indications from management and operations of AG, and the professional judgment of Gannett Fleming.
- 912. Mr. Pous disagreed with the recommendation made by Gannett Fleming with respect to the appropriate depreciation rate for the services account. Mr Pous noted the early retirement activity in relation to early generation PVC and plastic pipe and observed that removing the related data from the observed life table would have the effect of lengthing the average service life. With respect to the program to move meters from inside to outside residences Mr. Pous observed that the dollar value at issue was approximately three per cent of this account. He noted

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1763, lines 1-13.

Exhibit 163.01, Attachment 1, page 4.

Application, Section 5.0, Attachement 1, pages II-24 to II-25.

that while the meter program has shortened the average service life due to retirements reflected in the historical life table it is no longer material on a going forward basis for the remainder of investment in service. He also stated that the input from company personnel was misapplied by Mr. Kennedy in limiting the level of increase in average service life.⁸³⁵

913. Mr. Pous also suggested that future retirement activity connected with early generation PVC and plastic pipe and the meter relocation program should further increase the average service life to a greater extent than reflected in Mr. Kennedy's analysis. Mr. Pous recommends an Iowa curve of 59-R2.5.

Commission findings

- 914. The Commission notes that both experts recommend extending the average service life of assets in this account. The Commission is comforted by the fact that both experts propose the same directional change. Mr. Kennedy recommended moving from a 52-R2.5 Iowa curve to a 55-R3 Iowa curve, while Mr. Pous recommended moving to a 59-R2.5 Iowa curve. The standalone impact of Mr. Pous's recommendation would be a reduction in depreciation expense of approximately of \$993,000 in 2011 and \$1,075,000 in 2012. The Commission did not find the evidence of either expert to be clearly preferable and given the inexact nature of depreciation estimates, the Commission is reluctant to choose either expert. Accordingly, the Commission finds that the midpoint of the two proposed average service lives of 57 retaining the current modal value of R-2.5 which is also recommended by Mr. Pous will provide a reasonable estimate of depreciation expense for Services in the test period.
- 915. AG is directed in the compliance filing to calculate depreciation expense using a 57-R2.5 Iowa curve for Account 47300, Services.

7.2.2 47400 – regulator & meter installations⁸³⁶

- 916. The utility plant in this account includes the cost of house regulators, whether installed or held in reserve and the cost of labour and materials used in installation of house regulators and meters.
- 917. In the depreciation study, Gannett Fleming indicates that this account represents 11 per cent of the utility plant studied. Gannett Fleming reviewed the retirements, additions and other plant transactions from 1912 to 2009 using the computed mortality and retirement rate methods. AG's current Iowa curve for this account is 45-R4.
- 918. Interviews between Gannett Fleming and ATCO operations and management have indicated that the account has been subjected to a significant level of retirement activity due to meter relocation programs. Gannett Fleming submits that the retirement rate analysis provides a good fit based on the currently approved Iowa curve of 45-R4, and is recommended based on indications from management and operations staff of AG and the professional judgment of Gannett Fleming.
- 919. Mr. Pous submitted that Mr. Kennedy's proposal incorrectly takes into account the significant level of retirement activity associated with the program⁸³⁷ to move meters from inside

_

³³⁵ Ibid

Application, Section 5.0, Attachment 1, pages II-25 to II-26.

installations to outside residences. Mr. Pous observes that at most five percent of the remaining assets would be subject to this program. Mr. Pous submits that "Mr. Kennedy's proposed lifecurve combination is <u>not</u> a good fit for the meaningful portion of the curve." He explains this statement by stating that at approximately 50 years of age the dollar level of exposure drops to such a low level that the curve-fitting process becomes insignificant. Exposures from 50 years onward range from \$21,000 to \$2 million compared to an initial dollar level of exposures in excess of \$280 million. Mr. Pous recommends an Iowa curve of 51R3.

Commission findings

- 920. Mr. Kennedy recommended maintaining the status quo of an Iowa curve of 45-R4. Mr. Pous is recommending an Iowa curve of 51-R3. The standalone impact of Mr. Pous's recommendation would be a reduction in depreciation expense of approximately of \$1.6 million per year during the test period. The Commission finds Mr. Pous' curve to be a better visual fit.
- 921. AG is directed in the compliance filing to calculate depreciation using an Iowa curve of 51-R3 for Account 47400, Regulator & Meter Installations.

7.2.3 47500 – mains

- 922. This account includes the installed cost of distribution system mains from the transmission line to the customer service line.
- 923. In the depreciation study, Gannett Fleming indicated that this account represents 37 per cent of the utility plant studied. Gannett Fleming analyzed the retirements, additions and other plant transactions from 1912 to 2009 using the retirement rate method. AG's current Iowa curve for this account is 62-R2.5.
- 924. Gannett Fleming submits that discussions with operations and management of AG have indicated that a significant amount of early generation PVC and plastic pipe installed throughout AG's system needs to be retired early. Gannett Fleming notes that AG is commencing a program to retire PVC and plastic pipe installed from 1966 to 1977 which will have a life shortening impact beyond that indicated in the retirement rate analysis. As well the retirement rate analysis indicates that that a higher mode Iowa curve would be appropriate. Gannett Fleming recommends basing depreciation for this account on Iowa curve 60-R3. The supporting rationale for this recommendation is the analysis of historic data, indications from management and operations staff of AG, and the professional judgment of Gannett Fleming.
- 925. Mr. Pous submitted that Mr. Kennedy's proposal is a movement in the wrong direction and inappropriately reacted to the problems associated with early generation PVC and plastic pipe installed from 1966 to 1977. As stated in the following excerpt from his evidence, Mr. Pous submitted that his proposed Iowa curve 69-R2.5 is a better fit than Mr. Kennedy's. The fit is superior even before considering the impact of other factors that would warrant a longer average service life such as the early retirement of PVC and early generation plastic pipe. Mr. Pous stated:

Transcript, Volume 5, page 904, Gannet Fleming software uses 80-15 per cent, professional judgment looks at the middle section to be considered significant.

⁸³⁸ UCA evidence, page 12 of 28, Q/A24.

UCA evidence, direct testimony of Jacob Pous, Q22/A22 and Q24/A24.

UCA depreciation evidence, O/A 28, page 15/28.

First, my recommendation for a 69 R2.5 life-curve combination is a better fit than Mr. Kennedy's proposed "good fit" to the full depth observed life table, as shown on the graph below. My recommendation is a superior fit for all ages except for the limited period from approximately 28 through 33 years of age. The noted superior fit of my recommendation is prior to the impact of other considerations that also warrant a longer average service life. Indeed, the observed life table should actually be elevated if the retirement activity associated with early generation PVC and plastic pipe were removed from the database.31 In other words, as is logical, the premature retirement of early generation PVC and plastic pipe has caused a shorter life expectancy than what is appropriate for the current remaining pipe in service. The remaining pipe in service does not have the same problem with becoming brittle and the problems associated with joints that the early generation of PVC and plastic pipe has experienced. Therefore, notwithstanding the previously-noted superior fit of my recommendation, a longer average service life than that proposed by Mr. Kennedy is warranted.⁸⁴¹

- 926. Mr. Pous observed that the entire remaining investment associated with all mains installed from 1966 to 1977 comprises less than eight per cent of the outstanding balance, such that the observed life table is already lowered from what it would be otherwise due to the early retirement of problematic PVC and plastic pipe.
- 927. In his rebuttal evidence Mr. Kennedy discussed the use of the residual measure method as a means of mathematically determining the best Iowa curve fit in the following excerpt:

However, the only way to quantitatively determine the quality of fit is through a mathematical calculation of fit. An index of mathematical fit is determined through the calculation of "Residual Measure". The most commonly accepted method of mathematically fitting survivor curves is to determine the algebraic differences between the percents surviving on the smoothed Iowa curve and the original survivor curve as plotted from the retirement ratios as calculated in the retirement rate analysis. The algebraic differences are squared and summed. The Residual Measure (or standard error of estimate) is the square root of the average difference squared between the percents surviving on the fitted smooth curve and the original life curve. The residual measure represents the mathematical criterion of "goodness of fit" and is the commonly used statistic for comparing the conformity among the various Iowa curve types. As the mathematical goodness of fit is a calculation differences between the observed life table and the smoothed Iowa curve, the lower the residual measure, the better the degree of mathematical conformity.⁸⁴²

- 928. In rebuttal, Mr. Kennedy took issue with Mr. Pous' comment that the remaining pipe in service does not have the same problems associated with early generation PVC and plastic pipe. Mr. Kennedy believes the conclusion is premature and that newer generations of plastic pipe have not been in service for a long enough time to determine whether there will be structural issues associated with modern generation plastic pipe. Mr. Kennedy stated "There is simply no reason to be assured that this will not re-occur with other generations of plastic pipe." 843
- 929. Mr. Kennedy also indicated in rebuttal evidence that steel pipe has exhibited a requirement to be replaced beginning at approximately 50 to 60 years of age. Mr. Kennedy indicated that the Iowa curve 60-R2.5 will become "more fit" over the next couple of years given

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, Attachment 1 Q/A 7, page 4/11.

⁸⁴¹ Ibid., Q/A 29, page 15/28.

Rebuttal evidence of Mr. Kennedy, Attachment 1 to the AG rebuttal evidence O/A 13, page 6.

the continued retirements of 55 to 65-year old steel mains and older generation PVC and plastic pipe.844

- 930. In testimony Mr. Pous explained his concern with the used of residual measure method used by Mr. Kennedy in his rebuttal evidence in the following exchange with Commission counsel:
 - 5 O. Sir, you took issue with the residual measure analysis
 - 6 that Mr. Kennedy filed in his rebuttal evidence. And, sir,
 - 7 Mr. Kennedy takes the position that the use of the residual
 - 8 measure is a highly acceptable form to use in trying to
 - 9 mathematically verify a visual selection of a curve. Do you
 - 10 disagree with that?
 - 11 A. Absolutely.
 - 12 O. Could you explain why, sir?
 - 13 A. Because, as I've indicated before, a mathematical curve
 - 14 fitting or least squares residual measure gives every point
 - 15 the equal weighting in the process. Every point has a
 - 16 different weighting. There's only one consultant I know that
 - 17 does mathematical curve fitting, and he does what's called a
 - 18 hazard matrix of analysis which gives every point on the
 - 19 curve a different mathematical weighting. But if you're
 - 20 doing visual curve fitting, you don't use it.
 - If you do a mathematical residual calculation 21
 - 22 like Mr. Kennedy did and you do not give every point on the
 - 23 curve a different weighting, I don't know what you've got.
 - 24 You've done a mathematical calculation, yes. The results are
 - 25 absolutely meaningless.⁸⁴⁵

Commission findings

- 931. The Commission believes the depreciation expense to be charged customers in any year should reflect an appropriate allocation of the cost of utility plant over the periods that benefit from the plant's use in providing utility service. This allocation should be fair to both shareholders and customers. The Commission acknowledges that estimating the appropriate portion of capital assets to be recovered in any one year is not exact and requires consideration of a large number of factors, such as past retirement experience and the assets in question, new technology, salvage values of assets and the ultimate economic life of assets independent of the engineering life of the plant. Given the combination of these and other factors, the precise selection of appropriate depreciation rates for any one test year is a matter requiring considerable judgment.
- The Commission notes that the experts recommend changing the average service life of 932. assets in this account in different directions. Mr. Kennedy recommended moving from a 62 to a 60-year life, while Mr. Pous recommended moving to a 69-year life. The standalone impact of Mr. Pous's recommendation would be a reduction in depreciation expense of \$4.169 million in 2011 and \$4.509 million in 2012.

Ibid., page 7, Q/A 13.

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1769, lines 5 to 25.

- 933. The Commission finds the evidence of Mr. Pous more persuasive for this account. The Commission agrees with Mr. Pous' position that the Iowa 69-R2.5 is a better visual fit to the actual data than the 60-R3 curve proposed by Mr. Kennedy.
- 934. The Commission agrees with Mr. Pous that the residual measure method used by Mr. Kennedy is not a helpful tool in determining the best visual fit.⁸⁴⁶
- 935. As noted in the introduction to this section, the Commission and its predecessors have noted that:

...estimating the appropriate portion of capital assets to be recovered in any one year is not exact and requires consideration of a large number of factors, such as past retirement experience and the assets in question, new technology, salvage values of assets and the ultimate economic life of assets independent of the engineering life of the plant. Given the combination of these and other factors, the precise selection of appropriate depreciation rates for any one test year is a matter requiring considerable judgment. 847

- 936. With respect to this account, in addition to the Iowa curve analysis provided by the experts, the Commission has also considered a number of factors as being relevant in determining a fair and reasonable expense. The Commission acknowledges that both experts have indicated that they considered some other factors in exercising their judgment.
- 937. The factors examined below directionally support an increase in average service life of mains in service:
 - Statements on the record that the expected working life of modern plastic pipe is expected to exceed 100 years.⁸⁴⁸
 - Statements on the record that the steel mains subject to the proposed proactive steel mains replacement program are targeted to be removed over a 100-year program.⁸⁴⁹ The Commission notes Mr. Dixon's statement⁸⁵⁰ that this must be reassessed over the life of the project and notes that depreciation will similarly be reassessed over time.
 - The following exchange with Commission counsel estimating an approximate average age of steel mains at the time they would be replaced under the proposed replacement program:
 - Q. I understand, sir. I'm just trying to understand what the average life will be of the pipe when it's replaced underthe program as far as you can estimate now based on existing assumptions.

MR. DIXON: I would go with about 80, 80 years old. 851

Application, page 2.1-17, paragraph 46; application, Volume 2-2, Tab 2.1, Business Case 4, page 6, paragraph 6; and UCA-AG-18(a,b), page 2 of 5.

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1769, lines 5-25.

⁸⁴⁷ Decision U96001, page 66.

Application, page 2.2-2, paragraphs 5 and 22; Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-4, page 5 of 10; Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-59(c).

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1011, lines 4-5.

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1053, lines 7-12.

- The impact of improved coatings on steel pipe.
- The introduction of cathodic protection in the 1940s. 852

938. The impact of improved coatings on steel pipe and cathodic protection on service life was discussed by Mr. Dixon with Commission counsel:

Question: Okay. And what I'm trying to understand, sir, is there

- 6 was some suggestion, and we'll get into depreciation
- 7 tomorrow, Mr. Kennedy, but some suggestion that around 60
- 8 years is the present foreseeable average useful life of this
- 9 class of steel mains, but your program is aimed at replacing
- 10 the mains over a hundred years. So perhaps you can explain
- 11 why 100 as opposed to 60 or something else?
- 12 A. MR. DIXON: Well, as I mentioned a little
- 13 bit earlier, that, you know, we anticipate that the coatings
- 14 on steel pipe and cathodic protection have got better and
- 15 better over time, so I fully expect that 60 year life that we
- 16 have now is going to get longer as we move out through the
- 17 program. I'm depending on that actually.⁸⁵³
- 939. The Commission has acknowledged that the experts have considered these factors in their analyses. As noted in Decision U96001 above, the assessment of the relevant factors requires considerable judgment. In the Commission's judgment, these factors suggest a directional increase in the forecast physical life for a significant proportion of the value of plant in service is warranted and should be reflected in the determination of a reasonable depreciation rate for this account. The Commission recognizes that physical life is not the only determinant of service life for the mains. For example, pipe may be retired based on market factors, capacity factors, line relocations or third party impacts. Consequently, the Commission will temper the extent to which it relies on the factors indicating an increase in average service life.
- 940. Based on all the considerations analyzed above, the Commission considers that there is support for an increase in the average service life of this account. As noted, the Commission prefers the visual fit of Mr. Pous' Iowa curve 69-R2.5, which is directionally supported by the review of the other factors analyzed above. Despite the good visual fit, moving to a 69-year average service life for the account as proposed by Mr. Pous would have a sizeable impact on depreciation expense, cash flow and rates. Given the inherent uncertainty in estimating physical lives of plant and service, and the uncertainty regarding the extent to which factors other than physical life will impact average service life, the Commission favours a gradual increase in the estimated average service life for this account. Accordingly, the Commission finds that the use of an average service life that is the approximately the midpoint of the existing depreciation life of 62 years and Mr. Pous' recommended life of 69 years, retaining the modal value of R-2.5 currently in use and proposed by Mr. Pous would result in a reasonable estimate of depreciation expense for mains in the test period.

Ibid., pages 1026 to 1027; UCA-AG-07 (b). The Commission notes the discrepancy that Mr. Dixon stated in the transcript that cathodic protection was introduced in the 1960s.

Transcript, Volume 5, page 1010, lines 5-17.

- 941. AG is directed to calculate depreciation using an Iowa curve for 66-R2.5 for account 47500, mains in the compliance filing to this decision.
- 942. The Commission considers that the determination of a depreciation rate for this account has been particularly difficult given the size of the account and the mix of non-homogeneous assets of different vintages. The Commission notes the discussion at the hearing about the possibility of introducing accounting mechanisms to segregate the account into multiple accounts of a more homogeneous nature. The lack of detailed historical records was an impediment to further segregation at this time. The Commission directs AG to report in the compliance filing to this application on the feasibility of further segregation of significant accounts on a go-forward basis.

7.2.4 48400 – transportation equipment

- 943. Account 48400 is the account for the vehicles that AG utilizes and represents approximately 2.5 per cent of the utility plant studied. Gannett Fleming and AG provided limited evidence regarding the proposed change to a 9-L1.5 Iowa curve. The current depreciation rate is 8.74 percent compared to the proposed depreciation rate of 10.26 per cent.
- 944. Gannett Fleming justified its recommendation of Iowa curve 9-L1.5 on the following:

A review of the average service life selections of the peer group related to this company indicated that four out of the five peer companies have approved average service life estimates less than the nine years as recommended in this proceeding. Gannett Fleming views that the recommended Iowa 9-L1.5 curve best combines all relevant factors including:

- The fit of the observed life table as presented at page IV-38 of the Gannett Fleming study;
- The comments of operational management as summarized in Information Request Response AUC-AG-91 Attachment 2; and
- A review of the approved average service lives of the peer utilities as presented in response to Information Request UCA-AG-110(b).⁸⁵⁴
- 945. Mr. Pous submitted that the all-in analysis that Gannett Fleming uses, which includes vehicles dating back to 1947, is inappropriate for an account in which 92 per cent of the assets were placed in service subsequent to 1996. Based on Mr. Pous' analysis the observed life tables elevate as more recent experience bands are employed. Mr. Pous submits that this is indicative of a clear trend towards longer average service lives compared to the singular observed life table that Gannett Fleming used.⁸⁵⁵ Mr. Pous proposes the use of an 11-L2 Iowa curve and a corresponding depreciation rate of 8.90 per cent.

Commission findings

946. The Commission notes that both experts recommend a higher depreciation rate for the assets in this account. Mr. Kennedy recommended a nine year life, while Mr. Pous recommended an 11-year life. Mr. Pous' recommendation would result in a reduction of depreciation expense of approximately \$1.7 million per year during the test period. The Commission finds the Iowa curve proposed by Mr. Pous to be a better visual fit to the data. Further, the Commission does

Exhibit 163.01, Attachment 1to AG rebuttal evidence page 8, Q/A 15.

UCA evidence, direct testimony of Jacob Pous, page 19, Q36/A36.

not find the other evidence relied on by Mr. Kennedy, namely management discussions and peer utilities analysis provides sufficient justification for his recommendations. Accordingly, the Commission finds that the use of the 11-R2 Iowa curve proposed by Mr. Pous would result in a reasonable estimate of depreciation expense for transportation equipment in the test period.

947. AG is directed in the compliance filing to calculate depreciation using the 11-R2 Iowa curve for Account 48400, Transportation Equipment.

7.2.5 Other depreciation accounts

948. In addition to the accounts discussed above, AG also applied for changes to the depreciation rates for the following accounts:

Table 48. Depreciation rates for balance of asset accounts

Account	Account Title	Current Rate %	Forecast Rate %	Current Iowa Curve ⁸⁵⁶	Proposed Iowa Curve	Depreciation Expense Change \$
47200	Structures and Improvements	2.76	2.74	55R2.5	55R3	-2,915
47401	Meter Equipment Installations	7.45	6.69	13R4	15R2	-104,972
47700	Measuring and Regulating Equipment	4.08	3.82	38R2	40R2.5	-199,750
47701	Measuring and Regulating Equipment – Electronic	6.44	5.59	15R5	17R3	-9,585
47800	Meter Equipment	3.68	5.08	25R2.5	20R0.5	1,647,498
47801	Meter Equipment – Electronic	6.89	7.05	14R4	15R2	50,377
48200	Structures and Improvements	2.76	2.99	40S1	40R2	223,913
48201	Structures and Improvements – Security Systems	10.56	10.00	10R2.5	10R2.5	-25,918
48300	Office Furniture and Equipment	4.90	5.00	20SQ	20SQ	16,300
48401	Transportation Equipment – NGV	10.22	9.79	980	9R1	-14,017
48500	Heavy Work Equipment	5.65	7.53	13L2.5	10L2.5	420,219
48600	Tools and Work equipment	4.50	5.18	20SQ	15SQ	178,142
48800	Communication Structures and Equipment	5.82	5.36	17L2.5	20\$0.5	-86,504
48801	Communication equipment – Mobile	7.71	6.25	12R5	15R5	-85,363
48900	Stores, Shop & Garage Equipment	3.60	3.95	25SQ	15SQ	24,792
49001	Natural Gas Vehicle Refueling Equipment	5.15	4.31	19R4	22R2.5	-27,526
49600	Specialized Computer & Electronic Office Equipment	9.77	9.04	10R4	10R4	-14,152

- 949. Aside from Account 47800 Meter Equipment, Gannett Fleming and AG did not provide any supporting rationale for the proposed changes.
- 950. With respect to Account 47800 Gannett Fleming submitted in the depreciation study that more stringent compliance requirements recently introduced by Measurement Canada will result

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 197

⁸⁵⁶ AG 2008-2009 GRA, Section 5.01, Attachment 1, pages 11-12.

in a shorter life than indicated in the retirement rate analysis. Additionally, AG no longer intends to refurbish residential meters. Accordingly Gannett Fleming views that the Iowa 20-R0.5 will represent the future retirement trends of the account.⁸⁵⁷

Views of the parties

951. No parties provided comments on these proposed depreciation rates changes. Mr. Pous did not provide an analysis with respect to these accounts.⁸⁵⁸

Commission findings

- 952. The Commission will consider Account 48400 separately from the other accounts. With respect to the balance of the "other depreciation accounts" identified above, the Commission notes that the interveners did not file evidence with respect to these accounts and that the aggregate net change in depreciation expense is \$1,990,539 in the test period. The Commission has denied a number of programs in other parts of this Decision which may have assets reflected in some of these accounts. Accordingly, the Commission directs that the assets associated with denied programs be removed from these accounts and reflected in the compliance filing to this decision. Subject to the removal of the denied assets, the Commission approves the depreciation expense for these other depreciation accounts.
- 953. For Account 48400 the Commission notes that a change in depreciation rate is proposed based on a change in standards and a change in company policy regarding the repair of meters. Given the direction earlier in this decision, the Commission will defer its decision on this account to the compliance filing.

7.2.6 New depreciation accounts

954. AG is seeking approval for the following accounts:

Table 49. Proposed new depreciation accounts

Account	Account Title	Forecast Rate	Proposed Iowa Curve
47802	Meter Equipment – AMR	7.44%	18R2
	Geothermal – Plumbing, Controls & Meters	6.74%	20R2
	Geothermal – Ground Loop	2.38%	55R3
	Geothermal – Heat Pumps	8.15%	15R3
	Solar – Tube & Plate Collectors	4.86%	20R1
	Solar – Tanks	9.10%	12R3
	Solar – Plumbing, Controls & Meters	6.91%	20R2

Views of the parties

955. Interveners did not provide comments on the above new proposed accounts in the depreciation sections of their evidence. However, as discussed in Section 6.3.14, interveners questioned the inclusion of these assets in rate base.

198 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

ATCO GRA filing 2011-2012, Section 5, Attachment 1, page II-26.

Transcript, Volume 8, page 1784, line 8-10.

Commission findings

- 956. With respect to the proposed Account 47802 for low use AMR, the Commission notes the evidence on the record regarding the expected battery life on the AMR devices to be twenty years. 859 As discussed in Section 4.7 the Commission has approved the AMR program and also approves the forecast depreciation rate and Iowa curve.
- 957. As discussed in Section 6.3.14 of this decision, the Commission has denied the programs related to geothermal and solar energy and directed that the related assets be removed from rate base.

7.3 Contract life depreciation for custom service

- 958. The contract life method of depreciation is presently used only to amortize the cost of leasehold improvements. AG applied to use contract life depreciation to depreciate the cost of custom built facilities constructed to provide delivery service to specific customers. Such "Custom Services" are provided under a fixed term contract, accordingly, AG submitted, it would be appropriate to recover the cost of facilities for the service over the life of the contract.
- 959. In UCA-AG-117,⁸⁶⁰ the AG noted that ATCO Pipelines used the proposed method of contract deprecation for similar facilities. AG indicated that the terms of the custom services contract included provisions requiring the customer to pay out the remaining value of the contract should they leave the system prior to the end of the term.
- 960. Interveners did not object to the proposed depreciation treatment of contract services.

Commission findings

- 961. A custom service agreement is entered into to provide service to a customer where service cannot otherwise be provided by existing AG facilities. These agreements require the installation of custom facilities to serve the specific customer. No other customers on AG's system benefit from the installation of the custom facilities. In these circumstances the Commission agrees with AG that the costs of depreciation, which include the costs of salvage, removal and retirement, with respect to the custom facilities should be allocated to the specific customer over the term of the contract.
- 962. Should additional customers be added to such customer facilities, the Commission would expect that the appropriate amendments would be made to the custom services agreement with the original customer to reflect a sharing of future costs with the additional customers.

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 199

Business Case 7, paragraph 21.

⁸⁶⁰ Exhibit 83.01.

7.4 Net salvage rate changes

963. AG applied for changes to its net salvage rates for certain accounts presented in the following table:

Table 50.	Proposed	net salvage	rate changes	(Table 5.4.1) ⁸⁶¹
-----------	----------	-------------	--------------	------------------------------

Account	Account Title	Current Rate %	Forecast Rate %
47400	Regulator and Meter Installations	-30	-50
47401	Meter Equipment Installations	-10	-20
47500	Mains	-60	-75
47800	Meter Equipment	10	0
48400	Transportation Equipment	25	10
48401	Transportation Equipment - NGV	0	5
48500	Heavy Work Equipment	30	25
48600	Tools and Work Equipment	10	0
48900	Stores, Shop & Garage Equipment	10	0

964. Gannett Fleming described its "Traditional Approach" methodology for estimating net salvage percentages as follows:

The estimates of net salvage were based primarily on the professional judgment of Gannett Fleming, in part on historical data for the years 1995 through 2009, and in part through a comparison to peer natural gas distribution companies. Gross salvage and cost of removal as recorded to the depreciation reserve account and related to experienced retirements were used. Percentages of the cost of plant retired were calculated for each component of net salvage on both annual and five-year moving average bases. 862

- 965. In testimony Mr. Kennedy clarified the above statement by indicating "...the priority is given based on the circumstances of each account, and in the circumstances of most accounts the priority would have been given to the statistical analysis." ⁸⁶³
- 966. Gannett Fleming indicated that the results of its salvage analysis demonstrated very significant increases on costs of retirement. However, certain increases were related to meter relocation programs and other increases were not consistent with rates approved for other natural gas utilities. Accordingly, Gannett Fleming recommended:

...only minor revisions to the net salvage percentages in this study, but also notes that the next net salvage study may require significant increases in the net salvage percentages if the recent trends continue.⁸⁶⁴

Views of the parties

967. Mr. Pous submitted that the net salvage estimates of Gannett Fleming were based on generalized claims of professional judgment and comparison with a limited number of other gas

Response to AUC-AG-89 (c), Attachment, page 1 of 2.

Depreciation Study, pages II-27-28.

Transcript, Volume 6, page 1332, line 9 to page 1333, line 2.

Depreciation Study, page II-29.

distribution companies. Mr. Pous reviewed three accounts. For Account 47300, Services, Mr. Pous agreed with Mr. Kennedy that the existing rate of -100 per cent net salvage should be retained. For accounts 47400 and 47500, Mr. Pous recommended retention of the existing negative salvage rates as indicated in the table below which would result in a standalone reduction to forecasted depreciation expense of \$5,816,000 and \$6,283,000 for 2011 and 2012 respectively.

Table J I.	Table 51.	UCA proposed net salvage adjustments ⁸⁶⁶
------------	-----------	---

Account	Account Title	ATCO Proposal	UCA Proposal
47400	Regulator & Meter Installations	-50%	-30%
47500	Mains	-75%	-60%

968. Mr. Pous submitted that neither AG nor Gannett Fleming provided an explanation why AG's historical data yields negative net salvage values much more negative than other peer utility companies, making the position of AG unacceptable. 867 In argument the UCA summarized the evidence of Mr. Pous in the following way:

282. Mr. Pous explains why investigation into the database is necessary given the unusually high levels of negative net salvage. Mr. Pous identified potential problems such as unreasonable and disproportionate allocation between the cost of new installation and cost of removal where replacement activity occurs, a disproportionate level of emergency situations reflected in the historical data, or the impact of the meter moving program that can be expected to result in increased cost of removal compared to normal retirement activity. It is the Company's total failure to explain or justify the values in its database, but arbitrarily reducing actual values to an unsupported level, that causes the entire net salvage presentation to be lacking as an appropriate basis upon which to make net salvage proposals.⁸⁶⁸ (footnotes omitted)

969. Because of the difficulties with the AG data and lack of explanation for why the AG data is different from its peer group, Mr. Pous believes it would be more reasonable for AG to retain the currently approved net salvage percentages.

970. In rebuttal, Mr. Kennedy responded to the suggestion that Gannett Fleming relied solely on judgement and a peer review to determine the net salvage percentages. Mr. Kennedy indicated that the net salvage percentages for all accounts were based, first and foremost, on a mathematical calculation of historical data which was then moderated.

Commission findings

971. The Commission agrees with the UCA and the evidence of Mr. Pous that AG has failed to provide sufficient justification for the proposed changes to the net salvage rates. Neither Mr. Kennedy nor AG have provided a reasonable explanation for the large changes in net salvage percentages calculated by Mr. Kennedy in his analysis. The explanation provided by Mr. Kennedy for the proposed modified net salvage rates, based on the calculated percentages, lacks the robustness and precision necessary to support the determination of the proposed net

⁸⁶⁶ UCA evidence, direct testimony of Jacob Pous, Q45/A45.

⁸⁶⁵ Ibid

UCA evidence, direct testimony of Jacob Pous, Q42/A42.

⁸⁶⁸ UCA argument, page 90, paragraph 282.

salvage rates. In the absence of probative evidence the Commission is inclined to deny the requested increase in net salvage rates for the test period. However, the Commission is concerned that should the current net salvage rates be insufficient, continuation of existing rates for an extended period of time may result in intergenerational inequity for ratepayers and unfairness to the utility. Accordingly, the Commission would entertain a timely separate application outside of the compliance filing process on net salvage rates for the test period. AG is directed to indicate in the compliance filing to this decision whether it will be submitting a separate application and if proceeding, the anticipated filing date. If AG chooses not to submit a separate application the existing net salvage rates will remain in place for the test years. If AG chooses to file a separate application, the compliance filing will use the existing salvage rates as placeholders pending a decision on the separate application.

7.5 Depreciation reserve deficiency

- 972. A depreciation reserve difference for an asset class is the cumulative difference between the depreciation expense as recognized and the balance needed in the accumulated depreciation account based on the surviving assets and the identified parameters. Two factors contribute to the reserve difference: changes in depreciation parameters (the Iowa curve specified) and a change in the composition of the asset account due to a different weighting by asset vintage. ⁸⁶⁹
- 973. AG has calculated its depreciation reserve differences at December 31, 2009 based on the proposed depreciation rates. The net depreciation reserve deficiency for all asset classes was calculated to be \$160,240 million. AG is requesting approval of recovery of the annual amortization of the depreciation reserve differences of \$6.66 million.
- 974. In evidence, Calgary objected to the recovery of this amount. ⁸⁷⁰ Calgary submitted that the recovery of a depreciation reserve deficiency is inconsistent with the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in *ATCO Gas & Pipelines Ltd. V. Alberta (Energy & Utilities Board)*. 2006 SCC 4, [2006] 1 SCR 140 (Stores Block decision). The Stores Block decision dealt with a disposition of property previously included in rate base. Calgary submitted that the Stores Block decision denied ratepayers the ability to recover from the proceeds of disposition an amount in respect of depreciation expense attributable to the asset and previously collected through rates.
- 975. Calgary submitted that the recovery by AG of an amount in respect of the depreciation reserve deficiency through future rates should similarly be disallowed. Calgary stated:

If the refund of over collected depreciation – based upon the ultimate selling price – is considered to be retroactively changing rates, then charging customers based upon an under collection of depreciation over prior periods has to similarly be retroactively changing rates, since it is just the converse of the situation that [sic] Court found to be inappropriate.⁸⁷¹

976. Calgary submitted that any amortization of the depreciation reserve deficiency of \$160.2 million would be contrary to the Stores Block decision. The appropriate adjustment would reduce the revenue requirement by \$6.66 million plus the tax impact in each of the test years.

Exhibit 109.02, page 21, lines 17-21.

Application, Section 5.0, Attachment 1, page 9.

Exhibit 109.02, page 20-21.

977. AG submitted in rebuttal evidence that:

...the use of a depreciation reserve is a long-standing and necessary depreciation practice. It is a forward looking process that adjusts future depreciation expense to ensure full recovery of costs and to distribute the cost of the asset over its service life as evenly as possible. While Calgary takes the position that the recovery of a reserve deficiency is not legal, it remains silent about situations where the reserve is in effect reducing future depreciation expense. It should be noted that the depreciation reserve deals with both situations.⁸⁷²

978. The UCA submitted in argument that "...in order to assess whether the recovery of a depreciation reserve deficiency amounts to retroactive rate-making, it is necessary to consider the nature and function of the depreciation reserve." The UCA then proceeded to illustrate the difference between the recovery of under-collected depreciation expense and the matter at hand in the Stores Block decision which dealt with the jurisdiction of the board to distribute the gain resulting from the sale of a utility asset to customers. In particular the UCA submitted:

While such distribution was compared by one of the parties in that case to a refund of the accumulated depreciation calculated for prior years, the Supreme Court did not equate the gain resulting from the sale of a utility asset to an over collection of depreciation in connection with that asset. Indeed, the Stores Block decision did not directly deal with the issue of depreciation reserves at all. Rather, the crux of the issue in Stores Block was whether customers acquired an ownership interest in the assets themselves through the payment of utility rates. The Supreme Court held that this was not the case... ⁸⁷⁴ (footnote omitted)

979. The UCA stated that depreciation expense in rates represents a way of allocating depreciation over the life of the asset. As the life of the asset is an estimate and subject to revision, it is reasonable to assume that variances between the amount in the depreciation reserve and accumulated depreciation would occur. The amortization of this variance would not amount to prohibited retroactive rate-making. The UCA also stated that it would expect that a depreciation reserve surplus would be returned to customers through an adjustment to rates. The UCA did not object to the recovery of a depreciation reserve deficiency.⁸⁷⁵

Commission findings

980. The Commission agrees with AG and the UCA that collection of the depreciation reserve deficiency is not retroactive rate making and is not contrary to the court's findings in the Stores Block decision. Annual depreciation expense should reflect a proper allocation of the cost of a utility asset over the life of the asset. By necessity, the determination of depreciation expense in respect of any particular class of assets is an estimate based on the best available data and on professional judgment. As better information becomes available, the depreciation rates are revised with a cumulative adjustment to the depreciation reserve account. This account is amortized on the same basis as the related asset account with the amortized amounts recovered through or offset against revenue requirement.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, paragraph 152, page 44.

UCA argument, paragraph 293, page 94.

Exhibit 200.02, page 96, paragraph 297.

UCA argument, pages 96-97, paragraphs 298-299.

981. The Stores Block decision did not address the depreciation rate adjustment practice for assets continuing to provide utility service. The periodic adjustments to these accounts when depreciation rates are updated are intended to refine and improve the allocation of costs over service life. The Stores Block decision was focused on the entitlement to proceeds of disposition of an asset formerly used in providing utility service. It does not deal with a readjustment of depreciation rates for assets remaining in utility service. The court concluded that the proceeds of sale could not be taken from the utility and given to customers on the basis that there and been an over-collection of depreciation expense during the period of time that the asset was in service. Such a refund would amount to a retroactive rate change.

982. The court stated:

There is no power granted in the various statutes for the Board to execute such a refund in respect of an erroneous perception of past over-compensation.⁸⁷⁶

- 983. The collection from customers of a depreciation reserve deficiency or the refund to customers of a depreciation reserve surplus does not amount to retroactive rate making, rather it is a prospective rate setting mechanism designed to ensure that the costs of an asset are recovered over its anticipated service life. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to this Decision to update it depreciation reserve deficiency account in accordance with the revised depreciation rates.
- 984. Accordingly the request of Calgary to deny the collection of the incremental and current amortization of the reserve deficiency is denied.

7.6 Production abandonment costs

985. AG is seeking the recovery of \$2.18 million in 2011 and \$1.5 million in 2012 with respect to production property abandonment costs. These costs are in respect of production properties which have no carrying value in rate base.⁸⁷⁷ AG explained the nature of these costs in the application as follows:

Production abandonment costs relate to ATCO Gas' obligation to abandon production properties which were previously used to provide utility service. Costs mainly relate to the two following areas: environmental remediation of well and other production sites; and management of issues with previously abandoned properties, such as leaks causing gas migration to the surface. The use of a production abandonment deferral account for each of the north and the south was approved in Decision 2006-004. Accordingly an annual expense amount is included in the revenue requirement forecast for these costs. ...

ATCO Gas retains responsibility for in the order of 371 north and 119 south abandoned production properties. Costs will continue to be incurred to maintain the abandonment of these properties consistent with current standards and statutes.⁸⁷⁸

Stores Block decision, paragraph 71.

Exhibit 82.01, Cal-AG-05(a)(iii).

⁸⁷⁸ Exhibit 3, page 5.5-5, paragraphs 14 to 15.

- 986. A further detailed explanation of the history of these costs can be found in Section 9.7 of Decision 2006-004. 879 880 Of particular note in this discussion is the description of the costs associated with the Bow Island field which dates back to the early 1900s and was finally retired from utility service in 1996.
- During the test period, AG proposes to continue to work at 21 well sites and one former compressor site in the north at a forecast cost of, \$550,000 per year.⁸⁸¹ In the south, AG will continue to work at 23 well sites and two former compressor sites. As well, AG anticipates remediation of two sites, environmental assessment work at eight sites, and ground water sampling at the remaining sites. The forecast cost for this work is \$950,000 per year. 882
- An annual expense amount has been included in the revenue requirement forecast for these costs, subject to deferral account treatment. The expense is currently \$350,000 for the north account and \$700,000 for the south account. AG is proposing that the annual expense account be increased to \$550,000 for the north account and \$950,000 for the south. The closing deferral account balances in the north and south for 2010 are \$0.76 million and \$0.24 million respectively, indicating an under-recovery from customers. AG is requesting a one-time deferral account adjustment of \$1.1 million in 2011 to recover the difference between the approved expense and the actual costs incurred from 2008 to 2010.
- 989. Calgary questioned the entitlement of AG to recover the abandonment costs. Calgary referred to the decision of the Alberta Court of Appeal in ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. v. Alberta (Energy and Utilities Board), 2008 ABCA 200883 (Carbon decision), stating:

This request comes after the recent Carbon proceedings and decisions, when those production properties that had value and were producing income were removed from rate base, and the customers were required to repay the operating revenues from those properties. One of the criteria was that the properties were not required for operational purposes. The abandoned properties are not required for operational purposes. Further the Court also indicated that the Board's as it then was, reliance on historical use was not appropriate.884 (footnotes omitted)

990. Calgary referred to the court's finding in the Carbon decision if assets are to be included in rate base in accordance with Section 37 of the Gas Utilities Act, they must be "used in an operational sense" by the utility in providing utility service. Calgary referred to paragraph 25 of the Carbon decision which states:

Thirdly, the only reasonable reading of s. 37 is that the assets that are "used or required to be used" to provide service are only those used in an operational sense. It strains the meaning of the word "used" when applied to "property" to suggest that merely accounting for the revenue generated by the asset constitutes "using" the asset.885 (emphasis added by Calgary, footnotes omitted)

Decision 2006-004: ATCO Gas, 2005-2007 General Rate Application Phase I, Application No. 1400690, January 27, 2006.

ATCO GRA filing 2011-2012, page 5.1-5, paragraph 14.

ATCO GRA filing 2011-2012, page 5.1-7, paragraph 17-18.

ATCO GRA filing 2011-2012, page 5.1-7 to 5.1-8, paragraph 20-21.

Leave to Supreme Court of Canada dismissed [2008] S.C.C.A. No. 347 (S.C.C.).

Exhibit 109.02, pages 18-19.

Ibid., page 20.

- 991. Calgary stated that the abandoned production properties do not qualify for inclusion in rate base based on the Carbon decision whether they have carrying value or not because they are not used in an operational sense.⁸⁸⁶
- 992. Calgary stated that costs associated with properties not properly included in rate base should be for the sole account of the shareholder and not included in revenue requirement. Calgary relied on the following excerpt from the Stores Block decision in support of this position:

The fact that the utility is given the opportunity to make a profit on its services and a fair return on its investment in its assets should not and cannot stop the utility from benefiting from the profits which follow the sale of assets. Neither is the utility protected from losses incurred from the sale of assets. In fact, the wording of the sections quoted above suggests that the ownership of the assets is clearly that of the utility; ownership of the asset and entitlement to profits or losses upon its realization are one and the same. The equity investor expects to receive the net revenues after all costs are paid, equal to the present value of original investment at the time of that investment.⁸⁸⁷ (footnotes omitted)

- 993. Based on the Carbon decision and Stores Block decision, Calgary submitted that the negative net present value of the properties and the associated costs are costs properly directly attributable to AG shareholders.⁸⁸⁸
- 994. Calgary expressed the view that there is no guarantee that amounts in a deferral account will be included in the revenue requirement in subsequent periods and that there does not appear to be a legal ability to include the amounts requested in the revenue requirement in the test years.
- 995. AG submitted that the abandoned properties have nothing in common with the assets that were the subject the Carbon storage facility series of proceedings. The properties for which AG is seeking to recover abandonment costs were retired from utility service because the asset had been fully consumed in the provision of utility services, unlike the Carbon assets which had not been fully consumed but which were no longer required to provide utility service. The Carbon assets could still be put to some other, non-utility use. AG submitted that the abandoned production property assets "more closely resemble every other type of utility asset that is fully consumed in the provision of utility service where customers have already derived their full benefit." AG submitted that in this way, the applied for abandonment costs are similar to the use of the depreciation deficiency reserve account; the abandonment costs associated with the assets in question are the difference between estimated cost of removal and the actual cost of removal. Establishing that the abandoned properties qualify for inclusion in rate base is not a prerequisite for the recovery of the applied for abandonment costs.
- 996. AG submitted that the Stores Block decision supports AG's position that customers should expect to pay the full cost of service through rates. AG quoted the Stores Block decision where the court stated:

⁸⁸⁶ Ibid., page 20.

⁸⁸⁷ Ibid., page 19, Stores Block decision, paragraph 67.

⁸⁸⁸ Ibid., page 19.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 44, paragraph 154.

⁸⁹⁰ Ibid., pages 44 to 45, paragraphs 154 to 155.

Through the rates, the customers pay an amount for the regulated service that equals the cost of the service and the necessary resources. 891

- 997. Because the assets have been fully consumed in the provision of utility service these costs form part of the utility's cost of service, which is recoverable from customers.
- 998. AG submitted that should the Commission disallow the applied for costs, well after the properties have been fully consumed in the provision of utility service, it "...would represent a change in the regulatory compact which would indicate a significant increase in the level of risk for utilities." ⁷⁸⁹²
- 999. AG also referred to previous decisions of the EUB which approved the inclusion of abandonment costs in revenue requirement, including several decisions which approved settlement agreements with customers dealing with the sale of production assets and the allocation of the sale proceeds.⁸⁹³

Commission findings

1000. The Commission considers that the issues raised with respect to production abandonment costs are similar to those discussed in connection with the Irma agency office in Section 4.9.4 of this decision. In that section the Commission determined that assets which no longer have an operational purpose are no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service as required by Section 37 of the *Gas Utilities Act* should be retired and removed from rate base. Further if the asset is not disposed of at the time of retirement, it should be moved to a non-utility account whether or not the asset had been fully consumed in providing utility service or whether it had residual value at the time it was retired. Accordingly, all ongoing costs of any nature, including operational and remediation costs (except to the extent that remediation costs are notionally offset by the net salvage component of depreciation expense previously included in rates and collected from ratepayers) associated with the asset after it ceases to have an operational purpose should be removed from revenue requirement and be for the account of the utility shareholder.

1001. AG confirmed that the "production abandonment costs relate to ATCO Gas' obligation to abandon production properties which were previously used to provide utility service." It is not disputed by the parties that the assets to which these costs relate are no longer "used in an operational sense" as required by the Carbon decision. It is also not disputed that the assets are no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service as required by Section 37 of the *Gas Utilities Act* and accordingly would not qualify for rate base consideration. AG takes the position, however, that establishing that the abandoned properties qualify for inclusion in rate base is not a prerequisite for recovery of the applied for abandonment costs. AG refers to the Stores Block decision in support for its position that the ongoing costs of abandonment in respect of an asset that has not been moved to a non-utility account but which is no longer used or required to be used in providing utility service, should be considered as part of the cost of providing utility service and should be recovered from ratepayers as part of the cost of service.

Stores Block decision, paragraph 68.

Exhibit 163.01, AG rebuttal evidence, page 48, paragraph 170.

⁸⁹³ Ibid., pages 46 to 48.

⁸⁹⁴ Exhibit 3, page 5.5-5, paragraph 14.

1002. The Commission disagrees. The Stores Block decision can not be relied on for the premise advanced by AG. The court stated that the "utility absorbs losses and gains, increases and decreases in the value of assets." As was the case with the Irma agency office, the Commission considers that all costs, including the ongoing operational and remediation costs associated with assets that no longer have an operational purpose and are no longer used or required to be used to provide utility service, such as the abandoned production assets, should be removed from revenue requirement and be for the account of the utility shareholder as of January 1, 2011.

1003. AG referred to several EUB decisions which approved the inclusion of production abandonment costs in rates in the past. Among these decisions were several which approved settlement agreements reached with customers. These decisions pre-date the Stores Block decision and the Carbon decision and accordingly the Commission has not considered them to be relevant to a consideration to the costs to be allowed in revenue requirement during the current test period.

1004. Given the above determination, all production abandonment costs applied for during the test period are disallowed and shall be removed from forecast revenue requirement in the compliance filing to this decision. Similarly, the deferral account in respect of these costs will be discontinued as of January 1, 2011. The closing deferral account balances in the north and south for 2010 are \$0.76 million and \$0.24 million respectively. Given that these balances relate to prior periods and the decisions that relate to those periods, AG will be permitted to include a one time recovery of those balances in 2011 revenue requirement.

1005. The Commission directs AG to remove the 2011 and 2012 production abandonment costs of \$2.18 and \$1.5 million respectively from revenue requirement.

7.7 Methodology change to amortize leasehold improvements

1006. In Decision 2008-113, contained the following Commission direction:

In its rebuttal evidence, AG committed to review alternative methods for depreciating its leasehold improvement costs and this information will be filed as part of its next GRA. Therefore, the Commission directs AG in its next GRA to provide the referenced study as indicated in rebuttal evidence. 896

1007. Pursuant to the Commission's direction, AG applied for a change in the methodology used to amortize leasehold improvements. Effective January 1, 2011, AG is proposing to amortize the net book value of leasehold improvements over the remaining life of the associated lease plus one renewal period provided it will not be less than a minimum of five years. In situations where the lease expires prior to the Leasehold Improvement costs being fully amortized, the amortization period would begin declining each year by one year (with no five-year minimum period being applied) until all costs have been recovered.

Commission findings

1008. The Commission finds that the proposed change to the amortization of leasehold improvements complies with the directive and notes that no concerns were raised by interveners

Decision 2008-113, Commission Direction 45, page 93.

Stores Block decision, paragraph 69.

with respect to the proposal. Therefore, the Commission approves the proposed change to amortization of leasehold improvements.

8 Income taxes

1009. ATCO Gas proposed a one-time payment to customers related to the income tax deductible costs of \$1.3 million for the North and \$4.0 million for the South.⁸⁹⁷ The Commission finds that this is consistent with the direction from Decision 2009-214.⁸⁹⁸

9 Utility revenue

9.1 Customer growth

1010. AG forecasted total customer growth of 21,636 in each of the test years. The table below compares this forecast to the 2008, 2009 and 2010 actual and forecast customer growth numbers. 900

Table 52. Total average customers and growth

	2008 Forecast	2008 Actual	2009 Forecast	2009 Actual	2010 Forecast	2010 Actual	2011 Forecast	2012 Forecast
Total average number of customers	1,015,037	1,010,900	1,048,157	1,026,813	1,055,610	1,045,567	1,067,203	1,088,839
Year over year actual difference				15,913		18,754	21,636	21,636

1011. The Commission has reviewed the 2008 and 2009 customer forecast to actual variances and observes that the variance was -0.64 per cent, 1.63 per cent and -0.96 per cent in 2008, 2009 and 2010 respectively. The Commission notes that no interveners took issue with AG's customer growth forecast. The Commission considers that AG customer forecast has shown to be accurate in the past and would expect that to continue in the test years.

9.2 Throughput forecast and normalization calculation

1012. AG forecast modest throughput growth in each of the test years. The table below compares this forecast to the 2008, 2009 and 2010 actual and forecast customer growth numbers.⁹⁰¹

Decision 2009-214: ATCO Gas, 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase I, Income Tax Module, Application No. 1553052, Proceeding ID. 11, November 12, 2009, page 24, paragraph 135.

Application, Section 7, Table 7.2(a) and 7.2(c).

Application, Section 9.1.2.

The 2009 and 2010 numbers are found in Exhibit 160.01, Attachment 2, Schedule 6. The 2008 numbers are found in Exhibit 71.02.

The 2009 and 2010 numbers are found in Exhibit 160.01, Attachment 2, Schedule 6. The 2008 numbers are found in Exhibit 71.02.

Table 53. Total annual throughput

	2008	2008	2009	2009	2010	2010	2011	2012
	Forecast	Normalized	Forecast	Normalized	Forecast	Normalized	Forecast	Forecast
Throughput (TJ's)	233,586	235,676	237,225	235,080	236,997	236,901	240,888	244,034

1013. Consistent with previous GRA filings, ATCO Gas prepared the throughput forecasts for the various rate classes and weather zones using the multiple regression model approach. However, commencing in 2011, ATCO Gas incorporated the use of six weather zones in the development of its throughput forecast as it was directed to do in Decision 2008-113. The addition of the new miduse rate group and the use of six weather zones have significantly increased the number of regression models used by ATCO Gas in the development of its throughput forecast. However, we have significantly increased the number of regression models used by ATCO Gas in the development of its

Views of the parties

1014. During the oral hearing the CCA questioned whether ATCO Gas should incorporate segmented linear regression analysis in the gigajoules per customer (GJPC) forecasting models. The CCA presented an aid to cross (Exhibit 169) which compared 2008 and 2009 GJPC forecasts to normalized actuals for the residential, low use apartment, and low use commercial customer groups. The charts show that the forecasts were lower than the normalized actuals for those years. The CCA in the oral hearing asked for assurance that those results are not indicative of an under forecasting bias in the forecasting models. As noted by Ms. Hagan under cross-examination:

Well, one thing that we have done is, when we're using all the data, we are incorporating that higher usage level into the forecast. And the multiple regression models try to get the best fit so that the forecast (*sic*) that come out should not be biased in either way. 907

1015. In argument the CCA recommended that:

AG be required to recognize changes in the relationships between temperature and GJPC for the summer, shoulder and non-summer/non shoulder periods, as well as restricted temperatures, when normalizing actual GJPC to normalized GJPC, for purposes of the weather deferral account.⁹⁰⁸

210 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

The variables are defined in Table 7.1.1.1(a) of the application.

⁹⁰³ Commission Direction 49.

The Explanatory Variables by Model are detailed in Table 7.1.1.1(b) of the application.

Transcript Volume 1, page 159, line 22 to page 160, line 2.

Transcript Volume 1, pages 185, lines 7-10.

Transcript Volume 1, pages 185, lines 11-15.

Exhibit 204, CCA argument, page 46.

1016. ATCO Gas responded to the CCA in their reply argument that:

The CCA's discussion of the forecasting methodology and changes to the models that it recommends are very detailed and should have been filed as evidence, rather than as argument. ATCO Gas has had no opportunity to ask questions or rebut this new evidence. As previously noted, the Commission should give no weight to the new positions of the CCA advanced for the first time in Argument. 909

Commission findings

1017. The Commission is satisfied that the regression models used by AG are consistent with the Direction provided in Decision 2008-113 and are sufficiently accurate to forecast throughput and normalized consumption. The multiple regression approach has been reviewed and approved in the three previous GRA's for AG. The CCA raised concerns with the relationship between temperature and GJPC during various times of the year and the normalization process. The Commission accepts the evidence of AG at the hearing that the multi-regression forecast methodology attempts to get the best fit available to the actual data. The Commission accepts the throughput forecast for the test years.

1018. The Commission notes that in the presentation provided during its SPC Forecast Workshop on June 14, 2010,⁹¹⁰ AG made mention that gas price has not been included in the regression models in past GRA's. In its compliance filing AG is directed to provide information on why it has added gas price as a variable into the regression model and the impact the gas price variable has on its revenue forecast.

9.3 Other revenue

1019. AG provided a table in its application detailing other revenue. The largest component of other revenue is related to services provided to AP for engineering, land services and mechanical services.

Table 54.	Other revenue	forecast
14016.34.	Omer revenue	iorecasi

	2008 Actual	2009 Actual	2010 Forecast	2011 GRA	2012 GRA
ATCO Pipelines	5.4	6.3	5.5	5.9	6.1
Other Affiliates	4	4.2	4.4	4.1	4.5
Total Affiliate	9.4	10.5	9.9	10	10.6
Jobbing	0.9	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.9
Facility Repairs	1.4	1.3	1.4	1.3	1.3
Reinstatement Fees	2.7	2.8	2.8	3.9	3.9
Other	1.1	1.9	1.9	2.9	3.1
Total	15.5	17.3	16.8	18.9	19.8

1020. The Commission notes that in its May 16th update AG provided actual other revenue for 2010 at \$18.7 million.

Included in the Application Response to Commission Directions, Decision 2008-113 Commission Direction 50.

Application, page 7.0-8, North and South Tables have been combined.

Exhibit 218, AG reply argument, page 125.

Commission findings

1021. The Commission notes that 2010 actual revenue was very close to the forecast for 2011. Further the Commission notes that the largest component of other revenue is services provided to AP. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to discuss if the recently approved integration of AP with NGTL will have an impact on its other revenue from AP including any change to the basis on which the work will be priced. The Commission accepts the revenue forecast for the rest of the components of other revenue for the test years.

10 One-time adjustments and deferral accounts

10.1 One-time adjustments

1022. AG proposed certain one-time adjustments to address balances that have built up in deferral accounts in addition to a specific request in 2012 relating to the DSM incentive/rebate pilot program. In an information request⁹¹² AG provided reasons for its proposed one-time adjustments;

- instances where actual costs incurred have been significantly higher or lower than Commission approved annual recoveries resulting in accumulated balances that are better addressed as a one-time adjustment rather than incorporating the amount into the future expense for the deferral account;
- instances where there is an approved deferral account to defer costs with no recovery/refund mechanism (e.g. Income Tax Deductible Capital Cost deferral Account); and
- instances where the Commission has approved a deferral account that had a specific purpose but is no longer required (e.g. Deferred Schedule C Charge Impact and Deferred Rent).

1023. In an undertaking during the oral hearing AG provided an update to its one-time adjustments.⁹¹³ The table below presents the dollar amount associated with each adjustment and the amounts approved in this decision. The table is followed by a summary of the direction provided and a reference to where the direction can be found in this decision.

212 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

⁹¹² Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-105.

⁹¹³ Exhibit 174.02.

Table 55. One-time adjustments

	AG Proposed		Appr	oved
	2011	2012	2011	2012
		(\$	millions)	
Deferred Hearing Costs	7.5	0.0	7.5	0.0
Income Tax Deductible Capital Cost Deferral Account	(5.3)	0.0	(5.3)	0.0
Carbon 2008/2009 Revenue Requirement Adj.	1.8	0.0	1.8	0.0
Reserve for Injuries and Damages	2.2	0.0	0.3	0.0
Variable Pay Program (VPP)	(1.9)	0.0	(1.9)	0.0
Production Abandonment	1.01	0.0	1.01	0.0
Deferred Schedule C Charge Impact	(0.5)	0.0	(0.5)	0.0
Rider T Over-collection	(0.7)	0.0	(0.7)	0.0
Deferred Software Training Costs	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0
Deferred Rent (CD 21) Receivable (Payable)	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0
DSM Incentive / Rebate Pilot Program	0.0	1.0	0.0	0.0
Total	4.3	1.0	2.4	0.0

1024. The Commission has made determinations on each of these one-time adjustments which are summarized below:

- (a) Hearing costs are addressed in Section 6.4.14. The adjustment is approved.
- (b) Income tax is addressed in Section 8. The adjustment is approved.
- (c) The Carbon revenue requirement deferral account was approved in Decision 2010-291. AG indicated in the application that this adjustment was required in 2011 in order to finalize the impact of removing the Carbon assets from the 2008 and 2009 revenue requirement forecasts. The adjustment is approved.
- (d) Reserve for injuries and damages is addressed in Section 6.4.10. The amounts related to the late payment penalty settlement are not approved.
- (e) Variable pay program is addressed in Section 6.4.3. The adjustment is approved.
- (f) Production abandonment is addressed in Section 7.6. The adjustment is approved.
- (g) The deferred Schedule C charge deferral account was approved in Decision 2010-291. In the application AG indicted that the Phase II Negotiated Settlement between AG and customer groups required AG to defer monthly revenue once the new Schedule C charges had been implemented. AG has deferred six months worth of charges and is therefore requesting a one-time payment to customers. The adjustment is approved.

AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011) • 213

Decision 2010-291: 2008-2009 General Rate Application – Phase 2 Negotiated Settlement, Application No. 1604944, Proceeding ID 184, June 25, 2010.

Application, page 9.0-2, paragraph 5.

⁹¹⁶ Ibid.

- (h) The Rider T over-collection was provided in Exhibit 174.02 and discussed in AUC-AG-105(b). The over-collection relates primarily due to colder weather. The adjustment is approved.
- (i) Deferred software training costs is addressed below.
- (j) The deferred lease costs deferral account was approved in Decision 2009-109. AG is requesting a one-time recovery of \$57,000 relating to the difference between the actual and forecast lease costs for the ATCO Center in Edmonton and the Milner Building. The adjustment is approved.
- (k) The proposed DSM program is addressed in Section 6.3.14. The adjustment is not approved.

1025. AG requested a one-time adjustment for \$0.1 million in each of the North and the South for deferred software training costs. AG indicated that these adjustments result from the adoption effective January 1, 2009 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) recommendations for intangible assets which prohibit the capitalization of training costs related to software additions. Effective January 1, 2009 AG was unable to continue to capitalize these training costs as part of property, plant and equipment. AG referred to Section 6(2)(g) of Rule 026: Rule Regarding Regulatory Account Procedures Pertaining to the Implementation of the International Financial Reporting Standards (Rule 026) which provides that a utility may apply for recovery of any financial difference that arises as a result of the adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards arising in connection with a change to the capitalization of training costs.

1026. AG is not requesting further deferral treatment in the test years as these costs will be included in operating and maintenance expense in the test years.

Commission findings

1027. The Commission considers this one-time adjustment for software training costs is consistent with the intent of Rule 026 Section 6(2)(g) and approves the \$0.1 million one-time adjustment in each of the North and South. However, as noted by AG a deferral account is not required for the test years and the Commission does not approve an ongoing deferral account for software training costs for the test years

10.2 Existing and proposed deferral accounts

1028. AG provided the following table summarizing existing deferral accounts, proposed new deferral accounts and the carrying cost methodology applicable to each one.

214 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

Decision 2009-109, 2008-2009 GRA Phase Compliance Filing.

Application, Section 9.1.8.

Deferral Accounts	Current / Proposed	AUC Rule 023 / WACC / Other
Weather	Current	WACC
Load balancing	Current	WACC
Hearing costs	Current	NWC
Utilities Consumer Advocate	Current	NWC
Variable pay program	Current	NWC
Pension costs	Current	NWC
Production abandonment costs	Current	NWC
Income tax deductible capital cost	Current	NWC
Pension special funding payments	Current	NWC
Impact of IFRS	Proposed	None
ATCO Pipelines / NGTL integration rate impacts	Proposed	None
Deferred transmission	Current	None
Schedule C charges	Current	None
Lease costs - Edmonton / Milner	Current	None
Lease costs - Calgary	Proposed	None
Software training costs	Proposed one-time adjustment	None

Table 56. Deferral accounts and carrying costs⁹¹⁹

1029. Intervener concerns with respect to particular existing deferral accounts have been addressed in the applicable section. In this section, the Commission will consider the carrying charges for all deferral accounts and the proposed new deferral accounts.

10.3 Carrying charges

1030. AG indicated that it proposes to use the carrying cost methodology previously approved for each of the existing deferral accounts. 920 AG is not requesting approval of carrying charges for the new deferral accounts proposed in the application. Interveners did not object to the basis for calculating carrying charges for each of the deferral accounts.

Commission findings

1031. Given that AG is proposing to extend the carrying cost methodology previously approved by the Commission, the Commission approves the carrying cost methodology for the test years on the continuing existing deferral accounts.

10.4 New deferral accounts

1032. AG requested approval for three new deferral accounts in its application: 921

- Impact of IFRS⁹²²
 - AG also requested approval of a second deferral account in relation to insurance proceeds as per section 6(2)(1) of Rule 026;
- ATCO Pipelines / NGTL Integration Rate Impacts; and

⁹¹⁹ Exhibit 84.01, AUC-AG-103.

⁹²⁰ Exhibit 136, AUC-AG-103.

Application, Section 9.2.0.

⁹²² International Financial Reporting Standards.

• Deferred Lease Costs – ATCO Center Calgary.

1033. AG referred to Decision 2003-100⁹²³ where the EUB found the following four factors to be reasonable criteria to be used in evaluating proposed deferral accounts:

- Materiality of the forecast amount,
- Uncertainty regarding the accuracy and ability to forecast the amount,
- Whether or not the factors affecting the forecast are beyond the utility's control,
- Whether or not the utility is typically at risk with respect to the forecast amount.

1034. AG noted that in Decision 2010-189⁹²⁴ the Commission added a fifth "symmetry factor" to consider in assessing the merits of proposed deferral accounts. The Commission stated:

73.the Board, when examining the merits of an application for a deferral account on the facts of that proceeding, took the view that "deferral accounts should not be for the sole benefit of either the company or the customers." Deferral accounts, rather, should "provide a degree of protection to both the Company and the customers from circumstances beyond their control," and hence "[s]ymmetry must exist between costs and benefits for both the Company and its customers." The Board also noted that it expected that "the individual mechanisms involved in the use of each deferral account should be applied in a consistent and fair manner in both test years and non-test years." This will be referred to as the symmetry factor. 925 (footnotes omitted)

10.5 Impact of IFRS

1035. AG requested a deferral account to capture any unanticipated differences that arise as a result of implementing IFRS. The ATCO Group decided to adopt IFRS effective January 1, 2011. Page 11. Page 12. In response to AUC-AG-104 AG stated:

In developing its Application, ATCO Gas made certain assumptions that are currently under review within ATCO. ATCO Gas is requesting the use of a deferral account to address any differences that may arise. Due to the uncertainty of the outcome of ATCO's internal review, ATCO Gas believes that consequences could result that are (i) uncertain; (ii) potentially material; (iii) beyond ATCO Gas' control; and (iv) a forecast risk to both customers and ATCO Gas.

Commission findings

1036. Interveners did not object to the creation of an impact of IFRS deferral account. This deferral account is not intended to cover costs associated with the implementation of IFRS but to capture any unanticipated differences that arise as a result of the implementation of IFRS. The Commission does not consider that an impact of IFRS deferral account satisfies the deferral account criteria established by the EUB and the Commission in Decision 1003-100 and Decision 2010-189 because the materiality has not been established and the accuracy and ability to forecast is largely within the control of AG or within the control of the ATCO Group. However, the Commission notes that one of the principles of Rule 026 provides:

Application, Section 9.4.1, paragraph 37.

216 • AUC Decision 2011-450 (December 5, 2011)

.

Decision 2003-100: ATCO Pipelines 2003/2004 General Rate Application Phase 1, Application No. 1292783, December 2, 2003, page 116.

Decision 2010-189: ATCO Utilities Pension Common Matters, Application No. 1605254, ID. 226, April 30, 2010.

⁹²⁵ Decision 2010-189, paragraph 73.

Future Regulatory Accounting and regulatory reporting requirements established by the Commission will, in considering IFRS requirements, balance the effects on customer rates and shareholders' return. Any shifting of risk between customers and shareholders will be minimized.⁹²⁷

1037. The Commission considers the establishment of the requested deferral account is consistent with the above principle because it establishes a mechanism to monitor and address any shifting of risk between customers and shareholders with respect to the unanticipated differences. Accordingly the Commission approves the establishment of a deferral account in accordance with AG's proposal provided however that the deferral account shall include only unanticipated differences that are within the scope of Rule 026. The Commission directs that this deferral account be closed and an application filed along with AG's proposal for the method for settling each deferral account adjustment within three months of the public release of the 2011 annual financial statements for Canadian Utilities Limited.

1038. The Commission also approves the creation of a second deferral account related to the adoption of IFRS as required by Section 6(2)(1) of Rule 026 related to insurance proceeds.

10.6 ATCO Pipelines/NGTL integration rate impacts

1039. ATCO Gas requested a short term deferral account to capture the potential impacts related to certain matters that still need to be finalized with respect to the integration of ATCO Pipelines (AP) and Nova Gas Transmission Ltd. (NGTL). In response to AUC-AG-104 AG stated:

The finalization of these other matters is: (i) uncertain; (ii) potentially material; (iii) beyond ATCO Gas' control; and (iv) a forecast risk to both customers and ATCO Gas. Once all of the impacts of integration on ATCO Gas are known, ATCO Gas proposes to file an application with the Commission to dispose of the Integration deferral account and incorporate the effects of the integration into its rates going forward.

Commission findings

1040. The Commission does not consider that the proposed deferral account satisfies the materiality factor criterion for the establishment of a new deferral account and accordingly denies AG's request. However, the Commission is sensitive to the concerns raised by AG with respect to possible unknown costs of integration and the difficulty of forecasting these costs prior to integration occurring. Contract integration between ATCO Pipelines and NGTL occurred October 1, 2011. While the Commission denies the requested deferral account, the Commission will permit AG in the compliance filing to this decision to identify any additional specific costs that AG has incurred due to integration and to include a request for approval of such costs in revenue requirement.

10.7 Calgary lease costs

1041. ATCO Gas is requesting a short-term deferral account to capture the differences in forecast and actual lease rates for the ATCO Centre in Calgary. The lease was scheduled to expire on October 1, 2011. AG argued that the use of a deferral account is consistent with the approach that was used for the ATCO Center lease renewal in Edmonton in the 2008/2009 GRA, in order to not impede ATCO Gas' ability to negotiate the lease rate.

Rule 026, Appendix I – Guiding Principles, page 9.

Commission findings

1042. In Section 6.5.4 of this decision, the Commission directed that rental expense for the ATCO Centre in Calgary should be based on the existing rental rate for the test years. Accordingly, a deferral account to track rental adjustments is not necessary.

11 Order

1043. It is hereby ordered that:

(1) AG is directed to file a compliance filing to this decision no later than January 9, 2012.

Dated on December 5, 2011.

The Alberta Utilities Commission

(original signed by)

Moin A. Yahya Panel Chair

(original signed by)

Bill Lyttle Commission Member

(original signed by)

Kay Holgate Commission Member

Appendix 1 – Proceeding participants

Name of organization counsel or representative
ATCO Gas (AG) L. Smith (counsel) K. Beattie (counsel) D. Werstiuk R. Gordon D. Wilson
AltaGas Utilities Inc. R. Koizumi N. McKenzie
BP Canada Energy Company C. Worthy G. Boone
Climate Change Central (3) L. Estep (counsel) J. Reading L. Sveinson
The City of Calgary (Calgary) D. Evanchuk (counsel) H. Johnson M. Rowe
Consumers' Coalition of Alberta (CCA) J. Wachowich (counsel) J. Jodoin R. Retnanandan
FortisAlberta Inc. J. Walsh
TransAlta Corporation K. Perley
Office of the Utilities Consumer Advocate (UCA) T.D. Marriott (counsel) M. Stauft R. Bell J. Pous S. Radway

The Alberta Utilities Commission

Commission Panel

- M. A. Yahya, Panel Chair
- B. Lyttle, Commission Member
- K. Holgate, Commission Member

Commission Staff

- B. McNulty (Commission counsel)
- A. Sabo (Commission counsel)
- B. Whyte
- R. Armstrong. P.Eng.
- B. Leung
- M. McJannet
- C. Taylor

Appendix 2 – Oral hearing – registered appearances

Name of organization (abbreviation) counsel or representative	Witnesses
ATCO Gas (AG) L. Smith, QC K. Beattie	Panel No. 1 C. Cicchetti (Navigant Consulting, Inc.) D. Cook G. Feltham A. Hagan B. Mikila W. Morishita G. Schmidt D. Wilson
	Panel No. 2 L. Kennedy (Gannett Fleming, Inc.) D. Cook A. Dixon B. Hahn G. Schmidt D. Wilson G. Zurek
Climate Change Central (C3) L. Estep	R. Boyd K. Gorecki F. Walter J. Reading
Consumers' Coalition of Alberta (CCA) J. Wachowich	
The City of Calgary (Calgary) D. Evanchuk	Panel No. 1 H. Johnson (Stephen Johnson, Chartered Accountants) J. Stephens (Consultant) R. Hanscome (HRchitect, Inc.)
The Office of the Utilities Consumer Advocate (UCA) T. Marriott	Panel No. 1 M. Stauft (Consultant) R. Bell (Russ Bell & Associates Inc.) S. Radway (Radway Consulting Ltd.)
	Panel No. 2 J. Pous (Diversified Utility Consultants, Inc.)

Appendix 3 – Summary of Commission directions

This section is provided for the convenience of readers. In the event of any difference between the directions in this section and those in the main body of the decision, the wording in the main body of the decision shall prevail.

- 1. The Commission will review the prudence of some of the 2008 to 2010 capital expenditures in the other sections of this report. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to update its 2011 opening rate base in accordance with the findings in other sections of this decision. The 2011 opening property, plant, and equipment accounts are approved subject to the Commission's directions relating to specific assets addressed in subsequent sections of this decision. Paragraph 83

- With respect to the second UCA recommendation the Commission acknowledges that 4. pre-1973 plastic pipe and 1973 to 1975 plastic pipe were subject to different certification practices and approved for different operating pressures. However, the Commission notes that neither vintage group was required to meet the CSA standard which became mandatory in 1975. Accordingly, the Commission considers it in the public interest to remove all pipe manufactured prior to 1973. With respect to pipe manufactured from 1973 to 1975, the Commission notes AG's comment that it is acting with an "abundance of caution." With regard to the UCA's first recommendation, the issue for the Commission to address is the extent to which inventory practices may have resulted in the installation in 1976 or 1977 of interim certified pipe from the 1973 to 1975 period. AG's records are inadequate. AG is neither able to identify whether pipe purchased during the interim 1973 to 1975 period was certified nor has it the ability to determine how long pipe remained in inventory and therefore, what portion, if any of the pipe was installed in 1976 and 1977. These facts have made the consideration of this program difficult. Nonetheless, the Commission considers the risk of brittle failure associated with plastic pipe and PVC pipe when subjected to stress to be a serious safety and reliability issue, and therefore, the Commission approves the entire program. However, the Commission directs that the program be implemented over a 20-year period considered in alternative three in the business case rather than the 17-year proposed in alternative two. Given the fact that the pipe manufactured during the 1973 to 1975 period was of a higher quality than the pre-1973 pipe and some of the 1973 to 1975 pipe may have met the then voluntary CSA standard and noting that this vintage of pipe was proposed to be removed last, the Commission considers the extended installation period to be warranted. Lengthening the time period over which replacement occurs will reduce the magnitude of

- 5. As additional leak history data on pipe installed from the 1973 to 1977 period becomes available it may be appropriate to reconsider the program scope and timelines. The Commission directs AG to continue to provide plastic pipe leak history in future capital program applications. Paragraph 192
- 6. The Commission directs AG in the compliance filing required by this decision to indicate what the 2011 and 2012 plastic pipe replacement program revenue requirement would be based on a 20-year program, without considering the actual 2011 expenditures.

 Paragraph 193
- 7. The Commission relies on AG's statement that OH&S regulations require AG to update its line heaters. A three-year program has been proposed to complete the work to bring the non-compliant line heaters into compliance and to do reliability work at the same time. The plan by AG to complete the compliance work in three years seems reasonable and the Commission approves this portion of the program for inclusion in revenue requirement. The Commission finds that when reliability improvements are to be made on heaters for which compliance work is to be done, it is practical to do both at the same time over the three year period. However, the Commission does not consider that justification has been made for a three-year period to complete work on line heaters that do not have a compliance component. Therefore the Commission directs AG to exclude from its program, line heaters that are in compliance with OH&S regulations. The Commission directs AG in the compliance filing to this decision to reflect two years of the three-year replacement and upgrading of the non-compliant line-heaters.

 Paragraph 200

8. The UCA's primary concern with the AMR program was the magnitude of the contingency included in the forecast estimates. The Commission agrees that the contingency may be too high, but notes that AG was expected to complete a "proof of concept" by the end of June 2011. The Commission directs AG to report in the

- 11. Should the Okotoks agency office not be disposed of at approximately the same time as it is retired, AG is directed to move the asset to a non-utility account where further operating and capital costs would be for the account of the utility shareholder.

 Paragraph 330
- 13. The Commission acknowledges that expenditures in excess of the approved amounts in Decision 2008-113 could be due in part to the pricing determined in the Evergreen proceeding. The Commission finds that the over-expenditure on SIBS (NGSIS) replacements was not adequately explained in the application or supported in the analysis of variances provided in Tabs 8.1 and 8.2. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to revise the SIBS amount to be included in opening rate base to the forecast approved in Decision 2008-113, adjusted for increases in price approved by this Commission.

 Paragraph 359

- Business Case 19, work enhancements, also proposes a Maximo software upgrade in 18. 2012. The Commission notes that functional benefits are forecast and that withdrawal of support is anticipated for the fourth quarter of 2012. The Maximo software appears to have been installed as part of work management Phase II in October 2009 at a cost of \$3.9 million. As Calgary noted the entire work management Phase II project was installed at a cost of \$17 million compared to a forecast cost of \$13.5 million. Calgary also noted a discrepancy in the cost breakdown between the business case and the schedule provided at page 16 of Tab 4.2 Attachment 1. The argument in support of the business case is premised on the withdrawal of support by the vendor. The Commission notes, as acknowledged by AG, that the vendor has not announced the withdrawal of support for the software. For the preceding reasons, the Commission denies approval of the forecasts costs for the Maximo software proposed in Business Case 19. The Commission directs AG to remove the forecast costs associated with this software package from its revenue requirement in the compliance filing for this application.Paragraph 441

- 22. The Commission notes that AG offered to prepare a similar analysis to the one directed from ATCO Electric, concurrent with or prior to AG's next preferred share application. The Commission considers such an analysis is required and directs AG to prepare an updated analysis concurrent with or prior to AG's next preferred share application to assess whether the optimal range of five to 10 per cent for preferred shares as discussed in Decision 2006-100 should be continued thereafter. This analysis should also include a number that represents the most cost effective level of preferred shares for AG and should be submitted to the Commission concurrently with or before AG's next preferred share application to the Commission. Accordingly, approval of the actual preferred share issue is subject to the Commission's approval of the directed analysis. Paragraph 489

- 25. The Commission has not been persuaded that the proposed decrease to a six per cent vacancy rate due to an increasing proportion of vacancies caused by retirements is warranted. A six per cent vacancy rate is inconsistent with historical results and unsupported by the evidence filed in this proceeding. AG is therefore directed to increase its forecast vacancy rate for 2011 and 2012 to 8.3 per cent based on a three-year historical average and to revise its forecast FTE levels and revenue requirement in the compliance filing to this decision. Paragraph 538
- 26. Interveners did not oppose this expenditure but the CCA submitted that it should be a one time charge. The Commission agrees with the CCA that this expenditure should be treated as a one-time cost in 2012 revenue requirement. The Commission approves the forecast costs of \$0.5 million for an assessment of inspection practices as a one time expense. AG is directed to incorporate these costs as a one time expense in its compliance filing to this decision.

 Paragraph 554
- 27. The Commission recognizes the necessity to comply with changing standards and accepts AG's proposed cost increases for the test years for the proposed commercial inspection program. However, the Commission does not approve AG's request for an accounting change to capitalize costs related to meter exchanges when a meter is being permanently retired. The cost of the "original installation of house regulators and meters" is capitalized in Account 474. "Expenses incurred in connection with removing, resetting, changing, testing and servicing customer meters and house regulators" are recorded in Account 673. AG's change in policy to use only new meters does not change the accounting requirement. AG has stated that without the approval requested the expenses

- 28. AG stated that most of the forecast cost increase over 2010 actual costs was driven by inflation and customer growth. However, AG indicated in AUC-AG-65(c) that 1.2 per cent of the total increase in 2011 and an additional 0.5 per cent of the total increase in 2012 related to training in anticipation of higher employee turnover due to aging workforce and a tightening of the market. The Commission previously rejected the justification of forecast cost increases due to an aging workforce and a tightening of the labour market. Accordingly, the Commission directs AG to reduce the forecasted costs in Account 674 by 1.2 per cent in 2011 and 1.7 per cent in 2012 in the compliance filing to this decision.

 Paragraph 561
- 29. AG provided limited support for the forecast increase to the costs for accounts 678 and 679. Accordingly, in the absence of any other substantive information, the Commission considers that an adjustment of five per cent for inflation and growth is justified for each of the test years. The Commission directs AG in its compliance filing to forecast costs for accounts 678 and 679 by escalating 2010 actual costs by a factor of five per cent per year.

 Paragraph 584
- 31. The Commission does, however, continue to support the expenditure of \$50,000 per year on safety messaging that the BFK has provided in the past. AG may add this expenditure to its Customer Relations and Communications forecast for the test years. AG is directed to advise the Commission in the compliance filing to this decision as to the mechanism it will use to promote natural gas safety matters and gas distribution education information to customers.

 Paragraph 611
- 32. Similar to the Commission's finding with respect to AG's BFK program above, the Commission is of the view that the increase in costs for the purpose of the Centennial Anniversary celebration is not justified as a cost effective means to communicate safety matters and is unnecessary for the provision of safe and reliable delivery of natural gas. Accordingly AG is directed to remove the forecast costs associated with the Centennial

- Anniversary from the sales and transportation promotions function for the 2011 and 2012 test years.

 Paragraph 616
- 33. The Commission denies AG's request to include in revenue requirement for the test years all costs associated with current and proposed DSM activities. The Commission directs that all DSM related costs, both capital and operating, be removed from rate base and revenue requirement for the test years. The Commission further directs that the DSM capital expenditures incurred during the period 2008 to 2010 are to be excluded from opening rate base. Paragraph 686
- 34. The Commission considers that AG has not provided an adequate explanation for the forecast increases in the account. The discussion of governance provides no explanation of which accounts are impacted by the governance amounts. In the absence of a satisfactory explanation for the increase, the Commission directs AG to revise its forecasts for Account 710 to the amount calculated as the actual expenditure for 2010 increased by a five per cent per year, to reflect inflation and growth, for each of 2011 and 2012. The \$0.3 million for CC&B benchmarking is also approved in 2012. Paragraph 691
- 36. AG is directed to revise its 2011 and 2012 forecast for administrative labour, excluding the VPP component, utilizing AG's 2010 actual costs increased by five per cent per year.

 Paragraph 731
- 38. With regard to AG's forecasted increases in 2011 and 2012 for VPP, the Commission concurs with the UCA that AG did not justify an increase to the VPP forecast cost in excess of inflation. In its April 21 update, AG revised its forecast inflation rate for

- 39. AG is directed in the compliance filing to this decision to include in its revenue requirement a rental rate for 2011 of \$14.50. For 2012, rent should be forecast based on \$14.50 per square foot increased by a three per cent inflation factor. Paragraph 769
- 41. The Commission therefore approves mass media and other supplies expenses for 2011 and 2012 calculated as 2010 actual costs increased by five per cent per year for inflation and growth. AG is directed to include this revision in its compliance filing.

 Paragraph 797

- 44. AG's request for a recovery of \$1.8 million related to the settlement and associated legal expenses is denied. The Commission therefore directs AG to remove the settlement and associated legal expenses from AG's forecast for reserve for injuries and damages and revenue requirement in its compliance filing. The \$300,000 balance of the proposed \$2.1 million recovery in order to maintain a reserve balance of \$600,000 is approved.

 Paragraph 842
- 45. The Commission is satisfied that AG has adequately explained why employee benefits are increasing for the test years. Further the Commission notes that the largest component of employee benefits is the pension funding which is subject to a placeholder. In Decision 2011-391 the Commission made a determination of pension funding for AG to be included in revenue requirement for 2011 and 2012. AG is directed to maintain the

- 51. The Commission considers that the determination of a depreciation rate for this account has been particularly difficult given the size of the account and the mix of non-homogeneous assets of different vintages. The Commission notes the discussion at the hearing about the possibility of introducing accounting mechanisms to segregate the account into multiple accounts of a more homogeneous nature. The lack of detailed historical records was an impediment to further segregation at this time. The Commission directs AG to report in the compliance filing to this application on the feasibility of further segregation of significant accounts on a go-forward basis. Paragraph 942
- 53. The Commission will consider Account 48400 separately from the other accounts. With respect to the balance of the "other depreciation accounts" identified above, the Commission notes that the interveners did not file evidence with respect to these accounts and that the aggregate net change in depreciation expense is \$1,990,539 in the test period. The Commission has denied a number of programs in other parts of this Decision which may have assets reflected in some of these accounts. Accordingly, the Commission directs that the assets associated with denied programs be removed from these accounts and reflected in the compliance filing to this decision. Subject to the removal of the

- The Commission agrees with the UCA and the evidence of Mr. Pous that AG has failed 54. to provide sufficient justification for the proposed changes to the net salvage rates. Neither Mr. Kennedy nor AG have provided a reasonable explanation for the large changes in net salvage percentages calculated by Mr. Kennedy in his analysis. The explanation provided by Mr. Kennedy for the proposed modified net salvage rates, based on the calculated percentages, lacks the robustness and precision necessary to support the determination of the proposed net salvage rates. In the absence of probative evidence the Commission is inclined to deny the requested increase in net salvage rates for the test period. However, the Commission is concerned that should the current net salvage rates be insufficient, continuation of existing rates for an extended period of time may result in intergenerational inequity for ratepayers and unfairness to the utility. Accordingly, the Commission would entertain a timely separate application outside of the compliance filing process on net salvage rates for the test period. AG is directed to indicate in the compliance filing to this decision whether it will be submitting a separate application and if proceeding, the anticipated filing date. If AG chooses not to submit a separate application the existing net salvage rates will remain in place for the test years. If AG chooses to file a separate application, the compliance filing will use the existing salvage rates as placeholders pending a decision on the separate application. Paragraph 971
- 56. The Commission directs AG to remove the 2011 and 2012 production abandonment costs of \$2.18 and \$1.5 million respectively from revenue requirement. Paragraph 1005

- 59. The Commission considers the establishment of the requested deferral account is consistent with the above principle because it establishes a mechanism to monitor and address any shifting of risk between customers and shareholders with respect to the unanticipated differences. Accordingly the Commission approves the establishment of a deferral account in accordance with AG's proposal provided however that the deferral account shall include only unanticipated differences that are within the scope of Rule

Appendix 4 – Rulings on motions during the proceeding

(return to text)



(consists of 23 pages)

Appendix 5 – AG's responses to Commission directions

AG provided responses in Volume 2-1, Tab 1.0 of the application to Commission directions from prior decisions. The Commission has reviewed the responses and has provided its opinion regarding compliance as follows.

Directions from Decision 2008-021:

1. While not a specific direction the Commission is satisfied with AG's comments on the review of the administration of its prudential requirements and the default supply provider.

Directions from Decision 2008-113:

- 2. Direction 23 (differences in unit costs between north and south operations): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 3. Direction 36 (timeframe for reviewing corporate cost allocation methodology): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 4. Direction 40 (any costs, legal fees or other payments be maintained in RID pending conclusion of the case in respect of late payment charges) (AG referred to "Other Commission Direction" (page 82) when responding): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied, however, the final determination in respect of costs of a legal claim related to late payment charges is discussed elsewhere in this decision
- 5. Direction 41 (include: Financials Appl Host & Storage" item and "Adabas-IMS License" item with the variable items in 2008-2009 Evergreen proceeding): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 6. Direction 43 (review final rate base amount for DFSS): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 7. Direction 44 (file a full depreciation study in next GRA): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 8. Direction 45 with Attachments 1-2 (file alternative methods for depreciating leasehold improvements in next GRA): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied having presented the study.
- 9. Direction 46 with Attachment (estimated retirement date for CIS, with assumptions and any available cost of alternatives): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 10. Direction 49 (utilize six weather stations in the next GRA): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 11. Direction 50 with Attachment (conduct a technical meeting prior to next GRA to review regression models and normalization process): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 12. Direction 52 with Attachment (provide a schedule for high use demand customers): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 13. Direction 53 (investigate and report on negative irrigation throughput amounts at next GRA): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.

Directions from Decision 2009-093:

14. Direction 1 with Attachments 1-4 (weather deferral account methodology): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.

Directions from Decision 2009-109:

- 15. Direction 1 (calculation of labour steps and increases): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied for the current GRA, but notes that future reports are required as this direction has an ongoing requirement for future GRAs.
- 16. Direction 21 with Attachments 1-2 (approval of deferral account for rental rates, reconciliation and closure): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied, however any approvals will be provided elsewhere in this decision.

Directions from Decision 2009-178:

17. Direction 1 (use of deferral account for final revenue requirement changes): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.

Directions from Decision 2009-214:

18. Direction 1 (breakdown of types and amounts of deductions included in Income Tax Deductable Capital Cost Deferral Account): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied for the current GRA, but notes that compliance is required for future applications as this direction has an ongoing requirement.

Directions from Decision 2010-189:

19. Direction 5 (pension plan COLA effects on revenue requirements): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied given that it was directed in Decision 2010-553 to file a 2011 Pension Common Matters application by December 15, 2010. Decision 2011-391 was released on September 27, 2011.

Directions from Decision 2010-291:

- 20. Direction 3 (contribution revenues fom Schedule "C" charges): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 21. Direction 4 (custom customer contribution installations): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.
- 22. Direction 7 with Attachments 1-2 (disposition and status of deferral accounts per 2009 Phase II Settlement): The Commission is satisfied that AG has complied.

Directions from Order U2008-264:

23. Commission Order: As of this application AG is not yet in compliance with the order pending a report on the balance of the transmission deferral account.



Fifth Avenue Place, Fourth Floor, 425 First Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8
Phone 403-592-8845 Fax 403-592-4406
www.auc.ab.ca

Electronic Notification

April 1, 2011

To: Interested Parties

ATCO Gas 2011-2012 General Rate Application (GRA) Phase I Application No. 1606822 Proceeding ID No. 969

Re-start of process

- 1. On March 25, 2011, the Alberta Utilities Commission (the AUC or the Commission) received a motion (motion) from The City of Calgary to compel ATCO Gas to provide full and adequate responses to a number of information requests contained in Attachment A to the motion. Calgary requested that the Commission consider the motion prior to the filing of intervener evidence scheduled for March 30, 2010.
- 2. On March 25, 2011, the Commission suspended the procedural schedule in this proceeding for all parties pending a ruling on the motion and provided the opportunity for a response by ATCO Gas and a reply by Calgary.
- 3. ATCO Gas filed their response to the motion on March 29, 2011. In their response, ATCO Gas included certain additional information requested by Calgary. Calgary responded on March 31, 2011, that there were now only three information responses it considered were still deficient, namely CAL-AG-7(c), CAL-AG-53 and CAL-AG-58.
- 4. The Commission has reviewed the submissions of Calgary and ATCO Gas and provides its initial ruling on the motion. A more detailed ruling will be issued shortly. The Commission finds that ATCO Gas has provided full and adequate responses to CAL-AG-53 and CAL-AG 58. The motion with respect to these information requests is denied.
- 5. With respect to CAL-AG-7(c), the Commission believes that ATCO Gas has not provided a sufficient response to this information request. ATCO Gas will be directed in the detailed ruling to provide the following information for all assets listed in Exhibit 97.02 with an assessed value in excess of \$250,000:
 - a. The year of acquisition
 - b. The original cost
 - c. The operational purpose of the facility

This information will be required to be provided by 3 p.m. April 8, 2011.

The Alberta Utilities Commission April1, 2011

Page 2 of 2

6. In light of the above ruling, the Commission sets the following amended process schedule (the original schedule is included for comparison only):

Original Process Schedule	
Intervener evidence	March 30, 2011
Information requests to interveners	April 13, 2011
Information responses from interveners	April 27, 2011
Rebuttal evidence	May 11, 2011
Hearing - Edmonton	May 24-June 3, 2011

New Process Schedule	
Intervener evidence	April 7, 2011
Information requests to interveners	April 21, 2011
Information responses from interveners	May 5, 2011
Rebuttal evidence	May 18, 2011
Hearing - Edmonton	May 24-June 3, 2011

All submissions are due by 3 p.m. on the due date.

- 7. Should Calgary wish to amend its evidence subsequent to the receipt of the additional CAL-AG-7(c) information to be filed by ATCO Gas pursuant to the Commission's ruling, it may do so by 3 p.m. April 15, 2011.
- 8. If you have any questions or comments regarding this letter, please contact Ben Whyte at 403-592-4450 or ben.whyte@auc.ab.ca.

Yours truly,

(sent by email)

Ben Whyte Application Officer



Fifth Avenue Place, #400, 425 – 1 Street SW Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8 Phone 403-592-8845 Fax 403-592-4406 www.auc.ab.ca

Electronic Notification

April 8, 2011

To: Interested Parties

ATCO Gas 2011-2012 General Rate Application (GRA) Phase I Application No. 1606822 Proceeding ID No. 969

Commission ruling on The City of Calgary motion

- 1. On March 25, 2011, the Alberta Utilities Commission (the AUC or the Commission) received a motion from The City of Calgary (Calgary) to compel ATCO Gas to provide full and adequate responses to a number of information requests (IRs) contained in Attachment A to the motion. Calgary requested that the Commission consider the motion prior to the filing of intervener evidence then scheduled for March 30, 2010.
- 2. On March 25, 2011, the Commission suspended the procedural schedule in this proceeding for all parties pending a ruling on the motion and provided the opportunity for a response by ATCO Gas and a reply by Calgary.
- 3. ATCO Gas filed its response to the motion on March 29, 2011. In its response, ATCO Gas included certain additional information requested by Calgary. Calgary responded on March 31, 2011, that there were now only three information responses it considered were still deficient, namely CAL-AG-7(c), CAL-AG-53 and CAL-AG-58.
- 4. On April 1, 2011 the Commission provided its initial ruling on the motion indicating that a more detailed ruling would be issued. The Commission found that ATCO Gas had provided full and adequate responses to CAL-AG-53 and CAL-AG 58. The motion with respect to these information requests was denied.
- 5. With respect to CAL-AG-7(c), the Commission found that ATCO Gas had not provided a sufficient response to this information request. ATCO Gas was directed to provide the following information for all assets listed in Exhibit 97.02 with an assessed value in excess of \$250,000:
 - a. The year of acquisition,
 - b. The original cost, and
 - c. The operational purpose of the facility.

This information was required to be provided by 3 p.m. April 8, 2011.

6. ATCO Gas filed a letter with the Commission dated April 4, 2011, submitting that a materiality threshold of \$250,000 was unreasonable. ATCO Gas estimated that it would take approximately 133 work days for a single individual to obtain the requested information. ATCO Gas instead proposed a materiality threshold of \$1,000,000, in which only seven buildings and eight parcels of land would fall.

The Alberta Utilities Commission April 8, 2011

Page2 of 6

- 7. In a letter dated April 6, 2011, Calgary submitted that the ATCO proposal was in effect a Review and Variance (R&V) on the Commission direction. Calgary disputed the amount of work which ATCO Gas indicated would be required to complete the response directed in the initial ruling of the Commission.
- 8. By letter dated April 6, 2011, the Commission indicated that it was prepared to consider these latter submissions before issuing its final ruling on this matter. Further in the interest of understanding fully the parties' position, the Commission allowed an expedited additional response from ATCO Gas and a final reply by Calgary.
- 9. ATCO Gas responded by letter dated April 7, 2011, and Calgary replied by letter dated April 8, 2010.
- 10. The purpose of this letter is to communicate the final ruling of the Commission referenced in its letter of April 1, 2011. The writer has been authorized by the Commission to provide its ruling in respect of the motion.
- 11. The Commission provided guidance¹ to interested parties to the ATCO Gas 2008-2009 GRA with respect to the form and content required in motions requesting direction from the Commission with respect to allegedly deficient information request responses. The Commission indicated that such motions should clearly include as part of the grounds on which the motion is made:
 - the reasons why the information request response does not comply with the provisions of Rule 001, section 30(1)(b) or 31(1);
 - the materiality of the requested information, in the context of either the principle involved or the approximate impact to the applied for revenue requirement (or to the subject matter of the application);
 - the purpose for which the requested information is required;
 - the prejudice to the intervener if the requested information is not provided; and
 - how the requested information will assist the Commission in evaluating the application.²
- 12. The Commission considered that this information should be provided with respect of each such allegedly deficient information request response. This information will assist all parties in understanding the rationale for the motion, promote more complete response and reply submissions and assist the Commission in evaluating the merits of a motion of this nature.
- 13. In considering the Calgary motion the Commission started with the premise that the utility has the onus of proof to demonstrate the reasonableness of the applied for revenue requirement and the fairness of the resulting rates. It therefore must carefully consider the evidence required to substantiate and defend the reasonableness of its application. However, under the Commission's rules, interveners are entitled to a full and adequate response to each relevant information request unless the information necessary to provide an answer is not available or cannot be provided with reasonable effort. This information is required to permit a full testing of the application and the preparation of intervener evidence. With these principles in mind, the Commission has considered the guidance provided by the above ruling in a prior ATCO Gas proceeding, all submissions of the parties, including those filed after the date of the initial ruling, and the provisions of sections 29, 30(1) and 31 and 9 of Rule 001.

Commission Letter, dated March 7, 2008, in respect of motions made by the UCA and the City of Calgary in ATCO Gas Application No. 155302, Proceeding ID. 11, 2008-2009 General Rate Application.

Consistent with the Alberta Utilities Commission letter, dated March 7, 2008, regarding motions related to information responses in AG's 2008-2009 GRA, Application No. 1553052.

The Alberta Utilities Commission April 8, 2011

Page3 of 6

14. The Commission has also considered the materiality and potential impacts to parties of either providing or not providing the requested information. In particular, the Commission was concerned with balancing the level of detail requested in some of the IRs, the effort required and cost to produce the material requested; potential prejudice to ATCO Gas if the information is produced over its objections and the potential benefit to interveners and to the Commission of receiving it. Lastly, the Commission has considered the need to maintain an efficient and timely regulatory process.

CAL-AG-53

- 15. CAL-AG-53 requested ATCO Gas to provide all quantitative and qualitative studies, analyses, reports and any other efforts conducted by ATCO Gas which evaluate or measure the benefits to rate payers of implementing the proposed DSM initiatives. In its March 21, 2011 update to this IR, ATCO Gas indicated that it had "...provided all of the studies and reports that it relied on in the preparation of its proposed DSM initiative and the benefits of those initiatives in its Application and various information responses."
- 16. The Commission considers that ATCO Gas has provided a full and adequate response to this question.

CAL-AG-58

- 17. CAL-AG-58 requested ATCO Gas to identify where and when ATCO Gas had satisfied a Commission direction to establish a cost allocation method capable of capturing costs causal to the North and South systems. ATCO Gas has provided three attachments to its supplementary IR responses filed on March 21, 2011. In these attachments further information was provided on ATCO Gas' separate regulatory accounts and its accounting policies for the North and South systems.
- 18. The Commission considers that ATCO Gas has provided a full and adequate response to this IR.

CAL-AG-07(c)

- 19. CAL-AG-07(c) requested the following information:
 - (c) For each of 2009, 2010, and forecast for 2011 and 2012 for each of AGN and AGS provide:
 - (i) A complete listing of all real property including the legal description held by each of AGN and AGS and provide for each
 - (ii) the original cost and the year acquired
 - (iii) the accumulated depreciation or amortization, if any
 - (iv) the operational purpose of each, and
 - (v) the owning and operating costs associated with each property
- 20. The Commission considers the information request to be relevant and potentially probative to an understanding of the reasonableness of the forecasted rate base and opening account balances for the 2011 and 2012 test years. However, the scope of the request raises significant concerns.

The Alberta	Utilities	Commission
April 8, 2011		

Page4 of 6

- 21. The Commission has heard various representations from the parties on the degree of effort and time necessary to produce the information and with respect to the reasonableness of the request. ATCO Gas has also made submissions about the materiality of the threshold of \$250,000 set out by the Commission in its initial ruling and the amount of information that could be reasonably produced in the timeframe contemplated without causing a delay in the procedural schedule. In an effort to strike a balance between the effort and cost required to produce the requested information and the potential benefit of the information to Calgary and to the Commission, the Commission has decided to revise its initial directions on the production of information with respect to all assets listed in Exhibit 97.02 with an assessed value in excess of \$250,000.
- 22. The specific information requested by Calgary in CAL-AG-07(c) was in respect of information on "real property". The Commission considers that the information to be provided should focus on property owned in fee simple by the utility. Such property is primarily identified in the "ATCO Gas Site Summary" Tab 3 included in Exhibit 97.02. The Commission continues to consider that a \$250,000 threshold remains appropriate in limiting the extent of the effort and information required.
- 23. The directed information will assist all parties in understanding the nature and use of a sample of real property included in the forecasted rate base and opening account balances of ATCO Gas.
- 24. Accordingly, the Commission directs ATCO Gas to provide the following information for each of the properties with a assessed value greater than \$250,000, as listed in the "ATCO Gas Site Summary" Tab 3, Exhibit 97.02 and identified below:
 - a. The year of acquisition
 - b. The original cost
 - c. The operational purpose of the facility

			\$ Assessed
Municipality	Legal Description	Property Type	Value
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 1654HW BLOCK: B	Land	251,000
CITY OF CALGARY	2732X;26	Land	251,500
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 491MC LOT: A	Land	256,900
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 9721199 BLOCK: B	Land	270,000
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 414ET BLOCK: A / PLAN: 1654HW BLOCK: B	Land	289,000
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 7520856 BLOCK: 2 LOT: 7G	Land	289,300
TOWN OF STRATHMORE	129 THIRD AVENUE	Land	358,090
TOWN OF EDSON	BLOCK 2A PLAN 782 3382	Land	398,950
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 9723789 BLOCK: 7 LOT: 3PUL	Land	648,300
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 7821552 BLOCK: 6 LOT: 4	Land	668,600
CITY OF CALGARY	A1;76;7	Land	699,000
CITY OF CALGARY	A1;76;8	Land	699,000
CITY OF EDMONTON	19-52-23-4-OT	Land	797,500
CITY OF CALGARY	8208HR 0T	Land	937,500
CITY OF BROOKS	PLAN NUMBER: 0412994; BLOCK: 11; LOT: 3;	Land	980,490
CITY OF CALGARY	A1;76;9,10	Land	1,390,000
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: EDMONTO LOT: 43	Land	1,634,500
CITY OF AIRDRIE	14 -4 -0814088	Land	1,638,700
CITY OF CALGARY	2732X;26;0T	Land	2,110,000
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 0920803 BLOCK: 5 LOT: 2	Land	3,665,900

The Alberta Utilities Commission April 8, 2011

Page5 of 6

CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: B4 BLOCK: 12 LOT: A	Land	3,852,500
CITY OF CALGARY	A1;64;1-8	Land	5,870,000
	PLAN: 2054MC BLOCK: B LOT: 2 / PLAN: 2054MC		
CITY OF EDMONTON	LOT: 2	Land	8,382,800
		Buildings &	
KNEEHILL COUNTY	SE-17-29-22-4	Structures	256,090
		Buildings &	
TOWN OF OLDS	PLAN 472I BLOCK 2 LOT 14615; 5025 52 ST	Structures	300,000
		Buildings &	
TOWN OF EDSON	BLOCK 2A PLAN 782 3382	Structures	365,640
		Buildings &	
CITY OF CAMROSE	PLAN: 7820519 BLOCK: 4 LOT: 32	Structures	379,500
		Buildings &	
KNEEHILL COUNTY	SE-17-29-22-4	Structures	439,830
		Buildings &	
CITY OF WETASKIWIN	PLAN 7821171 LOT 1 BLOCK 55	Structures	446,250
		Buildings &	
TOWN OF TOFIELD	PLAN 8439ET LOT PARCEL A; 4720 46 AVE	Structures	504,700
		Buildings &	
KNEEHILL COUNTY	SE-17-29-22-4	Structures	565,310
		Buildings &	
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: B4 BLOCK: 12 LOT: A	Structures	825,500
		Buildings &	
CITY OF AIRDRIE	9-13 -B -4445K	Structures	839,900
		Buildings &	
KNEEHILL COUNTY	SE-17-29-22-4	Structures	1,671,600
CITY OF GRANDE		Buildings &	
PRAIRIE	7921756;4;21;;7921756;4;22;;7921756;4;23	Structures	2,085,000
		Buildings &	
BEAVER COUNTY	04-13 047-35-NE	Structures	2,445,800
		Buildings &	
RM OF WOOD BUFFALO	7620533 26 1	Structures	3,738,010
	PLAN: 2054MC BLOCK: B LOT: 2 / PLAN: 2054MC	Buildings &	
CITY OF EDMONTON	LOT: 2	Structures	3,902,700
		Buildings &	
STRATHCONA COUNTY	W4 23 53 10 NW	Structures	8,302,000
		Buildings &	
CITY OF RED DEER	LOT-1A BK-2 PL-0524610	Structures	8,883,200
		Buildings &	
CITY OF EDMONTON	PLAN: 0920803 BLOCK: 5 LOT: 2	Structures	9,154,100

- 25. The Commission wishes to be clear that using a \$250,000 materiality threshold is not indicative of anything other than as a limitation on the degree of effort, cost and time required to produce a sampling of the requested information which may assist in testing the reasonableness of the application and in the preparation of Calgary evidence. Using ATCO's estimate of two hours per piece of property the Commission considers that there are approximately 80 hours of work involved in this request. This being the case, two ATCO Gas employees working a standard 40 hour work week would be able to complete the retrieval of this information in one week.
- 26. ATCO Gas is directed to file the above information no later than 3 p.m. on April 15, 2011.
- 27. Given that the above deadline is after the deadline for filing intervener evidence, Calgary may file supplemental evidence specific to ATCO Gas' response to CAL-AG-7(c) by **3 p.m. on April 20, 2011**.

2011-2012 General Rate Application Phase I

The Alberta Utilities Commission April 8, 2011

Page6 of 6

28. If you have any questions or comments regarding this ruling, please contact Ben Whyte at 403-592-4450 or ben.whyte@auc.ab.ca or alternatively please contact Mark McJannet at 403-592-4412 or mark.mcjannet@auc.ab.ca.

Yours truly,

(sent by email)

Mark McJannet, On behalf of Ben Whyte Application Officers



Fifth Avenue Place, #400, 425 – 1 Street SW Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8 Phone 403-592-8845 Fax 403-592-4406 www.auc.ab.ca

Electronic Notification

April 29, 2011

To: Interested Parties

ATCO Gas (ATCO) 2011-2012 General Rate Application (GRA), Phase I Application No. 1606822 Proceeding ID No. 969

Ruling with regard to the April 21, 2011 letter from The City of Calgary (Calgary)

- 1. On April 21, 2011 ATCO filed with the Alberta Utilities Commission (Commission) an application update (Application Update) rectifying omissions, providing corrections and adding certain information including a business case for the proposed Talent Management System (TMS Business Case).
- 2. On April 27, 2011 Calgary filed a letter requesting that the Commission reject the filing outright, or delay the start of the hearing to later in 2011.
- 3. The Calgary letter was dealt with by the Commission by way of a written process:

Process Step	Date
ATCO comments to Calgary Letter	Thursday, April 28, 2011 – 1 p.m.
Calgary reply to ATCO	Friday, April 29, 2011 – 1 p.m.

4. Following receipt of the above-noted submissions from parties, the Commission indicated that it would issue a ruling on the letter, and if required, any changes to the schedule.

Views of the parties

- 5. Calgary submitted that Section 27 of AUC Rule 001: *Rules of Practice* (Rule 001) requires a party to seek leave from the Commission prior to a party filing a document after the time set out for the filing of that document is established. ATCO did not seek leave for its late filing nor did it receive the Commission's leave. Calgary submitted that the filing must be rejected outright, or the hearing start date must be set back to later in 2011 to permit and full, fair and complete testing of the ATCO filing.
- 6. Specifically, Calgary expressed concern that it cannot properly assess the Application Update. Calgary suggested that its ability to retain an expert to test the materials and the applied for amounts with respect to TMS Business Case is compromised given the fact that the oral hearing is scheduled to begin on May 24, 2011. It was submitted that there is no reason why ATCO Gas could not have filed the TMS Business Case with its GRA application in December, 2010.

The Alberta Utilities Commission April 29, 2011

Page 2 of 4

- 7. On April 28, 2011, ATCO responded to Calgary's submission and stated that no delay in the proceeding schedule should be required. ATCO submitted that it is continually being placed in a position of having to provide updated information that interveners attempt to use to alter ATCO's forecast. At the same time, ATCO submitted that it should not be denied the opportunity to make updates of its own to ensure that a balanced record exists.
- 8. ATCO also asserted that the filing of omissions and updates is entirely distinct from withdrawing evidence that has been placed on the public record of a proceeding which requires the prior consent of the Commission under Section 27 of Rule 001. In this regard, ATCO noted that the Commission has consistently stated that it will rely on the most up-to-date information (as available to the close of the hearing) in the context of rate applications. In Decision 2008-113 (ATCO Gas 2008-2009 GRA), the Commission stated that updates are necessary to ensure that it has the most up-to-date information. At page 16 the Commission stated:

The Commission ... continues to hold that an appropriate balance can be struck which allows for a utility to plan and budget according to its forecasts but that also provides the Commission with sufficient current information to enable it to assess the reasonableness of those forecasts. It is expected that a utility will put forth its best possible case in making an application for its revenue requirement. That best possible case should reflect information available to the utility that may reasonably form part of its Application and any updates thereto.

Given the reality that the Commission expects to receive the most up-to-date information during a proceeding and that AG and other utilities bring evidence of increasing costs during a proceeding as it becomes available, the Commission agrees with CG's submission that prospectivity effectively starts from the close of the proceeding, rather than at the time of the application. This is the practical consequence of having a proceeding that runs into the year for which a rate application is made and ensuring that the Commission has the best possible information before it in order to make a decision on that application.[Emphasis added by ATCO]

- 9. ATCO Gas also cited Decision 2006-004 (ATCO Gas' 2005-2007 GRA), wherein the Board stated the following at pages 3 and 5 relating to the filing of GRA applications and providing updated forecasts:
 - ... The timing of a GRA application is within the control and discretion of the applicant.
 ... [Aln applicant should be prepared to provide updated actual information whenever the processing of an application straddles the end of a fiscal year and the actual results become available prior to the close of the evidentiary portion of the proceeding.

. . .

With respect to AG's concern of an asymmetrical result from the consideration of actual results or events that were not known at the time that the filed forecasts were prepared, the Board considers that it is up to the applicant to determine if it would like to update the forecasts it has provided in its application to reflect the updated information. [Emphasis added by ATCO]

10. ATCO disputed Calgary's claim to require a new expert to address the TMS Business Case. ATCO noted that Calgary had retained an information technology witness that had filed approximately thirty pages of evidence on all aspects of ATCO Gas' IT business cases and

The Alberta Utilities Commission April 29, 2011

Page 3 of 4

expenditures, including the business case related to Oracle HRX which is also a human resources related system. ATCO further submitted, however, that if the inclusion of the TMS Business Case on the record might cause a delay, then ATCO submitted that it is prepared to seek leave to withdraw it and related expenditures from the Omissions and Updates Filing rather than entertain a delay in the proceeding schedule.

- 11. On April 29, 2011, Calgary replied to ATCO's submission. Calgary disagreed with ATCO that the filing of the TMS Business Case and related expenditures are permitted by the excerpted portions of Decisions 2006-004 and 2008-113 set out in the ATCO submissions. Further, Calgary argued that the TMS Business Case was a new project not originally filed with the GRA, and as such, is not an update to the application. However, Calgary did not object to ATCO's proposal to seek leave to withdraw the TMS Business Case while retaining the balance of the filing on the record and proceeding to the oral hearing as presently scheduled in order to permit the proceeding to continue on the current schedule.
- 12. The Consumers' Coalition of Alberta filed a letter in support of Calgary's position on April 29, 2011.

Commission ruling

- 13. The writer has been authorized by the Commission to provide its ruling on the Calgary letter.
- 14. Section 27 of the Rule 001 is not intended to apply to an omissions and corrections update filing of the nature under review unless the Commission has previously established a timeline for such a filing.
- 15. Consistent with the decisions referenced by ATCO above, the Commission considers that updates are necessary to ensure that the Commission and interested parties have the most up to date and best information available to assess the application and complete the record of a proceeding. Although updated information would usually take the form of omissions and corrections, there is no reason why the applicant can not also elect to amend its application to seek approval of new cost items provided it could not have reasonably included that information with its original application. The ability to file updated information must be balanced with a requirement to provide parties with sufficient opportunity to review and test the new evidence.
- 16. The Commission notes that there are approximately three weeks remaining prior to the start of the oral hearing and that a process may be established to permit testing of the Application Update, including the TMS Business Case.
- 17. The Commission is prepared to accept the Application Update, including the TMS Business Case evidence but considers that it is incumbent on ATCO in future filings of this nature to clearly explain why evidence relating to new expenditures could not have been filed with the original application. The Commission establishes the following process to afford interveners and the Commission to review and test the Application Update via interrogatories prior to the oral hearing. Interveners will also be given the opportunity to file supplemental evidence. Recognizing that the timing of the filing of the Application Update was under the control of ATCO and the limited time available in which to submit interrogatories and prepare

The Alberta Utilities Commission April 29, 2011

Page 4 of 4

supplemental evidence, the Commission will permit the filing of the supplemental evidence after the commencement of the hearing but prior to the sitting of the Calgary witness panel. As a result, the Commission has established the following schedule:

Process Step	Date
Intervener information requests to ATCO on	Thursday, May 12, 2011 – 2 p.m.
April 21, 2011 update	
ATCO responses to information requests on	Wednesday, May 18, 2011 – 2 p.m.
April 21, 2011 update	
Supplemental intervener evidence restricted to	Thursday, May 26, 2011 – 2 p.m.
matters pertaining to April 21, 2011 update	-

- 18. The Commission considers the schedule reasonably balances the interests of parties and is consistent with the objective of achieving an effective and efficient regulatory process.
- 19. If you have any questions on this matter please contact the undersigned at 403-592-4412 or by e-mail at mark.mcjannet@auc.ab.ca.

Sincerely,

Mark McJannet for Ben Whyte Application Officer



Fifth Avenue Place, Fourth Floor, 425 First Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8
Phone 403-592-8845 Fax 403-592-4406
www.auc.ab.ca

Electronic Notification

May 31, 2011

To: Parties currently registered on Proceeding ID No. 969

ATCO Gas (ATCO) 2011-2012 General Rate Application Phase I Application No. 1606822 Proceeding ID No. 969

Alberta Utilities Commission (the AUC or the Commission) ruling on ATCO's May 29, 2011 motion (Exhibit 176)

- 1. On May 29, 2011, ATCO filed a motion that portions of The City of Calgary's (Calgary) human resources evidence with regard to the Oracle Human Resource Management System (HRX)(the impugned evidence) must be struck from the record of this proceeding because it falls outside the permitted scope of the Commission's letter dated April 29, 2011 (ruling). ATCO also argued that allowing the additional evidence would create regulatory inefficiencies.
- 2. The Commission's ruling dealt with ATCO's April 21, 2011 filing, ATCO Gas Omissions, Corrections and Updates to 2011/2012 Forecasts (Exhibit 118). Specifically, the Commission allowed ATCO to include on the record a business case related to the proposed Talent Management System (TMS) over the objections of Calgary. Calgary was provided an opportunity to ask information requests and to file supplemental evidence following commencement of the oral hearing but before the Calgary panel was to be seated. Supplemental evidence was required to be filed by May 26, 2011, (subsequently extended to May 27, 2011) and was to be "restricted to matters pertaining to [ATCO's] April 21, 2011 update"
- 3. Calgary filed Addendum No. 2 to its written evidence (supplemental evidence) on May 27, 2011. ATCO provided parties and the Commission by e-mail on Sunday, May 29, 2011, with a motion (motion) requesting the Commission to strike those portions of the supplemental evidence that related to the HRX.
- 4. Calgary argued that there were four reasons to deny ATCO's motion. They were:
 - 1. the connection between the TMS and HRX systems
 - 2. the lack of prejudice to ATCO
 - 3. the best evidence available to the Commission
 - 4. the public interest

The Alberta Utilities Commission May 31, 2011

Page 2 of 3

- 5. Calgary argued that because the two systems were fundamentally linked, they could not introduce evidence on the one without commenting on the other. Calgary also argued that ATCO would not be prejudiced as it would have sufficient time to prepare for cross-examination of Calgary's expert. Additionally, Calgary argued that the supplemental evidence would provide the Commission with the best evidence available which would assist the Commission in determining the public interest. Calgary responded to ATCO's assertions of regulatory inefficiency by stating that it was the late filing of the TMS evidence on April 21, 2011, that was the cause of the regulatory inefficiency. Calgary also argued that the supplemental evidence was within the scope of the Commission's ruling, if one interpreted it broadly.
- 6. The Consumers' Coalition of Alberta (CCA) argued that the TMS and HRX systems were linked and, therefore, the supplemental evidence should be accepted and ATCO's motion should be denied.
- 7. The Commission has considered the arguments of ATCO, the CCA, and Calgary. In arriving at its decision, the Commission considered two main issues:
 - the first is whether or not a plain reading of the ruling could reasonably be interpreted to permit filing additional evidence on the HRX system
 - the second issue was, irrespective of the language of the ruling, was whether or not Calgary established that it would be unable to adequately produce evidence regarding the TMS system without also filing evidence on the HRX system
- 8. The Commission finds that an objective reading of its ruling confines the scope of Calgary's evidence to the TMS system.
- 9. The Commission understands that Calgary may consider that providing evidence on TMS alone would not address the relevant issues comprehensively. The Commission is also mindful of the procedural integrity it must maintain in its proceedings to ensure procedural fairness for all parties. Calgary could have contacted the Commission prior to its filing of evidence to clarify the scope of the ruling or to request an expansion of the scope, but it did not. In the course of the proceeding, Calgary attempted to link the two systems through evidence obtained from its cross-examination of ATCO's witnesses. During oral argument of the motion, when Calgary was questioned on whether or not it could establish a link between the TMS and HRX systems without reference to what it learned during cross-examination, Calgary admitted that it was relying on the testimony to establish the link.¹
- 10. The Commission is willing to grant much leeway in allowing parties to introduce their evidence and ensure fairness to all. In this case, however, the Commission finds that the procedural directions set out in the ruling were clear and that the evidence of a linkage between the TMS and HRX systems, which Calgary sought to rely on to defeat the motion, was obtained through cross-examination of ATCO's witnesses. Further, this cross-examination was conducted without ATCO's witnesses having the benefit of Calgary's evidence and, more importantly, the

¹ Transcript, Volume 5, page 878-881.

The Alberta Utilities Commission May 31, 2011

Page 2 of 3

knowledge that the additional evidenced was forthcoming.² To simply provide ATCO with additional time to review and respond to the supplemental evidence would not address the above concerns. The Commission does not consider that the public interest is best served by allowing the impugned evidence on to the record in these circumstances. As such, the Commission grants ATCO's motion to strike Calgary's evidence. Calgary is directed to re-file its originally filed evidence with the following portions expunged:

Document	Evidence Relating to HRX (HRMS)
City of Calgary	Q4 in its entirety
City of Calgary	Q5, Line 15, beginning with "and that for HRMS" to the end of Line 19
Hrchitect	Executive Summary, Page 3 to Page 4, Bullets 3, 4, and 5
Hrchitect	Section 5 in its entirety (A Typical Business Case for an HRMS/Time and Labor Application), Page 15 to Page 21
Hrchitect	Section 6 in its entirety (Analysis/Comparison of ATCO HRMS/Time & Labor Business Case), Page 21 to Page 22

The Alberta Utilities Commission

Moin A. Yahya Panel Chair

Bill Lyttle Commission Member

Kay Holgate Commission Member

² Transcript, Volume 5, page 876-877.

On June 1, 2011 Calgary brought a motion requesting, the Commission review and vary its ruling of May 31, 2011, and allow the impugned evidence back onto the record of this proceeding. The below are the relevant sections of hearing transcripts.¹

```
01387
Thank you, sir. Again, sir,
         21
              this is an oral motion brought by the City of Calgary
              pursuant to Rule 1, sections 9 and 10 with respect to the May
         23
              31st ruling of the Commission.
         24
                             Mr. Chairman, the Commission ruling sets out
             its written reasons in the letter I'm referring to, sir. The
01388
          1
              City of Calgary makes a motion to have the Commission review
              its decision and reverse its decision and to allow the
           3
              impugned evidence back onto the record of this proceeding.
                             The reasons for this, in my respectful
              submission, Mr. Chairman, is that the Commission, in the
              course of providing its ruling, failed to consider the
              entirety of the record of the proceeding with respect to the
          8
              matters before it. It also, in determining certain
              procedural fairness matters, failed to consider that record.
         10
                             I'd like to elaborate on that with you, sir.
         11
              We have the response to CAL AG 63, which was an information
         12
              request filed with the City of Calgary with respect to TMS
         13
              and HRMS. The response, I believe, is Exhibit 160 -- pardon
         14
              me, 162. And have that handy, sir, in front of you.
         15
                             One of the reasons that the Commission chose
              to deny the Calgary motion was set out in section 10, and the
         16
         17
              reasons say that, amongst other things, the ATCO witnesses
         18
              did not have the opportunity to determine that additional
         19
              evidence was forthcoming. And, in my respectful submission,
         20
              sir, there is documentary evidence on this proceeding that
              suggested otherwise in the absence of my cross-examination,
         22
              which I'll get to, that was relied upon by the Commission.
                             CAL AG 63 contains a lot of questions, three
         23
         24
              pages of questions as far as I can tell, Mr. Chairman. In
         25
              fact, three and a half. The preamble to those questions I
01389
              will read into the record. Quote: (As read)
                        "Within the IT industry, Calgary
                        understands that human capital
                        management is used to describe all HR
                        applications including the HRMS and TMS
                        applications. Calgary would like to
          7
                        better understand the referenced HRMS
          8
                        and TMS, that is, HCM-related business
          9
                        cases and whether AG or an ATCO
         10
                        affiliate has prepared a more detailed
         11
                        business case for talent management
         12
                        since there appears to be statements
         13
                        not supported by the business case."
```

¹ Volume 7, June 1, 2011.

```
Mr. Chairman, the preamble, in my respectful submission,
1.5
    makes it very clear to the ATCO witnesses what is coming.
16
    This was dated May 12th, this request, filed May 12th,
17
    received by the ATCO Group or ATCO Gas on May 12th.
18
                   You'll recall my letter of May 12th which
19
    received -- the interpretation of which received some
20
    discussion during the motion the other day was also dated
21
    that day and, indeed, was filed with these IRs.
22
                    I'm not going to run you through the three and
23
    a half pages of questions, Mr. Chairman, but I do want to
24
    confirm for you a couple of questions that, in my respectful
25
    submission, was more than satisfactory to get a heads-up.
```

01416

1

3

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

THE CHAIR: Please be seated.

The Panel has considered the motion for review and variance of our original decision or ruling on ATCO's motion on Monday to strike the evidence that Calgary had filed regarding the HRX system.

Before announcing our ruling we would note that generally speaking the Commission on its own motion notes that interlocutory R&Vs are generally only to be done in extreme circumstances.

Secondly, the Panel notes that the test for an R&V is error of law or error in fact; especially in light of any new evidence that's come since the ruling.

13 Irrespective of that, nonetheless, the
14 Commission feels that it is important that it gets its
15 decision right. The Commission, or the Panel here, went
16 back, looked over the evidence cited by both sides, looked at
17 IR Cal AG 63, as cited to us by the City of Calgary, we
18 looked over the interrogatory in its totality, and have come

19 $\,$ to the decision that an objective reading of our letter, or $\,$ our ruling, would still confine the evidence to the TMS. The

21 linkage that the City of Calgary is trying to establish is

22 not found by this Panel. As such, the motion for review and

23 variance is denied.



Fifth Avenue Place, Fourth Floor, 425 First Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8
Phone 403-592-8845 Fax 403-592-4406
www.auc.ab.ca

August 12, 2011

To: Parties currently registered on Proceeding ID No. 969

ATCO Gas 2011-2012 General Rate Application Application No. 1606822 Proceeding ID No. 969

Ruling on July 14, 2011 request of the Office of the Utilities Consumer Advocate

- 1. On July 14, 2011, the Alberta Utilities Commission (the AUC or the Commission) received a request from the Office of the Utilities Consumer Advocate (UCA) (UCA request) to suspend reply argument which was due on July 18, 2011. The UCA referenced a conditional agreement announced by the ATCO Group on July 7, 2011 for Canadian Utilities Limited to acquire Western Australia Gas Networks (WAGN). Canadian Utilities Limited is the holding company for ATCO Gas, ATCO Pipelines and ATCO Electric Ltd.
- 2. The UCA suggested that should the acquisition close as anticipated in the third quarter of 2011, that there could be a material impact on the allocation of Head Office costs to ATCO Gas at least in 2012. The UCA stated:

Accordingly, the new acquisition appears to be similar to ATCO Gas. If this is true, and the Head Office costs are allocated to the new entity in the same manner, the estimated result would be a reduction in the allocation of Head Office costs to ATCO Gas by \$1.4 million per year.¹

- 3. The UCA also expressed concern about customers paying for business development costs included within the head office function and any costs of ATCO Gas staff seconded to business development activities. The UCA also suggested that there was the potential for increased vacancies or reduced full-time employees (FTEs) from the current ATCO Gas forecast. The UCA argued that given the magnitude of the transaction, an expectation that such impacts are real and material is reasonable.
- 4. The UCA requested the Commission to create a process, including information requests, responses and potentially intervener evidence and an oral hearing, to explore the impact to the allocation of head office and business development costs as a result of the conditional agreement to acquire WAGN. In the alternative, the UCA requested the Commission to commence separate processes that could lead to the creation of placeholders for costs related to the acquisition and to examine the impact of the acquisition.

¹ UCA request dated July 14, 2011, page 2.

Page 2 of 6

5. By letter dated July 15, 2011, the Commission suspended the date for filing of reply argument in order to seek comment from parties on the UCA request. The following process was established:

Process step	Date
Other interveners may make submissions on	Tuesday, July 19, 2011
the UCA request	
ATCO Gas response to interveners	Thursday July 21, 2011
UCA reply	Friday, July 22, 2011

Views of the parties

- 6. The Consumers' Coalition of Alberta (CCA) filed an initial letter on July 15, 2011, in support of the UCA proposal. The City of Calgary filed a letter on July 15, 2011, supporting the UCA proposal and the grounds advanced by the UCA.
- 7. Climate Change Central (C3) responded on July 18, 2011, stating it took no position in this matter.
- 8. On July 19, 2011, the CCA filed a second letter supporting the UCA request. The CCA submitted that "ATCO Gas made a choice to remain silent respecting the activities of its corporate head office. Alternatively its corporate head office failed to advise ATCO of probable changes in the costs which would likely be passed down to the operating utility and collected from customers through rates". The CCA noted that ATCO Gas could have amended the application to include placeholder treatment of corporate office charges pending acquisition or alternately a deferral account in respect of corporate costs.
- 9. In its response dated July 21, 2011, ATCO Gas noted that the Head Office cost allocation methodology had recently been approved in Decision 2010-447.³ The approved methodology is based on a two-year lag. Accordingly 2011 Head Office cost allocations are based on 2009 financial information and 2012 Head Office costs will be allocated on the basis of 2010 financial information. ATCO stated that the 2009 and 2010 financial information would not reflect the impact of the conditional agreement to acquire WAGN.
- 10. In response to the CCA, ATCO Gas submitted that it was under no obligation to disclose the prospect of a conditional agreement to acquire WAGN as part of the GRA proceeding "...because there is no impact related to ATCO Gas' GRA. The head office cost forecasts included in ATCO Gas' 2011/2012 revenue requirement forecasts would not change whether the conditional agreement existed today or not." ⁴ Further, the ATCO Group could not have disclosed the agreement prior to the public announcement on July 7, 2011.
- 11. In response to the concerns raised by the UCA with respect to ATCO Gas vacancy levels or staff levels, ATCO Gas stated that the "...GRA forecast is based on the staffing complement

² CCA letter dated July 19, 2011, paragraph 8.

Decision 2010-447: ATCO Utilities Corporate Cost Allocation Methodology, Application No. 1605473, Proceeding ID. 306, September 20, 2010.

⁴ ATCO Gas letter dated July 21, 2011, page 2.

Page 3 of 6

that **ATCO Gas** requires to provide safe, reliable distribution service" and that the conditional agreement does not alter that requirement.

- 12. ATCO requested that the AUC recommence the proceeding schedule for filing of reply argument as soon as possible and that no placeholders are required.
- 13. In its July 22, 2011 reply submission the UCA noted the WAGN announcement did not indicate any anticipated hold-ups to a third quarter 2011 closing. The UCA further submitted that if the Commission is particularly concerned about the conditional nature of the acquisition the Commission could establish placeholders for head office costs pending closing of the transaction.
- 14. The UCA also submitted with respect to the two-year lag methodology previously approved by the Commission that a "...two year lag is reasonable when there are no material changes to the allocation percentages, but cannot be slavishly followed when it will obviously result in unfair rates". The UCA also submitted that because WAGN is a going concern, there should be data available to allow for a 2011 allocation based on the 2009 data. Further, the UCA noted that in Decision 2011-1347 related to the ATCO Electric 2011-2012 Distribution and Transmission Tariff Application, ATCO Electric stated that it would true-up 2010 forecast allocation percentage to actual numbers.
- 15. In respect to FTEs, the UCA noted that ATCO Gas did not refute the suggestion that ATCO Gas staff worked on the acquisition project.
- 16. The UCA confirmed its position that a separate process is warranted, or alternately, a process that would create placeholders for costs of the acquisition and a separate process for the impact of the acquisition.
- 17. On July 29, 2011, the ATCO Group announced that the acquisition of WAGN had been successfully concluded.

Commission ruling

- 18. The writer has been authorized by the Commission to provide its ruling on the UCA request.
- 19. The Commission recognizes that ATCO Gas could not have disclosed the conditional agreement to acquire WAGN prior to the public announcement on July 7, 2011. The Commission considers that material events relevant to the proceeding which occur prior to the closing of the record, and in some cases prior to the release of a decision, which were not known to all parties during the course of the evidentiary portion of the proceeding may provide a sufficient basis to re-open the evidentiary portion of the proceeding. In Decision 2008-1138 the

⁵ ATCO Gas letter dated July 21, 2011, page 2.

⁶ UCA reply dated July 22, 1011, page 2.

Decision 2011-134: ATCO Electric Ltd., 2011-2012 Phase 1 Distribution Tariff, 2011-2012 Transmission Facility Owner Tariff, Application No. 1606228, Proceeding ID No. 650, April 13, 2011.

Decision 2008-113: ATCO Gas 2008-2009 General Rate Application Phase 1, Application No. 1553052, Proceeding ID. 11, November 13, 2008.

Page 4 of 6

Commission stated the following with respect to receiving the most up-to-date information during a proceeding:

Given the reality that the Commission expects to receive the most up-to-date information during a proceeding and that AG and other utilities bring evidence of increasing costs during a proceeding as it becomes available, the Commission agrees with CG's submission that prospectivity effectively starts from the close of the proceeding, rather than at the time of the application.⁹

- 20. The Commission agrees with the UCA that the impact of the WAGN acquisition is a material event that could significantly impact the allocation of head-office costs to ATCO Gas as well as the other ATCO utilities.
- 21. The currently approved methodology for the allocation of corporate costs uses the second preceding year's audited financial information as the basis of the allocation of head office costs. ATCO referenced Decision 2010-447 in support of its position that the head office cost allocation for 2011 and 2012 would not be affected irrespective of whether or not the acquisition of WAGN proceeds given the recent approval of the corporate allocation methodology. The Commission is not prepared however, to dismiss the UCA request based solely on the operation of existing allocation methodology thereby ignoring the possible significant impact of the WAGN acquisition on how corporate allocations should be made and therefore just and reasonable rates.
- 22. The UCA has requested that the Commission create a process to explore the impact to the allocation of head office and business development costs as a result of the conditional agreement to acquire WAGN. In the alternative, the UCA requested the Commission to commence separate processes that could lead to the creation of placeholders for costs related to the acquisition and to examine the impact of the acquisition. The Commission is not prepared to create a process or to consider a placeholder with respect to 2011 costs. Given the timing of the acquisition, a reallocation of corporate costs to ATCO Gas in 2011 would relate, at most, to the five months remaining in the year. Full integration of WAGN is likely to take some time and ATCO Group corporate services may not be fully utilized during that period. Further, the corporate cost allocation methodology was recently approved in Decision 2010-447. That allocation methodology was approved "until such time as the Commission may direct otherwise". ATCO Gas and parties have relied on this determination in the preparation of their evidence in respect of 2011 corporate cost allocations. The Commission recognizes that by the time a decision is issued in this proceeding it will be approaching the end of the 2011 calendar year. The stability of the regulatory environment, the certainty of Commission decisions and regulatory efficiency all suggest, that barring exceptional circumstances, that any change to an approved methodology should be made prospectively. The Commission therefore denies the portion of the UCA request

⁹ Decision 2008-113, page 16.

At page 89 of Decision 2002-069, ATCO Group Affiliate Transactions and Code of Conduct Proceeding Part A: Asset Transfer, Outsourcing Arrangements, and GRA Issues, Application No. 1237673, dated July 26, 2002, the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board referred to the allocation methodology for ATCO head office cost allocations using the average of revenue, assets, and capital expenditures based on the average of the second preceding year's audited financial figures. The corporate cost allocation methodology was reviewed and approved in Decision 2010-447.

Decision 2010-447, paragraph 55.

Page 5 of 6

requesting a process to review corporate allocations with respect to 2011 or in the alternative to implement a process to create placeholders in respect of these 2011 costs.

- The Commission would expect that the integration of WAGN will be carried out expeditiously and that the impact of the acquisition on corporate cost allocations would be better understood by the end of 2011. Therefore, the impact of corporate cost allocations to ATCO Gas in 2012 could be significant if carried out on a basis that recognized the acquisition. While the 2012 corporate cost allocations included in the current general rate application were prepared by ATCO Gas based on the methodology approved in Decision 2010-447, the Commissions considers that the potential significance of the WAGN acquisition requires that the approved allocation methodology be reconsidered on a going forward basis, to ensure just and reasonable rates are implemented for the 2012 test year. This suggests to the Commission that a placeholder for allocated 2012 corporate costs should be employed in the present proceeding and that the corporate cost allocation methodology should be revisited with respect to 2012 and future years in an appropriate proceeding involving all of the ATCO Utilities as soon as practicably possible. Accordingly, the Commission will establish a placeholder in respect of the 2012 allocation of corporate costs to ATCO Gas. The placeholder will be set at the amount determined by the Commission in its decision in the current proceeding after having considered the ATCO Gas forecasts and the evidence and argument of the parties in this proceeding.
- 24. The Commission notes that the corporate cost allocation methodology is subject to period review and that the next periodic review is scheduled for September 30, 2012. In Decision 2010 447 the Commission directed:

...that the next periodic review of the Methodology and the Model should be provided on or before September 30, 2012. In the next review application, the ATCO Utilities are directed to specifically include the following, having regard to the guidance provided by this Decision:

- (1) A review of the necessity of the Corporate Office services provided to the regulated utilities. The review should include an examination of Corporate Office Costs for possible exclusion on the basis that they should not be included in rates for the ATCO Utilities.
- (2) A validation (without conducting an audit) of the quantum of the Corporate Office Costs allocated in the Model for the services provided.
- (3) Confirmation, supported by analysis, that the Corporate Office Costs allocated in the Model for the services provided cannot be directly assigned to individual companies (Step 1 of the Methodology) nor can those costs be allocated to individual companies based on cost causation (Step 2 of the Methodology), on a cost efficient basis.
- (4) An analysis of the three-factor financial composite formula employed in the Model as compared to alternative formulae, including the Massachusetts Formula. The analysis should provide sample detailed calculations, and assessments as to why the chosen formula is superior to the comparator formulae.¹²
- 25. The Commission considers that the next corporate cost allocation methodology proceeding is the proceeding best suited to consider the impacts of the WAGN acquisition. In the circumstances, however, the Commission considers that the September 30, 2012 date for the

Decision 2010-447, paragraph 56.

Page 6 of 6

filing of the next ATCO Utilities application should be advanced to April 2, 2012. At that time the impacts of the WAGN transaction on corporate costs and the allocation of those costs would be better understood and 2011 audited financial information would be available.

- 26. The ATCO Utilities should include within the application a request to set the corporate allocation methodology for 2012 for all ATCO Utilities that have not otherwise had their revenue requirement with respect to 2012 corporate allocations previously finalized. Following the Commission's decision on the ATCO Utilities application, ATCO Gas would apply to the Commission to finalize the 2012 corporate allocation placeholder to be included in the final 2012 revenue requirement.
- 27. In establishing a placeholder for corporate allocated costs for 2012 and by advancing the dated for the filing of the next corporate cost allocation proceeding to April 2, 2012, the Commission is attempting to meet the public interest requirements of regulatory certainty and efficiency while ensuring rates remain just and reasonable.
- 28. With respect to the UCA's concerns about business development costs included within the head office function, costs of ATCO Gas staff seconded to business development activities and the potential for increased vacancies or reduced FTEs from the current ATCO Gas forecast, the Commission is not prepared to enter into a process that would review these concerns beyond what it has stated above. In particular, the Commission will not enter into a process tht will review ATCO Gas staffing forecasts for 2011 and 2012 given the closing date of the transaction and in reliance on ATCO's representation that the "...GRA forecast is based on the staffing complement that ATCO Gas requires to provide safe, reliable distribution service" and that the conditional agreement does not alter that requirement. In making this determination the Commission is not making a finding that the forecasted amounts are appropriate and should be included in the approved revenue requirement.
- 29. The Commission directs parties to file their reply argument on or before August 18, 2011 at 4 p.m.
- 30. If you have any questions on this matter please contact the undersigned at 403-592-4412 or by e-mail at brian.mcnulty@auc.ab.ca

Sincerely yours,

Brian C. McNulty Commission Counsel

¹³ ATCO Gas letter dated July 21, 2011, page 2.